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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION


ITEM 1.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



WELBILT, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In millions, except share and per share data, unaudited)


















Three Months Ended March 31,


2022

2021
Net sales

$
333.0 


$
253.3 

Cost of sales

223.3 


163.3 

Gross profit

109.7 


90.0 

Selling, general and administrative expenses

76.9 


72.5 

Amortization expense

9.7 


10.1 


Restructuring and other expense

— 


0.2 



Earnings from continuing operations

23.1 


7.2 

Interest expense

10.5 


10.5 



Other expense — net

13.2 


2.9 

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes

(0.6)


(6.2)

Income tax expense (benefit) on continuing operations

0.3 


(1.7)

Net loss from continuing operations

(0.9)


(4.5)

Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income tax expense of $0.7 and $3.5, respectively

3.8 


12.4 

Net earnings

$
2.9 


$
7.9 




Per share data:

 


Diluted




Continuing operations

$
(0.01)


$
(0.03)

Discontinued operations

$
0.03 


$
0.09 

Net earnings

$
0.02 


$
0.06 

Basic




Continuing operations

$
(0.01)


$
(0.03)

Discontinued operations

$
0.03 


$
0.09 

Net earnings

$
0.02 


$
0.06 






Weighted average shares outstanding — Basic

143,065,161 


141,622,281 

Weighted average shares outstanding — Diluted

143,988,763 


142,189,112 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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WELBILT, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(In millions, unaudited)


















Three Months Ended March 31,


2022

2021
Net earnings

$
2.9 


$
7.9 

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:




Foreign currency translation adjustments

3.1 


(7.1)

Unrealized loss on derivatives

— 


(0.5)

Employee pension and postretirement benefits

1.2 


0.4 

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax

4.3 


(7.2)

Comprehensive income

$
7.2 


$
0.7 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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WELBILT, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In millions, except share and per share data, unaudited)


















March 31,

December 31,


2022

2021

Assets

 

 
Current assets:

 

 
Cash and cash equivalents

$
108.3 


$
91.6 

Restricted cash

0.5 


0.4 


Accounts receivable, less allowance of $6.0 and $6.2, respectively

184.5 


185.3 

Inventories — net

289.9 


244.7 

Prepaids and other current assets

75.0 


55.8 

Current assets of discontinued operations

552.8 


555.0 


Total current assets

1,211.0 


1,132.8 

Property, plant and equipment — net

112.6 


113.0 

Operating lease right-of-use assets

31.9 


34.0 

Goodwill

548.9 


551.3 

Other intangible assets — net

407.6 


420.8 

Other non-current assets

25.9 


25.7 


Total assets

$
2,337.9 


$
2,277.6 

Liabilities and equity




Current liabilities:

 


Trade accounts payable

$
128.4 


$
104.4 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

146.8 


170.5 

Current portion of long-term debt and finance leases

0.7 


0.9 

Product warranties

26.6 


24.7 

Current liabilities of discontinued operations

76.7 


93.5 


Total current liabilities

379.2 


394.0 

Long-term debt and finance leases

1,459.0 


1,388.0 

Deferred income taxes

63.6 


64.2 

Pension and postretirement health liabilities

21.1 


21.7 

Operating lease liabilities

24.6 


26.3 

Other long-term liabilities

21.2 


25.0 


Total non-current liabilities

1,589.5 


1,525.2 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)




Total equity:

 

 
Common stock ($0.01 par value, 300,000,000 shares authorized, 143,175,392 shares and 142,961,244 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively)

1.4 


1.4 

Additional paid-in capital (deficit)

(1.8)


(5.4)

Retained earnings

389.9 


387.0 


Accumulated other comprehensive loss

(20.3)


(24.6)


Total equity

369.2 


358.4 



Total liabilities and equity

$
2,337.9 


$
2,277.6 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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WELBILT, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions, unaudited)


















Three Months Ended March 31,


2022

2021
Cash flows from operating activities of continuing operations

 

 
Net earnings

$
2.9 


$
7.9 

Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income taxes of $0.7 and $3.5, respectively

3.8 


12.4 

Net loss from continuing operations

$
(0.9)


$
(4.5)

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings from continuing operations to cash provided by (used in) operating activities:




Depreciation expense

5.1 


4.6 

Amortization of intangible assets

9.9 


10.7 

Amortization of deferred financing fees

0.2 


0.2 

Deferred income taxes

(0.4)


(0.2)

Stock-based compensation expense

2.9 


3.2 








Changes in operating assets and liabilities:




Accounts receivable

(0.7)


(6.8)

Inventories

(46.3)


(20.8)

Other assets

(14.5)


2.4 

Trade accounts payable

23.4 


15.0 

Other current and long-term liabilities

(28.6)


(24.2)

Net cash used in operating activities of continuing operations

(49.9)


(20.4)

Cash flows from investing activities of continuing operations

 

 

Capital expenditures

(3.1)


(4.0)










Net cash used in investing activities of continuing operations

(3.1)


(4.0)






Cash flows from financing activities of continuing operations

 

 
Proceeds from long-term debt

80.3 


58.0 

Repayments on long-term debt and finance leases

(10.5)


(21.3)





Exercises of stock options

0.8 


0.5 

Payments on tax withholdings for equity awards

— 


(0.1)

Net cash provided by financing activities of continuing operations

70.6 


37.1 

Cash flows from discontinued operations




Cash used in (provided by) operating activities

(11.3)


4.0 

Cash used in investing activities

(0.8)


(0.7)

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities

— 


— 

Net cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations

(12.1)


3.3 






Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

(0.8)


(0.6)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

4.7 


15.4 

Balance at beginning of period

134.7 


125.4 

Balance at end of period

139.4 


140.8 

Balance at end of period - discontinued operations

30.6 


46.7 

Balance at end of period - continuing operations

$
108.8 


$
94.1 


(Continued)
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WELBILT, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)
(In millions, unaudited)


















Three Months Ended March 31,


2022

2021
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:




Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds

$
6.5 


$
5.3 

Cash paid for interest

$
20.4 


$
27.6 






Supplemental disclosures of non-cash activities:





Non-cash financing activity: Lease liabilities and assets obtained through leasing arrangements and reassessments and modifications of right-of-use assets

$
— 


$
1.6 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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WELBILT, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Equity
(In millions, except share data, unaudited)










































Shares

Common Stock

Additional Paid-In Capital (Deficit)

Retained Earnings

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Total Equity
Balance as of December 31, 2021

142,961,244 

142961244
1.4 

1409350
$
(5.4)


$
387.0 


$
(24.6)


$
358.4 

Net earnings

— 


— 


— 


2.9 


— 


2.9 

Issuance of common stock, stock-based compensation plans

214,148 


— 


0.7 


— 


— 


0.7 

Stock-based compensation expense

— 


— 


2.9 


— 


— 


2.9 

Other comprehensive income

— 


— 


— 


— 


4.3 


4.3 

Balance as of March 31, 2022

143,175,392 


1.4 


$
(1.8)


$
389.9 


$
(20.3)


$
369.2 











































Shares

Common Stock

Additional Paid-In Capital (Deficit)

Retained Earnings

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Total Equity
Balance as of December 31, 2020

141,557,236 


1.4 


$
(25.6)


$
316.7 


$
(19.5)


$
273.0 


Net earnings

— 


— 


— 


7.9 


— 


7.9 

Issuance of common stock, stock-based compensation plans

123,400 


— 


0.7 


— 


— 


0.7 

Stock-based compensation expense

— 


— 


3.2 


— 


— 


3.2 

Other comprehensive loss

— 


— 


— 


— 


(7.2)


(7.2)


Balance as of March 31, 2021

141,680,636 


1.4 


$
(21.7)


$
324.6 


$
(26.7)


$
277.6 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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WELBILT, INC.
Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements


1. Business and Organization

Welbilt, Inc. ("Welbilt" or the "Company") is one of the world’s leading commercial foodservice equipment companies leveraging a full suite of equipment capable of storing, cooking, holding, displaying, dispensing and serving in both hot and cold foodservice categories. The Company is headquartered in New Port Richey, Florida, and operates 19 manufacturing facilities globally. The Company designs, manufactures and supplies best-in-class equipment for the global commercial foodservice market, consisting of commercial and institutional foodservice operators represented by full-service restaurants, quick-service restaurant chains, hotels, resorts, cruise ships, caterers, supermarkets, convenience stores, hospitals, schools and other institutions. The Company sells its products through a global network of over 5,000 distributors, dealers, buying groups and manufacturers' representatives.

Welbilt was incorporated in Delaware in 2015 and became publicly traded in March 2016 under the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") ticker symbol "MFS" after the Company completed its spin-off from The Manitowoc Company, Inc. ("MTW") (the "Spin-Off"). On March 6, 2017, shares of the Company commenced trading under a new NYSE ticker symbol, "WBT", when the Company effected its name change from "Manitowoc Foodservice, Inc." to "Welbilt, Inc."

The Company manages its business in three geographic business segments: Americas, EMEA and APAC. The Americas segment includes the United States ("U.S."), Canada and Latin America. The EMEA segment consists of markets in Europe, including Middle East, Russia, Africa and the Commonwealth of Independent States. The APAC segment consists primarily of markets in China, India, Australia, South Korea, Singapore, Philippines, Japan, Indonesia, Malaysia, Thailand, Hong Kong, Taiwan, New Zealand and Vietnam.

Merger with Ali Holding S.r.l.

On July 14, 2021, the Company and Ali Holding S.r.l. (“Ali Group”), a significant and diversified global foodservice equipment manufacturer and distributor, entered into a merger agreement under which Ali Group will acquire the Company in an all-cash transaction for $24.00 per share, or approximately $3.5 billion in aggregate equity value and $4.8 billion in enterprise value. The merger agreement has been unanimously approved by the Company's board of directors and on September 30, 2021, was subsequently approved by the Company's stockholders.

In accordance with the terms of the merger agreement and immediately prior to the merger:

(i)     all of the Company's outstanding and unvested common stock options and restricted stock units will become vested and exchanged for the right to receive cash equal to the $24.00 per share consideration (less the exercise per share of common stock for the common stock options), and

(ii)    all of the Company's outstanding performance share units will also be exchanged, as determined assuming the maximum level of performance is achieved, for the right to receive cash equal to the $24.00 per share consideration,

Upon completion of the transaction, the Company's shares will no longer trade on The New York Stock Exchange.

The Ali Group merger agreement provides that the Company may be required to pay Ali Group a termination fee equal to $110.0 million if the merger agreement is terminated:

(a)     by Ali Group due to a breach of a covenant or agreement by the Company that causes the failure of a condition to closing, or
(b)     by either party if the Merger has not been consummated prior to July 14, 2022 (subject to extension if certain approvals have not been obtained by such date) or

if, in the case of clauses (a) or (b), an alternative proposal has been publicly disclosed, announced or otherwise made public and
has not been withdrawn and within twelve months of such termination the Company enters into a definitive agreement with respect
to, or consummates, an alternative proposal.

In conjunction with obtaining regulatory approval for the closing of the merger agreement, Welbilt and the Ali Group made the decision to divest of the Company's Manitowoc Ice brand business ("Ice Business") and on March 3, 2022, Welbilt entered into a definitive agreement to sell the Ice Business to Pentair plc for approximately $1.6 billion in cash, subject to customary post-closing adjustments. The completion of the sale of the Ice Business is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of customary closing conditions, including (i) receipt of applicable regulatory approvals, and (ii) the substantially concurrent closing of the merger agreement with Ali Group discussed above.
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Welbilt expects to receive regulatory approval for the sale of Welbilt to Ali Group from the United States, United Kingdom, and European Union prior to closing the sale of the Ice Business to Pentair plc. and subsequently close both the merger agreement with Ali Group and the sale of the Ice Business to Pentair plc concurrently. The Company currently expects to receive the necessary approvals and complete these transactions in the second or third quarter of 2022.

See further discussion in Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Note 3. Discontinued Operations related to the presentation of the Ice Business in the accompanying financial statements for all periods presented.



2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Welbilt and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and have been prepared by the Company, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC. The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. ("U.S. GAAP"). All intercompany balances and transactions between the Company and its affiliates have been eliminated in consolidation.

In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the assets and liabilities to be included in the divestiture of the Ice Business have been presented as "Current assets of discontinued operations" and "Current liabilities of discontinued operations" in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of both March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, as the sale of the Ice Business is currently expected to close in the second or third quarter first half of 2022. In addition, the result of operations of the Ice Business are presented as "Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income taxes" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as of both March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. All such amounts have been excluded from both continuing operations and segment results for all periods presented. The Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows are presented on a consolidated basis and include both continuing operations and discontinued operations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include inventory obsolescence costs, fair value of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets, warranty costs, product liability costs, employee benefit programs, sales rebates and the measurement of income tax assets and liabilities. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that the Company believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates these assumptions, judgments and estimates. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

On November 5th, 2021, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration announced an emergency temporary standard mandating the COVID-19 vaccine or weekly testing for most U.S. employees, which includes the Company's employees. That standard was struck down by the U.S. Supreme Court on January 13, 2022 and is currently stayed. However, the Biden Administration has indicated that it may seek to impose alternative vaccine mandates and other governmental authorities have imposed more targeted vaccine and testing orders and regulations, and may continue to do so in the future. If a mandate is ultimately issued and implemented in some form, the Company expects there would be further disruptions to its operations, such as inability to maintain adequate staffing at the Company's facilities, difficulties in replacing disqualified employees with temporary employees or new hires, increased costs and diminished availability of raw materials and component parts, and increased compliance burdens, including financial costs, diversion of administrative resources, and increased downtimes to accommodate for any required ongoing COVID-19 testing, which would result in delays in the manufacturing process, negatively impact the Company's future sales levels and ongoing customer relationships.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has created and may continue to create significant uncertainty in the macroeconomic environment which, in addition to other unforeseen effects of this pandemic, may adversely impact the Company's future operating results. As a result, many of the Company's estimates and assumptions may require increased judgment and involve a higher degree of variability and volatility. As the impacts of the pandemic continue and additional information becomes available, these estimates may change materially in future periods. In the opinion of management, the consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments necessary for a fair statement of the results of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, the financial position as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 and the cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, and except as otherwise discussed herein, such adjustments consist only of those of a normal recurring nature. The interim results are not necessarily indicative of results that may be achieved in a full reporting year. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in annual consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the SEC rules and regulations governing interim financial statements. However, the Company believes that the disclosures made in the unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

All dollar amounts, except share and per share amounts, are in millions of dollars unless otherwise indicated.
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Government Assistance

The Company's policy for government assistance is to recognize the assistance when there is reasonable assurance that the Company has met the substantive conditions of and requirements for receiving the assistance. The government assistance is recorded as a reduction to the related expense to which the assistance relates. Beginning in the second quarter of 2020, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, governments in various jurisdictions in which the Company operates have provided financial assistance designed to offset salary expenditures associated with companies maintaining their pre-pandemic employee headcount levels. Beginning in 2022, there was no further government assistance available in any of the jurisdictions in which the Company operates.

For the three months ended March 31, 2021, the Company met the requirements to receive $1.8 million of government assistance in the form of cash, cost abatements and retention credits. As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company had receivables of $1.5 million and $3.2 million related to government assistance.

Government assistance received during the quarter ended March 31, 2021 has been reflected as a reduction to the related expense for which the assistance relates as follows:









(in millions)
Three Months Ended


3/31/2021
Reduction to related expense(1):


Cost of sales

$
0.4 

Selling, general and administrative expenses

0.8 

Total

$
1.2 

(1) As of March 31, 2021, $0.6 million of government assistance was included as a reduction in capitalized labor, and is included as a component of "Inventories — net". This portion of government assistance was be recognized as a reduction to "Cost of sales" when the associated inventory is sold.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

There were no recently adopted accounting pronouncements which would have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

Recently issued accounting guidance not discussed above is not applicable, did not have, or is not expected to have a material impact on the Company.


3. Discontinued Operations

As discussed above, in conjunction with obtaining regulatory approval for the closing of the merger agreement, Welbilt and the Ali Group made the decision to divest of the Ice Business and on March 3, 2022, Welbilt entered into a definitive agreement to sell the Ice Business to Pentair plc for approximately $1.6 billion in cash, subject to customary post-closing adjustments.

The following table presents the financial results of the Ice Business, presented as "Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income taxes" in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations (in millions):

















Three Months Ended March 31,


2022

2021
Net sales

$
74.7 


$
63.5 

Cost of sales

49.6 


35.6 

Gross profit

25.1 


27.9 

Selling, general and administrative expenses

4.5 


3.7 

Transaction expenses (1)

8.3 


— 




Earnings from discontinued operations

12.3 


24.2 



Interest expense

7.8 


8.3 


Earnings from discontinued operations before income taxes

4.5 


15.9 

Income tax expense

0.7 


3.5 

Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income taxes

$
3.8 


$
12.4 




(1) Transaction expenses included as a component of the Company's "Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income taxes" consist of
transaction bonuses for the Company's management involved in the divestiture of the Ice Business and third-party professional services incurred in
connection with the pending sale of the Ice Business.

The Ice Business operates in all three of the Company's geographic segments, the Americas , EMEA and APAC. For the quarter ended March 31, 2022, net sales as a percentage of the total Ice Business net sales were approximately 88%, 4%, and 8%, respectively, in the Americas, EMEA and APAC segments. For the quarter ended March 31, 2021, net sales as a percentage of the total Ice Business net sales were approximately 84%, 6% and 10%, respectively, in the Americas, EMEA and APAC segments.

In accordance with the applicable accounting guidance, selling, general and administrative expenses included as a component of "Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income taxes" includes the direct operating expenses of the Ice Business which the Company will not incur subsequent to the divestiture of the Ice Business and excludes the allocation of various shared functions, including sales, finance, information technology, factory overhead, management fees and other corporate overhead expenses.

In addition, the Company has included the interest expense incurred on borrowings outstanding under the Company's Senior Secured Credit Facility as a component of "Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income taxes", as the Senior Secured Credit Facility agreement contains provisions which requires these borrowings to be repaid in conjunction with the divestiture of the Ice Business.

The classification of the assets and liabilities of the Ice Business in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet was determined based on the expected timing of the closing of the sale of the Ice Business. The carrying value of the Ice Business assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 consist of the following (in millions):


















March 31,

December 31,


2022

2021

 Assets

 

 
Cash and cash equivalents

$
30.6 


$
42.6 

Restricted cash

— 


0.1 


Accounts receivable - net

40.9 


35.2 

Inventories — net

54.2 


49.7 

Prepaids and other assets

9.8 


9.6 


     Property, plant and equipment — net

22.0 


22.6 

     Operating lease right-of-use assets

10.3 


10.2 

     Goodwill

385.0 


385.0 

Total assets

$
552.8 


$
555.0 






Liabilities




Trade accounts payable

$
18.1 


$
26.2 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

38.3 


46.4 

Product warranties

11.3 


11.9 

     Operating lease liabilities

9.0 


9.0 


Total liabilities

$
76.7 


$
93.5 


As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, amounts above exclude a net payable of $5.6 million and $15.5 million, respectively, which are due to other entities within the Company. Such amounts are required to be settled in cash prior to the closing of the Ice Business divestiture.


4. Inventories — Net

The components of "Inventories — net" are as follows:
















(in millions)

March 31,

December 31,


2022

2021
Inventories — net:

 

 
Raw materials

$
130.3 


$
127.7 

Work-in-process

19.7 


17.0 

Finished goods

139.9 


100.0 





Total inventories — net

$
289.9 


$
244.7 
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5. Property, Plant and Equipment — Net

The components of "Property, plant and equipment — net" are as follows:
















(in millions)

March 31,

December 31,


2022

2021
Property, plant and equipment — net:




Land

$
9.6 


$
9.6 

Building and improvements

80.6 


80.2 

Machinery, equipment and tooling

183.2 


179.3 

Furniture and fixtures

7.0 


7.0 

Computer hardware and software for internal use

64.1 


62.5 

Construction in progress

8.8 


9.8 

Total cost

353.3 


348.4 

Less accumulated depreciation

(240.7)


(235.4)

Total property, plant and equipment — net

$
112.6 


$
113.0 



6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets — Net

The Company's annual impairment tests of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are performed as of June 30th of each fiscal year and whenever a triggering event occurs between annual impairment tests. The Company's trademarks and tradenames are classified as indefinite-lived intangible assets as there are no regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic or other factors which limit the useful lives of these intangible assets. The indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment test is performed at the Company's unit of account level, which is the Americas, EMEA and APAC. The goodwill impairment test is performed for the Company's reporting units, which are the Americas, EMEA and APAC.
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by geographic business segment are as follows:



























(in millions)

Americas

EMEA

APAC

Total
Goodwill balance at December 31, 2021 (1)

$
489.6 


$
49.4 


$
12.3 


$
551.3 

Foreign currency impact

(0.1)


(2.3)


— 


(2.4)

Goodwill balance at March 31, 2022

$
489.5 


$
47.1 


$
12.3 


$
548.9 


(1) Goodwill is net of accumulated impairment losses of $515.7 million: $312.2 million recorded for the Americas and $203.5 million recorded for EMEA, both of which were recorded prior to December 31, 2021.

The gross carrying amounts, impairment charges and accumulated amortization of the Company's intangible assets, other than goodwill, are as follows:








































(in millions)

March 31, 2022

December 31, 2021


Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization
Amount

Net
Book
Value

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization
Amount

Net
Book
Value
Customer relationships

$
473.6 


$
(303.0)


$
170.6 


$
475.1 


$
(297.0)


$
178.1 

Trademarks and trade names

205.0 


— 


205.0 


206.9 


— 


206.9 

Other intangibles

169.2 


(140.4)


28.8 


170.6 


(138.1)


32.5 

Patents

5.8 


(2.6)


3.2 


5.8 


(2.5)


3.3 



Total

$
853.6 


$
(446.0)


$
407.6 


$
858.4 


$
(437.6)


$
420.8 


As of March 31, 2022, trademarks and trade names by business segment are: $130.6 million in the Americas, $67.0 million in EMEA and $7.4 million in APAC. As of December 31, 2021, trademarks and trade names by business segment are: $130.6 million in the Americas, $68.9 million in EMEA and $7.4 million in APAC.
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7. Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

The components of "Accrued expenses and other liabilities" are as follows:
















(in millions)

March 31,

December 31,


2022

2021
Accrued expenses and other liabilities:




Miscellaneous accrued expenses

$
30.3 


$
26.1 

Employee related expenses

42.8 


49.0 

Accrued rebates and commissions

33.3 


44.1 

Current portion of operating lease liabilities

8.3 


8.6 

Interest payable

5.7 


15.9 

Customer deposits

8.4 


8.8 

Non-income tax payables

4.3 


4.4 

Restructuring liabilities

1.5 


1.7 

Deferred revenues

5.4 


4.2 

Pension and postretirement health liabilities

2.1 


2.1 



Income and other taxes payable

4.7 


5.6 





Total accrued expenses and other liabilities

$
146.8 


$
170.5 



8. Income Taxes

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act") was enacted on March 27, 2020, and includes many measures intended to assist companies during the COVID-19 pandemic, including temporary changes to income and non-income-based tax laws, some of which were enacted under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax Act") in 2017. As a result of the Tax Act and the CARES Act, additional legislative and regulatory guidance has been and will likely continue to be issued, including final regulations that could impact the Company's effective tax rate in future periods.

For the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recorded a $0.3 million income tax expense, reflecting a (50.0)% effective tax rate, compared to a $1.7 million income tax benefit for the three months ended March 31, 2021, reflecting a 27.4% effective tax rate. The change in the effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the same period of the prior year, is primarily due to the increase in non-deductible transaction related costs, repatriation of foreign earnings, Company's decrease in loss from continuing operations before income taxes and the relative weighting of jurisdictional income and loss, which was partially offset by the deferred taxes related to stock compensation. For the three months ended March 31, 2022, the income tax provision includes a net discrete tax expense of $0.4 million primarily related to repatriation of foreign earnings and changes in deferred taxes related to stock compensation, as compared to the income tax benefit for the three months ended March 31, 2021, which includes a net discrete benefit of $0.3 million primarily related to changes for income tax returns filed, and the changes in deferred taxes related to stock compensation and repatriation of foreign earnings.

The Company’s effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2022, varies from the 21.0% U.S. federal statutory rate primarily due to net discrete tax items, transaction related costs, and taxes on foreign income. The Company’s effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2021 varies from the 21.0% U.S. federal statutory rate primarily due to net discrete tax items, and taxes on foreign income. Foreign earnings are generated from operations in all of the Company's three geographic segments, Americas, EMEA and APAC.

As of each reporting date, the Company’s management considers new evidence, both positive and negative, that could impact management’s view regarding the future realization of deferred tax assets. The Company will continue to evaluate its valuation allowance requirements, including the U.S. interest expense limitation of the Tax Act. As of March 31, 2022, the Company has determined that a valuation allowance is not required for the deferred tax asset associated with U.S. interest expense. The Company may adjust its deferred tax asset valuation allowances based on possible sources of taxable income that may be available to realize a tax benefit for deferred tax assets. As facts and circumstances change, the Company may also adjust its deferred tax asset valuation allowances accordingly. Such changes in the deferred tax asset valuation allowances would be reflected in current operations through the Company’s income tax provision (benefit) and could have a material effect on the Company’s operating results for the respective period.

The Company's unrecognized tax benefits, including interest and penalties were $9.6 million as of both March 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021. During the next twelve months, it is reasonably possible that unrecognized tax benefits could change in the range of $0.2 million to $1.5 million due to the expiration of relevant statutes of limitations and federal, state and foreign tax audit resolutions. In addition, as of March 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets includes $30.3 million and $25.6 million, respectively, of income tax receivables, classified within "Prepaids and other current assets."

The Company files tax returns in multiple jurisdictions and is subject to examination by taxing authorities globally. The Company regularly assesses the likelihood of an adverse outcome resulting from examinations to determine the adequacy of its income tax reserves.
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As of March 31, 2022, the Company believes that it is more-likely-than-not that the tax positions it has taken will be sustained upon the resolution of its audits, resulting in no material impact on its consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows. However, the final determination with respect to any tax audits, and any related litigation, could be materially different from the Company's estimates and/or from its historical income tax provisions and accruals and could have a material effect on operating results and/or cash flows in the periods for which that determination is made. In addition, future period earnings may be adversely impacted by litigation costs, settlements, penalties and/or interest assessments.

The Company is currently under audit by the tax authorities in Germany for the years 2015 through 2018 and in the U.S. for the 2017 and 2018 federal income tax returns and various other state income tax and jurisdictional audits. The Company's separate federal and state tax returns for tax years 2017 through 2020, and 2016 through 2020, respectively, remain subject to examination by U.S. federal and various state taxing authorities. Generally, the tax years 2016 through 2020 remain subject to examination in Canada, tax years 2015 through 2020 remain subject to examination in Germany, and tax years 2011 through 2020 remain subject to examination in China.

As of March 31, 2022, the Company intends to continue reinvesting foreign earnings indefinitely outside of the U.S. with certain limited exceptions and has not recorded a deferred tax liability for U.S. state income taxes, foreign withholding or other foreign income taxes that would be due if cash is repatriated to the U.S. The Company considers its foreign earnings to be permanently reinvested or may be remitted substantially free of any additional income or withholding taxes, with the exception of the Company's intent for repatriation of the foreign earnings of certain legal entities within the EMEA and APAC regions, for which such foreign earnings have been previously taxed. While the Company does not anticipate a need to repatriate funds to the U.S. to satisfy domestic liquidity needs, management reviews cash positions regularly and, to the extent it is determined that additional foreign earnings will not remain indefinitely reinvested, the Company will record a liability for the additional taxes, if applicable, including foreign withholding taxes and U.S. state income taxes. Further, the determination of the amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability related to the undistributed earnings is not practicable.


9. Debt

The carrying value of the Company's outstanding debt consists of the following:




























(in millions, except percentage data)

March 31, 2022

December 31, 2021


Carrying Value

Weighted Average Interest Rate

Carrying Value

Weighted Average Interest Rate
Long-term debt and finance leases:









Revolving Credit Facility

$
190.0 


3.79 
%

$
120.0 


4.50 
%
Term Loan B Facility

855.0 


2.98 
%

855.0 


2.93 
%
9.50% Senior Notes due 2024

425.0 


9.72 
%

425.0 


9.76 
%
Finance leases

1.4 


4.03 
%

1.6 


4.42 
%
Total debt and finance leases, including current portion

1,471.4 




1,401.6 



Less current portion:









Finance leases

(0.7)




(0.9)



Unamortized debt issuance costs (1)

(11.9)




(12.9)



Hedge accounting fair value adjustment (2)

0.2 




0.2 



Total long-term debt and finance leases

$
1,459.0 




$
1,388.0 




(1) Total debt issuance costs, net of amortization as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, were $13.9 million and $15.3 million, respectively, of which $2.0 million and $2.4 million, respectively, are related to the Revolving Credit Facility and recorded in "Other non-current assets" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
(2) Balance represents deferred gains from the terminations of interest rate swaps designated as fair value hedges.

In March 2016, the Company entered into a credit agreement, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time (the "2016 Credit Agreement") for a $1,300.0 million Senior Secured Credit Facility (the "Senior Secured Credit Facility") consisting of (i) a senior secured Term Loan B facility in an aggregate principal amount of $900.0 million (the "Term Loan B Facility") and (ii) a senior secured revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of $400.0 million (the "Revolving Credit Facility"). The 2016 Credit Agreement also provides for a (i) sublimit for the issuance of letters of credit under the revolving commitments up to $30.0 million and (ii) aggregate principal amount of allowed incremental revolving or term loan facilities thereunder in an amount not to exceed the sum of (a) $275.0 million plus (b) an additional amount, as long as after giving effect to the incurrence of such additional amount, the proforma secured leverage ratio does not exceed 3.75:1.00. The maturity of the Term Loan B Facility and Revolving Credit Facility is October 2025 and October 2023, respectively. Each of the terms above were applicable with the latest amendment completed in April 2020, as further discussed below.

The 2016 Credit Agreement contains financial covenants including, but not limited to (a) a Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio, which measures the ratio of (i) Consolidated EBITDA to (ii) Consolidated Interest Expense, and (b) a Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio, which
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measures the ratio of (i) Consolidated Indebtedness to (ii) Consolidated EBITDA for the most recent four fiscal quarters, in each case, as defined in the 2016 Credit Agreement.

In April 2020, the Company entered into Amendment No. 7 (“Amendment No. 7”) to the 2016 Credit Agreement, to amend the financial covenants of the Revolving Credit Facility to prevent non-compliance with these financial covenants for the quarter ended June 30, 2020 resulting from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the commercial foodservice industry and the resulting decrease in demand for the Company's products.

In October 2021, the Company entered into a Suspension of Rights Agreement to the 2016 Credit Agreement, effective December 31, 2021, which: (i) suspends the Company's ability to execute non-USD currency draws under the Revolving Facility, (ii) requires all outstanding non-USD currency loans to be repaid on or before December 31, 2021 and (iii) eliminates the option to select an interest period of 2 months for any borrowings in USD without the lenders' consent. The Company does not expect that the execution of this agreement will have a material impact on the Company's future liquidity or consolidated results of operations.

As of March 31, 2022, the Company had $6.7 million in outstanding stand-by letters of credit and $203.3 million available for additional borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, to the extent the Company's compliance with financial covenants permits such borrowings. As of March 31, 2022, the Company also had $1.0 million in other outstanding letters of credit or guarantees of payment to certain third-parties in accordance with commercial terms and conditions which did not reduce the amount available for additional borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility.

As of March 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with all affirmative and negative covenants, including any financial covenants, pertaining to its financing arrangements. The Company continually monitors its compliance with the covenants in its Revolving Credit Facility, and in doing so has made estimates of the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, supply chain disturbances and shipping and logistics delays on its financial position, results of operations and cash flows. The Company believes it will remain in compliance with all such covenants for the next 12 months; however, due to the inherent uncertainty of the severity and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, supply chain disturbances and shipping and logistics delays and resulting impact on the Company's business, management's estimates of the achievement of its financial covenants may change in the future.


10. Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company's risk management objective is to ensure that business exposures to risks that have been identified and measured and are capable of being controlled are minimized or managed using what the Company believes to be the most effective and efficient methods to eliminate, reduce or transfer such exposures. Operating decisions consider these associated risks and the Company structures transactions to minimize or manage these risks whenever possible.

The primary risks the Company manages using derivative instruments are interest rate risk, commodity price risk and foreign currency exchange risk. The Company has historically entered into interest rate swap agreements to manage interest rate risk associated with the Company’s fixed and floating-rate borrowings. The Company has also historically entered into cross-currency interest rate swaps to protect the value of the Company’s investments in its foreign subsidiaries and has entered into swap contracts on various commodities are used to manage the price risk associated with forecasted purchases of materials used in the Company's manufacturing process. The Company may also enter into various foreign currency derivative instruments to manage foreign currency risk associated with its projected purchases and sales and foreign currency denominated receivable and payable balances.

The Company recognizes all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Commodity swaps and foreign currency exchange contracts are designated as cash flow hedges of forecasted purchases of commodities and currencies, certain interest rate swaps are designated as cash flow hedges of floating-rate borrowings, and the remainder of the instruments are designated as fair value hedges of fixed-rate borrowings and a cross-currency interest rate swap as a hedge of net investments in its foreign subsidiaries.

Cash flow hedging strategy

For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the gain or loss on the derivative is recorded in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss ("AOCI") in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets and is subsequently reclassified into earnings in the periods in which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The Company does not expect any unrealized losses, net of tax, related to currency rate and commodity price hedging to be reclassified from AOCI into earnings during the next twelve months. Foreign currency and commodity hedging, prior to de-designation, is generally completed prospectively on a rolling basis for 15 and 36 months, respectively, depending on the type of risk being hedged.

As of March 31, 2022, the Company had no outstanding currency forward contacts which were entered into as hedges of forecasted transactions and continue to qualify for hedge accounting. As of December 31, 2021, there were currency forward contracts totaling 3.8 million Canadian dollars outstanding, which were entered into as hedges of forecasted transactions and continued to qualify for hedge accounting.

The effects of the Company's derivative instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and Consolidated Statements of Operations for gains or losses initially recognized in AOCI in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows:
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Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships

Pretax gain/(loss) recognized in AOCI

Pretax gain/(loss) reclassified from AOCI into income
(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31,

Location

Three Months Ended March 31,


2022

2021



2022

2021
Foreign currency exchange contracts

$
— 


$
(0.2)


Cost of sales

$
— 


$
0.4 





Fair value hedging strategy

For derivative instruments that qualify and are designated as a fair value hedge (i.e. hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset or a liability or an identified portion thereof that is attributable to a particular risk), the gain or loss on the derivative instrument as well as the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in the same line item associated with the hedged item in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Effect of Fair Value and Cash Flow Derivative Instruments on Consolidated Statements of Operations

The table below presents the effect of the Company’s derivative financial instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Operations:






























(in millions)

Location and amount of gain/(loss) recognized on effect of fair value and cash flow derivative instruments



Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended



March 31, 2022

March 31, 2021



Cost of Sales

Interest Expense

Cost of Sales

Interest Expense

Total amounts of expense line items presented in the Consolidated Statements of Operations in which effects of fair value and cash flow hedges are recorded

$
223.3 


$
10.5 


$
163.3 


$
10.5 


The effects of fair value and cash flow hedging:














Gain/(loss) on cash flow hedging relationships:









Foreign currency exchange contracts:









Amount of gain/(loss) reclassified from AOCI into income

$
— 


$
— 


$
0.4 


$
— 







Hedge of net investment in foreign operations strategy

The Company had no derivative instruments which qualified and were designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign currency outstanding as of either March 31, 2022 or December 31, 2021.

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

The Company enters into commodity and foreign currency exchange contracts that are not designated as hedge relationships to offset, in part, the impact of certain intercompany transactions and to further mitigate certain other short-term commodity and currency impacts, as identified. For derivative instruments that are not designated as hedging instruments, the gains or losses on the derivatives are recognized in current earnings within "Other expense — net" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company had no outstanding commodity contracts which were not designated as hedging instruments as of either March 31, 2022 or December 31, 2021.

As of March 31, 2022, the Company had no outstanding currency forward contracts that were not designated as hedging instruments. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had currency forward contracts totaling 1.8 million Canadian dollars that were not designated as hedging instruments. The fair value of these currency forward contracts was $0.1 million as of December 31, 2021 and is included in "Prepaids and other current assets" in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets.

For the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recognized an expense of $2.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, related to foreign currency exchange contracts. The gains and losses related to derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments are included in Other expense — net in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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11. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

In accordance with the Company's policy, fair value is defined as the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The policy classifies the inputs used to measure fair value into the following hierarchy:

Level 1    Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2    Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, or

Unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or

Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability

Level 3    Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

Interim Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company utilizes the best available information in measuring fair value. The carrying values of cash, restricted cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and trade accounts payable approximate fair value, without being discounted, as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

The Company's Revolving Credit Facility, Term Loan B Facility and Senior Notes are recorded at their carrying values on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets, as disclosed in Note 9, "Debt." The carrying value of the Revolving Credit Facility approximates its fair value due to the short-term variable interest rates of the borrowings. The Company estimates the fair value of the Term Loan B Facility and the Senior Notes based on quoted market prices of the instruments and because these instruments are typically thinly traded, the liabilities are classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the Company's Term Loan B Facility was approximately $849.7 million and $853.9 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. The fair value of the Company's Senior Notes was approximately $432.2 million and $429.7 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.

Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

As of March 31, 2022, the Company had no financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had foreign currency exchange contracts outstanding with a fair value of $0.1 million using the Level 2 fair value measurement inputs.


12. Contingencies and Significant Estimates

Product-Related and Environmental Matters

As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company had reserved $31.4 million and $30.8 million, respectively, for product-related warranty claims expected to be paid. Certain of these warranty and other related claims involve matters in dispute that will ultimately be resolved by negotiations, arbitration or litigation. See Note 13, "Product Warranties," for further information.

Product liability reserves are included in "Accrued expenses and other liabilities" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and totaled $0.8 million as of both March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. Based on the Company's experience in defending product liability claims, management believes the reserves are adequate for estimated case resolutions on aggregate self-insured claims and third-party insured claims. Any recoveries from insurance carriers are dependent upon the legal sufficiency of claims and solvency of insurance carriers. Such recoveries are not recorded until the associated contingencies are resolved and the recoveries are realizable.

As of both March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company held reserves for environmental matters related to certain of its current and former facilities of $0.5 million , which are included in "Accrued expenses and other liabilities" in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of March 31, 2022, there have been no other claims asserted for soil or groundwater contamination at any of the Company’s other facilities, but there can be no assurance that such claims will not arise in the future. The ultimate cost of any remediation that may be required will depend upon the results of future investigation and is not reasonably estimable. Based upon available information, the Company does not expect the ultimate costs of any required remediation at any of these facilities will have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows individually or in the aggregate.

It is reasonably possible that the estimates for product warranty, product liability and environmental remediation costs may change based upon new information that may arise or matters that are beyond the scope of the Company's historical experience. Presently, there are no reliable methods to estimate the amount of any such potential changes.

Other Contingencies
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The Company is subject to litigation, government inquiries, audits, commercial disputes, claims and other legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. From time to time, the Company may be subject to audits by tax, export, customs and other governmental authorities or incur routine and non-routine fees, expenses or penalties relating to compliance with complex laws and regulations impacting the Company's business. The Company records accruals for anticipated losses related to legal and other matters, which are both probable and reasonably estimable, as well as for related legal costs as incurred. The Company believes that it has adequately accrued for such matters as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively, based on the best available information. In the opinion of management, the ultimate resolution of such legal and other matters is not expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

As previously disclosed, the Company voluntarily disclosed to U.S. Customs and Border Protection ("CBP") certain errors in the declaration of imported products relating to quantity, value, classification, North American Free Trade Agreement eligibility and other matters as well as potential violations of antidumping and countervailing duties. Following such disclosures, the Company began a comprehensive review of its import practices in order to quantify the loss of revenue to CBP. In April 2020, the Company determined based on its continued analysis and testing of relevant records of import activity, a potential range of loss was both probable and reasonably estimable. As of December 31, 2020, the Company concluded its analysis and testing of import activity and determined the amount of $3.1 million was due to the CBP.

In February 2021, the Company submitted the completed analysis to CBP and remitted the aforementioned amount due. Significant judgment was required in determining the amounts due to the CBP and although the Company believes its estimate to be reasonable, no assurance can be given that the final outcome of this matter will be consistent with what has been recorded and remitted by the Company. To the extent that the final outcome of this matter is different than the amounts recorded, such differences will be recorded in the period in which such determination is made.

On January 27, 2022, one of the Company’s Mexican subsidiaries received a notification from the Mexican taxing authority of the preliminary findings identified during a tax audit for the period April 1, 2016 through February 27, 2018. The preliminary findings stated the Mexican subsidiary did not provide evidence of the export of goods temporarily imported under Mexico’s Manufacturing, Maquila and Export Services Industries Program (“IMMEX Program”), therefore triggering the obligation for payment of import duties, fines and surcharges. In response to the notification, on February 1, 2022, the Company filed a petition outlining the Company’s disagreement with the preliminary findings as the Company believes that appropriate documentation evidencing the export of the goods has been provided to the taxing authority. On March 28, 2022, the Company received a response from the Mexico tax authority confirming that additional time is required to review the Company's petition and the Company has received no further correspondence from the Mexican tax authority since that date.

While the Company cannot predict with certainty the outcome of this tax audit, based on current known information, the Company does not believe a loss contingency is either probable or estimable. Accordingly, no loss contingency has been recorded in the Company’s financial statements as of March 31, 2022 related to this matter. However, if the final resolution of the tax matter is not favorable to the Company, a charge will be recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements at such time as the range of loss becomes both probable and estimable.


13. Product Warranties

In the normal course of business, the Company provides its customers with product warranties covering workmanship, and in some cases materials, on products manufactured by the Company. Such product warranties generally provide that products will be free from defects for periods ranging from 12 to 60 months, with certain equipment having longer-term warranties. If a product fails to comply with the Company's warranty, the Company may be obligated, at its expense, to correct any defect by repairing or replacing such defective products. The Company accrues an estimate of costs that may be incurred under the product warranty at the time the product revenue is recognized. These costs include estimates of labor and materials, as necessary, associated with repair or replacement of the products. The primary factors which impact the warranty liability include the number of units shipped and historical and anticipated warranty claims. As these factors are impacted by actual experience and future expectations, the Company assesses the adequacy of its recorded warranty liability on an ongoing basis and adjusts the liability as determined necessary.

The product warranty liability activity for the three months ended March 31, 2022 is as follows:










(in millions)


Balance as of December 31, 2021(1)

$
30.8 

Additions for issuance of warranties

7.3 

Settlements (in cash or in kind)

(6.6)

Currency translation impact

(0.1)

Balance as of March 31, 2022(1)

$
31.4 

(1) Long-term product warranty liabilities are included in "Other long-term liabilities" and totaled $4.9 million and $6.0 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.

The Company also sells extended warranties, which are recorded as deferred revenue and are amortized to "Net sales" on a straight-line basis over the extended warranty period. The short-term portion of deferred revenue on extended warranties, included in "Accrued expenses and
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other liabilities" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets was $2.3 million and $2.1 million at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. The long-term portion of deferred revenue on warranties included in "Other long-term liabilities" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets was $3.6 million and $3.5 million at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.


14. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors and maintains defined benefit retirement plans ("Pension Plans") and postretirement health and other plans ("Postretirement Health and Other Plans") (collectively "Defined Benefit Plans") for certain retired and current employees at the time of their retirement. Benefits under the employee retirement plans are primarily based on years of service and compensation during the years immediately preceding retirement. The current plans are based largely upon benefit plans in place prior to the Spin-off and have been subsequently maintained by the Company and are generally closed to new participants.

The components of periodic benefit costs for the Company's Defined Benefit Plans are as follows:



























(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31,


2022

2021


Pension Plans

Postretirement
Health and Other Plans

Pension Plans

Postretirement
Health and Other Plans
Service cost - benefits earned during the period

$
— 


$
— 


$
— 


$
— 

Interest cost of projected benefit obligations

0.9 


— 


0.6 


0.1 

Expected return on assets

(0.9)


— 


(0.8)


— 

Amortization of prior service cost

0.5 


— 


— 


(0.1)

Amortization of actuarial net loss

0.5 


0.1 


0.7 


0.2 


Net periodic benefit cost

$
1.0 


$
0.1 


$
0.5 


$
0.2 


The components of periodic benefit costs are included in "Other expense — net" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In March 2021, the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (the “Act”) was signed into law. The Act provides additional relief to companies and individuals impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and includes a reduction of the required minimum contributions to U.S. pension plans for 2021. As a result of the Act, the Company's updated required minimum contributions for the year ending December 31, 2022 for the Pension Plans is $5.7 million with no planned discretionary or non-cash contributions. The Company made $0.2 million of contributions to the Pension Plans during the quarter ended March 31, 2022. The Company estimates claims for the Postretirement Health and Other Plans to be $1.2 million for the year ending December 31, 2022 and claims paid for the Postretirement Health and Other Plans were $0.2 million for quarter ended March 31, 2022.
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15. Business Transformation Program and Restructuring

Business Transformation Program

During the first quarter of 2019, the Company initiated a comprehensive operational review to validate its long-term growth and margin targets and to refine its execution plans, which culminated into the launch of the Business Transformation Program ("Transformation Program") in May 2019. The Transformation Program was structured in multiple phases and focused on specific areas of opportunity, including strategic sourcing, manufacturing facility workflow redesign, distribution and administrative process efficiencies and optimizing the Company's global brand platforms. As originally planned, the Company completed its Transformation Program during the quarter ended December 31, 2021.

For the three months ended March 31, 2021, the Transformation Program costs consisted primarily of fees for consulting services and totaled $2.2 million, with $0.5 million and $1.7 million included as components of "Cost of sales" and "Selling general and administrative expenses", respectively, in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Restructuring

The Company takes actions to improve operating efficiencies, typically in connection with recognizing cost synergies and rationalizing the cost structure of the Company, including actions associated with the Transformation Program. These actions generally include facility rationalization, headcount reductions and organizational integration activities resulting from discrete restructuring events, which are supported by approved plans for workforce reductions.

The Company's restructuring activity and balance of the restructuring liability is as follows:



























(in millions)

2020 Plans

2019 Plans

2018 and Previous Plans




Workforce reductions

Workforce reductions

Pension withdrawal obligation

Total








Restructuring liability as of December 31, 2021

$
0.1 


$
0.2 


$
7.2 


$
7.5 

Restructuring activities

— 


— 


— 


— 

Cash payments

(0.1)


(0.2)


(0.3)


(0.6)


Restructuring liability as of March 31, 2022

$
— 


$
— 


$
6.9 


$
6.9 


As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the current portion of the restructuring liability was $1.5 million and $1.7 million, respectively, and was included in "Accrued expenses and other liabilities" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the long-term portion of the restructuring liability was $5.4 million and $5.8 million, respectively, and was included in "Other long-term liabilities" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of both March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the long-term portion of the restructuring liability is for a pension withdrawal obligation incurred in connection with the reorganization and plant restructuring one of the Company's former operating entities and is expected to be satisfied in April of 2026, when the pension withdrawal obligation is scheduled to have been satisfied.

There were no restructuring expenses incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2022. During the three months ended March 31, 2021, the Company incurred $0.2 million of restructuring expense, consisting of $0.1 million for the completion of a restructuring action in APAC initiated in 2019 and $0.1 million for a restructuring action initiated during the first quarter of 2021 for the consolidation of a manufacturing facility in EMEA. During the remainder of the year ending December 31, 2022, the Company expects to incur remaining costs of $0.6 million to $0.8 million to complete the restructuring action for the consolidation of the EMEA manufacturing facility.

As the Company completes payments on each of its approved plans, the remaining restructuring liability is adjusted for the actual amounts incurred. No material adjustments for prior period restructuring liabilities were incurred during either of the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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16. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive (loss) income includes foreign currency translation adjustments, changes in the fair value of certain financial derivative instruments that quality for hedge accounting and actuarial gains and losses arising from the Company's employee pension and postretirement benefit obligations.

The components of the Company's AOCI are as follows:















(in millions)

March 31,

December 31,


2022

2021
Accumulated other comprehensive loss:




Foreign currency translation, net of income tax benefit of $1.4 million and $1.4 million, respectively

$
12.6 


$
9.5 

Derivative instrument fair market value, net of income tax benefit of $0.9 million and $1.3 million, respectively

(0.9)


(0.9)

Employee pension and postretirement benefit adjustments, net of income tax benefit of $4.8 million and $4.9 million, respectively

(32.0)


(33.2)

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss

$
(20.3)


$
(24.6)
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The summary of changes in AOCI for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:




























(in millions)

Foreign Currency Translation(1)

Gains and Losses on Cash Flow Hedges

Pension & Postretirement

Total
Balance as of December 31, 2021

$
9.5 


$
(0.9)


$
(33.2)


$
(24.6)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications

3.1 


— 


1.3 


4.4 

Reclassifications

— 


— 


— 


— 

Tax effect of reclassifications

— 


— 


(0.1)


(0.1)

Net current period other comprehensive income (loss)

3.1 


— 


1.2 


4.3 

Balance as of March 31, 2022

$
12.6 


$
(0.9)


$
(32.0)


$
(20.3)








































(in millions)

Foreign Currency Translation(1)

Gains and Losses on Cash Flow Hedges

Pension & Postretirement

Total
Balance as of December 31, 2020

$
19.1 


$
— 


$
(38.6)


$
(19.5)

Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications

(7.1)


(0.2)


(0.2)


(7.5)

Reclassifications

— 


(0.4)


0.8 


0.4 

Tax effect of reclassifications

— 


0.1 


(0.2)


(0.1)

Net current period other comprehensive (loss) income

(7.1)


(0.5)


0.4 


(7.2)

Balance as of March 31, 2021

$
12.0 


$
(0.5)


$
(38.2)


$
(26.7)











(1) Income taxes are not provided for foreign currency translation relating to indefinite investments in foreign subsidiaries, although the income tax effects within cumulative translation does include the impact of the net investment hedge transaction. Reclassification adjustments are made to avoid including items in both comprehensive (loss) income and net earnings (loss).

Reclassifications from AOCI, net of tax, to income were as follows:






















(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31,

Location


2022

2021


Gains (losses) on cash flow hedges:






Foreign currency exchange contracts

$
— 


$
0.4 


Cost of sales
Commodity contracts

— 


— 


Cost of sales

Losses on cash flow hedges, before tax

— 


0.4 



Tax effect

— 


(0.1)


Income tax expense (benefit)
Gains (losses) on cash flow hedges, net of tax

$
— 


$
0.3 










Amortization of pension and postretirement items:






Amortization of prior service cost

$
(0.4)


$
0.1 


Other expense — net
Actuarial losses

— 


(0.9)


Other expense — net

Amortization of pension and postretirement items, before tax

(0.4)


(0.8)



Tax effect

0.1 


0.7 


Income tax expense (benefit)
Amortization of pension and postretirement items, net of tax

$
(0.3)


$
(0.1)










Total reclassifications, net of tax

$
(0.3)


$
0.2 
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17. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The Company presents earnings (loss) per share on a basic and diluted basis. Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net earnings or (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the reported period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share includes the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents, consisting of stock options, restricted stock units and performance share units, using the treasury stock method. Performance share units, which are considered contingently issuable, are considered dilutive when the related performance criterion has been met.

As the Company reported net earnings and earnings from discontinued operations for both the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated as outlined above. As the Company reported a net loss from continuing operations for both the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, the weighted average shares outstanding is the same for both the basic loss per share and diluted loss per share calculations as the inclusion of potential shares of common stock equivalents would be antidilutive., even though the exercise price could be less than the average market price of the common shares. In addition, certain performance share units whose conditions were not met at the end of each of the respective reporting periods have also been excluded from the computation of earnings per share.

The components of weighted average basic and diluted shares outstanding are as follows:


















Three Months Ended March 31,


2022

2021


Weighted average shares outstanding — Basic

143,065,161

141,622,281





Effect of dilutive securities:




Stock options

297,285 


70,226 

Unvested restricted stock units

580,104 


496,605 

Unvested performance share units

46,213 


— 

Effect of dilutive securities

923,602 


566,831 

Weighted average shares outstanding — Diluted

143,988,763

142,189,112




18. Business Segments

The Company identifies its geographic business segments using the "management approach," which designates the internal organization used by management for making operating decisions and assessing performance as the source for determining the Company's geographic business segments. Management organizes and manages the business based on three geographic business segments: the Americas, EMEA and APAC. The accounting policies of the Company's geographic business segments are the same as those described in Note 2, "Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies."

The Company evaluates segment performance based on an "Adjusted Operating EBITDA" metric. Adjusted Operating EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, is defined as earnings (loss) from continuing operations before interest expense, income taxes, other income or expense, depreciation and amortization expense plus certain other items such as loss from impairment of assets, gain or loss from disposal of assets, restructuring activities, separation expense, loss on modification or extinguishment of debt, acquisition-related transaction and integration costs, divestiture-related transaction costs, Transformation Program expense and certain other items. In addition, certain corporate-level expenses and eliminations are not allocated to the segments. These unallocated expenses include corporate overhead, stock-based compensation expense and certain other non-operating expenses. The Company's presentation of Adjusted Operating EBITDA may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies and are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that would have occurred had each operating business segment been an independent, stand-alone entity during the periods presented.
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The following table presents financial information relating to the Company's geographic business segments, reconciled to "Net sales" and "Loss from continuing operations before income taxes" included in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP as follows:
















(in millions, except percentage data)

Three Months Ended March 31,


2022

2021
Net sales:




Americas

$
243.1 


$
193.2 

EMEA

122.8 


89.8 

APAC

51.1 


42.0 

Elimination of intersegment sales

(84.0)


(71.7)

Total net sales

$
333.0 


$
253.3 






Segment Adjusted Operating EBITDA:




Americas

$
31.5 


$
28.8 

EMEA

23.0 


12.7 

APAC

7.7 


4.8 

Total Segment Adjusted Operating EBITDA

62.2 


46.3 

Corporate and unallocated expenses

(21.9)


(21.4)

Amortization expense

(9.9)


(10.7)

Depreciation expense

(5.2)


(4.6)

Transaction costs (1)

(2.1)


— 


Transformation Program expense (2)

— 


(2.2)


Restructuring activities

— 


(0.2)


Earnings from continuing operations

23.1 


7.2 

Interest expense

(10.5)


(10.5)



Other expense — net (3)

(13.2)


(2.9)

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes

$
(0.6)


$
(6.2)

(1) Transaction costs for the three months ended March 31, 2022 are related to the pending sale of the Company and consist primarily of professional services recorded in "Selling, general and administrative expenses".
(2) Transformation Program expense includes consulting and other costs associated with the execution of the Company's Transformation Program initiatives, which was completed as of December 31, 2021. Refer to Note 15, "Business Transformation Program and Restructuring" for discussion.
(3) Other expense - net is comprised primarily of $12.5 million and $2.8 million respectively, of foreign currency transaction losses incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021. Foreign currency transaction losses are inclusive of losses on related foreign currency exchange contracts not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes.
 






Adjusted Operating EBITDA % by segment (4):




Americas

12.9 
%

14.9 
%
EMEA

18.7 
%

14.1 
%
APAC

15.1 
%

11.4 
%
(4) Adjusted Operating EBITDA % is calculated by dividing Adjusted Operating EBITDA by net sales for each respective segment.
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(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31,


2022

2021
Third-party net sales by geographic area (5):




United States

$
178.4 


$
142.9 

Other Americas

24.9 


16.9 

EMEA

86.3 


58.9 

APAC

43.4 


34.6 

Total net sales by geographic area

$
333.0 


$
253.3 

(5) Third-party net sales in the section above are attributed to geographic regions based on location of customer.

Net sales by product class and geographic business segment are as follows:






















(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022


Commercial Foodservice Equipment

Aftermarket Parts and Support

Total
Americas

$
176.4 


$
31.9 


$
208.3 

EMEA

71.9 


15.2 


87.1 

APAC

30.0 


7.6 


37.6 

Total net sales

$
278.3 


$
54.7 


$
333.0 























(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2021


Commercial Foodservice Equipment

Aftermarket Parts and Support

Total
Americas

$
135.3 


$
32.5 


$
167.8 

EMEA

47.2 


10.2 


57.4 

APAC

22.1 


6.0 


28.1 

Total net sales

$
204.6 


$
48.7 


$
253.3 


The Company's total consolidated assets by geographic segment are as follows:
















(in millions)

March 31,

December 31,


2022

2021
Americas

$
1,638.1 


$
1,587.1 

EMEA

367.4 


362.3 

APAC

218.9 


218.8 

Corporate

113.5 


109.4 

Total assets

$
2,337.9 


$
2,277.6 
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS


The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in Item 1 of Part I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and with our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. The financial position, results of operations, cash flows and other information included herein are not necessarily indicative of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows that may be expected in future periods. See "Cautionary Statements Regarding Forward-Looking Information" below for a discussion of uncertainties and assumptions that may cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements. Additionally, we use certain non-GAAP financial measures to evaluate our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity. For important information regarding the use of such non-GAAP measures, including reconciliations to the most comparable GAAP measure, see the section titled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below. The financial condition, results of operations and cash flows discussed in this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations are those of Welbilt, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, collectively, the "Company," "Welbilt," "we," "our" or "us."

Overview

Business Overview

We design, manufacture and supply best-in-class equipment for the global commercial foodservice market with our suite of products capable of storing, cooking, holding, displaying, dispensing and serving in both hot and cold foodservice categories. Our portfolio of products is used by commercial and institutional foodservice operators including full-service restaurants, quick-service restaurant chains, hotels, resorts, cruise ships, caterers, supermarkets, convenience stores, hospitals, schools and other institutions. Our products, product-based services and aftermarket parts and service support are recognized by our customers and channel partners for their quality, reliability and durability which support our end customers by improving menus, enhancing operations and reducing costs.

We manage our business in three geographic business segments: Americas, EMEA and APAC. The Americas segment includes the United States ("U.S."), Canada and Latin America. The EMEA segment consists of markets in Europe, including Middle East, Russia, Africa and the Commonwealth of Independent States. The APAC segment consists primarily of markets in China, India, Australia, South Korea, Singapore, Philippines, Japan, Indonesia, Malaysia, Thailand, Hong Kong, Taiwan, New Zealand and Vietnam. We are required to prepare and present our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. ("U.S. GAAP" or "GAAP"). These geographic business segments represent the level at which separate financial information is available and which is used by management to assess operating performance and allocate resources. In addition to GAAP financial measures, we also evaluate our segment performance based upon Adjusted Operating EBITDA (a non-GAAP measure). See the definition of Adjusted Operating EBITDA and other non-GAAP measures used by management within the section titled "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" of this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. In addition, see Note 18, "Business Segments," of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion of our geographic business segments.

Executive Summary

Merger with Ali Holding S.r.l.

On July 14, 2021, our company and Ali Holding S.r.l. (“Ali Group”), a significant and diversified global foodservice equipment manufacturer and distributor, entered into a merger agreement under which Ali Group will acquire our company in an all-cash transaction for $24.00 per share, or approximately $3.5 billion in aggregate equity value and $4.8 billion in enterprise value. The merger agreement has been unanimously approved by the Company's board of directors and on September 30, 2021, was subsequently approved by our stockholders.

In accordance with the terms of the merger agreement and immediately prior to the merger:

(i)     all of our company's outstanding and unvested common stock options and restricted stock units will become vested and exchanged for the right to receive cash equal to the $24.00 per share consideration (less the exercise per share of common stock for the common stock options), and

(ii)    all of our company's outstanding performance share units will also be exchanged, as determined assuming the maximum level of performance is achieved, for the right to receive cash equal to the $24.00 per share consideration,

Upon completion of the transaction, our company's shares will no longer trade on The New York Stock Exchange.

The Ali Group merger agreement provides that our company may be required to pay Ali Group a termination fee equal to $110.0 million if the merger agreement is terminated:

(a)     by Ali Group due to a breach of a covenant or agreement by our company that causes the failure of a condition to
closing, or

(b)     by either party if the Merger has not been consummated prior to July 14, 2022 (subject to extension if certain approvals
have not been obtained by such date) or
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if, in the case of clauses (a) or (b), an alternative proposal has been publicly disclosed, announced or otherwise made public and has not been withdrawn and within twelve months of such termination our company enters into a definitive agreement with respect to, or consummates, an alternative proposal.

In conjunction with obtaining regulatory approval for the closing of the merger agreement, Welbilt and the Ali Group made the decision to divest of Welbilt's Ice Business ("Ice Business") and on March 3, 2022, Welbilt entered into a definitive agreement to sell the Ice Business to Pentair plc for approximately $1.6 billion in cash, subject to customary post-closing adjustments. The completion of the sale of the Ice Business is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of customary closing conditions, including (i) receipt of applicable regulatory approvals, and (ii) the substantially concurrent closing of the merger agreement with Ali Group discussed above.

Welbilt expects to receive regulatory approval for the sale of Welbilt to Ali Group from the United States, United Kingdom, and European Union prior to closing the sale of the Ice Business to Pentair plc. and subsequently close both the merger agreement with Ali Group and the sale of the Ice Business to Pentair plc concurrently. The Company currently expects to receive the necessary approvals and complete these transactions in the second or third quarter of 2022.

In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the results of the Ice Business are presented as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and, as such, have been excluded from both continuing operations and segment results for all periods presented. Further, the Company reclassified the assets and liabilities of the Ice Business and has presented as "Assets of discontinued operations" and "Liabilities of discontinued operations" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for all periods presented. The Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows are presented on a consolidated basis for both continuing operations and discontinued operations. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further details.

Financial Results Highlights

Highlights of our financial results from continuing operations as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2022, as compared to the same period of the prior year, are as follows:

•Net sales were $333.0 million, an increase of 31.5%.

•Organic net sales from continuing operations (a non-GAAP measure) were $327.6 million, an increase of 33.4%.

•Gross profit (as a percentage of net sales) was 32.9% compared to 35.5% for the same quarter of 2021.

•Earnings from continuing operations were $23.1 million, an increase of $15.9 million.

•Adjusted Operating EBITDA from continuing operations (a non-GAAP measure) was $40.3 million, an increase of 61.8%, while Adjusted Operating EBITDA margin (a non-GAAP measure) was 12.1% compared to 9.8% for the same quarter of 2021.

•Net earnings were $2.9 million and diluted net earnings per share was $0.02.

•As of March 31, 2022, our total liquidity was $342.2 million, consisting of $138.9 million of cash and cash equivalents and $203.3 million available for additional borrowing under our senior secured revolving credit facility, to the extent we are compliant with financial covenants which permit such borrowings. As of March 31, 2022, cash and cash equivalents includes the cash balances and equivalents from our continuing operations of $108.3 million and $30.6 million of cash from discontinued operations

•Our total outstanding long-term debt, excluding finance leases, as of March 31, 2022 was $1,470.0 million.

The following is a summary of factors that impacted our operating results and liquidity during the three months ended March 31, 2022.

Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on our Business

Global economic conditions are expected to continue to be volatile as long as the COVID-19 pandemic remains a public health threat. The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in governments around the world implementing stringent measures to help control the spread of the virus and emergence of new strains of the virus, including quarantines, “shelter in place” and “stay at home” orders, curfews, travel restrictions, border closures, limitations on public gatherings, vaccination mandates, social distancing measures and mandated business limitations and closures. These measures have resulted in a disruption in the foodservice industry, including substantial restaurant closures and, as a result, in commercial foodservice equipment markets across the geographies in which we operate. While the commercial foodservice industry has continued to recover from the immediate impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, the extent of the ultimate impact of the pandemic, including supply chain disturbances and shipping and logistics delays, on our operational and financial performance will depend significantly on future developments, including the duration, scope and severity of the pandemic, the actions taken to contain, mitigate or recover from its impact in each of the countries where we operate globally (including actions taken to ease supply chain backlogs), the vaccination rates and efficacy, emergence of new strains of the virus, and the timing of the resumption of economic activity to pre-pandemic levels.
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Throughout the year ended December 31, 2021 and through the three months ended March 31, 2022, we continued to see increases in the cost of specific commodities, components and parts purchased, including the impact of rising inflation rates and tariffs, as challenges in the supply chain and shipping and logistics delays continue to persist. The availability of key electronic components used in embedded electronic controls worsened throughout the year ended December 31, 2021 and the three months ended March 31, 2022. During the three months ended March 31, 2022, we continued to expend significant effort and resources to redesign controls to utilize available parts and to source these electronic components on the spot market, often at a large premium to historical prices.

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act") was enacted in March 2020 and includes measures intended to assist companies during the COVID-19 pandemic, including temporary changes to income and non-income-based tax laws, some of which had been enacted under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax Act") in 2017. As a result of the Tax Act and the CARES Act, additional legislative and regulatory guidance has been and may continue to be issued, including final regulations that could impact our effective tax rate in future periods.

On November 5th, 2021, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration announced an emergency temporary standard mandating the COVID-19 vaccine or weekly testing for most U.S. employees, which includes our employees. That standard was struck down by the U.S. Supreme Court on January 13, 2022, and is currently stayed. However, the Biden Administration has indicated that it may seek to impose alternative vaccine mandates and other governmental authorities have imposed more targeted vaccine and testing orders and other regulations, and may continue to do so in the future. If a mandate is ultimately issued and implemented in some form, we expect there would be further disruptions to our operations, such as inability to maintain adequate staffing at our facilities, and increased costs and diminished availability of raw materials which would result in delays in the manufacturing process, negatively impact our future sales levels and ongoing customer relationships.

We continue to proactively monitor the developments surrounding COVID-19 and may take additional actions based on the requirements and recommendations of governmental and health authorities around the world in an attempt to protect our stakeholders. Although we are currently unable to quantify with certainty the ultimate severity or duration of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, we expect that the challenges in the supply chain and shipping and logistics delays will likely have a continued impact on our operating results and financial condition in fiscal 2022.

Impact of Military Conflict Between Russia and Ukraine on our Business

The current military conflict between Russia and Ukraine and the deteriorating global political and economic conditions, may adversely affect our business and results of operations. Governments in the U.S., United Kingdom, and European Union have each imposed export controls on certain products and financial and economic sanctions on certain industry sectors and parties in Russia. Consequences of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine may ultimately result in additional international sanctions, embargoes, regional instability, and geopolitical shifts. Further escalation of geopolitical tensions related to the Russia-Ukraine conflict, including increased trade barriers or restrictions on global trade, could result in, among other things, cyberattacks, additional inflation and supply chain disruptions, lower consumer demand, and changes to foreign exchange rates and financial markets, any of which may adversely affect our business and results of operations. The extent of any negative effects on the global economy and our business and results of operations, cannot be predicted. As the Company has limited operations and sales in Russia, the impact of this conflict did not have a material impact on our results of operations during the three months ended March 31, 2022. Further escalation of geopolitical tensions related to the Russia-Ukraine conflict, including increased trade barriers or restrictions on global trade could negatively impact our future business and results of operations.

Industry and Business Conditions

Throughout 2020 and 2021 and through the first quarter of 2022, the COVID-19 pandemic created a decline in economic activity across the globe and many hospitality and restaurant companies were forced to close either temporarily or permanently, and the vast majority experienced a significant decline in revenues early in the pandemic. The effects on businesses across many industries was pervasive and injected uncertainty into the consumer foodservice industry but it has been improving steadily as most restrictions in North America and Europe have been lifted. More recently, the consumer foodservice industry has been impacted by labor shortages and inflationary pressures from rising food, energy and labor costs. This is driving demand for new and more efficient equipment to help offset these cost pressures, which has positively impacted our operating results for the first quarter of 2022.

-28-


Business Strategies

While our strategic objectives are long-term and remain intact, the uncertainty surrounding the recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic will impact the extent and timing of the execution of these objectives. Our immediate focus remains on ensuring the safety of our stakeholders and innovation investments with the pace of recovery in our revenues as the industry rebounds. Our specific strategic objectives, which are discussed in further detail in Part I, Item 1 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, include:

•    Achieve profitable growth

•    Create innovative products and solutions

•    Enhance customer satisfaction

•    Drive operational excellence

•    Develop great people


Results of Operations for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 and 2021

As discussed above, the results of the Ice Business are presented as "Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income tax expense" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and have been excluded from the Company's continuing operations for all periods presented. The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are those of our continuing operations unless otherwise indicated. For additional information regarding our discontinued operations, see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following table sets forth our consolidated financial results for the periods presented:




























(in millions, except percentage data)

Three Months Ended March 31,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Net sales

$
333.0 


$
253.3 


$
79.7 


31.5 
%
Cost of sales

223.3 


163.3 


60.0 


36.7 
%
Gross profit

109.7 


90.0 


19.7 


21.9 
%
Gross margin (% of Net sales)

32.9 
%

35.5 
%



(2.7)
%
Selling, general and administrative expenses

76.9 


72.5 


4.4 


6.1 
%
Amortization expense

9.7 


10.1 


(0.4)


(4.0)
%

Restructuring and other expense

— 


0.2 


(0.2)


(100.0)
%


Earnings from continuing operations

23.1 


7.2 


15.9 


220.8 
%
Interest expense

10.5 


10.5 


— 


— 
%


Other expense — net

13.2 


2.9 


10.3 


 N/A
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes

(0.6)


(6.2)


5.6 


(90.3)
%
Income tax expense (benefit) on continuing operations

0.3 


(1.7)


2.0 


117.6 
%
Net loss from continuing operations

(0.9)


(4.5)


3.6 


80.0 
%
Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income tax expense of $0.7 and $3.5, respectively

3.8 


12.4 


(8.6)


(69.4)
%
Net earnings

$
2.9 


$
7.9 


$
(5.0)


(63.3)
%
N/A = not meaningful
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Analysis of Net Sales

"Net sales" for our geographic business segments consist of the following for the periods presented:




























(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Americas

$
243.1 


$
193.2 


$
49.9 


25.8 
%
EMEA

122.8 


89.8 


33.0 


36.7 
%
APAC

51.1 


42.0 


9.1 


21.7 
%
Elimination of intersegment sales

(84.0)


(71.7)


(12.3)


(17.2)
%
Total net sales

$
333.0 


$
253.3 


$
79.7 


31.5 
%

Net sales totaled $333.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 representing an increase of $79.7 million, or 31.5%, compared to the same period of the prior year. The increase in net sales was primarily the result of increased volumes largely due to an increase in general market demand resulting from our continued recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic and to a much lesser extent, increased net pricing. Foreign currency translation positively impacted third-party net sales for the three months ended March 31, 2022 by $2.3 million as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021.

Net sales in the Americas segment for the three months ended March 31, 2022 increased $49.9 million, or 25.8%, compared to the same period of the prior year. The increase was primarily driven by increased third-party net sales of $40.5 million and a $9.4 million increase in intersegment sales. The increase in third-party net sales was primarily the result of both increased volumes due to an increase in general market demand, primarily as a result of our continued recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic in the region, and increased net pricing. Foreign currency translation positively impacted third-party net sales for the three months ended March 31, 2022 by $1.3 million as compared to the same period of the prior year.

Net sales in the EMEA segment for the three months ended March 31, 2022 increased $33.0 million, or 36.7%, compared to the same period of the prior year. The increase was primarily driven by increased third-party net sales of $29.7 million and an increase of $3.3 million in intersegment sales. The increase in third-party net sales was primarily the result of increased volumes due to the increase in general market demand primarily resulting from our continued recovery from the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and to a much lesser extent, increased net pricing. Foreign currency translation negatively impacted third-party net sales for the three months ended March 31, 2022 by $0.1 million as compared to the same period of the prior year.

Net sales in the APAC segment for the three months ended March 31, 2022 increased $9.1 million, or 21.7%, compared to the same period of the prior year. The increase was primarily driven by increased third-party net sales of $9.5 million offset by a $0.4 million decrease in intersegment sales. The increase in third-party net sales was primarily driven by increased volumes largely due to an increase in general market demand resulting from our continued recovery from the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. Foreign currency translation positively impacted third-party net sales for the three months ended March 31, 2022 by $0.9 million as compared to the same period of the prior year.

Analysis of Earnings from Operations

Gross profit

"Gross profit" for the three months ended March 31, 2022 totaled $109.7 million, an increase of $19.7 million, or 21.9%, compared to the same period of the prior year. The increase in gross profit was primarily driven by a $24.8 million favorable impact from increased net pricing and a $16.9 million favorable impact resulting from increased product volumes and mix. These favorable impacts were partially offset by: (i) $15.9 million of unfavorable material costs, primarily driven by ongoing broad-based inflationary pressures experienced during the first quarter of 2022 and continued macroeconomic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the supply chain, partially offset by the procurement sourcing savings associated with the Transformation Program, (ii) $4.1 million of unfavorable labor and other manufacturing costs, primarily driven by production inefficiencies resulting from supply chain disruptions related to the pandemic and (iii) $ and $2.0 million of negative foreign currency translation impact.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses

"Selling, general and administrative expenses" for the three months ended March 31, 2022 totaled $76.9 million, an increase of $4.4 million, or 6.1%, compared to the same period of the prior year. This increase is primarily due to: (i) $2.7 million of higher marketing and commission costs primarily resulting from increased sales volumes, (ii) $2.0 million of transaction expenses related to the pending merger with Ali Group, and (iii) a $1.1 million favorable foreign currency translation impact as compared to the same period of the prior year. The impact of these increases was partially offset by $1.7 million of lower third-party consulting costs incurred in connection with our Transformation Program completed during the quarter ended December 31, 2021.

Analysis of Segment Adjusted Operating EBITDA

"Adjusted Operating EBITDA" (a non-GAAP measure) for our geographic segments consisted of the following for the periods presented:




























(in millions, except percentage data)

Three Months Ended March 31,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Americas

$
31.5 


$
28.8 


$
2.7 


9.4 
%
EMEA

23.0 


12.7 


10.3 


81.1 
%
APAC

7.7 


4.8 


2.9 


60.4 
%
Total Segment Adjusted Operating EBITDA

62.2 


46.3 


15.9 


34.3 
%
Less: Corporate and unallocated expenses

(21.9)


(21.4)


(0.5)


(2.3)
%
Total Adjusted Operating EBITDA

$
40.3 


$
24.9 


$
15.4 


61.8 
%









Adjusted Operating EBITDA margin (1)

12.1 
%

9.8 
%



2.3 
%

(1) Adjusted Operating EBITDA margin is calculated by dividing the dollar amount of Adjusted Operating EBITDA by net sales.

Adjusted Operating EBITDA in the Americas segment for the three months ended March 31, 2022 increased by $2.7 million, or 9.4%. This increase was primarily driven by $24.2 million of favorable impact from net pricing and a $1.6 million favorable impact for product volumes and mix. The impact of these increases was partially offset by: (i) $15.5 million of unfavorable material costs, primarily driven by continued broad-based inflationary pressures experienced during the first quarter of 2022, partially offset by the procurement sourcing savings associated with the Transformation Program, (ii) $3.3 million of unfavorable labor and other manufacturing costs, primarily driven by continued production inefficiencies resulting from supply chain disruptions related to the pandemic and (iii) a $1.1 million unfavorable foreign currency translation impact.

Adjusted Operating EBITDA in the EMEA segment for the three months ended March 31, 2022 increased by $10.3 million, or 81.1% primarily driven a $15.3 million favorable impact from increased product volumes and mix and $1.1 million favorable impact from net pricing. The impact of these increases was partially offset by: (i) a $2.0 million negative foreign currency translation impact, (ii) $1.5 million of unfavorable labor and manufacturing cost, primarily driven by continued production inefficiencies resulting from supply chain disruptions related to the pandemic and (iii) $0.5 million of higher material costs, primarily driven by continued inflationary pressures experienced during the first quarter of 2022.

Adjusted Operating EBITDA in the APAC segment for the three months ended March 31, 2022 increased by $2.9 million, or 60.4%. This increase was primarily driven by $1.9 million of favorable product volumes and mix and $0.7 million of favorable impact from net pricing.

Corporate and unallocated expenses reflect certain corporate-level expenses and eliminations that are not allocated to the geographic business segments. For the three months ended March 31, 2022, corporate and unallocated expenses remained consistent with the level of corporate and unallocated expenses incurred for the three months ended March 31, 2021.

Analysis of Non-Operating Income Statement Items

For both of the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively,, "Interest expense" was $10.5 million, which includes the interest expense on our Senior Notes in continuing operations, while the interest expense on borrowings under our Senior Secured Credit Facility is included as a component of "Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income tax expense".

For the three months ended March 31, 2022, "Other expense — net" was an expense of $13.2 million, compared to an expense of $2.9 million for the same period of the prior year. The increase in expense of $10.3 million is primarily the result of higher non-cash foreign currency translation losses on intercompany notes payable compared to the same period of prior year.

Analysis of Income Taxes
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For the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recorded a $0.3 million income tax expense, reflecting a (50.0)% effective tax rate, compared to a $1.7 million income tax benefit for the three months ended March 31, 2021, reflecting a 27.4% effective tax rate. The change in the effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the same period of the prior year, is primarily due to the increase in transaction related costs, repatriation of foreign earnings, Company's decrease in loss from continuing operations before income taxes and the relative weighting of jurisdictional income and loss, which was partially offset by the deferred taxes related to stock compensation. For the three months ended March 31, 2022, the income tax provision includes a net discrete tax expense of $0.4 million primarily related to repatriation of foreign earnings and changes in deferred taxes related to stock compensation, as compared to the income tax benefit for the three months ended March 31, 2021, which includes a net discrete benefit of $0.3 million primarily related to changes for income tax returns filed, and the changes in deferred taxes related to stock compensation and repatriation of foreign earnings.



Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview of Factors Affecting our Liquidity

We manage cash centrally, generally reinvest net earnings locally and meet our working capital requirements from cash and cash equivalents, cash flows from operations and capacity under our existing credit facilities. As of March 31, 2022, our total liquidity was $342.2 million, consisting of $138.9 million of cash and cash equivalents and $203.3 million available for additional borrowings under our senior secured revolving credit facility ("Revolving Credit Facility"), to the extent our compliance with financial covenants permits such borrowings, compared to total liquidity of $407.6 million as of December 31, 2021. Cash and cash equivalents includes the cash balances and equivalents from our continuing operations of $108.3 million and $91.6 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively, and cash from discontinued operations of $30.6 million and $42.6 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. Consistent with our historical trends, our liquidity generally decreases in the first quarter and increases in the remaining quarters of the year driven by our earnings cycle as well as the timing of large cash payments in the first quarter such as annual rebates, incentive compensation and the build-up of inventory in advance of the historically higher sales period in the spring and early summer months. The Company’s total liquidity for the quarter ended March 31, 2022 was also limited by higher inventory levels of raw materials primarily due to increased purchases of critical components needed to manufacture our commercial foodservice equipment that have been impacted by supply chain disruptions. Inventory of finished goods also increased primarily due to delays from third-party shipping companies picking up equipment from our facilities.

As of March 31, 2022, approximately 85% of our cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash were held outside of the U.S. The majority of the cash generated in the U.S. is used to fund current and expected future working capital requirements and to fund debt service obligations. We maintain significant operations outside of the U.S., and as a result, a significant portion of our cash is denominated in foreign currencies. We manage our worldwide cash requirements by reviewing available funds among our subsidiaries through which we conduct our business and the cost effectiveness with which those funds can be accessed. Where local restrictions prevent an efficient intercompany transfer of funds, our intent is to maintain cash balances outside of the U.S. and to meet our liquidity needs through ongoing cash flows, external borrowings, or both. We plan to continue reinvesting foreign earnings indefinitely outside of the U.S. with certain limited exceptions.

Our future cash needs are currently expected to be primarily related to operating activities, inclusive of capital investments, working capital and debt service. We estimate that our capital expenditures will be between $25.0 million and $30.0 million for the year ending December 31, 2022. The amount of actual capital expenditures may be impacted by general economic, financial or operational changes, including the future impact of the global COVID-19 pandemic on our operating results, the success and timing of the closing of the merger with Ali Group and the sale of the Ice Business, and competitive, legislative and regulatory factors, among other considerations. We expect that our future cash generated from operations, together with our capacity under our existing senior secured revolving credit facility and our access to capital markets, will provide adequate resources to meet our working capital needs and cash requirements for at least the next 12 months.

Our access to, and the availability of, financing on acceptable terms in the future may be affected by many factors including the overall liquidity in the financial and capital markets, the state of the economy, success in closing the merger with Ali Group and the timing of such closing, and our credit rating. The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, which has continued to cause volatility in the capital markets, could also impact our ability to pursue additional financing opportunities in the future. Moreover, we are unable to quantify the ultimate severity or duration of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operational and financial performance, which could have an adverse impact on our results of operations, cash flows and financial position, potentially resulting in a default or an acceleration of indebtedness, and could otherwise negatively impact our liquidity and ability to make additional borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility.
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Sources and Uses of Cash

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash as of March 31, 2022 totaled $138.9 million, was comprised of $108.8 million included in continuing operations and $30.1 million included as a component of "Current assets from discontinued operations". Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash as of December 31, 2021 totaled $140.7 million, including $92.0 million in continuing operations and $42.7 included as a component of "Current assets from discontinued operations".

The table below summarizes our cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021 as follows:






















(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31,

Change


2022

2021


Cash provided by (used in) continuing operations:






     Cash used in operating activities

$
(49.9)


$
(20.4)


$
(29.5)


     Cash used in investing activities

(3.1)


(4.0)


$
0.9 

     Cash provided by financing activities

70.6 


37.1 


$
33.5 

Cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations:






     Cash (used in) provided by operating activities

(11.3)


4.0 


$
(15.3)

     Cash used in investing activities

(0.8)


(0.7)


$
(0.1)

     Cash provided by (used in) financing activities

— 


— 


$
— 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

(0.8)


(0.6)


$
(0.2)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

$
4.7 


$
15.4 


$
(10.7)


Operating Activities

Cash used in operating activities of continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 was $49.9 million, consisting primarily of a net loss from continuing operations $0.9 million, adjusted for non-cash charges totaling $17.7 million for depreciation and amortization expense, deferred income taxes and stock-based compensation and cash inflows of $23.4 million related to an increase in trade accounts payable, offset by cash outflows of $46.3 million related to an increase in inventory and $43.8 million associated with the timing of other current and long-term liabilities and other assets. The increase in inventory is due to both a seasonal build and our increased levels of key components as an effort to mitigate future supply disruptions.

Cash used in operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was $20.4 million, consisting primarily of a net loss from continuing operations of $4.5 million, adjusted for non-cash charges totaling $18.5 million for depreciation and amortization expense, deferred income taxes and stock-based compensation and cash inflows of $15.0 million related to an increase in trade accounts payable, offset by cash outflows of $20.8 million related to a seasonal build of inventory and $28.6 million associated with the timing of other current and long-term liabilities and other assets, including accounts receivable.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities of continuing operations of $3.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 was the result of capital expenditures made during the period.

Cash used in investing activities of continuing operations of $4.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was for capital expenditures.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities of $70.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 consisted primarily of $80.3 million of proceeds from long-term debt, partially offset by $10.5 million of repayments on long-term debt and finance leases.

Cash provided by financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2021 of $37.1 million consisted primarily of $58.0 million of net borrowings on long-term debt and finance leases, partially offset by $21.3 million by repayments on long-term debt and finance leases..

Financing Resources

Our primary financing resources consist of our 2016 Credit Agreement and our 9.50% Senior Notes due 2024. Collectively, these arrangements represent the majority of our financing resources, which combined with cash generated by our business operations, are used to meet our financial obligations and liquidity requirements. The general terms of our financing arrangements as of March 31, 2022 are set forth below.
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2016 Credit Agreement

Our 2016 Credit Agreement provides for a $1,300.0 million Senior Secured Credit Facility consisting of (i) a senior secured Term Loan B Facility for $900.0 million and (ii) a Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility with aggregate commitments of $400.0 million. The maturities of the Term Loan B Facility and Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility are October 2025 and October 2023, respectively.

In April of 2020, we entered into Amendment No. 7 (the “Amendment”) to the 2016 Credit Agreement, to amend the financial covenants of the Revolving Credit Facility. The terms of the Amendment, among others as set forth in the Amendment, (i) suspended the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio and Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio covenants, in each case, as defined in the 2016 Credit Agreement, for four fiscal quarters until March 31, 2021 ("Suspension Period") and (ii) temporarily replaced the suspended covenants with a Minimum Consolidated EBITDA covenant and a Maximum Capital Expenditure covenant, each computed on a trailing four quarters basis and measured quarterly, and a Minimum Liquidity covenant that is measured monthly, each as defined in the Amendment, throughout the Suspension Period, with the Minimum Liquidity covenant extended through June 30, 2021.

Beginning in the second quarter of 2021, the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio and Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio covenants have been reinstated at modified levels as compared to the covenants that were in effect beginning June 30, 2020 and phased-in to the pre-amendment covenant levels by the fourth quarter of 2021.

In October 2021, we entered into a Suspension of Rights Agreement to the 2016 Credit Agreement, effective December 31, 2021, which: (i) suspends our company's ability to execute non-USD currency draws under the Revolving Facility, (ii) requires all outstanding non-USD currency loans to be repaid on or before December 31, 2021 and (iii) eliminates the option to select an interest period of 2 months for any borrowings in USD without the lenders' consent. We do not expect that the execution of this agreement will have a material impact on our future liquidity or consolidated results of operations.

As of March 31, 2022, borrowings under the 2016 Credit Agreement bore interest at a rate per annum equal to, at our option, either (i) London Inter-bank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") plus an applicable margin of 2.50% for the Term Loan B Facility and 1.50% to 2.50%, for the Revolving Credit Facility (depending on our Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio) or (ii) an alternate base rate plus an applicable margin that is 1.00% less than the LIBOR-based applicable margin. The Amendment includes a quarterly fee that was applicable through the fourth quarter of 2021 in an amount equal to a per annum rate of 0.50% on the average outstanding balance of the Revolving Credit Facility, payable on a quarterly basis.

Senior Notes

On February 18, 2016, we issued 9.50% Senior Notes due 2024 (the "Senior Notes") in an aggregate principal amount of $425.0 million, all of which was outstanding as of both March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021. The Senior Notes were issued under an indenture with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on an unsecured basis by each of our domestic restricted subsidiaries who are a borrower or guarantor under the 2016 Credit Agreement.

Covenant Compliance

The 2016 Credit Agreement and indenture governing the Senior Secured Credit Facility contains limitations on our ability to effect mergers and change of control events as well as certain other limitations, including limitations on: (i) the declaration and payment of dividends or other restricted payments, (ii) incurrence of additional indebtedness or issuing preferred stock, (iii) the creation or existence of certain liens, (iv) incurrence of restrictions on the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to pay dividends or other payments, (v) transactions with affiliates and (vi) sales of assets.

We were in compliance with all affirmative and negative covenants, including any financial covenants, pertaining to our financing arrangements, in effect as of March 31, 2022.

A summary of our outstanding financing obligations, excluding finance leases, is as follows:
















(in millions)

March 31,

December 31,


2022

2021

Revolving Credit Facility

$
190.0 


$
120.0 

Term Loan B Facility

855.0 


855.0 

9.50% Senior Notes due 2024

425.0 


425.0 

Total debt

$
1,470.0 


$
1,400.0 


Further information regarding our financing resources can be found in Part I, Item I of this Form 10-Q in Note 9, "Debt," of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

-34-


Summarized Guarantor Financial Information

In March 2020, the Securities and Exchange Commission adopted amendments to Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X and created Rule 13-01 to simplify disclosure requirements related to certain registered securities, and such amendments became effective on January 4, 2021, as included below.

As discussed above, and in Note 8, "Debt", of the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, in February 2016, we issued Senior Notes under an indenture with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (the "Trustee"). The Senior Notes were initially sold to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A (and outside the U.S. in reliance on Regulation S) under the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act"). In September 2016, we completed an exchange offer pursuant to which all of the initial Senior Notes were exchanged for new Senior Notes, the issuance of which was registered under the Securities Act.

The Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on an unsecured basis by each of our domestic restricted subsidiaries that is a borrower or guarantor under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities, discussed above. The Senior Notes and the subsidiary guarantees are unsecured, senior obligations.

We must generally offer to repurchase all the outstanding Senior Notes upon the occurrence of certain specific change of control events at a purchase price equal to 101.0% of the principal amount of Senior Notes purchased plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase. The indenture provides for customary events of default. Generally, if an event of default occurs (subject to certain exceptions), the Trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then-outstanding Senior Notes may declare all the Senior Notes to be due and payable immediately.

The indenture governing the Senior Notes contains limitations on our ability to effect mergers and change of control events as well as other limitations, including limitations on: the declaration and payment of dividends or other restricted payments; incurring additional indebtedness or issuing preferred stock; the creation or existence of certain liens; incurring restrictions on the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to pay dividends or other payments; transactions with affiliates; and sales of assets.

In accordance with Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X, the following tables present consolidating financial information for (a) Welbilt ("Parent"); (b) the guarantors of the Senior Notes, which include substantially all of the domestic, 100% owned subsidiaries of Welbilt ("Guarantor Subsidiaries"); and (c) the wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries of Welbilt, which do not guarantee the Senior Notes ("Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries"). 

In order to present the Guarantor Subsidiaries and Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries summarized financial information in accordance with Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X, the summarized financial information below is presented as if there were no reclassifications of the Ice Business as "Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income tax expense" in the Company's Consolidated Statement of Operations or as "Current assets of discontinued operations" or "Current liabilities of discontinued operations" in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet. The summarized financial information of the Guarantor Subsidiaries in the following tables is also presented on a combined basis with intercompany balances and transactions between the entities within the Guarantor Subsidiaries eliminated. The information also includes elimination entries necessary to consolidate the Guarantor Subsidiaries and the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries. Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. The principal elimination entries eliminate investments in subsidiaries, equity and intercompany balances and transactions. Separate financial statements of the Guarantor Subsidiaries are not presented because as guarantors, these subsidiaries are fully and unconditionally, jointly and severally liable under the guarantees, except for normal and customary release provisions.



WELBILT, INC.
Summarized Consolidating Statement of Operations
(Unaudited)


































(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022


Parent

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Consolidating Adjustments

Consolidated
Net sales

$
— 


$
286.9 


$
258.2 


$
(137.4)


$
407.7 

Gross profit

$
— 


$
58.9 


$
75.8 


$
— 


$
134.7 

(Loss) earnings from operations

$
(20.8)


$
15.0 


$
41.7 


$
— 


$
35.9 







Net earnings

$
1.5 


$
32.8 


$
12.1 


$
(43.0)


$
3.4 
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WELBILT, INC.
Summarized Consolidating Balance Sheet
(Unaudited)


































(in millions)

March 31, 2022


Parent

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Consolidating Adjustments

Consolidated
Assets

 

















Total current assets

$
49.5 


$
292.5 


$
444.9 


$
— 


$
786.9 

Property, plant and equipment — net

14.0 


69.3 


51.2 


— 


134.5 

Operating lease right-of-use assets

1.8 


4.7 


35.7 


— 


42.2 

Goodwill

— 


832.4 


101.5 


— 


933.9 

Other intangible assets — net

0.2 


280.5 


127.0 


— 


407.7 


Due from affiliates

— 


3,472.5 


— 


(3,472.5)


— 

Investment in subsidiaries

4,513.5 


— 


— 


(4,513.5)


— 

Other non-current assets

8.1 


3.8 


20.8 


— 


32.7 

Total assets

$
4,587.1 


$
4,955.7 


$
781.1 


$
(7,986.0)


$
2,337.9 

Liabilities and equity

















Total current liabilities

$
17.9 


$
173.3 


$
165.1 


$
— 


$
356.3 

Long-term debt and finance leases

1,458.3 


— 


0.7 


— 


1,459.0 




Due to affiliates

2,689.4 


— 


783.2 


(3,472.6)


— 

Investment in subsidiaries

— 


242.8 


— 


(242.8)


— 


Other long-term liabilities

59.8 


25.8 


67.8 


— 


153.4 

Total non-current liabilities

4,207.5 


268.6 


851.7 


(3,715.4)


1,612.4 


Total equity (deficit)

369.2 


4,513.4 


(242.8)


(4,270.6)


369.2 

Total liabilities and equity

$
4,594.6 


$
4,955.3 


$
774.0 


$
(7,986.0)


$
2,337.9 



-36-



































(in millions)

December 31, 2021


Parent

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Consolidating Adjustments

Consolidated
Assets



















Total current assets

$
29.2 


$
284.1 


$
394.8 


$
— 


$
708.1 

Property, plant and equipment — net

14.7 


68.0 


52.9 


— 


135.6 

Operating lease right-of-use assets

1.9 


5.1 


37.2 


— 


44.2 

Goodwill

— 


832.4 


103.9 


— 


936.3 

Other intangible assets — net

0.2 


287.6 


133.0 


— 


420.8 


Due from affiliates

— 


3,561.5 


— 


(3,561.5)


— 

Investment in subsidiaries

4,694.5 


— 


— 


(4,694.5)


— 

Other non-current assets

8.6 


4.2 


19.8 


— 


32.6 

Total assets

$
4,749.1 


$
5,042.9 


$
741.6 


$
(8,256.0)


$
2,277.6 

Liabilities and equity

















Total current liabilities

$
32.8 


$
177.7 


$
162.6 


$
— 


$
373.1 

Long-term debt and finance leases

1,387.5 


— 


0.5 


— 


1,388.0 




Due to affiliates

2,910.7 


— 


650.9 


(3,561.6)


— 

Investment in subsidiaries

— 


143.6 


— 


(143.6)


— 


Other long-term liabilities

59.8 


27.1 


71.2 


— 


158.1 

Total non-current liabilities

4,358.0 


170.7 


722.6 


(3,705.2)


1,546.1 


Total equity (deficit)

358.3 


4,694.5 


(143.6)


(4,550.8)


358.4 

Total liabilities and equity

$
4,749.1 


$
5,042.9 


$
741.6 


$
(8,256.0)


$
2,277.6 


Leasing Arrangements

We lease various assets under leasing arrangements. The future estimated payments under these arrangements are disclosed in Note 18, "Leases," of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of March 31, 2022, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC Regulation S-K.


Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We use certain non-GAAP financial measures discussed below to evaluate our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity. We believe that the presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures, when viewed as a supplement to our results prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, provides useful information to investors in evaluating the ongoing performance of our operating businesses, provides greater transparency into our results of operations and is consistent with how we evaluate our operating performance and liquidity. In addition, these non-GAAP measures address questions we routinely receive from analysts and investors and, in order to ensure that all investors have access to similar data, we make this data available to the public. None of the non-GAAP measures presented should be considered as an alternative to net earnings (loss), earnings from operations, net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, net sales or any other measures derived in accordance with U.S. GAAP. These non-GAAP measures have important limitations as analytical tools and should not be considered in isolation or as substitutes for financial measures presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The presentation of our non-GAAP financial measures may change from time to time, including as a result of changed business conditions, new accounting rules or otherwise. Further, our use of these terms may vary from the use of similarly-titled measures by other companies due to the potential inconsistencies in the method of calculation and differences due to items subject to interpretation. As discussed above, in the calculation of the non-GAAP financial measures, we have also excluded the operating results of the Ice Business as a component of continued operations consistent within the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Ice Business has been included in "Earnings from discontinued operations" for all periods presented in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Company's quarter ended March 31, 2022.
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Free Cash Flow

We refer to "Free Cash Flow", a non-GAAP measure, as our net cash provided by or used in operating activities from continuing operations plus capital expenditures less acquisition-related transaction and integration costs and divestiture-related transaction costs. We believe this non-GAAP financial measure is useful to investors in measuring our ability to generate cash internally to fund our debt repayments, acquisitions, dividends and share repurchases, if any. Free Cash Flow reconciles to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from continuing operations included in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, as follows:















(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31,


2022

2021
Net cash used in operating activities from continuing operations

(49.9)


$
(20.4)

Plus: Capital expenditures

(3.1)


(4.0)

Less: Transaction costs (1)

2.1 


— 



Free cash flow from continuing operations

$
(50.9)


$
(24.4)


 (1) Transaction costs for the three months ended March 31, 2022 are related to the pending sale of the Company and consist primarily of professional services recorded in "Selling, general and administrative expenses".

Adjusted Operating EBITDA

In addition to analyzing our operating results on a U.S. GAAP basis, we also review our results on an “Adjusted Operating EBITDA” basis. Adjusted Operating EBITDA is defined as net earnings (loss) from continuing operations, before interest expense, income taxes, other income or expense, depreciation and amortization expense plus certain other items such as loss from impairment of assets, gain or loss from disposal of assets, restructuring activities, loss on modification or extinguishment of debt, acquisition-related transaction and integration costs, divestiture-related transaction costs, Transformation Program expense and certain other items, which are non-operating and unusual in nature. We use Adjusted Operating EBITDA as the basis on which we evaluate our financial performance and make resource allocations and other operating decisions. We consider it important that investors review the same operating information used by us. Our Adjusted Operating EBITDA reconciles to net earnings as presented in the Consolidated Statements of Operations in accordance with U.S. GAAP as follows:
















(in millions, except percentage data)

Three Months Ended March 31,


2022

2021
Net loss from continuing operations

$
(0.9)


$
(4.5)

Income tax expense (benefit) on continuing operations

0.3 


(1.7)

Other expense — net (1)

13.2 


2.9 



Interest expense

10.5 


10.5 

Earnings from continuing operations

23.1 


7.2 


Restructuring activities

— 


0.2 


Amortization expense

9.9 


10.7 

Depreciation expense

5.2 


4.6 

Transformation Program expense (2)

— 


2.2 

Transaction costs (3)

2.1 


— 


Total Adjusted Operating EBITDA

$
40.3 


$
24.9 






Adjusted Operating EBITDA margin (4)

12.1 
%

9.8 
%
(1) Other expense - net consists primarily of $12.5 million and $2.8 million, respectively, of foreign currency transaction losses incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021. Foreign currency transaction losses are inclusive of losses on related foreign currency exchange contracts not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes.
(2) Transformation Program expense includes consulting and other costs associated with executing our Transformation Program initiatives. Refer to Note 14, "Business Transformation Program and Restructuring" for discussion of the impact to the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
(3) Transaction costs for the three months ended March 31, 2022 are related to the pending merger of the Company with Ali Group and consist primarily of professional services recorded in "Selling, general and administrative expenses."
(4) Adjusted Operating EBITDA margin in the section above is calculated by dividing the dollar amount of Adjusted Operating EBITDA by net sales.
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Adjusted Net Earnings and Adjusted Diluted Net Earnings Per Share

We define Adjusted Net Earnings as net earnings before the impact of certain items, such as divestiture-related transaction costs, loss on modification or extinguishment of debt, loss from impairment of assets, gain or loss from disposal of assets, restructuring activities, Transformation Program expense, acquisition-related transaction and integration costs, divestiture-related transaction costs, expenses associated with pension settlements, foreign currency transaction gain or loss, certain other items and the tax effect of the aforementioned adjustments, as applicable. Adjusted Diluted Net Earnings Per Share for each period represents Adjusted Net Earnings while giving effect to all potentially dilutive shares of common stock that were outstanding during the period. We believe these measures are useful to investors in assessing the ongoing performance of our underlying businesses before the impact of certain items. The following table presents Adjusted Net Earnings and Adjusted Diluted Net Earnings Per Share reconciled to net earnings and diluted net earnings per share, respectively, presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP:
















(in millions, except per share data)

Three Months Ended March 31,


2022

2021
Net earnings

$
2.9 


$
7.9 


Restructuring activities

— 


0.2 



Transformation Program expense (1)

— 


2.2 

Transaction costs (2)

2.1 


— 



Foreign currency transaction loss (3)

12.5 


2.8 


Tax effect of adjustments (4)

(3.1)


(1.2)

Total Adjusted Net Earnings

$
14.4 


$
11.9 






Per share basis




Diluted net earnings

$
0.02 


$
0.06 


Restructuring activities

— 


— 



Transformation Program expense (1)

— 


0.01 

Transaction costs (2)

0.01 


— 



Foreign currency transaction loss (3)

0.09 


0.02 


Tax effect of adjustments (4)

(0.02)


(0.01)

Total Adjusted Diluted Net Earnings

$
0.10 


$
0.08 


(1) Transformation Program expense includes consulting and other costs associated with executing our Transformation Program initiatives. Refer to Note 15, "Business Transformation Program and Restructuring," for discussion of the impact to the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
(2) Transaction costs for the three months ended March 31, 2022 are related to the pending merger of the Company with Ali Group and consist primarily of professional services recorded in "Selling, general and administrative expenses" in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.
(3) Foreign currency transaction losses are inclusive of losses on related foreign currency exchange contracts not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes. Foreign currency transaction losses are included as a component of "Other expense - net" in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.
(4) The tax effect of adjustments is determined using the statutory tax rates for the countries comprising such adjustments.
-39-


Organic Net Sales

We define "Organic net sales" as net sales from continuing operations before the impact of foreign currency translations, acquisitions and divestitures during the period. We believe the Organic net sales measure is useful to investors in assessing the ongoing performance of our underlying businesses. Organic net sales from continuing operations reconciles to net sales presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP as follows:
















(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31,


2022

2021
Consolidated:




Net sales

$
417.0 


$
325.0 

Less: Intersegment sales

(84.0)


(71.7)

Net sales (as reported)

333.0 


253.3 





Impact of foreign currency translation(1)

(5.4)


(7.7)

Organic net sales

$
327.6 


$
245.6 






Americas:




Net sales

$
243.1 


$
193.2 

Less: Intersegment sales

(34.8)


(25.4)



Third-party net sales

208.3 


167.8 

Impact of foreign currency translation(1)

(0.1)


(1.4)

Total Americas organic net sales

$
208.2 


$
166.4 






EMEA:




Net sales

$
122.8 


$
89.8 

Less: Intersegment sales

(35.7)


(32.4)

Third-party net sales

87.1 


57.4 



Impact of foreign currency translation(1)

(5.1)


(5.2)

Total EMEA organic net sales

$
82.0 


$
52.2 






APAC:




Net sales

$
51.1 


$
42.0 

Less: Intersegment sales

(13.5)


(13.9)

Third-party net sales

37.6 


28.1 




Impact of foreign currency translation(1)

(0.2)


(1.1)

Total APAC organic net sales

$
37.4 


$
27.0 

(1) The impact from foreign currency translation is calculated by translating current period activity at the weighted average prior period rates.


Critical Accounting Policies

Our critical accounting policies have not materially changed since we filed our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2, "Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies," of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements applicable to us and the impact of those standards on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
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Cautionary Statements Regarding Forward-Looking Information

Certain statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including matters discussed under the heading "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Statements that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements and include, for example: statements about the potential future impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows (including demand, sales, operating expenses, Adjusted Operating EBITDA, net income (loss), operating cash flows, intangible assets, staffing levels, supply chain, government assistance and compliance with financial covenants), anticipated effects and timing of the proposed merger with Ali Group and divestiture of the Ice Business; future results of operations, financial condition and cash flows (including demand, sales, operating expenses; our ability to meet working capital needs and cash requirements over the next 12 months; our ability to realize savings from reductions in force and other cost saving measures; compliance with the financial covenants under our credit facility; our ability to obtain financial and tax benefits from the CARES Act; expected impact of restructuring and other plans and objectives for future operations; assumptions on which all such projects, plans or objectives are based; and discussions of condition and demand in the global foodservice market and foodservice equipment industry. Certain of these forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as "anticipates," "believes," "intends," "estimates," "targets," "expects," "endeavors," "could," "will," "may," "future," "likely," "on track to deliver," "gaining momentum," "plans," "projects," "assumes," "should" or other similar expressions. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties, and our actual results could differ materially from future results expressed or implied in these forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements included in this report are based on the current beliefs and expectations of our management as of the date of this report. These statements are not guarantees or indicators of future performance. Important assumptions and other important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those risks, uncertainties and factors described below and in more detail under the caption "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2022 and in our other filings with the SEC. The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has amplified many of these risks, uncertainties and factors. We do not intend, and, except as required by law, we undertake no obligation, to update any of our forward-looking statements after the date of this report to reflect any future events or circumstances. Given these risks and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.

Important risks, uncertainties and other factors that could affect our future results and could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements included in this report include, but are not limited to:

•risks related to our proposed merger with Ali Group, including the risk that the remaining conditions for the closing of the transaction are not satisfied, including the risk that regulatory approvals are not obtained or require divestitures in addition to the divestiture of the Ice Business, the risk of litigation relating to the merger, uncertainties as to the timing of the consummation of the merger and the ability of each party to consummate the merger, risks that the proposed transaction disrupts our current plans or operations, our ability to retain and hire key personnel, competitive responses to the proposed merger; unexpected costs, charges or expenses resulting from the merger, and potential adverse reactions or changes to relationships with our customers, suppliers, distributors and other business partners resulting from the announcement or completion of the merger;
•the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the dining and hospitality industries and the measures taken by governmental authorities and third parties in response to the pandemic;
•risks of continuing disruptions to our supply chain, resulting in delays, difficulties and increased costs of acquiring raw materials;
•our ability to timely and efficiently execute on our manufacturing strategies, including equipment and workflow upgrades in our plants, executing productivity gains and resulting workforce reductions, and/or consolidating existing facilities and operations and achieving procurement savings;
•our ability to generate cash and manage working capital consistent with our stated goals;
•our ability to realize anticipated or targeted earnings enhancements, cost savings, strategic options and other synergies and the anticipated timing to realize those enhancements, savings, synergies, and options;
•the successful development of innovative products and market acceptance of new and innovative products;
•risks associated with manufactured products, including issues related to product quality and reliability, our reliance on third-party sourced components and costs associated with product liability and product warranty claims;
•unanticipated issues associated with refresh/renovation plans, new product rollouts and/or new equipment by national restaurant accounts and global chains;
•risks relating to the acquisition and integration of businesses or products, including: our ability to successfully identify, finance, acquire and integrate acquisition targets; our ability to complete divestitures (including the divestiture of the Ice Business), strategic alliances, joint ventures and other strategic alternatives on favorable terms; and uncertainties and unanticipated costs in completing such strategic transactions;
•actions of activist stockholders;
•our ability to recruit and retain highly qualified executives and other key personnel;
•unanticipated changes in capital and financial markets, including unfavorable changes in the interest rate environment and changes relating to the discontinuation, reform or replacement of LIBOR;
•risks related to our indebtedness, including our ability to comply with covenants contained in our debt agreements, generate sufficient cash to comply with principal and interest repayment obligations, meet working capital needs and cash requirements over the next 12 months, and refinance such indebtedness on favorable terms;
•our ability to source raw materials and commodities on favorable terms and respond to inflationary pressures, volatility in the price of raw materials and commodities, including through the use of hedging transactions;
•our ability to compete against companies that are larger and have greater financial and other resources;
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•changes in the competitive conditions in the markets and countries in which we operate, including the impact of competitive pricing by our competitors or consolidation of dealers or distributors;
•pricing pressure imposed by buying groups with significant purchasing power in our industry;
•our ability to retain our independent dealers and distribution partners to sell our products;
•adverse changes in domestic or international tax laws, export and import controls or trade regulations, including new tariffs imposed by the U.S. or other governments, the adoption of trade restrictions affecting our products or suppliers, a U.S. withdrawal from, or significant renegotiation of, existing trade agreements without ratification of a replacement trade agreement, or the threat or occurrence of trade wars;
•unexpected issues affecting our current and future effective tax rate, including, but not limited to, tariffs, global tax policies, tax reform, tax legislation, Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development ("OECD") initiatives, including the global anti-base erosion ("GloBE") Pillar Two proposal envisaging global minimum taxation;
•economic and other consequences associated with the United Kingdom's withdrawal from the European Union;
•foreign currency fluctuations and their impact on reported results and hedges in place;
•risks associated with data security and technology systems, including our ability to protect information systems against, or effectively respond to, a cybersecurity incident or other disruption, and compliance with complex regulations in the countries in which we operate;
•the availability of, and our ability to obtain and maintain, adequate insurance coverage and/or our ability to cover or insure against the total amount of the claims and liabilities we face, whether through third-party insurance or self-insurance;
•our ability to adequately prevent or mitigate against increasingly sophisticated methods to engage in illegal or fraudulent activities targeted at large, multi-national companies;
•the expense, timing and outcome of legal and regulatory proceedings, arbitrations, investigations, tax audits and other regulatory audits, including without limitation those disclosed in Note 11, "Contingencies and Significant Estimates" of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021;
•the risk that our products could cause, or be alleged to cause, personal injury and adverse effects, leading to an increase in the volume of product liability lawsuits, unfavorable outcomes in such lawsuits and/or withdrawals of products from the market;
•unexpected costs incurred in connection with protecting our intellectual property rights and defending against challenges to such rights;
•risks associated with our labor relations, including work stoppages, delays in renewing labor agreements and our inability to renegotiate labor rates on favorable terms, as well as the availability of skilled and temporary labor at our manufacturing facilities and other locations;
•unanticipated issues associated with the resolution or settlement of unrecognized tax benefits or unfavorable resolution of tax audits;
•risks related to unfunded or underfunded pension obligations;
•costs associated with unanticipated environmental liabilities;
•general worldwide political and economic risks, uncertainties and adverse events resulting in instability, including financial bailouts and defaults of sovereign nations;
•risks related to adverse market conditions having the effect of changing one or more of the critical assumptions or estimates, which could change the estimation of fair value and could result in an impairment in the recorded value of our goodwill or intangible assets;
•risks that our actual operating performance and cash flows are substantially different from forecasted results impacting our ability to comply with our debt covenants or pursue our strategic objectives, among other things;
•factors affecting demand for foodservice equipment, including ongoing impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the various economies in which we operate, foodservice equipment replacement cycles in the U.S. and other mature markets; unanticipated changes in consumer spending impacting the foodservice industry; changing consumer tastes and government regulations affecting the quick-service restaurant industry; and population and income growth in emerging markets;
•our ability to effectively transfer cash between foreign entities and/or jurisdictions, including in a manner that is consistent with our strategic goals and priorities;
•costs associated with compliance with conflict minerals regulations; and
•other events outside our control.

-42-



ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk are incorporated by reference from Part II, Item 7A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021. Our market risk exposures have not materially changed since our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 was filed. 

We have global operations and are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. The COVID-19 pandemic has caused disruption on a global scale in commercial foodservice equipment end markets across the geographies in which we operate. Due to the inherent uncertainty of the pace of the global recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, our estimates of the impact of the pandemic on our business may change based on future developments. The market risks may also change over time as business practices evolve and include, but are not limited to, changes in interest rates, commodity price risk and changes in foreign currency exchange rates. To reduce these risks, we may selectively use derivative financial instruments and other proactive management techniques. Our corporate governance includes policies and procedures that place financial instruments under the direction of corporate finance and restrict all derivative transactions to those intended for hedging purposes only. The use of financial instruments for trading purposes or speculation is strictly prohibited.



ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management has established and maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of March 31, 2022, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that occurred during the three months ended March 31, 2022, that materially affected, or that are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION


ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we become involved in various lawsuits, claims and proceedings arising out of, or incident to, our ordinary course of business, including lawsuits, claims, investigations or proceedings pertaining to product liability, patent infringement, environmental matters, commercial disputes, warranty claims, trade practices and employment matters. While we cannot predict the outcome of any lawsuit, claim, investigation or proceeding with certainty, we do not believe that the ultimate disposition of any pending matter is likely to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, liquidity, or results of operations.

We intend to defend vigorously against all lawsuits, as they may arise in the ordinary course of business. However, litigation is inherently uncertain, and we are unable to predict the outcome of these lawsuits and are unable to estimate the range of loss, if any, that could result from an unfavorable outcome. We also cannot provide any assurance that the ultimate resolution of any lawsuits will not have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, prospects, results of operations or financial condition.

For additional information concerning contingencies and uncertainties, see Note 12, "Contingencies and Significant Estimates," of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS

Except as set forth below, there have been no material changes to the risk factors described under the caption "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021. You should carefully consider the risks, uncertainties and cautionary statements described therein, together with the other disclosures in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our other public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Any such risks and uncertainties, as well as risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial, may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

Risks Relating to Our Business

The ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Deteriorating global political and economic conditions, including geopolitical risks presented by the current military conflict between Russia and Ukraine, may adversely affect our business and results of operations. Governments in the U.S., United Kingdom, and European Union have each imposed export controls on certain products and financial and economic sanctions on certain industry sectors and parties in Russia. We have limited operations in Russia, which have been adversely affected by the ongoing conflict.

Consequences of this conflict, which may include additional international sanctions, embargoes, regional instability, and geopolitical shifts, and the extent of the resulting negative effects on the global economy and our business and results of operations, cannot be predicted. Further escalation of geopolitical tensions related to the Russia-Ukraine conflict, including increased trade barriers or restrictions on global trade, could result in, among other things, cyberattacks, additional inflation and supply chain disruptions, lower consumer demand, and changes to foreign exchange rates and financial markets, any of which may adversely affect our business and results of operations.



ITEM 2.  UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.


ITEM 3.  DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.


ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None.


ITEM 5.  OTHER INFORMATION

None.

-45-



ITEM 6.  EXHIBITS


















Exhibit No.

Description


Filings for Incorporation by Reference
10.1

Purchase Agreement dated March 2, 2022 by and between Welbilt, Inc. and Pentair Commercial Ice LLC


Filed herewith
31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.


Filed herewith
31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.


Filed herewith
32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.


Furnished herewith
32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.


Furnished herewith
101

The following materials from the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2022 formatted in Inline Extensible Business Reporting Language ("iXBRL"): (i) the Consolidated Statements of Operations, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Equity and (vi) related notes, tagged as blocks of text and including detailed tags.


Filed herewith
104

Cover page from the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2022, formatted in iXBRL (included as Exhibit 101).


Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized:
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Welbilt, Inc.



/s/ Martin D. Agard

Martin D. Agard, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)



/s/ Kimberly Perez

Kimberly Perez, Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer)
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PURCHASE AGREEMENT
This Purchase Agreement (this “Agreement”) dated as of March 2, 2022 (the “Agreement Date”), is entered into by and between Welbilt, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Seller”), Pentair Commercial Ice LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Buyer,” and together with Seller, each, a “Party” and collectively, the “Parties”), and, solely for the purposes of Article 5 and Sections 11.8, 11.9, and 11.17, Pentair plc, an Ireland public limited company (“Buyer Parent”).
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, on July 14, 2021, Seller publicly announced the execution of an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Ali Merger Agreement” ) with respect to a transaction pursuant to which it has agreed to merge with a subsidiary of Ali Holding S.r.l. (“Ali”), becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of Ali (the “Ali Transaction”);
WHEREAS, in order to obtain the Consent of the United States Department of Justice, the European Commission, and the United Kingdom Competition and Markets Authority, Seller has determined to enter into this Agreement to divest certain assets and entities related to the Business, all upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereinafter set forth;
WHEREAS, Buyer, through itself and one or more of its direct or indirect Subsidiaries, desires to purchase and assume, and Seller, through itself and one or more of its direct or indirect Subsidiaries, desires to sell, transfer and assign the Purchased Assets, the Purchased Shares and the Assumed Liabilities of the Business to Buyer and one or more of its direct or indirect Subsidiaries, upon the terms and subject to the conditions specified in this Agreement (the “Purchase Transaction”);
WHEREAS, Seller, through itself and/or one or more of its direct or indirect Subsidiaries, and Buyer, through itself and/or one or more of its direct or indirect Subsidiaries, will enter into that certain Transition Services Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Transition Services Agreement”), pursuant to which Seller will cause certain services to be provided to Buyer or its Affiliates, such Transition Services Agreement to become effective upon the Closing; and
WHEREAS, Seller, through itself and/or one or more of its direct or indirect Subsidiaries, and Buyer, through itself and/or one or more of its direct or indirect Subsidiaries, will enter into that certain Reverse Transition Services Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F (the “Reverse Transition Services Agreement”), pursuant to which Buyer or its Affiliates will cause certain services to be provided to Seller or its Affiliates, such Reverse Transition Services Agreement to become effective upon the Closing.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and mutual covenants herein contained and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS
Section 1.1    Certain Definitions
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“Administration of Market Regulation” means the State Administration for Market Regulation in the People’s Republic of China.
“Affiliate” means (a) in the case of an individual, the individual’s spouse (or civil partner) and the members of the immediate family (including parents, siblings, children and spouses (or civil partners) of the foregoing) of (i) the individual, (ii) the individual’s spouse (or civil partner) and (b) in the case other than an individual, any Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, any other Person; provided that, for the purposes of this definition, “control” (including with correlative meanings, the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”), as used with respect to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by Contract or otherwise. For the avoidance of doubt, Ali shall be deemed an Affiliate of Seller under this Agreement.
“Anti-Corruption Laws” means the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (15 U.S.C. § 78dd-1, et seq.), as amended, the UK Bribery Act 2010, as amended, and all anti-corruption or anti-bribery Laws of any jurisdiction where any Seller or Seller Party conducts business.
“Anti-Money Laundering Laws” means all anti-money laundering laws applicable to any Seller Party, including, and only to the extent so applicable, United States statute 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956 and 1957 and the Bank Secrecy Act, as amended by the USA PATRIOT Act (31 U.S.C. §§ 5311 et seq.) and its implementing regulations, 31 C.F.R. Chapter X.
“Antitrust Laws” mean, individually and collectively, the HSR Act, the United States Sherman Act, as amended, the United States Clayton Act, as amended, the United States Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended, the Competition Act 1998 and the Enterprise Act 2002, as amended, of the United Kingdom, Articles 101-109 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU), as amended of the European Union, and any other applicable United States, British, European, federal or state, or other foreign or local Laws or Orders that are designed to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization, reduction or restriction of competition or restraint of trade.
“Assumed Benefit Plans” means (a) each Seller Benefit Plan that is sponsored or maintained by an Other Asset Seller and that is listed on Schedule 1.1(a)(i) of the Disclosure Letter and (b) each Seller Benefit Plan that is sponsored or maintained by a Purchased Entity and that will transfer at Closing with the Purchased Entity by operation of Law.
“Automatic Transferred Employees” means those Business Employees with respect to whom local employment Laws provide for an automatic transfer of employment, employer substitution or similar method of transfer to Buyer or any of its Affiliates in connection with the Closing.
“Business” means the Manitowoc Ice business of Seller and its Subsidiaries, including the design, manufacture, customization, development, marketing, packaging, distribution, sale and resale of the Products, as conducted by Seller immediately prior to the Closing, but, in each case, excluding any assets and the businesses and operations set forth on Schedule 1.1(a)(ii) of the Disclosure Letter.
“Business Cash” means the aggregate amount of cash and the fair market value of cash equivalents (including marketable securities, deposits in transit and accrued interest, less checks and drafts issued by not yet cleared), determined in accordance with the Calculation
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Principles that, as of immediately prior to the Effective Time, is retained by the Purchased Entities and transferred to Buyer or one of its Affiliates by virtue of the acquisition of the Purchased Shares hereunder; provided that (a) any cash or cash equivalents retained by the Mexican Subsidiary in excess of $500,000 and (b) any cash or cash equivalents retained by the Chinese Subsidiary in excess of $10,000,000 shall be reduced, in each case, by 10% for purposes of computing the Estimated Business Cash and the Final Business Cash.
“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banks in New York are permitted or required by Law to close.
“Business Employee” means (a) the employees of Seller or any of its Subsidiaries, as applicable, engaged in the Business as set forth on the Business Employee List, all Automatic Transferred Employees, all Purchased Entity Employees and any such employees performing services for the Business who, on the Closing Date, are on maternity or paternity leave, leave under the Family Medical Leave Act of 1993, vacation leave, education leave, national service or military leave, approved personal leave, leave for purposes of jury duty, short-term or long-term disability leave or medical leave or equivalent under local Law, unless otherwise required under local employment Laws, excluding any such employees whose employment with Seller or any of its Subsidiaries, as applicable, has terminated prior to the Closing, (b) each additional employee of Seller or any of its Subsidiaries hired by the Business between the Agreement Date and the Closing Date in compliance with the terms of this Agreement, and (c) each other employee of Seller or any of its Subsidiaries that Seller and Buyer have mutually agreed to transfer to Buyer prior to the Closing Date or whose transfer to Buyer and its Subsidiaries is required under applicable local Law.
“Business Indebtedness” means, on any date, the aggregate amount of Indebtedness calculated in accordance with the Calculation Principles and measured at the Designated Exchange Rate in respect of such determination date that remains outstanding as of such date; provided that Business Indebtedness shall not include (a) any Indebtedness arranged by Buyer or any of its Affiliates, (b) Indebtedness repaid or otherwise terminated or released prior to or as of the Closing, or (c) any intercompany Indebtedness solely by and among the Purchased Entities.
“Business Intellectual Property Rights” means the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights and the Licensed IP.
“Business Privacy Commitments” means (a) each Law applicable to the protection or processing of Personal Data, including the EU General Data Protection Regulation and the California Consumer Privacy Act and U.S. state data breach notification Laws, (b) all applicable payment card network rules and regulations including the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, (c) any Contract obligations related to the protection or processing of Personal Data, including requirements related to cross-border transfers or notifications of data incidents, and (d) the Purchased Entities’ data privacy and security policies published on its websites or otherwise made available by it to its customers or employees.
“Buyer Indemnified Parties” means Buyer, its Affiliates, and their respective Representatives.
“Buyer Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on the financial or legal ability of Buyer and its Subsidiaries to timely consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.
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“Cause” means a termination for misconduct, failure to perform job responsibilities in a satisfactory manner, fraud, embezzlement, material dishonesty or violation of applicable policies.
“Chinese Subsidiary” means WELBILT (China) Foodservice Co., Ltd.
“Closing Net Working Capital” means an amount, calculated as of immediately prior to the Effective Time, equal to the difference, whether positive or negative, of (a) Current Assets, minus (b) the Current Liabilities, in each case, calculated in accordance with the Calculation Principles.
“Closing Net Working Capital Target” means $47,055,000.
“COBRA” means the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended, or similar Law.
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
“Confidential Information” means any confidential or proprietary information, including any formula, pattern, device, compilation or information, proprietary technical, economic, environmental, operational, financial, technology, operating, financial and/or other business information, methods of operation, financial statements, Trade Secrets, market studies and forecasts, competitive analyses, target markets, advertising techniques, pricing policies and information, specifications for products, equipment and processes, manufacturing and performance specifications and procedures, engineering drawings and graphs, technical, research and engineering data, manufacturing know-how, the substance of agreements with customers and others, marketing and similar arrangements, servicing and training programs and arrangements, customer lists, customer profiles, customer preferences, other Trade Secrets and any other documents or materials embodying such information, employee census information and, as required by applicable Law, other employee information.
“Consent” means any required consent, waiver or approval of, or authorization, order, license, permission, permit, qualification, exemption, clearance or waiver by, or filing, declaration or registration with or notification to, any third party or Governmental Authority.
“Constructive Termination” means Buyer’s or the Employing Entity’s material violation of any written employment agreement with a Continuing Employee or failure to continue the employment terms for a Continuing Employee as required by applicable Law.
“Contract” means any legally binding contract, subcontract, agreement, license, sublicense, lease, sublease, instrument, indenture, promissory note, arrangement, understanding or other legally binding commitment or undertaking, whether written or oral.
“Conveyance Documents” means (a) special or limited warranty deeds, duly executed by the appropriate Seller or Other Asset Seller and in recordable form, conveying the Owned Real Property to Buyer free and clear of all Liens, except for Permitted Liens and such matters as are acceptable to Buyer in its sole discretion; (b) all documents or instruments that may be required under applicable Law to transfer the Owned Real Property to Buyer subject only to Permitted Liens; (c) title affidavits or “gap undertakings,” evidence of authority or other similar documents reasonably required by Buyer’s title insurance company to issue the Title Policy; and (d) any revenue or tax certificates or statements required with respect to conveying the Owned Real Property by applicable Law.
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“Copyrights” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Intellectual Property Rights” in this Section 1.1.
“COVID-19” means SARS-CoV-2 or COVID-19, and any evolutions, variants or mutations thereof or related or associated epidemics, pandemics or outbreaks.
“COVID-19 Measures” means any quarantine, “shelter in place,” “stay at home,” workforce reduction, social distancing, shut down, closure, sequester, safety or similar Law, directive, guidelines or recommendations promulgated by any Governmental Authority, including the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, in each case, in connection with or in response to COVID-19.
“CT Confidentiality Agreement” means the Clean Team Confidentiality Agreement, dated January 7, 2022, as amended, by and between Seller and Buyer.
“Current Assets” means the current assets of the Business that are included in the Purchased Assets calculated using only those line items set forth in the illustrative calculation of Closing Net Working Capital in the Sample Statement.
“Current Liabilities” means the current liabilities of the Business that are included in the Assumed Liabilities calculated using only those line items set forth in the illustrative calculation of Closing Net Working Capital in the Sample Statement.
“Customer Contracts” means any Contract pursuant to which a third party purchases or is entitled to receive products or services of Seller and/or its Affiliates with respect to the Business.
“Customs & Trade Laws” means all applicable export, import, customs and trade, and anti-boycott Laws or programs administered, enacted or enforced by any Governmental Authority, including but not limited to: (a) the U.S. Export Administration Regulations, the U.S. International Traffic in Arms Regulations, and the import laws and regulations administered by U.S. Customs and Border Protection; (b) the anti-boycott laws and regulations administered by the U.S. Departments of Commerce and Treasury; and (c) any other similar export, import, anti-boycott, or other trade Laws or programs in any jurisdiction where the Business is conducted.
“Deal Related Severance” means all severance and related termination payments that are required to be paid in connection with the termination of employment under applicable Law to any Business Employee located outside the United States and Mexico other than an Automatic Transferred Employee (i) by reason of the cessation of his or her employment with Seller or any of its Affiliates in connection with the Purchase Transaction or (ii) by operation of, or under, applicable federal, country, state or local Law in connection with the consummation of the Purchase Transaction.
“Designated Exchange Rate” means, in respect of any date, the closing rate of exchange on such date from the applicable foreign currency to United States Dollars as published by Bloomberg at https://www.bloomberg.com/markets/currencies.
“Effect” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Material Adverse Effect” in this Section 1.1.
“Employer Side Taxes” means, with respect to any compensatory payment, an amount equal to (a) the employer portion of any Medicare or other similar Taxes required to be paid with respect to such payment plus (b) the employer portion of any social security or other similar Taxes required to be paid with respect to such payment to the extent that the employer’s
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share of social security or other similar Taxes required to be paid with respect to the recipient of such payment in the year that includes the Closing Date exceeds the aggregate amount of social security or other similar Taxes that would otherwise have been due with respect to such recipient had the relevant payment not been made.
“Environmental Claim” means any written or, to the knowledge of Seller, other claim, Proceeding, complaint, or notice by any Person alleging a violation of, or Liability under, any Environmental Laws.
“Environmental Laws” means any applicable Laws, statutes, regulations, codes, ordinances, permits, Orders or common law relating to, or imposing standards regarding the protection or cleanup of the environment, the preservation or protection of waterways, groundwater, drinking water, air, wildlife, plants or other natural resources or the exposure of any individual to Hazardous Materials, including the protection of health and safety of employees.
“ERISA” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Seller Benefit Plans” in this Section 1.1.
“ERISA Affiliate” means any Person which would be treated as a single employer with Seller or its Affiliates under Section 414 of the Code or Section 4001(a) of ERISA.
“FASB” means the Financial Accounting Standards Board.
“Financing” means the debt financing provided by one or more of the Financing Sources to Buyer for purposes of consummating the transactions contemplated hereby pursuant to one or more commitment letters, engagement letters or other documentation.
“Financing Sources” means the agents, arrangers, lenders and other Persons that have committed to provide or arrange or otherwise have entered into agreements in connection with all or any part of the Financing or any other financing in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including the parties to any joinder agreements, indentures or credit agreements entered into in connection therewith, together with their respective Affiliates and their and their respective Affiliates’ officers, directors, employees, controlling persons, agents and representatives and their respective successors and assigns.
“Fraud” means, with respect to any Person, an intentional misrepresentation of a fact by such Person with respect to the making of the representations and warranties in Article 4 or Article 5 with the actual knowledge (as opposed to imputed or constructive knowledge or knowledge that could have been obtained after inquiry, or recklessness or negligence) of such Person that such representation was false.
“Fundamental Representations” means, with respect to Buyer, the representations and warranties set forth in Section 5.1 (Corporate Existence), Section 5.2 (Corporate Authority) and Section 5.6 (Finders; Brokers), and with respect to Seller, the representations and warranties set forth in Section 4.1 (Corporate Existence), Section 4.2 (Corporate Authority), Section 4.3(b)(i) (Non-Contravention); Section 4.4 (Purchased Entities; Capitalization), the first two sentences of Section 4.15(a) (Sufficiency of Assets) and Section 4.23 (Finders; Brokers).
“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, as consistently applied.
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“Hangzhou Facility” means the facility located in Hangzhou, China that is used for the Business and the production by Seller and its subsidiaries of coffee and fryer products.
“Hazardous Materials” means any infectious, carcinogenic, radioactive, toxic or hazardous chemical or chemical compound, or any pollutant, contaminant or hazardous substance, material or waste, in each case, whether solid, liquid or gas, including petroleum, petroleum products, by products or derivatives and asbestos and any other substance, material or waste listed, classified or regulated by any Environmental Law as a “solid waste,” “hazardous” “hazardous substance,” “hazardous material,” “hazardous waste,” “toxic,” “toxic substance,” “toxic waste”, “toxic pollutant,” “contaminant,” or “pollutant” or any similar terms.
“HSR Act” means the United States Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.
“Income Tax” means all Taxes based upon, measured by, or calculated with respect to (a) gross or net income or gross or net receipts or profits (including any capital gains Taxes, minimum Taxes, income Taxes collected by withholding, but not including VAT, sales, use, goods and services, real or personal property transfer or other similar Taxes), or (b) multiple bases (including corporate franchise, doing business or occupation Taxes) if one or more of the bases upon which such Tax may be based upon, measured by, or calculated with respect to, is described in clause (a) of this definition.
“Indebtedness” means (a) the unpaid principal amount of accrued interest, premiums, penalties and other fees, expenses (if any), and other payment obligations and amounts due (including such amounts that would become due as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) that are required to be paid by a borrower to a lender pursuant to a customary payoff letter, in each case, in respect of indebtedness for borrowed money of a Purchased Entity, whether secured or unsecured, including that evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or other similar instruments (and including all outstanding principal, prepayment premiums, if any, and accrued interest, fees and expenses related thereto), (b) all monetary liabilities and obligations (including accrued and unpaid interests) set forth on the balance sheet contained in the Unaudited Financial Information with respect to leases historically capitalized in accordance with the past practices of the Seller Parties and excluding operating leases required to be capitalized under ASU No. 2016-02, (c) any cash or bank overdrafts of a Purchased Entity, (d) all net obligations of a Purchased Entity with respect to derivatives, interest-rate hedging, swaps or similar financial arrangements (valued at the termination value thereof and net of all payments owed thereunder), (e) any amounts owed by a Purchased Entity with respect to drawn letters of credit, (f) any amounts for the deferred purchase price of goods and services, including any earn out Liabilities associated with past acquisitions by a Purchased Entity or, to the extent related to the Business, by any other Seller Party, (g) any declared but unpaid dividends or distributions or any other amounts (including intercompany balances payable by any Purchased Entity or any management or other fees) owing by a Purchased Entity to any of the other Seller Parties or their Affiliates, (h) any expenses by the Purchased Entities incurred by or on behalf of, or paid or to be paid by, the Purchased Entities in connection with the process of selling the Business, or the negotiation, preparation and execution of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents or the performance or consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (including the Ali Transaction), (i) any payment of compensation, or vesting of compensation or property that arises from or in connection with any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents (including the Ali Transaction) with respect to any Business Employee, including any Employer Side Taxes payable in connection therewith (excluding the Retention Bonuses, the Buyer’s portion of the Deal Related Severance (as described in Section 6.6(i)) and any Post-Transaction Severance Benefits), (j) all amounts created or arising under any conditional sale or other title retention agreement with respect to property acquired by any of the Purchased Entities, (k) any
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customer deposits related to the Business, (l) any obligations to a Business Employee with respect to any unfunded or underfunded deferred compensation plans, pension plans or similar arrangements (excluding the Assumed Benefit Plans) (m) any deferred compensation, including deferred bonuses, consulting payments or phantom stock arrangements (together with the Employer Side Taxes) of a Business Employee, (n) accrued refunds, returns, and allowances related to the Business, (o) any Liabilities relating to any employees of the Chinese Subsidiary regarding unfunded salaries, wages, allowances, subsidies, reimbursements, social security contributions, housing fund contributions, overtime payment, violations of COVID-19 Measures or statutory severance, (p) any outstanding guarantees of obligations of the type described in clauses (a) through (o) of this definition, and (q) Taxes Payable.
“Indirect Transfer Taxes” means all Taxes (including withholding Taxes) imposed by any Governmental Authority in any non-U.S. jurisdiction in connection with the indirect transfer of (a) assets located in such jurisdiction or (b) equity securities in an entity formed, incorporated or otherwise established in such jurisdiction, in each case, in connection with the transactions contemplated under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.
“Industrial Designs” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Intellectual Property Rights” in this Section 1.1.
“Intellectual Property Rights” or “IPR” means the rights, titles, and interests in, of, to, and associated with the following anywhere in the world, by whatever name or term known or designated, whether arising by operation of Law, international treaty, Contract, license or otherwise, both statutory and common law rights, including all: (a) patents, statutory invention registrations and utility models, and applications therefor (including any provisionals, continuations, continuations-in-part, divisionals, reissues, reexaminations, continued prosecutions, renewals, extensions or modifications for any of the foregoing) and all patents and statutory invention registrations resulting from any of the foregoing applications (“Patents”); (b) copyrights (registered and unregistered, including Software), copyright registrations and applications therefor (including any renewals or extensions thereof) and any renewals, amendments, modifications, extensions, restorations, and reversions thereof, moral rights, economic rights, rights of authorship, neighboring rights, and all other rights corresponding to the foregoing (“Copyrights”); (c) uniform resource locators, internet accounts and names, social media accounts and names, website content, and registered internet domain names and registrations and applications therefor; (d) industrial design rights and any registrations, patents and applications therefor (“Industrial Designs”); (e) mask works, and mask work registrations and applications therefor (“Mask Work Rights”); (f) trademarks, trade dress, trade names, brand names, logos, slogans, service marks, and all other designations and identifiers of source and origin, whether registered or unregistered, in each case, together with all translations, and combinations of any of the foregoing, and including registrations and applications therefor and renewals and extensions thereof, and including all common law rights thereto and the goodwill associated with and appurtenant to each of the foregoing (“Trademarks”); (g) computer software, computer programs, applications (including apps, applets and mobile apps) and databases in any form, including source code, object code, firmware, operating systems and specifications, algorithms, data, databases, database management code, utilities, graphical user interfaces, menus, images, icons, forms, methods of processing, software engines, platforms, development tools, libraries and library functions, compilers, and data formats, all versions, updates, corrections, enhancements and modifications thereof, and all related documentation (including manuals, user guides, flow charts, comments, and training materials), developer notes, comments and annotations (“Software”); and (h) all Trade Secrets.
“Intercompany Agreements” means the Contracts, agreements, arrangements, commitments or understandings, whether or not in writing, between or among Seller or one of its Affiliates (excluding Purchased Entities), on the one hand, and any Purchased Entities, on the
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other hand, in respect of the Business, any Purchased Assets, any Purchased Shares or any Assumed Liabilities, or which involve any Purchased Entity (unless amended to exclude such Purchased Entity prior to the Closing without any further Liability or obligation of such Purchased Entity) or which would constitute a Purchased Asset or which provides for any Liabilities which would constitute Assumed Liabilities, if the same were effective as of the Effective Time.
“International Employee Plan” means any Seller Benefit Plan that is both (a) maintained primarily for the benefit of non-U.S. employees and (b) not maintained by a Governmental Authority (but including the mandatory social security contribution and housing fund of the PRC).
“IP License Agreement” means the license agreement for the Licensed IP, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E.
“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service.
“knowledge” of a Party means, with respect to Seller, the actual knowledge of the Persons listed on Schedule 1.1(a)(iii)(1) of the Disclosure Letter, and with respect to Buyer, the actual knowledge of the Persons listed on Schedule 1.1(a)(iii)(2) of the Disclosure Letter, in each case following reasonable investigation.
“Law” means any law, treaty, statute, ordinance, rule, constitution, administrative interpretation, code, promulgation or regulation, or principle of common law of any Governmental Authority or any Permit.
“Liabilities” means any indebtedness, liability or other obligation (whether pecuniary or not, whether known or unknown, whether asserted or unasserted, whether absolute or contingent, whether accrued or unaccrued, whether liquidated or unliquidated, and whether due or to become due).
“Licensed IP” has the meaning set forth in the IP License Agreement.
“Liens” means any mortgage, easement, lease, sublease, right of way, trust or title retention agreement, pledge, lien, charge, claim, deed of trust, encumbrance, adverse claim, levy, restriction on transfer, conditional sale, assessment, security interest or option, or other restriction of any kind.
“Losses” means any and all Liabilities, losses, damages, settlements, judgments, awards, penalties, fines, costs or expenses (including reasonable legal, expert and consultant fees and expenses) in connection with a third-party claim or in connection with the mitigation, pursuit, settlement or enforcement of a direct claim, but excluding any punitive damages except to the extent recovered by or payable to any third party.
“Mask Work Rights” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Intellectual Property Rights” in this Section 1.1.
“Material Adverse Effect” means any change, circumstance, occurrence, condition, event or effect (“Effect”) that, individually or in the aggregate, would or would reasonably be expected to (a) prevent, materially delay or materially impede the performance by any Seller Party of its obligations under this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; or (b) have a material adverse effect on the operations, assets, business, financial condition or results of operations of the Business, taken as a whole, other than any Effect resulting from (i) the public announcement of the sale of the Business and the execution of
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this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, and/or the pendency of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, including the impact of the foregoing on relationships with customers, suppliers, officers or employees (provided that this clause (i) does not apply with respect to the representations and warranties set forth in Section 4.3 and the related conditions to Closing), (ii) the performance by Seller or any Other Seller of its obligations under this Agreement, the Ali Merger Agreement or the other Transaction Documents, (iii) changes in general business, financial or economic conditions in the United States or other foreign locations where the Business is operated, including changes in prevailing interest rates or fluctuations in currency, (iv) general changes or developments in the industries in which the Business is operated or conducted, (v) any change or development in Laws applicable to the Business, the Purchased Shares or the Purchased Assets, any changes in GAAP, any COVID-19 Measures (or the applicable accounting standards in any jurisdictions outside of the United States), or the enforcement or interpretation of any of the foregoing by a Governmental Authority or the FASB, (vi) any change related to the Excluded Assets or the Excluded Liabilities to the extent such change does not have any effect on the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities, (vii) acts of war (whether or not declared), hostilities, criminal activities, military actions, acts of terrorism, sabotage, or any escalation or worsening of the foregoing, (viii) any pandemic, epidemic, disease or contagion outbreaks or worsening thereof (including COVID-19 (provided that any Effect directly resulting from COVID-19 as it exists as of the Agreement Date shall not be excluded)), earthquakes, volcanic eruptions, hurricanes, floods, tsunamis and other natural disasters or other natural conditions or weather-related events, circumstances or developments, or (ix) the failure of the financial or operating performance of the Business to meet estimates or expectations or internal forecasts, plans, projections or budgets for any period prior to, on or after the Agreement Date (but the underlying reason for such failure to meet such forecasts or budgets may be taken into account in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has occurred, provided such reason is not otherwise described in clauses (i) through (viii) of this definition); provided that, in the case of the clauses (iii), (iv), (v), (vii) and (viii) of this definition, Effects referred to therein shall be excluded only to the degree they do not disproportionately impact the Business relative to the competitors of the Business in the industry in which the Business competes and operates as a whole.
“Material Shared Contract” shall mean any Shared Contract that had an aggregate value of at least $1,000,000 based on payments made or received in calendar year 2021 or that is otherwise material to the operation of the Business.
“Mexican Subsidiary” means FSG Manufactura Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.
“Open Source Software” means any freeware, shareware, open source software (e.g., Linux) or software that is distributed under similar licensing or distribution models. For the avoidance of doubt, “Open Source Software” includes software licensed or distributed under any of the following licenses or distribution models (or licenses or distribution models similar thereto): (a) the GNU General Public License (GPL), Lesser/Library GPL (LGPL) or Affero General Public License (Affero GPL); (b) the Artistic License (e.g., PERL); (c) the Mozilla Public License; (d) the Netscape Public License; (e) the Sun Community Source License (SCSL); (f) the Sun Industry Standards Source License (SISSL); (g) the BSD License; (h) Red Hat Linux; (i) the Apache License; and (j) any other license or distribution model described by the Open Source Initiative as set forth at www.opensource.org.
“Order” shall mean any judgment, order, injunction, stipulation, decree, writ, or determination of or from, or permit or license of any Governmental Authority.
“Ordinary Course Inbound License” means any of the following to the extent the underlying license is to Seller or its Affiliates: (a) a Contract containing a license to Seller or its Affiliates to use, copy, access or distribute any generally commercially available software or to
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use any generally commercially available service, including click wrap or shrink wrap licenses, in each case, where payments by Seller or its Affiliates under such Contracts have been (and are reasonably expected to be) less than $200,000 per year; (b) a license to Seller or its Affiliates to use Open Source Software; and (c) a Contract containing an inbound license to Seller or its Affiliates to use third party Intellectual Property Rights, where such license is (i) not material and (ii) incidental to the primary purpose of such Contract (such as an inbound license to use a customer’s trademarks or patents in a Contract for which the primary purpose is granting the customer a right to use the Products).
“ordinary course of business” means in the ordinary course of the operation of the Business, consistent with past practice.
“Ordinary Course Outbound License” means any of the following to the extent the underlying license is from Seller or its Affiliates: (a) a Contract containing an outbound license from Seller or its Affiliates to use Transferred Intellectual Property Rights, where such license is (i) not material and (ii) incidental to the primary purpose of such Contract (such as an outbound license to use trademarks or patents in an inbound services Contract solely to perform the applicable services) and (b) a Contract containing an outbound license from Seller or its Affiliates to use Transferred Intellectual Property Rights on the Seller’s or its Affiliates’ standard form customer agreement (which form has been made available to Buyer) granted to customers in the ordinary course of business, in each case, providing only non-exclusive rights to the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights of Seller and its Affiliates.
“Organizational Documents” means, with respect to any Person, collectively, its organizational documents, including any certificate of incorporation, notarial deed of incorporation, certificate of formation, articles of organization, articles of association, bylaws, operating agreement, certificate of limited partnership, partnership agreement and/or certificates of existence, equityholders’ agreement or similar organizational documents, as applicable.
“Patents” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Intellectual Property Rights” in this Section 1.1.
“Permits” means all Consents, Orders, franchises, certificates, or other authorizations of, with or to any Governmental Authority.
“Permitted Liens” means (a) statutory Liens for current Taxes not yet due and payable or, are being contested in good faith, for which adequate reserves are established in accordance with GAAP, (b) Liens arising by operation of Law in favor of warehousemen, landlords, carriers, mechanics, materialmen, laborers or suppliers, incurred in the ordinary course of business relating to obligations as to which there is no default on the part of the Business; provided that any such Lien is for sums not overdue for a period of more than sixty (60) days or the validity or amount of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (c) zoning, entitlement, building and land use regulations, defects of title, easements, rights-of-way, restrictions and other similar matters, charges or encumbrances or irregularities in title that in each case, individually or in the aggregate, do not materially interfere with or impair the use or occupancy thereof in connection with the Business, (d) deposits or pledges made in connection with, or to secure payment of, workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance or old age pension programs, in each case, mandated under applicable Laws or other social security programs, (e) Liens listed on Schedule 1.1(a)(v) of the Disclosure Letter, and (f) non-exclusive licenses of Intellectual Property Rights granted in the ordinary course of business.
“Person” means an individual, Governmental Authority, corporation, general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, joint venture, estate, trust, limited
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liability company, firm or other enterprise, association, organization, entity or group (as defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934).
“Personal Data” means a natural Person’s name, street address, telephone number, email address, photograph, social security number, date of birth, driver’s license number, passport number, other government identification number, payment card number, bank information, health or medical information, biometric identifiers, geolocation, or user or account number or any other piece of information that, alone or in combination with other information, allows the identification of a natural Person or is otherwise considered personally identifiable information or personal data under applicable Law.
“Post-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period commencing after the Closing Date and the portion of any Straddle Period commencing after the Closing Date.
“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date and the portion of any Straddle Period ending on and including the Closing Date.
“Proceeding” means any complaint, claim, action, demand, inquiry, charge, audit, indictment, investigation of which the subject Person has knowledge, arbitration, mediation, litigation, pre-suit notice, suit or similar proceeding (whether criminal, civil, investigative or administrative) commenced, brought, conducted, or heard by or before, any Governmental Authority.
“Purchased Entities” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Purchased Shares” in this Section 1.1.
“Purchased Entity Employees” means the employees of the Purchased Entities (including Automatic Transferred Employees) as of immediately prior to the Closing.
“Purchased Shares” means the shares of capital stock of, or any other equity or ownership interests in, the Subsidiaries held, directly or indirectly, by Seller and listed on Appendix B (collectively, together with all Subsidiaries and controlled Affiliates thereof, the “Purchased Entities”).
“Real Property” means, collectively, the Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property.
“Related Party” means, with respect to any specified Person: (a) any Affiliate of such specified Person, or any director, governor, executive officer, manager, general partner or managing member of such Affiliate; (b) any Person who serves as a director, executive officer, partner, governor, manager or in a similar capacity of such specified Person; (c) any immediate family member of any individual described in clause (b) or (c); or (d) any other Person who holds, individually or together with any Affiliate of such other Person and any member(s) of such Person’s immediate family, more than five percent of the outstanding equity or ownership interests of such specified Person.
“Remedial Action” means any investigation, remediation, clean-up, abatement, removal or monitoring (or words of similar import) of Hazardous Materials.
“Representatives” of any Person means such Person’s directors, managers, governors, members, officers, employees, agents, advisors and representatives (including attorneys, accountants, consultants, financial advisors, financing sources and any representatives of such advisors or financing sources).
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“Retention Bonuses” means all incentive, retention, transaction or change in control bonuses to any Business Employee pursuant to an arrangement, including those set forth on Schedule 1.1(a)(vii) of the Disclosure Letter, that is payable as a direct result of the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including the Ali Transaction), including Employer Side Taxes payable by a Purchased Entity in connection therewith.
“Reverse IP License Agreement” means an intellectual property license agreement, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit G.
“Sanctions” means any trade, economic and financial sanctions Laws, embargoes, or restrictive measures administered, enacted or enforced by (a) the United States (including without limitation the Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, the Department of Commerce, and the Department of State), (b) the European Union or any European Union member state, (c) the United Nations, (d) the United Kingdom, or (e) any other Governmental Authority of a jurisdiction where any Purchased Entity operates or where Business is conducted.
“Sanctioned Jurisdiction” means a country or territory that is itself the subject or target of any Sanctions (at the time of this Agreement, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Syria, and the Crimea, so-called Donetsk People’s Republic, and Luhansk People’s Republic regions).
“Sanctioned Person” means (a) any Person on any list of sanctioned Persons maintained by (i) the United States (including without limitation the Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, the Department of Commerce, and the Department of State), (ii) the European Union or any European Union member state, (iii) the United Nations, (iv) the United Kingdom, or (v) any other Governmental Authority of a jurisdiction where any Purchased Entity operates or where the Business is conducted; (b) any Person located, organized, or resident in a Sanctioned Jurisdiction; or (c) any person directly or indirectly owned fifty percent or more or controlled, individually or in the aggregate, by one or more Persons described in the foregoing clauses (a) and/or (b).
“Section 721” means Section 721 of the Defense Production Act of 1950, as amended, and implemented by 31 C.F.R. Part 800, and other implementing regulations thereof.
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
“Seller Annual Bonus Plans” means those Seller Benefit Plans identified as Seller Annual Bonus Plans on Schedule 6.6(p) of the Disclosure Letter.
“Seller Benefit Plans” means each “employee benefit plan” (within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA and whether or not located or operated in the US), and each other compensation, severance, separation, termination, redundancy pay, change in control, health or medical, dental, vision, sick leave, prescription, life insurance, fringe benefits plan, deferred compensation, retention or employment plan, policy, program, arrangement or agreement, each vacation, paid time off, insurance coverage, disability coverage, disability benefits, death benefits, dependent care, employee assistance program, workers’ benefits, pension, profit sharing, savings, retirement, post-employment or retirement benefits, welfare and perquisites, employee loans, incentive, bonus plan, commission plan, and each other compensation or benefit plan, agreement, arrangement or commitment, program or policy (whether or not in writing), that provides benefits to a service provider of Seller or its Subsidiaries, and each stock option, stock purchase, phantom stock and restricted stock or other equity or equity-related plan, program or policy, in each case, (a) under which any Business Employee or individual service provider of the Business (or, in each case, any spouse,
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dependent or beneficiary thereof) has any present or future right to benefits or (b) which is contributed to, sponsored, administered or maintained (in whole or in part) by Seller or its Affiliates, in any case, for the benefit of any Business Employee, provided, however, that “Seller Benefit Plans” do not include (i) any employee benefit plan, program, or arrangement that is mandated by statute or sponsored, maintained or administered by any Governmental Authority or (ii) an International Employee Plan.
“Seller Indemnified Parties” means Seller, its Affiliates, and their respective Representatives.
“Seller Party” means Seller, any Other Seller or (prior to the Closing) any Purchased Entity.
“Seller Related Party” shall mean Seller, its Affiliates and its and their respective stockholders, partners, members, officers, directors, employees, controlling persons, agents and representatives.
“Shared Contracts” means Contracts of Seller or any of its Subsidiaries with one or more third parties that relate to, or under which the rights of Seller or its Subsidiaries are exercised for the benefit of, both (a) any Purchased Assets, the Purchased Entities, or the Business and (b) any Excluded Assets or any businesses of Seller and its Subsidiaries other than the Business; provided, that Shared Contracts shall exclude any Contracts in respect of Shared Services to be provided to Buyer under the Transition Services Agreement.
“Shared Services” means the following corporate or shared services provided to, or in support of, the Business that are general corporate or other overhead services and/or that are provided to or used by both the Business and other businesses of Seller and its Subsidiaries: access to and use of computer hardware and software related to any business function, use of Intellectual Property Rights that are not otherwise transferred or licensed to Buyer pursuant to the IP Assignment Agreement, travel and entertainment services, temporary labor services, office supplies (including copiers, scanners and fax machines), telecommunications equipment and services, logistics services, fleet services, energy/utilities services, procurement and supply arrangements, treasury services, accounting and finance services, public relations, legal and risk management services, workers’ compensation arrangements, internal audit services, human resources and employee relations management services, employee benefits services, credit, collections and account payable services, property management services, environmental support services, customs and excise services, billing services, order entry services, fulfillment services and other ancillary or corporate shared services, in each case, including services relating to the provision of access to information, operating and reporting systems and databases and all hardware and software or other technology used in connection therewith.
“Software” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Intellectual Property Rights” in this Section 1.1.
“Solvent” means, with respect to any Person, that (a) the fair saleable value (determined on a going concern basis) of the consolidated assets of such Person and its Subsidiaries is, on the date of determination, greater than the total amount of consolidated liabilities of such Person and its Subsidiaries as of such date, (b) such Person and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, are able to pay all liabilities of such Person and its Subsidiaries as such liabilities mature and (c) such Person and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, shall have adequate capital for conducting the business theretofore or proposed to be conducted by such Person and its Subsidiaries. For purposes of this definition, in computing the amount of contingent or unliquidated liabilities at any time, such liabilities will be computed at
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the amount which, in light of all the facts and circumstances existing at such time, represents the amount that can reasonably be expected to become an actual and matured liability.
“Straddle Period” means any taxable period that begins on or before the Closing Date and ends after the Closing Date.
“Subsidiary” or “Subsidiaries” of Buyer, Seller or any other Person means any corporation, partnership or other Person of which Buyer, Seller or such other Person, as applicable (either alone or through or together with any other Subsidiary), (a) owns, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the stock or other equity interests the holder of which is generally entitled to vote for the election of the board of directors or other governing body of such corporation, partnership or other Person, or (b) is the general partner or managing member (and all Subsidiaries of such Person).
“Tax” or “Taxes” means any and all federal, state, county, local or foreign tax (including any Transfer Tax), charge, fee, levy, impost, duty or other assessment, including income, gross receipts, recording, payroll, highway use, capital stock, paid-up capital, capital gains, single business, disability, registration, ad valorem, VAT, excise, real property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, withholding, employment, unemployment, insurance, social security or similar social insurance obligations or contributions, business license, business organization, environmental, workers compensation, profits, license, lease, service, service use, severance, documentary, stamp, occupation, windfall profits, customs duties or tariffs (including punitive tariffs such as anti-dumping or countervailing duties, Section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974 or Section 232 of the Trade Expansion Act of 1962), franchise, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated or other tax or governmental fee in the nature of a tax imposed or required to be withheld by any Taxing Authority including any estimated payments related thereto, any interest, penalties (civil or criminal), assessments or additions to tax resulting from, attributable to or incurred in connection with any tax or any contest or dispute thereof, and including any Liability for the Taxes of another Person as transferee or successor, by Contract or otherwise.
“Tax Return” means any return, declaration, report, election, claim for refund, disclosure, form, estimated return and information statement or other document filed or required to be filed with respect to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.
“Taxes Payable” means, as of the Closing Date, and without duplication, an aggregate amount (which aggregate amount computed with respect to all jurisdictions shall not be less than zero in the aggregate, but can, for clarity’s sake, be less than zero with respect to any given jurisdiction) equal to the aggregate unpaid income and withholding Taxes of the Purchased Entities attributable to any Pre-Closing Tax Period that ends on the Closing Date or any other Pre-Closing Tax Period (or portion thereof) that includes the Closing Date, in each case, only with respect to jurisdictions in which the applicable Purchased Entity filed a Tax Return for income Taxes for the 2020 Tax year and any jurisdiction in which the Purchased Entity, as applicable, first becomes required to file a Tax Return for income or withholding Taxes as a result of actions or transactions taken or entered into after December 31, 2020 and prior to the Closing; provided that the calculation of Taxes Payable shall (a) be prepared in accordance with the past practices (including reporting positions, elections, jurisdictions, and accounting and valuation methods) of the Purchased Entities, (b) exclude (i) any deferred Tax liabilities, (ii) any liabilities in respect of any speculative or contingent liabilities for Taxes or with respect to uncertain Tax positions, (iii) any Tax liabilities to the extent resulting from actions taken by the Purchased Entities, the Buyer, any Other Buyer, or any of their respective Affiliates on the Closing Date after the Closing (or which are effective on the Closing Date after the Closing) not contemplated by this Agreement and outside the ordinary course of business, (iv) any Tax liabilities to the extent resulting from any financing or refinancing arrangements entered into at
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any time by or at the direction of Buyer, any Other Buyer or any of their Affiliates in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, (v) any income or withholding Tax liabilities otherwise reflected on a full dollar basis in the Final Consideration, and (vi) any election made after the Closing that increases the amount of income realized in (or Tax payable for) a Pre-Closing Tax Period (other than any election that is otherwise permitted under clause (a)), (c) take into account estimated (or other prepaid) Tax payments and any overpayments of Taxes, net operating losses, Tax credits, Tax amortization, and other, similar Tax assets, deductions (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the deductions arising in connection with the transactions contemplated under this Agreement), or offsets with respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period (collectively, “Tax Attributes”), in each case to the extent such Tax Attributes have the effect of offsetting Taxes, generating a refund of Taxes, or reducing taxable income of the Purchased Entities for any Pre-Closing Tax Period and further only to the extent such Tax Attributes originated in a Pre-Closing Tax Period, (d) take in account all Transaction Tax Deductions to the extent permitted by Law in Pre-Closing Tax Periods, (e) be determined without regard to any income attributable to deferred revenue (or other deferred amounts) from a Pre-Closing Tax Period except to the extent recognized for applicable Tax purposes in a Pre-Closing Tax Period, and (f) in the case of any Straddle Period, be determined in accordance with Section 6.8(a)(iii).
“Taxing Authority” means the IRS and any other Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the assessment, determination, collection, or other imposition of any Taxes.
“Top Customer” means each of the top 20 largest customers of the Business (by revenue) during the 12 month period ended December 31, 2021.
“Top Supplier” means each of the top 20 largest suppliers of the Business (by cost) during the 12 month period ended December 31, 2021.
“Trade Secrets” means trade secrets and all other rights in or to Confidential Information.
“Trademarks” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Intellectual Property Rights” in this Section 1.1.
“Transaction Documents” means this Agreement, the Transition Services Agreement, the Reverse Transition Services Agreement, the Bill of Sale, the Local Transfer Agreements, the IP Assignment Agreement, the Conveyance Documents, the assignment and assumption agreement for the Leased Real Property, the IP License Agreement, the Reverse IP License Agreement, and any other agreement, document, certificate or instrument contemplated hereby to be executed and delivered by any of the Parties or their Affiliates in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, and the Exhibits, Appendices and Schedules hereto and thereto.
“Transaction Tax Deductions” means, without duplication, any item of loss, deduction or credit to the extent deductible for U.S. federal income tax purposes, in each case resulting from or attributable to fees, costs and expenses of the Purchased Entities relating to or arising out of (a) the payment of any Indebtedness required by this Agreement, (b) any expenses of the Purchased Entities incurred in connection with the negotiation and execution of this Agreement, the Restructuring Activities, and the other Transaction Documents, and (c) any payment of compensation, or vesting of compensation or property that arises from or in connection with any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents (including the Ali Transaction) and is paid or economically borne by Seller at or in connection with the Closing, in each case, (i) including any employer side payroll, Medicare, social security, and other similar Taxes payable in connection therewith and (ii) to the extent any such amounts, expenses or payments were economically borne by the Purchased
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Entities or were taken into account, and reduced, the Purchase Price; provided that with respect to any success-based fees, seventy percent (70%) of such success fees shall be treated as deductible in accordance with Revenue Procedure 2011-29 to the extent permitted by applicable Law.
“Transfer Taxes” means all transfer, real property transfer, sales, use, grantee/grantor, stamp, ad valorem, conveyance, VAT, custom duty, documentary, registration and other similar Taxes (including charges for or in connection with the recording of any instrument or document and any interest, penalties, assessments or additions imposed thereon or with respect thereto). Transfer Taxes shall not include any Indirect Transfer Taxes.
“Treasury Regulations” means the federal income tax regulations promulgated under the Code, as such regulations may be amended from time to time.
“VAT” means value added Tax, goods and services Tax, or other similar Tax, including such Taxes imposed on the supply of goods and services under European Union Directive 2006/112/EC (or under any Laws authorized by that Directive) and any similar value added Tax pursuant to the Laws of any jurisdiction which is not a member of the European Union, and any interest or penalties in respect thereof, but excluding any direct or indirect capital gains Taxes, any Income Taxes, and any withholding Taxes.
Section 1.2    Other Defined Terms. The following terms have the meanings assigned to such terms in the location set forth below:
DEFINITION    LOCATION

accrued PTO    6.6(e)
Agreement    Preamble
Agreement Date    Preamble
Ali    Preamble
Ali Merger Agreement    Preamble
Ali Transaction    Preamble
Allocation Methodology    3.3
Allocation Statement    3.3
AMR Filing    2.5(a)
Assigned Contracts    Appendix A
Assumed Debt    Appendix C
Assumed Employee Liabilities    Appendix C
Assumed Liabilities    Appendix C
Audited Financial Statements    6.2(f)
Base Purchase Price    3.1
Bill of Sale    2.5(a)
Books and Records    6.5(a)
Business Employee List    54
Business Guarantees    6.14
Business Indemnitees    6.9(a)
Business Permits    4.10(b)
Business Records    Appendix A
Business Systems    4.7(a)
Buyer    Preamble
Buyer 401(k) Plan    6.6(o)
Buyer Benefit Plans    6.6(m)
Buyer Parent    Preamble
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Buyer-Signed Tax Returns    6.8(d)(ii)
Calculation Principles    3.2(b)
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ARTICLE 2
SALE OF ASSETS AND SHARES AND ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES
Section 2.1    Asset Purchase. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries that has any right, title or interest in or to any Purchased Asset (such Subsidiaries, the “Other Asset Sellers”) to, sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to Buyer (or any designated wholly-owned Subsidiary of Buyer designated by Buyer, including those listed on Schedule 2.1 of the Disclosure Letter (such Subsidiary, an “Other Buyer”)), and Buyer shall, or shall cause such Other Buyer to, acquire and accept from Seller or such Other Asset Seller, all of Seller’s and such Other Asset Sellers’ respective right, title and interest in and to all the Purchased Assets as they exist at the Closing free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens.
Section 2.2    Share Purchase. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries that has any right, title or interest in or to any of the Purchased Shares (such Subsidiaries, the “Other Share Sellers” and, together with the Other Asset Sellers, and as listed on Schedule 2.2 of the Disclosure Letter, the “Other Sellers”) to, sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to Buyer (or an Other Buyer), and Buyer shall acquire and accept, or shall cause such Other Buyer to acquire and accept, from Seller or such Other Share Sellers, all of Seller’s and such Other Share Sellers’ respective right, title and interest in and to all of the Purchased Shares free and clear of all Liens other than transfer restrictions imposed by securities Laws generally.
Section 2.3    Excluded Assets. All Excluded Assets shall be retained by Seller and its Affiliates and are not being acquired by Buyer.
Section 2.4    Assumed Liabilities; Excluded Liabilities.
(a)    Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing, Buyer shall accept, assume and agree to pay, perform, fulfill and discharge when due any and all Assumed Liabilities. From and after the Closing, Buyer shall indemnify Seller in respect of, and hold Seller harmless against, any and all Losses incurred or suffered by Seller or any of its Affiliates to the extent arising out of or resulting from the Assumed Liabilities.
(b)    The Parties agree that, except for the Assumed Liabilities, Buyer shall not accept, assume, pay, perform, fulfill or discharge or otherwise have any Liability for, any Liabilities of Seller or any Affiliate of Seller (whether now existing or hereafter arising), and Seller and its Affiliates shall retain, and shall be solely responsible and liable for paying, performing, fulfilling and discharging when due, all Excluded Liabilities. From and after the Closing, except as provided in 0, Seller shall indemnify Buyer in respect of, and hold Buyer harmless against, any and all Losses incurred or suffered by Buyer or any of its Affiliates to the extent arising out of or resulting from the Excluded Liabilities, the Excluded Assets or Seller’s businesses (other than the Business).
Section 2.5    Transfer.
(a)    The right, title and interest in and to the Purchased Assets and the Purchased Shares shall be sold, assigned, transferred, conveyed and delivered, and the Assumed Liabilities shall be assumed, pursuant to transfer and assumption agreements and such other instruments in such form as may be necessary or appropriate to effect a conveyance of the Purchased Shares and the Purchased Assets and an assumption of the Assumed
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Liabilities in accordance with the terms set forth herein in the jurisdictions in which such transfers are to be made. Such transfer and assumption agreements shall be in a form mutually agreed by the Parties as between Seller and/or one or more of its Other Sellers and Buyer and/or one or more of its Other Buyers, as required in each jurisdiction, and shall include: (i) with respect to the Purchased Assets and Assumed Liabilities, a bill of sale and assignment and assumption agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Bill of Sale”); (ii) with respect to the Purchased Shares, to the extent that such Purchased Shares are in certificated form, certificates evidencing the Purchased Shares duly endorsed in blank or with stock powers duly executed in proper form for transfer, and, to the extent that such Purchased Shares are not in certificated form, stock powers or other instruments of transfer duly executed in blank, and either case with any required stock transfer stamps affixed thereto; (iii) with respect to the Purchased Shares of the Chinese Subsidiary, an updated business license and any other necessary documents evidencing that the filing with the Administration of Market Regulation has been completed regarding the transfer of the Purchased Shares (the “AMR Filing”) of the Chinese Subsidiary and the appointment of new directors and officers to the Chinese Subsidiary, with such new directors and officers to be designated by Buyer; (iv) with respect to the Owned Real Property, duly executed (and, to the extent required, notarized) and delivered Conveyance Documents, conveying the Owned Real Property to Buyer subject only to the Permitted Liens; (v) with respect to the Leased Real Property, a duly executed and delivered assignment and assumption of each Real Property Lease in a form reasonably acceptable to Buyer and Seller, as required to assign all of the tenant’s rights under each Real Property Lease to Buyer; (vi) with respect to Intellectual Property Rights, an intellectual property assignment agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (the “IP Assignment Agreement”) and (vii) to the extent required by Law or otherwise agreed by the Parties and in compliance with Section 2.5(b), a local transfer agreement for each jurisdiction other than the United States in which Purchased Assets or Assumed Liabilities are located or the Purchased Entities are organized (each such agreement, a “Local Transfer Agreement”).
(b)    Each Local Transfer Agreement shall be that which is customary in the relevant jurisdiction for a transfer of the type of assets or shares, as applicable, being transferred pursuant to such Local Transfer Agreement and otherwise mutually acceptable to Buyer and Seller (and the relevant Other Sellers and Other Buyers, as required under applicable local Law) in all respects; provided that in each case that (i) to the extent permissible under local Law, the Local Transfer Agreements shall serve purely to effect the legal transfer of the applicable Purchased Assets or Purchased Shares and shall not have any effect on the value being received by Seller or given by Buyer in the Purchase Transaction, or the terms and conditions of the transactions contemplated hereby, all of which shall be determined by this Agreement, except where required by local Law (and any consideration paid by Buyer or any of its Affiliates to Seller or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to any Local Transfer Agreement shall be deemed for all purposes to comprise part of, and not be in addition to, the amounts payable hereunder), (ii) no such Local Transfer Agreement shall in any way modify, amend, or constitute a waiver of, any provision of this Agreement (except to the extent required by Law of the applicable jurisdiction) and (iii) no such Local Transfer Agreement shall include any additional representations or warranties, covenants or agreements except to the extent required by Law of the applicable jurisdiction. In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and a Local Transfer Agreement, this Agreement will control to the extent permissible under Law of an applicable jurisdiction. Such Purchase Transaction pursuant to this Agreement or any other Local Transfer Agreement will be effective as of Closing or at such other times as specifically provided in each respective Local Transfer Agreement and will be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the applicable Local Transfer Agreement.
(c)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 2.5, all transfers and assumptions contemplated by this Agreement (including pursuant to this Section 2.5) with
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respect to Buyer or an Other Buyer shall be transfers to, or assumptions by, Buyer (and not an Other Buyer) unless (i) Buyer has designated an Other Buyer with respect to such transfer or assumption, including the Other Buyers listed on Schedule 2.1 of the Disclosure Letter, and (ii) the transfer to, or assignment by, any Other Buyer that is not listed on Schedule 2.1 of the Disclosure Letter would not result in any additional costs, expenses or Taxes of Seller or its Subsidiaries (as compared to a transfer to, or assumption by, Buyer); provided, however, that this clause (ii) shall not apply if the transfers or assumptions relate to an Other Seller designated or added by Seller after the date of this Agreement.
Section 2.6    Approvals and Consents.
(a)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, there shall be excluded from the transactions contemplated by this Agreement any Assigned Contract that is not assignable or transferable (i) without the consent of any Person other than Seller, the Purchased Entities or any Subsidiary of Seller or Buyer, to the extent that such consent shall not have been given prior to the Closing or (ii) without violating any applicable Law; provided, however, that Seller and Buyer shall have the continuing obligation until 12 months after the Closing to use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all necessary consents to the assignment or transfer thereof as promptly as practicable, it being understood that (A) other than general internal costs, overhead and use of internal personnel and assets or infrastructure, or as required under the terms of an Assigned Contract (which shall be the responsibility of Seller), neither Seller, nor Buyer nor any of their respective Affiliates or Subsidiaries shall be required to expend money, incur any cost or Liability, commence any litigation or offer or grant any accommodation (financial or otherwise) to any third party to obtain such consents, and (B) in connection therewith, Seller shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates (including, if prior to the Closing, the Purchased Entities) not to, (I) commit to make any payments other than cash payments that are Excluded Liabilities or otherwise paid in full prior to the Closing or (II) make any non-monetary concession that would purport to bind Buyer, its Affiliates, or, following the Closing, the Business or any Purchased Entity. Upon obtaining the requisite third-party consents thereto, such Assigned Contracts shall promptly be transferred and assigned to Buyer hereunder at no additional cost.
(b)    With respect to any Assigned Contract that is not transferred and assigned to Buyer at the Closing by reason of Section 2.6(a), after the Closing, until any requisite consent is obtained therefor and the same is transferred and assigned to Buyer, Seller shall obtain for Buyer, at no cost to Seller or Buyer or any of its Affiliates, an arrangement with respect thereto to provide for Buyer substantially comparable benefits therein (and bear the substantially comparable obligations and burdens thereof) and to otherwise put Buyer and Seller (and their respective Affiliates) in the position they would have been in had such Assigned Contract been transferred and assumed directly at the Closing. In furtherance of the foregoing, Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, without further consideration therefor, pay and remit to Buyer all monies, rights and other consideration received in respect of such Assigned Contract as promptly as reasonably practicable after receipt thereof and Buyer shall pay, perform and discharge fully, promptly when due, all of the obligations of Seller and its Affiliates in respect of such performance as would have been assumed by Buyer hereunder if such Assigned Contract had been transferred at the Closing.
(c)    Buyer acknowledges that certain consents to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may be required from parties to certain Real Property Leases, Permits, Assigned Contracts and other Contracts and rights intended to be Purchased Assets and that such consents may not be obtained prior to the Closing. If, on the Closing Date, any such Consent is not obtained, or if an attempted transfer or assignment thereof would be ineffective or a violation of Law or would adversely affect the rights of Buyer (as assignees of Seller or the applicable Other Asset Seller) thereto or thereunder so that Buyer would not in
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fact receive all such rights (such assets and rights not transferred at the Closing, “Third Party Rights”), Seller and the Other Asset Sellers and the Buyer will cooperate in a mutually agreeable arrangement under which Buyer would, in compliance with Law, obtain the economic benefits and assume the obligations and bear the economic burdens associated with such Third Party Rights in accordance with this Agreement until such time as such Third Party Rights are assigned or transferred to the Buyer in full. Buyer agrees that, except as provided in this Agreement (including Section 6.3), neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates shall have any liability whatsoever arising out of or relating to the failure to obtain any consents that may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or because of the default under, or acceleration or termination of, any Third Party Rights, solely as a result thereof.
(d)    To the extent requested by Buyer, Seller will use commercially reasonable efforts to have the Material Shared Contracts separated into separate Contracts between the applicable third party and each of (i) the business retained by Seller and its Affiliates and (ii) the Business (including the Purchased Entities). The Parties agree to cooperate and use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to provide reasonable assistance prior to the Closing and, to the extent not achieved prior to the Closing, then for 12 months thereafter, in effecting the separation of such Material Shared Contracts (with such separated Material Shared Contract imposing no material additional or differing obligations (except arising from different volume-based arrangements or credit rating of Buyer) than, and otherwise on substantially the same terms as, the applicable Material Shared Contract (except that the replicated Material Shared Contract will only pertain to the Business) or other terms mutually agreeable to the Parties in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein) and, once so separated, such separated Contract relating to the Business shall be deemed an Assigned Contract hereunder and transferred to and assumed by Buyer directly (but no sooner than the Closing); provided, however, it being understood that (A) other than general internal costs, overhead and use of internal personnel and assets or infrastructure, neither Seller, nor Buyer nor any of their respective Affiliates or Subsidiaries shall be required to expend money, incur any Liability, commence any litigation or offer or grant any accommodation (financial or otherwise) to any third party to separate such Shared Contracts and (B) in connection therewith, Seller shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates (including, if prior to the Closing, the Purchased Entities) not to, (I) commit to make any payments other than cash payments that are Excluded Liabilities or otherwise paid in full prior to the Closing or (II) make any non-monetary concession that would purport to bind Buyer, its Affiliates, the Business or any Purchased Entity following the Closing. Further, with respect to any Shared Contract that is not a Material Shared Contract, Seller will use commercially reasonable efforts to provide Buyer with a list of such Shared Contracts involving payments made or received of at least $250,000 prior to Closing and to the extent requested by Buyer, after the Closing and for 12 months thereafter, until any separate Contract (if any) is obtained therefor, the Parties shall cooperate with each other and use their commercially reasonable efforts to obtain for Buyer, at no cost to Seller or Buyer or any of their respective Affiliates, an arrangement with respect thereto to provide for Buyer substantially comparable benefits therein (and bear the obligations and burdens thereof) and to otherwise put Buyer and Seller (and their respective Affiliates) in the position they would have been in had the rights and obligations relating to the Business under such Shared Contract been transferred and assumed directly at the Closing. In furtherance of the foregoing, if Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than the Purchased Entities), on the one hand, or Buyer or any of its Affiliates (including the Purchased Entities), on the other hand, receives any benefit or payment that under any Shared Contract was intended for the other, Seller and Buyer shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, deliver such benefit or payment to the other party, including any additional Taxes incurred by Seller in connection therewith and such indemnity.
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Section 2.7    Restructuring Activities. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, on or prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to perform restructuring activities to effect the separation of the Business from Seller’s other businesses on or prior to the Closing, which activities are described on Schedule 2.7 of the Disclosure Letter (as amended from time to time in accordance with this Section 2.7, the “Restructuring Activities”). From time to time after the Agreement Date and prior to the Closing, Seller shall be permitted to amend such Schedule 2.7 of the Disclosure Letter so long as such amendment is necessary to (a) comply with applicable Laws, and/or (b) secure the Consent of a Governmental Authority necessary to consummate any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and/or (c) add transfers of Business Cash, Excluded Assets or Excluded Liabilities from the Purchased Entities to Seller or an Affiliate of Seller (other than a Purchased Entity) by dividend, distribution, sale, payment of intercompany advances or Indebtedness, or other transfer; provided, however, that any such amendment shall require the prior written consent of Buyer, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Schedule 2.7 of the Disclosure Letter may designate one or more of the Restructuring Activities to be completed after the Closing (the “Post-Closing Restructuring Activities” ), and Buyer and Seller will use commercially reasonable efforts to implement the Post-Closing Restructuring Activities after the Closing Date at the sole cost and expense of Seller, with the exception of Transfer Taxes which shall be allocated pursuant to Section 6.8(b).
ARTICLE 3
PURCHASE PRICE
Section 3.1    Purchase Price. The total consideration for the Purchased Shares and the Purchased Assets shall consist of (a) an amount equal to $1,600,000,000 (the “Base Purchase Price,” and, as adjusted pursuant to this Agreement (including Section 3.4), the “Purchase Price”), payable as described in this Agreement, and (b) the assumption by Buyer or Other Buyers of the Assumed Liabilities.
Section 3.2    Payment of Purchase Price.
(a)    At the Closing, Buyer shall pay, or cause to be paid (including through an Other Buyer), an amount equal to the sum of (i) the Base Purchase Price, plus (ii) the Estimated Business Cash, minus (iii) the Estimated Business Indebtedness, plus (iv) the Estimated Working Capital Adjustment Amount, minus (v) an amount equal to the aggregate amount payable pursuant to the Retention Bonuses (such amount, the “Estimated Consideration”) to Seller (for its own account and as agent for any Other Seller unless otherwise provided in any Local Transfer Agreement). Such Estimated Consideration shall be payable in United States dollars in immediately available federal funds and delivered by Buyer to such bank account or accounts as shall be designated in writing by Seller no later than the fifth Business Day prior to the Closing (or such later time as may be agreed by Seller and Buyer). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any portion of the Estimated Consideration is required under applicable Law to be paid in a currency other than United States dollars and/or to a specific Other Seller, the applicable United States dollar amount (as allocated pursuant to Section 3.3 or otherwise mutually agreed by the Parties) shall be converted into the applicable other currency at the Designated Exchange Rate and paid at Closing by, or on behalf of, Buyer or the applicable Other Buyer to Seller or the appropriate Other Seller by wire transfer to one or more bank accounts designated in writing by Seller no later than the third Business Day prior to the Closing Date (or such later time as may be agreed by Seller and Buyer) in lieu of the payment of such amount in United States dollars pursuant to this Section 3.2(a). As used herein, “Estimated Working Capital Adjustment Amount” means, (A) if the amount of the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital is greater than the Closing Net Working Capital
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Target, the dollar amount of such difference (expressed as a positive number) and (B) if the amount of the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital is less than the Closing Net Working Capital Target, the dollar amount of such difference (expressed as a negative number).
(b)    No later than five Business Days prior to the anticipated Closing Date, Seller shall prepare and deliver to Buyer a written statement (the “Estimated Closing Statement”) which will set forth Seller’s good faith estimate of (i) the estimated amount of Business Cash (the “Estimated Business Cash”), (ii) the estimated amount of Business Indebtedness outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time (the “Estimated Business Indebtedness”), and (iii) the estimated amount of Closing Net Working Capital (the “Estimated Closing Net Working Capital”), including the calculation thereof, in each case, calculated in accordance with the Sample Statement, this Agreement and the Calculation Principles. No amount shall be included, in whole or in part (either as an increase or reduction), more than once in the calculation of the Estimated Consideration. For purposes of this Agreement, “Calculation Principles” means (I) the accounting principles, policies, procedures, categorizations, definitions, methods and practices set forth on Appendix F, (II) to the extent (but only to the extent) not inconsistent with clause (I) of this sentence, the same accounting principles, policies, procedures, categorizations, definitions, methods and practices as applied in the preparation of the balance sheet as at December 31, 2021 forming part of the Unaudited Financial Information, and (III) to the extent (but only to the extent) not inconsistent with both clauses (I) and (II) of this sentence, GAAP. An illustrative example of the Estimated Closing Statement and calculation of Business Cash, Business Indebtedness, Closing Net Working Capital and the Retention Bonuses is set forth on Schedule 3.2(b) of the Disclosure Letter, setting forth the specific line items which will be included in such calculations (the “Sample Statement”). Without limiting any of the Parties’ rights or remedies set forth in Section 3.4 or otherwise, Seller shall consider in good faith any revisions proposed by Buyer to the calculations set forth in the Estimated Closing Statement, and to the extent Seller agrees to any such revisions, the Estimated Closing Statement shall be modified to reflect such revisions; provided that Buyer shall not have any right to delay Closing or the payment of the Estimated Consideration as a result of any disagreement with such estimates.
Section 3.3    Allocation of Purchase Price. To the extent permitted by applicable Law, Seller, on behalf of itself and the Other Share Sellers and the Other Asset Sellers, and Buyer, on behalf of itself and any Other Buyer, have agreed to allocate the Final Consideration, the amount of Assumed Liabilities and other relevant amounts among the Purchased Shares (and to the extent required or permitted by applicable Tax Law, the underlying assets held by Purchased Entities) and the Purchased Assets (collectively, the “Section 3.3 Assets”), in a manner consistent with Sections 1060 and 338 of the Code (as applicable) (and any other applicable Tax Law) and the methodology set forth in Schedule 3.3 of the Disclosure Letter (the “Allocation Methodology”). Seller and Buyer shall agree on a preliminary allocation of the Estimated Consideration, the Assumed Liabilities and other relevant amounts (the “Preliminary Allocation Statement”) prior to the Closing Date among the Section 3.3 Assets, in a manner consistent with Sections 1060 and 338 of the Code (and any other applicable Tax Law), the Allocation Methodology and this Section 3.3 and based on the information available as of such time. Within 90 Business Days after the Closing Statement becomes final pursuant to Section 3.4, Buyer shall deliver to Seller the statement (the “Allocation Statement”), allocating the Final Consideration (plus Assumed Liabilities and other relevant amounts, to the extent properly taken into account under Sections 1060 and 338 of the Code (as applicable) (and any other applicable Tax Law)) among the Section 3.3 Assets in accordance with Sections 1060 and 338 of the Code (as applicable) (and any other applicable Tax Law). Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the parties agree that the Allocation Statement will be consistent with the methodologies, policies and principles of the Allocation Methodology and the Preliminary Allocation Statement; provided that the Allocation Statement shall reflect any adjustments since the date of the information contained therein. Seller shall notify Buyer in writing within 30 days
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of receipt of the Allocation Statement of any objections Seller may have to any items set forth in the Allocation Statement, and Buyer and Seller agree to consult and attempt to resolve in good faith any such objection. If Buyer and Seller cannot resolve any such objections, the item in question shall be resolved by the Independent Accountant pursuant to the procedures set out in Section 3.4(e) mutatis mutandis. For all Tax purposes, Seller and Buyer agree to report the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in a manner consistent with the Allocation Statement. Seller and Buyer shall each be responsible for the preparation of their own Section 1060 and 338 statements and forms (and analogous statements and forms under state, local, and non-U.S. Law, as applicable) in accordance with applicable Tax Laws and in a manner consistent with the Allocation Statement, and each shall execute and deliver to each other such statements and forms as are reasonably requested by the other Party. In the event that the Allocation Statement is disputed by any Taxing Authority, (a) the Party receiving notice of the dispute shall promptly notify the other Party of such notice and (b) both Seller and Buyer shall use reasonable efforts to defend the Allocation Statement in any Proceedings or settle such dispute in a manner mutually acceptable to Seller and Buyer. Seller and Buyer shall each instruct their employees and Representatives to cooperate with, and promptly respond to all reasonable requests and inquiries of, the other, and to provide, upon execution of a customary access letter if required by Seller’s or Buyer’s (as applicable) outside accountants, Buyer and its Representatives or Seller and its Representatives (as applicable) with reasonable access during normal business hours, and in a manner so as not to unreasonably interfere with the conduct of the other Party’s business, upon reasonable notice, to all relevant work papers, schedules, memoranda and other documents prepared by the other to the extent such materials have been prepared and relate to the Allocation Statement in any respect or questions concerning or disagreements with the Allocation Statement.
Section 3.4    Post-Closing Net Working Capital Adjustment; Other Adjustment.
(a)    As promptly as practicable and in any event within 60 Business Days following the Closing Date, Seller shall prepare and deliver to Buyer a written statement (the “Closing Statement”), which shall set forth: (i) the amount of Business Cash (the “Closing Business Cash”); (ii) the amount of Business Indebtedness outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time (the “Closing Business Indebtedness”); (iii) the amount of Closing Net Working Capital and (iv) the Retention Bonuses, including the calculation thereof. The items set forth on the Closing Statement shall be prepared in accordance with the Calculation Principles and this Agreement. No amount shall be included, in whole or in part (either as an increase or reduction), more than once in the calculation of the Closing Statement or any other calculated amount pursuant to this Agreement. The Parties agree that the purpose of preparing the Closing Statement and calculating the Final Working Capital Adjustment Amount is solely to (x) accurately measure the Closing Business Cash, Closing Business Indebtedness, Closing Net Working Capital and Retention Bonuses and (y) measure the differences in Closing Business Cash from Estimated Business Cash, Closing Business Indebtedness from Estimated Business Indebtedness, and Closing Net Working Capital from the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital, and, without limiting the terms of this Agreement or the application of the Calculation Principles as set forth herein, such processes are not intended to permit the introduction of different judgments, accounting methods, policies, principles, practices, procedures, reserves, classifications or estimation methodologies for the purpose of calculating the Purchase Price.
(b)    From the Closing Date through the Determination Date, each Party shall give, and shall cause their respective Affiliates and Representatives to give, the other Party and its Affiliates and Representatives, all such reasonable access (including electronic access, to the extent available) during normal business hours (or such other times as the Parties may agree) as the Parties may reasonably require to the books and records of the Business and to the appropriate Continuing Employees and other personnel or Representatives of the Parties for
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any purpose relating to the Closing Statement and the adjustments contemplated by this Section 3.4.
(c)    Within 45 Business Days after Buyer’s receipt of the Closing Statement, Buyer shall notify Seller whether it accepts or disputes the accuracy of the Closing Statement. In the event that Buyer disputes the accuracy of the Closing Statement, Buyer shall deliver a written notice to Seller specifying in reasonable detail those items and amounts as to which Buyer disagrees and setting forth Buyer’s calculation of such disputed amounts (a “Dispute Notice”) and Buyer shall be deemed to have agreed with all other items and amounts contained in the Closing Statement. In the event that Buyer notifies Seller that it accepts the Closing Statement, or does not deliver a Dispute Notice to Seller during such 45 Business Day period, Buyer shall be considered to have accepted the accuracy of the Closing Statement delivered by Seller and such Closing Statement shall be final, conclusive and binding upon the Parties, absent fraud.
(d)    If a Dispute Notice shall be timely delivered by Buyer pursuant to Section 3.4(c), Seller and Buyer shall, during the 20 Business Days following such, seek in good faith to reach agreement on the disputed items and amounts. If Buyer and Seller resolve their differences over any disputed items in the Dispute Notice in accordance with the foregoing procedure, the Closing Statement shall be deemed revised to reflect such resolution and, if all disputed items in the Dispute Notice are so resolved, then the amount of the Closing Business Indebtedness, the Closing Business Cash and the Closing Net Working Capital agreed upon by Seller and Buyer as reflected in such revised Closing Statement shall be final, conclusive and binding on the Parties, absent fraud.
(e)    If the Parties fail to resolve their differences over the items and amounts in the Dispute Notice within such 20 Business Day period (as such time period may be extended by the mutual agreement of the Parties), then Seller and Buyer shall promptly jointly request that RSM US LLP, or if such firm is unable or unwilling to act, such nationally recognized independent public accounting firm as shall be mutually agreed by the Parties (the “Independent Accountant”), make a binding determination only as to the unresolved items and amounts in the Dispute Notice in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. The Independent Accountant will under the terms of its engagement (i) act as an expert and not an arbitrator and (ii) have no more than 20 Business Days from the date of referral within which to render its written decision with respect to such disputed items and amounts. The Independent Accountant shall consider only those items or amounts in the Dispute Notice as to which Buyer and Seller are in disagreement. The Independent Accountant shall deliver to Buyer and Seller a written report setting forth its adjustments, if any, to the Closing Statement based on the Independent Accountant’s determination with respect to the unresolved items and amounts in accordance with this Agreement and the Calculation Principles and such report shall include the calculations supporting such adjustments; provided that the Independent Accountant may not assign a value to any item greater than the greatest value for such item claimed by either Party or less than the smallest value for such item claimed by one of the Parties. Such report shall be final, conclusive and binding on the Parties, absent fraud or manifest error. The fees and expenses of the Independent Accountant shall be allocated to be paid by Seller and Buyer in inverse proportion (based on the disputed amounts proposed by each to the Independent Accountant) as they may each prevail on matters resolved by the Independent Accountant, which proportionate allocations shall also be determined by the Independent Accountant at the time the determination of the Independent Accountant is rendered on the merits of the matters submitted. Promptly after any matter is referred to the Independent Accountant under this Section 3.4(e), Buyer and Seller shall deliver to the Independent Accountant copies of any schedules or documentation that may reasonably be required or requested by the Independent Accountant to make its determination. Each of Seller and Buyer shall be entitled to submit to the Independent Accountant a memorandum setting
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forth its position with respect to the disputed items. No Party shall be permitted to communicate with the Independent Accountant other than as expressly set forth herein, and no ex parte communications with the Independent Accountant shall be permitted in any event. Judgment may be entered upon the written determination of the Independent Accountant in accordance with Section 11.9.
(f)    The date on which the Closing Statement is finally determined in accordance with this Section 3.4 shall be referred to as the “Determination Date” and the Closing Statement as so finally determined shall be referred to as the “Final Closing Statement” and each of the Closing Business Cash, the Closing Business Indebtedness the Closing Net Working Capital and the Retention Bonuses, as so finally determined in the Final Closing Statement shall be referred to as the “Final Business Cash,” the “Final Business Indebtedness,” and the “Final Closing Net Working Capital” and the Retention Bonuses, respectively. As used herein, (i) the “Final Working Capital Adjustment Amount” means, (A) if the amount of the Final Closing Net Working Capital is greater than the Closing Net Working Capital Target, the dollar amount of such difference (expressed as a positive number), and (B) if the amount of the Final Closing Net Working Capital is less than the Closing Net Working Capital Target, the dollar amount of such difference (expressed as a negative number), and (ii) the “Final Consideration” means an amount equal to the sum of (1) the Base Purchase Price, plus (2) the Final Business Cash, minus (3) the Final Business Indebtedness, plus (4) the Final Working Capital Adjustment Amount, minus (5) an amount equal to the aggregate amount payable pursuant to the Retention Bonuses.
(g)    Within five Business Days following the Determination Date, (i) if the Estimated Consideration exceeds the Final Consideration (the amount of such excess, the “Negative Adjustment Amount”), Seller shall pay, or cause to be paid, to Buyer the Negative Adjustment Amount or (ii) if the Final Consideration exceeds the Estimated Consideration (the amount of such excess, the “Positive Adjustment Amount”), Buyer shall pay, or cause to be paid, to Seller the Positive Adjustment Amount. Any payment under this Section 3.4(g) shall be payable in United States dollars in immediately available federal funds and delivered to such bank account or accounts as shall be designated in writing by the receiving party; provided that if any portion of the Negative Adjustment Amount or Positive Adjustment Amount (or interest thereon) is required under applicable Law to be paid in a currency other than United States dollars and/or to a specific Other Seller or Other Buyer, such applicable United States dollar amount shall be converted into the applicable other currency at the Designated Exchange Rate and paid by, or on behalf of, Buyer or Seller (as applicable) to the other (or the appropriate Other Buyer or Other Seller, as applicable) by wire transfer to one or more bank accounts designated in writing by Buyer or Seller (as applicable) no later than the second Business Day prior to the date of payment (or such later time as may be agreed by Seller and Buyer) in lieu of the payment of such amount in United States dollars pursuant to this Section 3.4(g).
(h)    Except to the extent specifically contemplated by Section 2.4 or Section 6.8, the process set forth in Section 3.4(e) shall be the exclusive remedy of Seller and Buyer for any disputes related to any amounts set forth on the Closing Statement to the extent those amounts increase or reduce the Final Consideration.
(i)    Except to the extent otherwise required pursuant to a “determination” (within the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law), the Parties, Other Sellers, and Other Buyers, shall treat any and all payments under this Section 3.4 as an adjustment to the Purchase Price for Tax purposes.
Section 3.5    Withholding.
    33



(a)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, each Party (for purposes of this Section 3.5, including the Other Sellers and the Other Buyers) shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any amounts payable pursuant to this Agreement such amounts as are required to be deducted and withheld under applicable Law (such Party that deducts and withholds, the “Withholding Party”); provided, that, the Withholding Party will prior to any deduction or withholding (i) notify the person with respect to which the deduction or withholding is made (the “Withheld Party”) of any anticipated withholding, (ii) consult with the Withheld Party in good faith to determine whether such deduction and withholding is required under applicable Law, and (iii) cooperate with the Withheld Party to minimize the amount of any applicable withholding. The Withholding Party shall timely pay the full amount so deducted or withheld to the relevant Taxing Authority, in accordance with applicable Law. As soon as practicable after any such payment, the Withholding Party shall deliver to the other Party the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by the relevant Taxing Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to such other Party.
(b)    The Parties shall cooperate in good faith to identify jurisdictions that may trigger withholding Taxes under this Section 3.5 and shall consult with each other in good faith as to the nature of such withholding Taxes so identified, the basis upon which such withholding is required, and if any reasonable steps can be taken to claim an exemption from such withholding Taxes within 10 Business Days after such withholding Taxes are identified (or if such Taxes are due within 10 Business Days after they are identified, as promptly as reasonably practicable). Seller, on behalf of itself and the Other Sellers, shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, and Buyer, on behalf of itself and the Other Buyers, shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, cooperate in good faith taking reasonable measures available to it or them to minimize any withholding that may be applied to any payments described in this Section 3.5.
(c)    To the extent such amounts are so deducted or withheld under this Section 3.5, such amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents as having been paid by the Withholding Party to the Withheld Party to the extent so paid to the appropriate Taxing Authority.
ARTICLE 4
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER
Except as set forth specifically on the disclosure letter delivered by Seller on the Agreement Date and attached hereto (the “Disclosure Letter”) (with the disclosure interpreted in accordance with Section 11.16), Seller represents and warrants to Buyer as follows:
Section 4.1    Corporate Existence. Each of Seller and each Other Seller (a) is a legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of its jurisdiction of organization and (b) has the requisite corporate or similar power and authority to conduct the Business as it is now being conducted and to own, lease and operate the Business in the manner in which the Business is currently operated. Each of Seller and each Other Seller has the requisite corporate, partnership or similar power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each other Transaction Document to which it is a party and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and to carry on the Business. With respect to the Business, each of Seller and each Other Seller is duly qualified to do business as a foreign entity under the Laws of, and is in good standing in, each jurisdiction where such qualification is necessary, except to the extent such failure to be so qualified would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
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Section 4.2    Corporate Authority. This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which any Seller Party is (or becomes) a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby involving such Persons have been duly authorized by Seller and will be duly authorized by each applicable other Seller Party by all requisite corporate, limited liability company, partnership or other similar action prior to the Closing and no other actions on the part of Seller or its stockholders are (and no other actions on the part of any Seller Party or any of its equity holders will be) necessary for any Seller Party to authorize the execution or delivery of this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents or to perform any of their obligations hereunder or thereunder. Seller has, and each of the Seller Parties will have at or prior to the Closing, full corporate or other organizational (as applicable) power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder. Each Transaction Document has been or will be duly executed and delivered by all Seller Parties thereto at or prior to the Closing. Assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by Buyer or the relevant Other Buyer of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, as applicable, this Agreement constitutes, and the other Transaction Documents when so executed and delivered will constitute, a valid and legally binding obligation of Seller and any Seller Party, enforceable against it or them, as the case may be, in accordance with its terms, except as enforceability may be affected by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium and other similar Laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally, and general equitable principles. Seller has the power and authority to cause each Seller Party to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement and each other Transaction Document to which such Seller Party is or will be a party or is or will otherwise be subject.
Section 4.3    Governmental Approvals and Consents; Non-Contravention; Regulatory Compliance.
(a)    No Consent or Order from, notice to or registration, declaration or filing with, any United States, international, foreign, federal, state, provincial, municipal or local government, government agency, instrumentality, subdivision, court, arbitrator, arbitral body, administrative agency, commission, ministry, department, official or other authority or political subdivision thereof, or any quasi-governmental body exercising any regulatory, Taxing Authority, importing or other governmental or regulatory or quasi-governmental authority (“Governmental Authority”) is required on the part of any Seller Party in connection with the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, except for (i) required Consents under any applicable Antitrust Laws, (ii) as set forth on Schedule 7.1(b) of the Disclosure Letter and (iii) to the extent the failure to obtain any such Consent or Order or effect such notice to or registration, declaration or filing with such Governmental Authority would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
(b)    The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents by the Seller Parties, the performance by each of the Seller Parties of its respective obligations hereunder and thereunder and the consummation by the Seller Parties of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not (i) violate or conflict with or result in any breach under any provision of the respective Organizational Documents of any Seller Party, (ii) result in any violation or breach of, or constitute any default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or a loss of a benefit under, or require that any Consent be obtained with respect to, any Material Contracts, (iii) result in the creation of any Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on any Purchased Asset, Purchased Shares, or any property, asset or right of any Seller Party pursuant to, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, agreement, lease, license, permit, franchise, instrument, obligation or other Contract to which any Seller Party is a party or by which any Seller Party or any of its properties, assets or rights is bound or
    35



affected, or (iv) assuming compliance with the matters described in Section 4.3(a) and Section 6.3, violate, conflict with or result in any breach under any provision of any Law applicable to any Seller Party or the Purchased Shares or the Purchased Assets or any assets of the Purchased Entities or the Assumed Liabilities, except, in the case of clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) of this Section 4.3(b), where such violation, conflict, breach, default, right of termination or cancellation, acceleration, loss of benefit or failure to obtain Consent would not or would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
Section 4.4    Purchased Entities; Capitalization.
(a)    Each Purchased Entity is duly organized, validly existing and, if applicable, in the jurisdiction, in good standing under the Laws of its jurisdiction of organization. Each Purchased Entity has the requisite corporate, partnership or similar power and authority to carry on the business it now conducts. Each Purchased Entity is duly licensed or qualified to do business as a foreign entity under the Laws of each jurisdiction in which the transaction of its business makes such qualification necessary and is in good standing in each jurisdiction where such qualification is necessary, in each case, except to the extent the failure to be so licensed, qualified or in good standing would not have a Material Adverse Effect. The copies of the Organizational Documents of each Purchased Entity, in each case, as amended to date, have been made available to Buyer and Buyer’s counsel and are true, complete and correct, and no amendments thereto are pending and all minute books of the Purchased Entities prepared by the Purchased Entities or the Seller Parties are in the possession of each of the Purchased Entities. The Organizational Documents are in full force and effect. No Purchased Entity is in violation of any of the provisions of its Organizational Documents. There is no pending or, to the knowledge of Seller, threatened proceeding for the dissolution, liquidation or insolvency of any Purchased Entity.
(b)    Schedule 4.4(b) of the Disclosure Letter sets forth as of the date of this Agreement all of the authorized, issued and outstanding shares of capital stock (or other equity interests) of each Purchased Entity and the record and beneficial owners of such outstanding shares of capital stock (or other equity interests) of each Purchased Entity. All of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock (or other equity interests) of the Purchased Entities are, and as of the Closing will be, duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid and nonassessable and free of preemptive or similar rights. All of the aforesaid shares of capital stock (or other equity interests) of each Purchased Entity have been offered, sold and delivered by such Purchased Entity in compliance with all applicable securities Laws. No shares of capital stock (or other equity interests) of any Purchased Entity have been issued in violation of any rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments under any provision of applicable Law, the Organizational Documents of such Purchased Entity or any Contract to which such Purchased Entity is a party or by which such Purchased Entity is bound.
(c)    No Purchased Entity holds any shares of capital stock or other equity interests in any Person (other than equity interests of WELBILT (Shanghai) Foodservice Co., Ltd.), or holds any preemptive or other outstanding rights, subscriptions, options, warrants, stock appreciation rights, redemption rights, repurchase rights, convertible, exercisable, or exchangeable securities or other ownership interest, in any Person.
(d)    Except for the Purchased Shares, there are no equity interests in a Purchased Entity issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding and there are no preemptive or similar rights on the part of any holder of any class of securities of any Purchased Entity. Seller or the applicable Other Share Seller has, or as of immediately prior to the Closing will have, good and valid title to all of the Purchased Shares it holds, in each case free and clear of all Liens other than transfer restrictions imposed by applicable securities Laws generally, and are the record and beneficial owners thereof. There (i) is no Indebtedness of any Purchased
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Entity having the right to vote (or that is convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, securities having the right to vote), and (ii) are no options, warrants, convertible or exchangeable securities, “phantom” equity rights, equity appreciation rights, equity-based performance units, other equity equivalents or other equity-based awards or rights or commitments or other Contracts to which any Purchased Entity is a party or by which any of them is bound that (A) obligate any Purchased Entity to issue, deliver or sell, or cause to be issued, delivered or sold, additional units of its equity interests or any security convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, any of its equity interests, (B) obligate any Purchased Entity to issue, grant, extend or enter into any such option, warrant, security, right, unit, commitment or Contract or (C) give any Person the right to receive any economic benefit or right similar to or derived from the economic benefits and rights accruing to holders of the Purchased Shares. Except for rights granted to Buyer under this Agreement, there are no outstanding obligations of any of the Purchased Entities to issue, sell or transfer or repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, or that relate to the holding, voting or disposition of or that restrict the transfer of, the stock, equity or ownership interests of the Purchased Entities.
(e)    The Chinese Subsidiary has not conducted any operations and does not have any assets or Liabilities other than those arising exclusively in connection with the Hangzhou Facility.
Section 4.5    Contracts.
(a)    Schedule 4.5(a) of the Disclosure Letter identifies, by applicable subclause, each of the Contracts to which any Seller Party is a party or by which any Seller Party is bound, to which any Purchased Asset is subject, or pursuant to which any Seller Party receives any benefit or incurs any Liability, in each case, that is an Assigned Contract or is otherwise primarily related to the Business as of the Agreement Date and which meet the following criteria (each Contract required to be listed on Schedule 4.5(a), a “Material Contract”), with each Assigned Contract denoted with an asterisk on Schedule 4.5(a) of the Disclosure Letter:
(i)    a Contract with a Top Customer (other than sales or purchase orders, rebate agreements or invoices under such Contracts entered in the ordinary course of business);
(ii)    a Contract with a Top Supplier;
(iii)    a Contract pursuant to which such Seller Party (A) has licensed from a third party or is authorized by a third party to use any Intellectual Property Rights material to the Business, other than Ordinary Course Inbound Licenses or (B) has licensed to a third party to use any Transferred Intellectual Property Rights, other than Ordinary Course Outbound Licenses;
(iv)    a Contract that is a management, service consulting or similar Contract that is material to the operation of the Business, taken as a whole;
(v)    an agency, sales, marketing, research, commission, export, customs, distribution, advertising, broker, dealer, franchise, international or domestic sales representative or similar Contract that is reasonably likely to involve a Liability or receivable of the Business in excess of $1,000,000 per annum;
(vi)    a Contract (other than those solely between or among the Purchased Entities or intercompany Contracts with Seller and its Affiliates that will be terminated as of the Closing in accordance with Section 6.15) relating to Indebtedness of
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any Purchased Entity (whether outstanding or as may be incurred) in an amount in excess of $500,000 or otherwise placing a Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on any Purchased Assets, Purchased Shares, or any other asset or property of the Purchased Entities;
(vii)    a Contract (other than those solely between or among the Purchased Entities) relating to material Indebtedness of a third party owed to Seller or any Other Seller (to the extent exclusively related to the Business) or Purchased Entity or any cash management agreement of Seller or any Other Seller (to the extent exclusively related to the Business) or any Purchased Entity;
(viii)    a Contract that (A) obligates Seller, any Other Seller or any Purchased Entity to conduct any business on an exclusive basis with any third party, (B) contains any purchase or requirements obligations of Seller, any Other Seller or any Purchased Entity with respect to the Business, (C) obligates Seller, any Other Seller or any Purchased Entity to offer products or services related to the Business on a “most favored nation” basis, (D) includes any type of special discount rights (including any volume discounts or rebates) outside the ordinary course of business or that are otherwise material to the Business, or (E) restricts the right to sell to or purchase from any Person;
(ix)    (A) a Contract between any Purchased Entity and (x) any Governmental Authority, (y) prime contractor (at any tier) or (z) any subcontractor (at any tier), (B) an outstanding bid, quotation or proposal by any Purchased Entity that, if accepted or awarded, could lead to the award of a Contract described in clause (A) above, or (C) an Order of a Governmental Authority to which any Purchased Entity is subject;
(x)    any (A) Contract that limits the localities or mediums (such as restrictions on online sales) in which the Business, taken as a whole, is or is permitted to be conducted, (B) Contract that limits the ability of any Purchased Entity to engage in any line of business or (C) Contract that a Purchased Entity is party to that limits the right to sell to or purchase from any Person or to hire any Person other than non-solicitations entered into in the ordinary course of business;
(xi)    a Contract relating to the acquisition or disposition of any business, assets or operations (whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets, consolidation or otherwise) with continuing or contingent obligations that would reasonably be expected to be in excess of $1,000,000;
(xii)    any Contract that restricts any Purchased Entity’s right to use, practice, register, obtain or enforce any material Intellectual Property Rights owned by it;
(xiii)    a lease or sublease of the Leased Real Property under which Seller or such Other Seller (as it relates to the Business) or such Purchased Entity, as applicable, is a lessor or sublessor (together with all amendments and modifications thereto);
(xiv)    a collective bargaining agreement, Contract or other labor-related agreement, arrangement or understanding with a labor or trade union, or labor organization or works council;
(xv)    any written Contract providing for (1) the retention of any Business Employee or a consultant to the Business or (2) other than as required by applicable Law or in excess of $150,000, the employment of any Business Employee or consultant to the Business;
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(xvi)    a hedging, derivative or similar Contract (including interest rate, currency or commodity swap agreements, cap agreements, collar agreements and any similar Contract designed to protect a Person against fluctuations in interest rates, currency exchange rates or commodity prices);
(xvii)    any partnership, joint venture or other similar agreement;
(xviii)    any Contract requiring any capital commitment or capital expenditures (including any series of related expenditures) in excess of $200,000;
(xix)    any Material Shared Contract; and
(xx)    any settlement agreement imposing limitations on the future operation of the Business;
(xxi)    other than ordinary course arms’-length Contracts or employment Contracts that are described under clause (xv), any Contract with any Related Party of any Seller Party (other than as may be related to the employment by a Seller Party of any such Related Party);
(xxii)    any Contract providing any loan to any Business Employee other than routine advances in the ordinary course of business or pursuant to a 401(k) plan;
(xxiii)    any Contract for the provision of funds or making of any loan to, making any capital contribution or other investment in, or assuming any Liability or obligation of, any Person;
(xxiv)    any Contract which provided for sales of $1,000,000 in 2021 with any buying group, including any group purchasing Contracts, sales Contracts, and rebate and discount arrangements; and
(xxv)    any Contract related to the design, manufacture, customization, development, marketing, packaging, distribution or sale of the Products under a private label.
(b)    (i) Each Material Contract is valid, binding and in full force and effect with respect to each Seller Party and, to the knowledge of Seller, any other Person that is party thereto subject to and except as such enforceability may limited by the effect, if any, of applicable bankruptcy and other similar Laws and equitable principles affecting the rights of creditors generally and rules of Law and equitable principles governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies; (ii) none of the Material Contracts, nor any provision or amendment thereof, has been terminated or waived, (iii) none of the Material Contracts have been amended or modified in any material respect except as set forth therein; (iv) no Seller Party is in material breach or default in the performance of any of its obligations under any Material Contract and, to the knowledge of Seller, no other party to such Material Contract is in material breach or default thereunder; and (v) no event exists which, with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a material breach, default or event of default on the part of any Seller Party under any Material Contract or, to the knowledge of any Seller Party, any other Party under any Material Contract. No Seller Party has received any written or, to the knowledge of Seller, other notice from any counterparties in connection with any of the Material Contracts (1) of any material breach or default under any Material Contract, (2) that any such party intends to terminate, not renew, cancel or substantially decrease its business with any Seller Party, or (3) of any claim for material damages or indemnification with respect to the products or performance of services pursuant to any Material Contract.
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Prior to the date hereof, Seller has made available to Buyer copies of each Material Contract that are true, accurate and complete in all material respects and reflect all amendments made through the date of this Agreement.
Section 4.6    Litigation. No Seller Party is subject to any Order of, or Contract with, any Governmental Authority relating to the Business or any officers, directors or managers of the Business in their capacities as such that would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially interfere with or delay the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents or would reasonably be expected to be material to the Business taken as a whole or that imposes or seeks to impose material injunctive relief or criminal liability. As of the Agreement Date, no Proceeding is pending or, to the knowledge of Seller, threatened against any Seller Party relating to the Business or any officers, directors or managers of the Business in their capacities as such that (a) would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially interfere with or delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents, (b) if decided adversely, would reasonably be expected to be material to the Business taken as a whole, or (c) imposes or seeks to impose material injunctive relief or criminal liability. There is no Proceeding by any Purchased Entity pending, or which any Purchased Entity has commenced preparations to initiate, against any other Person.
Section 4.7    Intellectual Property Rights; Information Technology.
(a)    Registered IP. Schedule 4.7(a) of the Disclosure Letter sets forth each item of registered or applied-for Intellectual Property Rights that is included in and is part of the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights or the Licensed IP (“Registered IPR”), and indicates for each item the registration or application number, the applicable jurisdiction, and the status of such application or registration, as applicable. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.7(a), each item of Registered IPR is valid and subsisting and, to the knowledge of Seller, enforceable. No interference, opposition, reissue, reexamination or other similar Proceeding is pending in which any Registered IPR is being contested or challenged. With respect to Registered IPR, all necessary registration, maintenance, renewal, and other relevant filing fees due through the Agreement Date in connection therewith have been timely paid and all necessary documents and certificates in connection therewith have been timely filed with the relevant Governmental Authorities, for purposes of maintaining such Registered IPR in full force and effect.
(b)    Liens over Business Intellectual Property Rights. A Seller Party exclusively owns the Business Intellectual Property Rights free and clear of any Liens (other than Permitted Liens). Seller has the right to perform its obligations under the IP License Agreement and to grant all rights and licenses it grants pursuant to the IP License Agreement. Seller has not granted any right or license to any third party relating to any of the Licensed IP that would conflict with the rights or licenses granted pursuant to the IP License Agreement.
(c)    No Infringement. The conduct of the Business or the exercise of the rights in or to the Business Intellectual Property Rights do not infringe or misappropriate the Intellectual Property Rights of any third party and have not infringed or misappropriated the Intellectual Property Rights of any other Person, in each case, in any material respect.
(d)    No Proceedings or Allegations. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.7(d) of the Disclosure Letter, no Proceedings before any Governmental Authority or arbitrator have been filed against any Seller Party, and no Seller Party has received written notice, in each case, in the five years prior to the Agreement Date (i) challenging the scope, ownership, validity or enforceability of the Business Intellectual Property Rights, or (ii) alleging that the
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conduct of the Business infringes or misappropriates the Intellectual Property Rights of any third party.
(e)    No Infringement of Business Intellectual Property Rights. To the knowledge of Seller, no Person is infringing or misappropriating any Business Intellectual Property Rights, and no Seller Party in the two years prior to the Agreement Date has brought or threatened any action against any third party based on any allegations of infringement or misappropriation. Each Seller Party has taken commercially reasonable measures to protect the confidentiality of any Trade Secrets and has required all current and former employees, consultants and contractors with access to a Seller Party’s Trade Secrets to execute Contracts requiring them to maintain the confidentiality of such Trade Secrets and use such Trade Secrets only for the benefit of the applicable Seller Party.
(f)    Third Party Software. Schedule 4.7(f) of the Disclosure Letter identifies each Contract pursuant to which Seller or one of its Affiliates has licensed from another Person any third party owned Software (other than Software that is the subject of an Ordinary Course Inbound License or Open Source Software) that is incorporated into or embedded in any Products that are not Discontinued Products. The Business is in compliance in all material respects with the terms of all licenses pursuant to which it uses Open Source Software. No Software owned or purported to be owned by a Seller Party is subject to, and no such Software contains, is linked with, derived from, is distributed with, or is being or was developed using or is licensed under any Open Source Software license that: (i) imposes a requirement or condition that any such Software or part thereof (except for the applicable, unmodified third party Open Source Software itself): (A) be disclosed or distributed in source code form; (B) be licensed for the purpose of making modifications or derivative works; or (C) be redistributable at no charge; or (ii) otherwise imposes any other limitation, restriction or condition, including any requirements to advertise, on the right or ability of any Seller Party to use or distribute any such Software or part thereof (except for the applicable, unmodified third party Open Source Software itself or any requirements to include attributions).
(g)    No Interest; Assignments. Neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates, nor any current or former partner, director, stockholder, officer or employee of Seller or any of its Affiliates will, after giving effect to the transactions contemplated hereby, own or retain (i) any rights to use any of the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights, except for the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights used by Seller and its Affiliates to provide services pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement, or (ii) any other Intellectual Property Rights used in or necessary for the operation of the Business, except for the Licensed IP. Each Seller Party has secured from all current and former employees, consultants and contractors who have created any portion of the Business Intellectual Property Rights an executed Contract which assigns to the applicable Seller Party all rights, title and interest, including all Intellectual Property Rights, in and to any such Person’s contributions. No current or former employee, consultant or contractor has made any claim of ownership against any Seller Party with respect to any Business Intellectual Property Right.
(h)    IT Systems. The software, computer firmware and computer hardware, including Software, computer hardware, networks, interfaces, servers, storage devices, data communication services, computer network services, Internet access services, and mass data storage services and related information technology systems and services, which are owned, licensed, leased or used by or on behalf of a Seller Party or any Other Seller, with respect to the Business, or any Purchased Entity, including the Separate Oracle ERP System (collectively, the “Business Systems”) are sufficient for the immediate needs of the Business and each Purchased Entity’s respective business, including as to capacity, scalability and ability to process current and anticipated peak volumes in a timely manner, and include sufficient licensed capacity (whether in terms of authorized sites, units, users, seats or otherwise), in each
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case, as necessary for the conduct of the Business as currently conducted. Each Seller Party uses commercially reasonable efforts, consistent with their respective contractual obligations and applicable Law, to protect the security and integrity of all Business Systems. Each Seller Party maintains commercially reasonable disaster recovery plans or procedures with respect to its Business Systems. There has been no material failure, disruption or interruption of any such Business System.
(i)    Cybersecurity. Each Seller Party has, consistent with industry standards, (i) developed, implemented and conducted its business in compliance with internal data security policies and procedures (copies of which have been made available to Buyer); (ii) trained its employees to follow these policies and procedures; and (iii) maintained commercially reasonable administrative, physical and technical safeguards to ensure internal and external security of the information technology systems and data used in connection with the Business. There have been no material security breaches, unauthorized intrusions or any unauthorized access or use of any of the data or information stored or contained therein or accessed or processed thereby or that has resulted in the destruction, damage, loss, corruption, alteration or misuse of any such data or information in the Business that have not been remedied in all material respects. No Purchased Entity, nor Seller and its Affiliates in connection with the Business, has experienced any material attacks on the information technology systems used by it, including ransomware or distributed denial-of-service attacks.
(j)    No Governmental Assistance. None of the Business Intellectual Property Rights has been developed with grants or other forms of assistance from any Governmental Authority. Each Business Intellectual Property Right will be owned or available for use by Buyer on identical terms and conditions immediately after the Closing.
(k)    Privacy.
(i)    The Purchased Entities, and Seller and its Affiliates in connection with the Business, are currently, and have been, in compliance in all material respects with all of the Business Privacy Commitments. None of Seller or any of its Affiliates in connection with the Business, or any Purchased Entity, in the two years prior to the Agreement Date, has received notice of any allegation from a Governmental Authority or other Person alleging non-compliance with a relevant requirement of Business Privacy Commitments. To the knowledge of Seller, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not result in any such violation, and there is no basis for any such claims.
(ii)    Immediately following Closing, Buyer and its Affiliates will own and continue to have the right to use all Personal Data on identical terms and conditions in all material respects as each Purchased Entity, Seller and each of its Affiliates enjoyed with respect to the Business immediately prior to the Closing Date.
(iii)    No Purchased Entity, Seller nor any Affiliate has suffered, discovered or been notified of any unauthorized acquisition, use, disclosure, access to, or breach of any Personal Data with respect to the Business that (A) constitutes a breach or a data security incident under any applicable Business Privacy Commitments; or (B) materially compromises (individually or in the aggregate) the security or privacy of such Personal Data.
(iv)    No Purchased Entity, Seller or any Affiliate has reported a breach or compromise of Personal Data with respect to the Business to any Person or Governmental Authority, either voluntarily or based on Business Privacy Commitments.
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Section 4.8    Tax Matters.
(a)    Each Seller Party has timely filed or caused to be timely filed all Income Tax, VAT and other material Tax Returns that any such entity was required to file on or prior to the Agreement Date and has timely paid all Income, VAT and other material Taxes due and owing, whether or not shown on any Tax Return. All such Tax Returns were complete and accurate in all material respects and were prepared in material compliance with applicable Law.
(b)    No Purchased Entity is a resident for Tax purposes of, or has a branch, permanent establishment, or agency (in each case which would create a Taxable presence) in, any country other than its country of organization. No claim has ever been made by any Taxing Authority in a jurisdiction where any Purchased Entity does not file Tax Returns that such entity is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction.
(c)    No private letter rulings, technical advice memoranda, or similar agreement or rulings have been requested of or issued by any Taxing Authority with respect to any Purchased Entity.
(d)    The Purchased Entities will not be required to include any material item of income in, or exclude any material item of deduction from, Taxable income for any Taxable period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of any: (i) change in method of accounting for a taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date; (ii) “closing agreement” as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign applicable Law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date; (iii) intercompany transactions occurring at or prior to the Closing or any excess loss account in existence at Closing described in Treasury Regulations under Section 1502 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign applicable Law); (iv) installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Closing Date; or (v) prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing.
(e)    No Purchased Entity is or ever has been a party to or the beneficiary of any Tax exemption, Tax holiday or other Tax reduction Contract or Order.
(f)    No Purchased Entity organized in a country other than the United States (i) is a controlled foreign corporation within the meaning of Section 957 of the Code, (ii) is engaged in a United States trade or business for U.S. federal Tax purposes, (iii) is a passive foreign investment company within the meaning of Section 1297 of the Code, (iv) is, or has ever been, a personal holding company within the meaning of Section 542 of the Code, (v) is a surrogate foreign corporation within the meaning of Section 7874(a)(2)(B) of the Code or is treated as a U.S. corporation under Section 7874(b) of the Code or (vi) has elected under Section 897(i) of the Code to be treated as a domestic corporation. All transactions among the Purchased Entities and any other Seller Party (or among the Purchased Entities) have been carried out on arm’s length terms and conditions, and Seller and the Other Sellers (with respect to the Purchased Assets and the Business) and the Purchased Entities have complied in all material respects with all applicable documentation requirements under all applicable Laws relating to such transactions.
(g)    Neither Seller nor any of its Subsidiaries, including any of the Purchased Entities, has any material Liability for unpaid Taxes in respect of the Purchased Assets or the assets, properties or rights of any Purchased Entity other than Taxes that are not yet due and payable.
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(h)    There are no outstanding waivers or comparable consents regarding the application of the statute of limitations with respect to any Taxes or Tax Returns of any Purchased Entity. There is no power of attorney given by or binding upon any Purchased Entity with respect to Taxes for any period for which the statute of limitations (including any waivers or extensions) has not yet expired.
(i)    There are no outstanding Tax Liens against any of the Purchased Assets or the assets, properties or rights of any Purchased Entity (other than for Taxes not yet due and payable) and no written claims are currently being asserted by any Taxing Authority with respect to any Taxes related to the Business or any of the Purchased Assets or the assets, properties or rights of any Purchased Entity, which written claims have been received by Seller or any of its Subsidiaries.
(j)    There are no audits presently pending by any Taxing Authority with respect to Taxes or Tax Returns of any Purchased Entity, and neither Seller nor any Purchased Entity has received written notice from any Taxing Authority that any such audit is planned or proposed.
(k)    No Purchased Entity has been a party to or is bound by any Tax indemnity, Tax sharing or Tax allocation agreement, or any other Contract to pay the Taxes of another Person or to pay the Taxes with respect to transactions relating to any other Person (other than such an agreement or Contract exclusively between or among Purchased Entities or customary commercial Contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business the primary subject matter of which is not Taxes).
(l)    No Purchased Entity has been a party to, or promoter of, any “listed transaction” as defined in Section 6707A(c)(2) of the Code and Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4.
(m)    No Purchased Entity has been a “controlled corporation” or a “distributing corporation” in any distribution of stock qualifying for tax-free treatment under Section 355 of the Code occurring during the two-year period ending on the date hereof, or otherwise as part of a plan or arrangement that includes the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
(n)    No Purchased Entity has (i) deferred, extended or delayed the payment of the employer’s share of any “applicable employment taxes” under Section 2302 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, (the “CARES Act”) or any “applicable taxes” under IRS Notice 2020-65, (ii) claimed any Tax credits under Sections 7001 through 7005 of the Families First Coronavirus Response Act (Public Law 116-127) and Section 2301 of the CARES Act, and (iii) sought, nor intends to seek, a covered loan under paragraph (36) of Section 7(a) of the Small Business Act (15 U.S.C. 636(a)), as added by Section 1102 of the CARES Act.
Section 4.9    Compliance with Laws.
(a)    The Business is being, and during the past three years has been, conducted in compliance in all material respects with the Laws applicable thereto, and the Seller Parties are, and during the past three years have been, in compliance in all material respects with the Laws applicable to their ownership of the Purchased Assets and Purchased Shares. No Seller Party has received written or, to the knowledge of Seller, other notice at any time in the past three years to the effect that any Seller Party is not in compliance in all material respects with any applicable Laws with respect to the Business.
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(b)    The Business does not (i) engage in the design, fabrication, development, testing, production or manufacture of one (1) or more “critical technologies” within the meaning of Section 721 for which a U.S. regulatory authorization would be required for the export, reexport, transfer (in-country), or retransfer of such critical technology; (ii) perform the functions as set forth in column 2 of appendix A to 31 C.F.R. Part 800 with respect to “covered investment critical infrastructure” within the meaning of Section 721; or (iii) maintain or collect, directly or indirectly, “sensitive personal data” of U.S. citizens within the meaning of Section 721.
(c)    Without limiting the generality of Section 4.9(a):
(i)    None of the Purchased Entities (including the Purchased Entities’ directors, officers, employees or, to the knowledge of Seller, agents, distributors or other Person associated with or acting on their behalf), Seller (with respect to the Purchased Shares and the Business), or the Other Sellers (with respect to the Business), have, directly or indirectly, made or authorized any payment of funds of, or relating to, the Purchased Entities or the Business that is prohibited by any law, and each has not, without limitation, (A) taken any action which would cause it to be in violation of any Anti-Corruption Laws applicable to any Purchased Entity or the Business in any jurisdiction (in each case, as in effect at the time of such action), (B) used any corporate funds for unlawful payments, contributions, gifts, entertainment or other unlawful expenses for the benefit of any political organization or holder of or any aspirant to any elective or appointive public office, or otherwise relating to political activity, (C) made, offered or authorized any unlawful payment to foreign or domestic government officials or employees, or (D) made, offered or authorized any unlawful bribe, rebate, payoff, influence payment, kickback or other similar unlawful payment to any Person.
(ii)    No director, officer, or employee acting on behalf any Seller Party has violated any Anti-Corruption Laws in connection with or relating to the Purchased Entities or the Business.
(iii)    None of Seller, each Other Seller or any of their respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees or, to the knowledge of Seller, agents is a Sanctioned Person, and none of Seller and Other Sellers will directly or indirectly use the proceeds from the Purchase Transaction, or lend, contribute or otherwise make available such proceeds to any Person, for the purpose of financing the activities of, in, or with any Sanctioned Person or Sanctioned Jurisdiction.
(iv)    Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Purchased Entities and Business, (i) the Business and the operations of each Seller Party is and has been conducted in compliance with applicable financial recordkeeping and reporting requirements of the Anti-Money Laundering Laws, and (ii) no action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or governmental agency, authority or body or any arbitrator involving any Purchased Entity or, with respect to the Business, Seller or any Other Seller, with respect to the Anti-Money Laundering Laws is pending or, to the knowledge of Seller, threatened.
(v)    For the past five years, the Purchased Entities (including any of the Purchased Entities’ directors, officers, employees or, to the knowledge of Seller, agents, distributors or other Person associated with or acting on their behalf), Seller and the Other Sellers, with respect to the Purchased Entities and the Business, have been in compliance in all material respects with Customs & Trade Laws and Sanctions.
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(vi)    The Seller Parties have competent and reliable scientific evidence to substantiate claims made with respect to the Business (including the Products) or the Purchased Entities in promotional materials including, social media, websites, labels and packaging, in compliance with applicable Laws in all material respects.
(vii)    The Purchased Entities (including any of the Purchased Entities’ directors, officers, employees or, to the knowledge of Seller, agents, distributors or other Person associated with or acting on their behalf), Seller and the Other Sellers, with respect to the Purchased Entities and the Business, have in place written policies, controls and systems reasonably designed to ensure compliance in all respects with applicable Customs & Trade Laws and Sanctions in each jurisdiction in which such Seller Party conducts business.
(viii)    None of the Purchased Entities (including any of the Purchased Entities’ directors, officers, employees or, to the knowledge of Seller, agents, distributors or other Person associated with or acting on their behalf), Seller or the Other Sellers, with respect to the Purchased Entities and the Business, have, during the past five years, engaged in any dealings or transactions in or with any Restricted Person, Sanctioned Person, or Sanctioned Jurisdiction, nor is any Seller Party currently engaged in any such activities.
(ix)    For the past three years, there have been no recalls, market withdrawals, product removals, detentions, seizures or other adverse regulatory action taken or to the knowledge of Seller, threatened, with respect to the Purchased Entities or the Business.
(x)    Neither the Business nor any Purchased Entity has been during the past five years or is currently under any administrative, civil, or criminal investigation or indictment with respect to activities of the Business relating to Customs & Trade Laws and Sanctions; and
(xi)    Each of the Purchased Entities and the Business are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable international labor and human rights Laws, including prohibitions against the use of any form of child, slave, forced, bonded, indentured, or involuntary labor and the use of any labor or inputs that would subject the Business or any Purchased Entity to economic sanctions or import restrictions in any applicable jurisdiction where the Business is conducted.
Section 4.10    Permits.
(a)    The Seller Parties (including any of their directors, officers, employees or, to the knowledge of Seller, agents, distributors or other Person associated with or acting on their behalf) have obtained all applicable import and export licenses and all other necessary consents, notices, waivers, approvals, orders, authorizations, and declarations, and completed all necessary registrations and filings, required under applicable Customs & Trade Laws, Sanctions, and Anti-Money Laundering Laws with respect to the Business.
(b)    The Seller Parties hold all Permits necessary for the conduct of the Business as conducted by them on the date hereof (the “Business Permits”), except where the failure to hold any such Business Permits would not be material to the Business, taken as a whole.
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(c)    (i) Each Seller Party is in compliance with the terms of each Business Permit and (ii) each such Business Permit is valid, subsisting and in full force and effect, in each case, except as would not be material to the Business, taken as a whole.
(d)    With respect to the Business, all filings, declarations, listings, registrations, reports, or submissions to any Governmental Authority were in compliance in all material respects with the applicable Laws when filed, and there are no material deficiencies that have been asserted in writing or, to the knowledge of Seller, otherwise by any applicable Governmental Authority with respect to any such registrations, filings, declarations, listings, notifications, reports, or submissions made with or to any such Governmental Authorities.
Section 4.11    Environmental Matters.
(a)    With respect to the Business, Seller, each Other Seller, each of the Subsidiaries of Seller and the Business are and have been in compliance with all Environmental Laws in all material respects, including the possession of, and the compliance with, all material Permits required under Environmental Laws.
(b)    Except for matters which have been fully resolved, (i) no Seller Party has received any Environmental Claim relating to the Business in the three years prior to the Agreement Date, and (ii) to the knowledge of Seller, there are no such Environmental Claims threatened or any circumstances, facts, conditions, events or incidents, including the presence of any Hazardous Material, which would be reasonably likely to form the basis of any material Environmental Claim with respect to the Business.
(c)    The Seller has delivered or otherwise made available for inspection to the Buyer true, complete and correct copies and results of any third party reports, investigations, audits, assessments (including Phase I environmental site assessments and Phase II environmental site assessments), studies, analyses, tests or monitoring in the possession of the Seller, Other Sellers or any Subsidiary of the Seller pertaining to: (i) any unresolved Environmental Claims related to the Business; (ii) any Hazardous Materials in, on, beneath or adjacent to any Real Property owned by Seller to be included as Purchased Assets or the Leased Real Property; or (iii) the Business’s compliance with applicable Environmental Laws.
(d)    
(i)    No Purchased Entity has released, stored, generated, disposed of or arranged for the disposal of, transported, handled, marketed, distributed, or exposed any Person to, any Hazardous Material, or owned or operated any property or facility contaminated by any Hazardous Material, in each case so as to create any material Liability under any Environmental Law for any Purchased Entity or Buyer.
(ii)    There has been no release of Hazardous Materials with respect to the Business or the Purchased Assets or any real property currently or formerly owned, operated or leased by any Seller Party (including the Real Property) in such form or quantity as to create any material Liability under any Environmental Law for any Purchased Entity or Buyer.
(iii)    There is not present in, on or under any of the Real Property any Hazardous Material in such form or quantity as to create any material Liability under any Environmental Law for any Purchased Entity or Buyer.
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Section 4.12    Financial Information; Liabilities.
(a)    Seller has made available to Buyer copies of the unaudited combined balance sheets of the Business as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, and the related unaudited combined statements of income of the Business for the fiscal years ended on December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 (collectively, the “Unaudited Financial Information”). The Unaudited Financial Information (i) has been prepared in good faith and in accordance with GAAP on a consistent basis throughout the periods covered thereby and derived from the books and records maintained by Seller and (ii) fairly presents, in all material respects and in accordance with GAAP, the financial condition of the Business as of the respective dates it was prepared and the results of the operations of the Business for the periods indicated. The Business has established and adhered in all material respects to a system of internal accounting controls which is designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by Seller and its Subsidiaries in connection with the Business is recorded and reported on a timely basis in accordance with GAAP, and there is not (i) any material weakness in any system of internal controls over financial reporting used by the Business that would reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect the Business’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information, (ii) any fraud or other wrongdoing that involves any of the management or other employees of the members of the Business who have a role in the preparation of the financial statements or the internal accounting controls used by the members of the Business or (iii) any claim or allegation regarding the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii). This Section 4.12(a) is qualified by the fact that the Business has not operated as a separate “stand alone” entity within Seller, and, as a result, the Business has been allocated certain intercompany charges and credits for purposes of the preparation of the Unaudited Financial Information, which allocations of charges and credits do not necessarily reflect the amounts that would have resulted from arms’ length transactions or the actual costs that would be incurred if the Business operated as an independent enterprise.
(b)    There are no Liabilities of the Purchased Entities or arising out of the Business, other than those that (i) are adequately accrued or reserved against on the Unaudited Financial Information, (ii) have been incurred in the ordinary course of business, consistent with the past practices of the Business, since the date of the most recent balance sheet included in the Unaudited Financial Information (none of which Liabilities result, directly or indirectly, from any breach, default, tort, infringement or violation of applicable Law or any Contract at or before the Effective Time), (iii) related to the future performance of any Contract entered into in the ordinary course of business and in accordance with this Agreement (excluding breaches prior to Closing), (iv) are expressly required by this Agreement or are expressly disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, (v) are Excluded Liabilities, or (vi) individually or in the aggregate, are not, and would not be material to the Business.
Section 4.13    Employees; Employee Benefits.
(a)    Schedule 4.13 of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, complete and correct list of all material Seller Benefit Plans, other than offer letters that do not differ in any material respect from the form of such agreements and letters made available to Buyer.
(b)    With respect to each Seller Benefit Plan, Seller has made available to Buyer, to the extent applicable, a written summary of the benefits provided thereunder, and the most recent IRS determination, opinion or advisory letter. With respect to any Assumed Benefit Plan (or arrangement for which Buyer may be responsible for payments under Section 6.6(p)), Seller has made available to Buyer accurate and complete copies, to the extent applicable, of the following: (i) the current plan document and all amendments thereto (or, if such Assumed Benefit Plan is not in writing, a written description of the material terms thereof) and all related trust documents and other funding arrangements, in each case, as
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currently in effect, (ii) the most recent annual report (Form 5500 and all schedules attached thereto) or similar reports required to be filed with any non-U.S. governmental agency, (iii) the most recent financial statements and actuarial valuation report prepared with respect thereto, (iv) the most recent summary plan description together with the summary(ies) of material modifications thereto, if any, required under ERISA or other most recent material plan summary required to be distributed by any non-U.S. governmental agency, and (v) all material non-routine correspondence within the past three years to or from any Governmental Authority relating to any Seller Benefit Plan.
(c)    Seller has made available to Buyer an accurate and complete list of each Business Employees as of a date no more than 10 days prior to the date of this Agreement, including the following information for each Business Employee (the “Business Employee List”): (i) employee identification number, (ii) employing entity, (iii) job location (city, state, country), (iv) start date, (v) job title, (vi) status as full-time, part-time or temporary, (vii) status as exempt or non-exempt from U.S. federal and state wage and hour laws, as applicable, (viii) Labor Organization membership, (ix) annual base salary or hourly wage rate, as applicable, (x) annual bonus and other incentive compensation (including amounts accrued under any Seller Annual Bonus Plan or any Seller sales and commission plans in effect as of the Closing), (xi) accrued PTO (as defined below), (xii) any applicable visa or work authorization, (xiii) employee leave status (and if on leave, type of leave and date of expected return), and (xiv) for any Business Employee of the Chinese Subsidiary, an indication as to whether that Business Employee performs services for the Business. The Business Employee List shall be updated in accordance with Section 6.6(a) of this Agreement.
(d)    Each Seller Benefit Plan has been maintained and operated in compliance in all material respects with the terms of the applicable plan document, applicable requirements of the Code, ERISA and any other applicable Law and no material litigation or asserted claims against Seller or its Affiliates by any Business Employee, regulator or other party exists with respect to any Seller Benefit Plan other than claims for benefits in the ordinary course of business. Seller and its Affiliates are in compliance in all material respects with (i) the applicable requirements of Section 4980B of the Code and any similar local applicable Law and (ii) the applicable requirements of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended, and the regulations (including the proposed regulations) thereunder. Seller and its Affiliates have not incurred or could reasonably be expected to incur any material penalty or excise Tax (whether or not assessed) under Section 4980H or Section 4980D of the Code related to the applicable requirements of the Affordable Care Act.
(e)    Each Seller Benefit Plan that is intended to be “qualified” within the meaning of Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination or opinion letter from the IRS as to its qualification under the Code, and, to the knowledge of Seller, no event has occurred since the date of such determination or opinion letter that would reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect such qualification. To the knowledge of Seller, there has been no prohibited transaction (within the meaning of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code) with respect to any Seller Benefit Plan that could reasonably be expected to result in material Liability to Buyer or its Affiliates.
(f)    No Seller Benefit Plan provides for post-employment or retiree welfare benefits to Business Employees or individuals formerly employed by the Purchased Entities, except as required by Part 6 of Schedule B of Title I of ERISA or Section 4980B of the Code or similar state or foreign Law, and solely at the premium expense of such individual, or for death benefits under any “employee pension benefit plan” (as such term is defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA).
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(g)    Except as will not reasonably be expected to cause any Liability to Buyer and its Affiliates on or after the Closing, neither Seller nor any of its ERISA Affiliates maintains, contributes to (or is required to contribute to), or sponsors, or has in the past six years maintained, contributed to (or been required to contribute to) or sponsored, (i) an employee benefit plan subject to Part 3 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA, Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 or 430 of the Code, (ii) a multiemployer plan (as defined in 4001(a)(3) of ERISA), (iii) a multiple employer plan, within the meaning of Section 413(c) of the Code, or (iv) a multiple employer welfare arrangement, within the meaning of Section 3(40) of ERISA.
(h)    (i) With respect to the Business, no strike, slowdown, picketing, work stoppage, walkout, unfair labor practice, material grievance, arbitration, or material dispute is pending, existing or, to the knowledge of Seller, threatened, (ii) neither Seller nor any of its Subsidiaries (including any Purchased Entity) is party to or bound by any collective bargaining agreement, works council or labor Contract related to the Business or the Business Employees, (iii) no labor organization effort is initiated, in progress or, to the knowledge of Seller, threatened with respect to the Business or the Business Employees, (iv) no Business Employee is represented by any labor or trade union, employee representative body, works council or other labor organization (collectively, “Labor Organization”), and (v) neither Seller nor any of its Subsidiaries (including any Purchased Entity) is required under applicable Law or Contract to provide notice to, or to enter into any consultation procedure with, any Labor Organization in connection with the execution of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
(i)    With respect to the Business and the Business Employees, Seller and each of its Subsidiaries, including each of the Purchased Entities, are in compliance, and have been in compliance since January 1, 2018, in all material respects with all applicable Laws respecting employment and employment practices, including all Laws relating to employment discrimination; equal employment; civil rights; equal pay; wages and hours; parenting, family, disability, military and other leaves of absences required under applicable Law; occupational health and safety; workers’ compensation; unemployment compensation; the withholding and payment of income, social security or similar Taxes; or international labor and human rights Laws.
(j)    All individuals who are performing services for or with respect to the Business while classified as independent contractors are properly classified as such. All U.S. Business Employees classified as “exempt” under applicable wage and hour Laws are properly classified as such.
(k)    There are no Proceedings by or against Seller or any of its Subsidiaries, including any of the Purchased Entities, pending, or to the knowledge of Seller, threatened to be brought or filed, by or with any Governmental Authority or arbitral tribunal in connection with the employment or termination of employment of any Business Employee or applicant to become a Business Employee, including, without limitation, any claim relating to unfair labor practices, employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, equal pay or any other employment related matter arising under applicable Laws.
(l)    Neither Seller nor any of its Subsidiaries, including any of the Purchased Entities, is party to a settlement agreement with a current or former director, officer, employee or independent contractor of any of the Purchased Entities, that involves allegations relating to sexual harassment, sexual misconduct, or discrimination by either (i) an officer of any of the Purchased Entities, or (ii) a Business Employee at the level of Vice President or above. In the last five (5) years, no allegations of sexual harassment, sexual misconduct, or discrimination have been made to the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries against (i) any officer of any of the Purchased Entities, or (ii) a Business Employee at the level of Vice President or above.
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(m)    To the knowledge of Seller, no Business Employee is in any respect in violation of any term of any employment agreement, nondisclosure agreement, common law nondisclosure obligation, fiduciary duty, non-competition agreement, restrictive covenant or other obligation: (i) to Seller or any of its Subsidiaries, including any of the Purchased Entities, or (ii) to a former employer of any such employee relating (A) to the right of any such employee to be employed Seller or any of its Subsidiaries, including any of the Purchased Entities, or (B) to the knowledge or use of trade secrets or proprietary information.
(n)    None of the Assumed Benefit Plans (or arrangement for which Buyer may be responsible for payments under Section 6.6(p)) constitutes a “nonqualified deferred compensation plan” (within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code) subject to Section 409A of the Code. No Seller Benefit Plan (or arrangement for which Buyer may be responsible for payments under Section 6.6(p)) provides, and there is no Contract by which Seller or any of its Affiliates is bound to provide for any, gross-up or reimbursement of Taxes to any Business Employee pursuant to Section 409A of the Code.
(o)    Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby shall, alone or in combination with any other event, (i) entitle any Business Employee to extra statutory severance pay under any Seller Benefit Plan, (ii) result in any compensatory payment becoming due, result in the acceleration of time of payment or vesting of compensation or benefits, or increase the amount of compensation or benefits due to any Business Employee or any other current or former employee or independent contractor, or (iii) require the funding of any payment or benefit under any Assumed Benefit Plan (through a grantor trust or otherwise). There is no Seller Benefit Plan which, individually or in the aggregate, could, and neither the execution or delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (either alone or in conjunction with any other event) could, give rise to the payment of any amount that would not be deductible pursuant to Section 280G of the Code, and no Business Employee is entitled to receive any gross-up or additional payment by reason of the tax required by Section 4999 of the Code being imposed on such Person.
(p)    Each International Employee Plan sponsored or maintained by Seller or any of its Affiliates, in which at least one Business Employee employed outside of the United States participates or is eligible to participate, is listed on Schedule 4.13(p) of the Disclosure Letter, and Seller has made available to Buyer a true and correct copy or (if not in writing) summary of each such plan. (i) Each International Employee Plan has been maintained and operated in material compliance with applicable Law, (ii) no material litigation or asserted claims against Seller or any of its Affiliates by any Business Employee exists with respect to any such International Employee Plan other than claims for benefits in the ordinary course of business, (iii) with respect to each International Employee Plan that is an Assumed Benefit Plan, the fair market value of the assets of each funded International Employee Plan, the liability of each insurer for any International Employee Plan funded through insurance or the book reserve established for any International Employee Plan, together with any accrued contributions, is sufficient to procure or provide for the accrued benefit obligations, as of the date of this Agreement, with respect to all current and former participants in such plan according to the actuarial assumptions and valuations most recently used and consistent with applicable Law to determine employer contributions to such International Employee Plan and no transaction contemplated by this Agreement shall cause such assets, reserve or insurance obligations to be less than such benefit obligations, and (iv) each International Employee Plan required to be registered has been registered and has been maintained in good standing with applicable regulatory authorities.
(q)    Since January 1, 2018, no Seller Party has implemented any plant closing or mass layoff of employees of the Business as those terms are defined in the Worker
    51



Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act or any similar Law, and no layoffs that could implicate such Laws are currently contemplated.
Section 4.14    Real Property.
(a)    Schedule 4.14(a) of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a list, as of the Agreement Date, of the Leased Real Property, including all Real Property Leases. Each of Seller, the Other Asset Sellers and the Purchased Entities, as applicable, has good and valid leasehold interests in or good, marketable fee title to, as applicable, all its material Leased Real Property (in each case, other than those assets and interests disposed of since the Agreement Date in the ordinary course of business) free and clear of any Liens other than Permitted Liens. As of the Agreement Date, all Real Property Leases for the Leased Real Property are in full force and effect, constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of Seller, an Other Seller or a Purchased Entity, as applicable, subject, as to enforceability, to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium and other similar Laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally, and general equitable principles. Seller has provided to Buyer a true, correct and complete copy of each Real Property Lease. None of the Real Property Leases have been modified in any material respect, except to the extent that such modifications are disclosed by the copies made available to Buyer. No Seller Party is in material default or otherwise in breach under any Real Property Lease and, to the knowledge of Seller, no other party is in default or otherwise in breach thereof. Except as would not have a Material Adverse Effect, there is no dispute with the lessor with respect to any Real Property Lease.
(b)    Schedule 4.14(b) of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a list, as of the Agreement Date, of the Owned Real Property. Each of Seller, the Other Asset Sellers and the Purchased Entities, as applicable, has good and marketable fee title to the Real Property (in each case, other than those assets and interests disposed of since the Agreement Date in the ordinary course of business) free and clear of any Liens other than Permitted Liens. Seller has made available to Buyer a true, correct and complete copy of all ALTA land title surveys and all title insurance commitments and policies issued to any of the Seller Parties (if any) that are in the possession or control of a Seller Party and that cover any Owned Real Property.
(c)    The use and occupancy of the Leased Real Property by each of the Seller Parties is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws and all applicable insurance requirements, including those pertaining to zoning matters and the Americans with Disabilities Act. To the knowledge of Seller, there is no material defect in any structural component of any improvement on any Real Property or any of its electrical, plumbing, HVAC, life safety or other building systems. Except for the Real Property Leases, there is no lease (including sublease) or occupancy agreement in effect with respect to any Real Property. There is no pending or, to the knowledge of Seller, threatened condemnation or other eminent domain Proceeding affecting any Real Property or any sale or other disposition of any Real Property in lieu of condemnation. No Real Property has suffered any material damage by fire or other casualty that has not been repaired and restored in all material respects.
Section 4.15    Sufficiency of Assets.
(a)    Seller or one of the Other Asset Sellers has, and Buyer or the applicable Other Buyer will at the Closing acquire, good, valid and marketable title to the Purchased Assets (or in the case of leased Purchased Assets, valid leasehold interests in such leased Purchased Assets), free and clear of all Liens except Permitted Liens. Each Purchased Entity has good, valid and marketable title to all of its assets (or in the case of leased assets, valid leasehold interests in such leased assets), free and clear of all Liens except Permitted Liens, including all such assets reflected in the Unaudited Financial Information, other than sales of
    52



Inventory and Products in the ordinary course of business. The Tangible Assets (including the tangible assets of each Purchased Entity) have been maintained in all material respects in accordance with generally accepted industry practice, are in good working condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and are suitable for the purposes for which they are presently used.
(b)     The Purchased Assets and the assets, properties and rights that will be owned, leased or licensed by the Purchased Entities immediately following the Closing, together with the assets, services, rights and other obligations that will be transferred, leased, licensed or otherwise provided pursuant to the Transaction Documents, constitute the assets, properties and rights necessary to operate the Business as the Business is currently being operated (other than (i) the Shared Services and (ii) services or Intellectual Property Rights to be made available pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement or Section 2.6); provided that the foregoing is subject to the limitation in Section 2.6 that certain transfers, leases, licenses or replacements, as the case may be, of Purchased Assets, Assigned Contracts, Shared Contracts, Permits and any claim or right or benefit arising thereunder or resulting therefrom, may require a Consent which has not been obtained (and the absence of such Consent and the consequences thereof shall not, in and of itself, be deemed a breach of this Section 4.15).
Section 4.16    Absence of Certain Developments. Except for actions taken to effect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including the Ali Transaction) and any other Transaction Documents, since December 31, 2020, (a) there has not been any Material Adverse Effect, (b) the Business has been conducted in the ordinary course consistent with past practice in all material respects (after giving effect to COVID-19 Measures) and (c) there has been no action that, if taken after the Agreement Date, would have required consent under Sections 6.1(a)(i)-(vi), (viii)-(xvii) or (xx).
Section 4.17    Intercompany Arrangements. Other than ordinary course arms’-length transactions or employment contracts or arrangements, no Seller Party and to the knowledge of Seller, no Related Party of any Seller Party and their respective Affiliates has any direct or indirect financial, control or voting interest in any competitor, client, customer or supplier of any Purchased Entity or the Business, or in any Person from whom or to whom any of Seller or each Other Seller, with respect to the Business, or any Purchased Entity leases any real or personal property or in any other Person with whom any of Seller or each Other Seller, with respect to the Business, or any Purchased Entity has any material business relationship. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.17 of the Disclosure Letter, none of Seller or any Other Seller: (i) has any claim or cause of action against any Purchased Entity; or (ii) is a party to any Contract with any Purchased Entity that will not be terminated at or prior to Closing in accordance with Section 6.15. As of the Closing, there will be no outstanding notes payable to, accounts receivable from or advances by any of the Purchased Entities to, and none of the Purchased Entities will otherwise be debtor or creditor of, or have any Liability or other obligation of any nature to, any Seller and the Other Sellers, except as set forth in this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents.
Section 4.18    Products. There are not presently pending or, to the knowledge of Seller, threatened, any (a) material demands, claims or notices of violations or (b) any material civil, criminal or administrative actions, suits, hearings, investigations, or proceedings, in the case of (a) and (b), relating to any alleged hazard or alleged defect, including any failure to warn or alleged breach of express or implied warranty or representation, relating to any product manufactured, distributed or sold by or on behalf of the Business. All products manufactured, distributed or sold by or on behalf of the Business prior to Closing (i) are free of any material defects and (ii) comply in all material respects with all contractual requirements, covenants or express or implied warranties applicable thereto and are not subject to any material term,
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condition, guaranty, warranty or other indemnity beyond the applicable standard terms and conditions of sale for such products and services.
Section 4.19    Customers and Suppliers. Schedule 4.19 of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete list of each Top Customer and Top Supplier and the gross sales or purchases by the Business attributable to each Top Customer and Top Supplier for such period. Since January 1, 2021, with respect to the Business, there has been no termination, cancellation or material curtailment of the business relationship between any Seller Party and any Top Customer or Top Supplier, nor, to the knowledge of Seller, has any Top Customer or Top Supplier notified any Seller Party in writing or, to the knowledge of Seller, otherwise of an intent to so terminate, cancel or materially curtail or change its business relationship with such Seller Party. Since January 1, 2021, there has been no material dispute with any Top Customer or Top Supplier. No Top Customer or Top Supplier has informed any Seller Party in writing or, to the knowledge of Seller, otherwise that it intends to cease doing business with the Business.
Section 4.20    Accounts Receivable. All accounts receivable of the Business reflected in the Unaudited Financial Information or arising thereafter in the ordinary course of business, (a) arose in the ordinary course of business from bona fide arm’s length transactions for the sale of goods or performance of services; (b) are collectable in the ordinary course of business (subject to reserves reflected in the Unaudited Financial Information); and (c) are not subject to material counterclaims or setoffs.
Section 4.21    Inventory All of the inventories of each of Seller and each Other Seller included in the Purchased Assets, and of each Purchased Entity, whether reflected in the Unaudited Financial Information or otherwise, consist of a quality and quantity useable and salable in the ordinary and usual course of business, except for items of obsolete materials and materials of below-standard quality, all of which items have been written off or written down in the Unaudited Financial Information to the lower of costs or fair market value or for which adequate reserves have been provided therein. Such inventories have not been consigned to any customer or third party. The quantities of each type of inventory (whether raw materials, work-in-process or finished goods) are reasonable and warranted in the present circumstances of each of Seller and each Other Seller, in connection with the Business, and each Purchased Entity. The Inventory consists of products of quality that are in compliance in all material respects with all Laws pertaining to such products. All of the Inventory is of a quality normally maintained by the Seller Parties in connection with the Business in the ordinary course of business. Since December 31, 2021, there have been no material increases or decreases in the quantity of Inventory except in the ordinary course of business. The Inventory reflected on the Unaudited Financial Information is the actual on-hand Inventory of the Business as of the date thereof and is stated thereon in accordance with GAAP in all material respects applying the procedures, methodologies, and principles utilized by Seller in preparing the Unaudited Financial Information. All work in process and finished goods inventory held by each of Seller and each Other Seller included in the Purchased Assets and by each Purchased Entity are free from any material defect or other deficiency that are reasonably expected to result in a Liability in excess of the reserves expressly reflected in the Unaudited Financial Information.
Section 4.22    Insurance.
(a)    No Purchased Entity maintains insurance policies or binders for property, fire, liability, product liability, worker’s compensation, errors and omissions, vehicular, group life, health, accident or other insurance, other than admitted insurance policies as required by applicable Law. Schedule 4.22(a) of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and correct list and description (including name of insured, carrier, liability limit and whether such policy is “occurrence” or “claims made”) of the material insurance policies or binders for property, fire, liability, product liability, worker’s compensation, errors and omissions, vehicular, group life,
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health, accident and other insurance under which a Purchased Entity is a named or additional insured or that otherwise cover the Business (the “Insurance Policies”).
(b)    Each Insurance Policy is in full force and effect and all premiums due thereunder have been paid in full and no application therefor included a material misstatement or omission.
(c)    No notice of cancellation, termination, expiration or non-renewal of any such Insurance Policy has been received by any Seller Party, and on cause for such termination exists.
(d)    There are no outstanding unpaid claims under any such Insurance Policy pertaining to either the Business or any Purchased Entity for which there are any material disagreements with the insurer or denials of risk.
(e)    There are no disputes with the underwriters of any such policies of or any Business claims pending under such policies as to which coverage has been questioned, denied or disputed by the underwriters, nor has any Seller Party received a reservation of rights letter with respect thereto.
Section 4.23    Finders; Brokers. No Seller Party has employed any finder, broker or investment banker in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement who would have a valid claim for a fee, commission or expenses from Buyer or its Affiliates (including, from and after the Closing, the Purchased Entities) in connection with the negotiation, execution or delivery of this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents or the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.
ARTICLE 5
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER AND BUYER PARENT
Buyer and Buyer Parent represent and warrant to Seller as follows:
Section 5.1    Corporate Existence. Buyer Parent, Buyer and each Other Buyer is duly organized and validly existing under the Laws of its jurisdiction of organization. Buyer and each Other Buyer has the requisite corporate or similar entity power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business in substantially the same manner as the same is now being conducted.
Section 5.2    Corporate Authority. This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which Buyer Parent, Buyer or any Other Buyer is (or becomes) a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby involving such Persons have been duly authorized by Buyer Parent or Buyer and will be duly authorized by each applicable Other Buyer by all requisite corporate, partnership or other similar action prior to the Closing. Each of Buyer Parent and Buyer has, and each of the Other Buyers will have at or prior to the Closing, full corporate or other organizational (as applicable) power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder. Each Transaction Document has been or will be duly executed and delivered by Buyer, and the other Transaction Documents will be duly executed and delivered by Buyer and the Other Buyer party thereto at or prior to the Closing. Assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by Seller or the relevant other Seller Party of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, as applicable, this Agreement constitutes, and the other Transaction Documents when so executed and delivered will constitute,
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valid and legally binding obligations of Buyer Parent, Buyer and/or any Other Buyer, enforceable against it or them, as the case may be, in accordance with its terms except as enforceability may be affected by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium and other similar Laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally, and general equitable principles.
Section 5.3    Governmental Approvals and Consents; Non-Contravention.
(a)    Except for the Consents and Orders, and the making of the registrations, declarations and filings, set forth on Schedule 4.3(a) of the Disclosure Letter, no Consent or Order from, to or with any Governmental Authority is required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby by Buyer Parent, Buyer or any Other Buyer.
(b)    The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents by Buyer Parent, Buyer and/or each of the Other Buyers, the performance by Buyer Parent, Buyer and each Other Buyer of its respective obligations hereunder and thereunder and the consummation by Buyer Parent, Buyer and each of the Other Buyers of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not (i) violate or conflict with or result in any breach under any provision of the respective Organizational Documents of Buyer Parent, Buyer or any Other Buyer, (ii) result in any violation or breach of, or constitute any default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or to the loss of a material benefit under, or result in the creation of any Lien under any Contract to which Buyer Parent, Buyer and/or any Other Buyer is subject or is a party, or (iii) assuming compliance with the matters described in Section 5.3(a), violate, conflict with or result in any breach under any provision of any Law applicable to Buyer Parent, Buyer or any of their respective properties or assets, except, in the case of subclauses (ii) and (iii) of this Section 5.3(b), to the extent that any such default, violation, conflict, breach or loss would not reasonably be expected to have a Buyer Material Adverse Effect.
Section 5.4    Litigation. Neither Buyer nor any of its Affiliates is subject to any Order of or Contract with any Governmental Authority, which would reasonably be expected to have a Buyer Material Adverse Effect. No Proceeding is pending or, to the knowledge of Buyer, threatened in writing against Buyer or any of its Affiliates which, if decided adversely, would reasonably be expected to result in a Buyer Material Adverse Effect.
Section 5.5    Financial Capacity. Assuming the truth and correctness of the representations and warranties of Seller contained in this Agreement in all material respects and compliance by Seller in all material respects with all covenants contained in this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and assuming the satisfaction of the conditions in Article 7 (other than those conditions that by their nature can only be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver thereof), as of Closing, Buyer Parent or Buyer will have cash on hand sufficient for the satisfaction of all of its obligations under this Agreement, including the payment of the Purchase Price, and the payment of all related fees and expenses and any other amounts required to be paid by Buyer in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Buyer Parent’s and Buyer’s obligations hereunder are not subject to a condition regarding Buyer Parent’s or Buyer’s obtaining of funds to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
Section 5.6    Finders; Brokers. Neither Buyer nor any of its Affiliates has employed any finder, broker or investment banker in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement who would have a valid claim for a fee, commission or expenses from Seller in
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connection with the negotiation, execution or delivery of this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents or the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.
Section 5.7    Solvency. Assuming that the representations and warranties in Article 4 are true and correct, that Seller and Buyer have each complied with their respective obligations under this Agreement and that the most recent financial forecasts made available to Buyer by Seller prior to the Agreement Date have been prepared in good faith based upon assumptions that were and continue to be reasonable and immediately prior to the Closing (provided that Seller is making no representation and warranty with respect to such financial forecasts except as otherwise explicitly set forth in this Agreement), at and immediately after the Closing, and after giving effect to the transactions contemplated hereunder (including any financings being entered into in connection therewith), Buyer and its Subsidiaries (including the Purchased Entities), taken as a whole, on a consolidated basis, will be Solvent.
Section 5.8    Securities Act. Buyer and the Other Buyers are acquiring the Purchased Shares solely for the purpose of investment and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with, any distribution thereof. Buyer acknowledges that the Purchased Shares are not registered under the Securities Act, any applicable state securities Laws or any applicable foreign securities Laws, and that such Purchased Shares may not be transferred or sold except pursuant to the registration provisions of the Securities Act or applicable foreign securities Laws or pursuant to an applicable exemption therefrom and pursuant to applicable state securities Laws. Buyer (either alone or together with its advisors) has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business matters so as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of its investment in the Purchased Shares and is capable of bearing the economic risks of such investment.
Section 5.9    Independent Investigation; No Reliance. Buyer has conducted its own independent investigation, review and analysis of the business, operations, assets, liabilities, results of operations, financial condition, software, technology and prospects of the Business, which investigation, review and analysis was done by Buyer and its Affiliates and Representatives.  Except for the representations and warranties contained in Article 4 and the certificates described in Sections 7.3(a) –(c), Buyer acknowledges and agrees that (a) in entering into this Agreement, it has relied solely upon the aforementioned investigation, review and analysis and not on any factual representations or opinions of Seller or its representatives and (b) none of Seller, any Other Seller, or any Subsidiaries or Affiliates of Seller nor any other Person makes any other express, implied or statutory representation or warranty (including in any information, document or material made available to Buyer or its counsel or other representatives in Buyer’s due diligence review, including in “data rooms” (electronic or otherwise) or management presentations) with respect to the Business, the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or otherwise, including any implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, title, enforceability or noninfringement or any projections, estimates and budgets for the Business.  Buyer acknowledges that there are assumptions inherent in making any such projections, estimates and budgets, Buyer is familiar with such uncertainties and that Buyer is responsible for making its own evaluation of the Business and shall have no claim against Seller with respect thereto.  Buyer expressly acknowledges and agrees that it is not relying on any statement or representation made by or on behalf of Seller, any Other Seller, or any Subsidiaries of Affiliates of Seller except as set forth in Article 4 (as qualified by the schedules) and the certificates described in Sections 7.3(a) –(c), and that no person has been authorized by Seller, any Other Seller, or any Subsidiaries or Affiliates of Seller to make any other representation or warranty relating to Seller or the other Seller Parties, the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities. Nothing in this Section 5.9 shall relieve Seller from Liability for any Fraud.
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ARTICLE 6
AGREEMENTS OF BUYER AND SELLER
Section 6.1    Operation of the Business.
(a)    Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement (including with respect to Restructuring Activities, in connection with Seller’s obligations under Section 2.6 and Section 6.1(d)) or the other Transaction Documents, as disclosed in Schedule 6.1(a) of the Disclosure Letter (organized by the applicable subclause below), as may be necessary to comply with applicable Laws, or as taken in good faith as reasonably necessary to implement or in response to any COVID-19 Measures (with respect to which Seller has reasonably consulted with Buyer as promptly as reasonably practicable), from the Agreement Date until the Closing, without the prior written approval of Buyer (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), (x) Seller shall, and Seller shall cause its Subsidiaries to, continue to operate and conduct the Business in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and (y) Seller shall not, and Seller shall cause its Subsidiaries not to, take any of the following actions with respect to, in connection with, or which would impact or affect the Purchased Shares, the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the Business:
(i)    amend or modify the Organizational Documents of any Purchased Entity;
(ii)    transfer, sell, lease, license or otherwise convey or dispose of, or subject to any Lien (other than Permitted Liens), (A) any of the Purchased Shares or (B) the Purchased Assets (or assets or property which would have been Purchased Assets, but for such transfer or disposition), in each case other than (I) sales or non-exclusive licenses of inventory, Products or Intellectual Property Rights in the ordinary course of business or (II) sales or dispositions of obsolete or inoperable Purchased Assets;
(iii)    issue, sell, transfer, pledge, dispose of or otherwise subject to a Lien (other than transfer restrictions under securities Laws generally) any capital stock or other equity interests (including for all purposes of this Section 6.1(a) any restricted stock, restricted stock unit, performance stock unit, phantom stock, stock appreciation rights, rights to share in the profits or distributions or other similar rights), voting interest or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for, or subscriptions, rights or options with respect to, or warrants to purchase, or other similar agreements or commitments relating to, the capital stock or other equity interests or voting interests of any Purchased Entity or authorize any of the foregoing;
(iv)    (A) with respect to any Purchased Entity, declare, set aside, or pay any non-cash dividend or other distribution (other than to another Purchased Entity) or (B) reclassify, combine, split, redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, any outstanding shares of any capital stock or other equity interest of, or make any other change in the capital structure of, any Purchased Entity;
(v)    with respect to any Purchased Entity, adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization or otherwise alter a Purchased Entity’s legal structure;
(vi)    with respect to any Purchased Entity, (A) prepare or file any Tax Return inconsistent with past practice, (B) make, change or revoke any Tax election, (C) file any amended Tax Return except as required by applicable Law, (D) settle or
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compromise any material claim related to Taxes, (E) enter into any material closing agreement or similar agreement related to Taxes, (F) otherwise settle any material dispute relating to Taxes, (G) surrender any right to claim a Tax refund, offset or other reduction in Tax Liability, or (H) request any ruling or similar guidance with respect to Taxes;
(vii)    (A) create, incur, assume or guarantee any Indebtedness, in respect of which any Purchased Entity would be an obligor or which would constitute an Assumed Liability, other than any Indebtedness that is incurred or committed to be incurred prior to the Effective Time in the ordinary course of business and is included in Estimated Business Indebtedness;
(viii)    (A) grant any increase in the compensation or benefits arrangements of a Continuing Employee or under any Seller Benefit Plan or grant any new retention, severance or termination pay to any Continuing Employee or (B) enter into or amend any Seller Benefit Plan or employment, consulting, indemnification, severance, retention or termination agreement with any Continuing Employee, in each case, other than (I) in the ordinary course of business in an amount not to exceed $50,000, (II) as reflected in the budget or financial forecast provided to Buyer prior to the Agreement Date, (III) as a result of collective bargaining or other labor, works council or other similar agreements with such employees as in effect on the Agreement Date and disclosed in Schedule 4.5(a)(xiv) of the Disclosure Letter, or (IV) as required by applicable Law from time to time in effect or by the terms of any employee benefit plan, program or arrangement sponsored by Seller or one of its Subsidiaries as in effect on the Agreement Date and disclosed in Schedule 4.13 of the Disclosure Letter;
(ix)    (A) waive, release or assign any rights or claims, or settle or compromise any Proceeding, unless (I) such settlement or other action will not impose future restrictions or requirements on the Business or any Purchased Entity or any of their respective assets or properties and (II) all amounts paid in respect thereof are Excluded Liabilities or are paid or otherwise satisfied in full prior to the Closing, (B) enter into any consent decree or settlement agreement with any Governmental Authority, or (C) cancel any third party Indebtedness owed to the Business or any Purchased Entity other than in the ordinary course of business;
(x)    acquire or agree to acquire by merging or consolidating with, or by purchasing any equity interest in or material portion of the assets of, any business or Person or division thereof or enter into any joint venture, strategic alliance or partnership agreement;
(xi)    except as is required by applicable Law or by GAAP, make any material change in the Business’ methods, principles and practices of accounting or accelerate the collection of or discount any accounts receivable, delay the payment of accounts payable or defer expenses, reduce inventories or otherwise increase cash on hand, except in the ordinary course of business;
(xii)    except in the ordinary course of business, (x) enter into any Contract that if in effect on the Agreement Date would be a Material Contract, (y) amend in any material respect, renew or waive any material provision of any Material Contract (or any Contract that would have been a Material Contract if in effect on the Agreement Date), other than automatic renewals in accordance with the terms of such Contract, or (z) rescind or terminate any Material Contract (or any Contract that would have been a Material Contract if in effect on the Agreement Date); provided that expirations of Contracts in accordance with their terms shall not be deemed a termination;
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(xiii)    enter into or modify in any material respect any material special pricing arrangements or rebate structures other than in the ordinary course of business;
(xiv)    commit to make any capital expenditures or research and development expenditures in excess of $100,000 individually or $200,000 in the aggregate, other than as contemplated in the Business’s current budget or financial forecast attached as Schedule 6.1(a)(xiii) of the Disclosure Letter;
(xv)    enter into any lease of real property or any lease of personal property that involves payments in excess of $100,000 or any renewals thereof (other than automatic renewals pursuant to the terms of such lease);
(xvi)    permit the lapse of any right relating to Intellectual Property Rights or any other intangible asset used in the Business, in each case except in the ordinary course of business;
(xvii)    (x) purchase or acquire any real property that is primarily related to the Business, or transfer, convey, sell or dispose of any Real Property or (y) except in the ordinary course of business, (A) enter into any Contract for the lease of any real property that is primarily related to the Business (other than Real Property Leases in respect of Real Property in accordance with this Agreement), (B) amend in any material respect, renew or waive any material provision of any Real Property Lease (other than ordinary course renewals in accordance with the terms of such lease), or (C) rescind, allow to expire or terminate any Real Property Lease;
(xviii)    amend, permit to lapse or fail to continue in full force and effect without material modification any existing policies or binders of insurance, in each case, in a manner disproportionately adverse to the Business or assets of the type that would be Purchased Assets as compared to Seller Parties other businesses or assets;
(xix)    terminate the employment of any Business Employee except in the ordinary course of business;
(xx)    transfer or make provision for the transfer of the employment of any employee into the Business who, prior to such action, is not characterized as a Business Employee or otherwise provide for such employee to become characterized as a Business Employee (including changing the status of any employee of Seller or its Subsidiaries to that of a “Business Employee”), except transfers in order to fill a vacant position which arises as a result of the cessation of employment of a Business Employee on a one-to-one basis following the date of this Agreement, or transfer or make provision for the transfer of the employment of any employee out of the Business who, prior to such action, is characterized as a Business Employee or otherwise provide for any such employee to cease to be characterized as a Business Employee, except for terminations for cause or resignations by any such employees; or
(xxi)    agree or commit to do any of the foregoing.
(b)    If Seller or any of its Subsidiaries desires to take an action which would be prohibited pursuant to Section 6.1(a)(i) through Section 6.1(a)(xxi) without the written consent of Buyer, prior to taking such action, Seller may request such written consent by sending an electronic mail to the Representatives of Buyer listed on Schedule 6.1(b) of the Disclosure Letter. Buyer will either deliver to Seller written consent or a denial notification via electronic mail within five Business Days after Buyer receives a written request by Seller pursuant to this Section 6.1. If no such consent or denial is received by Seller within ten Business Days of its
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request in accordance with this Section 6.1, Buyer will be deemed to have granted its consent to such action(s) requested by Seller.
(c)    Nothing contained in this Agreement shall give Buyer, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the operations of the Business and prior to the Closing, Seller and its Subsidiaries shall exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, complete control and supervision over their respective businesses and operations.
(d)    Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, but subject to Section 6.15, prior to the Effective Time, without the consent of Buyer, each of Seller and its Subsidiaries will be permitted to (i) declare and pay dividends and distributions of, or otherwise transfer or advance, (A) to Seller or any Subsidiary thereof (other than by intercompany loan or advance or other transactions that result in the creation of an intercompany receivable or payable of Seller or any of its Subsidiaries (other than the Purchased Entities) that is payable by or to a Purchased Entity that would remain outstanding following the Closing or would otherwise be transferred to Buyer or any of its Subsidiaries), (I) any Excluded Assets (including in connection with any “cash sweep” or cash management practices), (II) any other assets that are not expressly contemplated to be owned or held by Buyer, an Other Buyer or a Purchased Entity pursuant to this Agreement, the Local Transfer Agreements or other Transaction Documents and (III) any Seller books and records that are not also Business Records that will be solely owned by Buyer pursuant to Appendix A, and in each case under this clause (A), that would not impact or affect the Purchased Shares, the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the Business or (B) to any Purchased Entity (other than by intercompany loan or advance or other transaction that results in the creation of an intercompany receivable or payable of Seller or any of its Subsidiaries (other than the Purchased Entities) that is payable by or to a Purchased Entity that would remain outstanding following the Closing or would otherwise be transferred to Buyer or any of its Subsidiaries), (I) any Purchased Assets, (II) any Purchased Shares or (III) any Business Records, (ii) make any payments under, or repay (in part or in full), any Indebtedness prior to the Effective Time, and (iii) execute, deliver and perform obligations required under the Local Transfer Agreements and the other Transaction Documents.
Section 6.2    Access to Information; Confidentiality; Financing.
(a)    To the extent permitted by applicable Law, until the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, permit Buyer and its authorized agents or Representatives to have reasonable access to the properties, books, records and such financial data of the Business and the Business Employees as Buyer may reasonably request, during regular business hours; provided that such investigation shall only be upon reasonable notice and shall not unreasonably disrupt the personnel and operations of Seller or any of its Subsidiaries, shall comply with the reasonable security, data privacy and data protection, and insurance requirements of Seller and its Subsidiaries and shall be at Buyer’s sole risk and expense. All requests for access to the offices, properties, books and records of Seller and its Subsidiaries shall be made to such Representatives of Seller as Seller shall designate, who shall be solely responsible for coordinating all such requests and all access permitted hereunder. It is further agreed that neither Buyer nor any of its Subsidiaries, agents or Representatives shall contact any of the employees (other than those set forth on Schedule 6.2 of the Disclosure Letter or otherwise designated in writing by one of such employees), customers, suppliers, partners, Subsidiaries or Affiliates of Seller or its Affiliates in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, whether in person or by telephone, electronic or other mail or other means of communication, without the specific prior authorization of such Representatives of Seller; provided that nothing herein shall limit or restrict in any manner any operations of Buyer or its Affiliates in the ordinary course unrelated to the Purchase Transaction. In furtherance of the foregoing, until the Closing, Buyer shall consult with Seller and obtain Seller’s consent before distributing any material communications to any Business Employee
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relating to employee benefits or post-Closing terms of employment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither Seller nor any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to (i) provide access to or disclose information where such access or disclosure would reasonably be expected to cause the waiver of any attorney-client privilege of Seller or such Subsidiaries or contravene any Law (including any COVID-19 Measures and privacy laws) or binding agreement of Seller or such Subsidiaries (so long as that party has, to the extent reasonably practicable, cooperated with the requesting party to permit such inspection of or to disclose such information on a basis that does not waive such privilege with respect thereto), (ii) provide access to or disclose any document, communication or information related to the sale process with respect to the Business or any other potential transaction relating to the sale or divestiture of the Business, (iii) provide access to personnel records of the Business Employees, including records relating to individual performance or evaluation records, medical histories, individual employee benefit information or other information that Seller believes in good faith is sensitive information relating to personnel or the disclosure of which would reasonably be expected to contravene any privacy Law or subject Seller or any of its Subsidiaries to risk of liability, or (iv) provide access to any property of Seller or its Subsidiaries for purposes of conducting any intrusive environmental sampling or testing.
(b)    The Parties expressly acknowledge and agree that this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and their respective terms and all information, whether written or oral, furnished by either Party to the other Party or any Affiliate of such other Party, in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents or pursuant to this Section 6.2 shall be treated as “Evaluation Material” under that certain confidentiality letter agreement, dated November 14, 2021, from Buyer to Seller (the “Confidentiality Agreement”).
(c)    Following the Closing Date through the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date (or, with respect to any Confidential Information that constitutes a trade secret under applicable Law, for so long as such Confidential Information remains a trade secret under applicable Law), Seller shall treat and hold, and shall cause each of its Affiliates to treat and hold, and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and their Representatives to treat and hold as confidential, and not disclose any Confidential Information to the extent concerning the Business and refrain from using any of the Confidential Information except in connection with the performance by Seller and its Affiliates of their obligations under this Agreement and the Transaction Documents or the preparation of any Tax Returns required to be filed by it and except as may be necessary to enforce its rights as described in clause (iii) below; provided, that Seller may disclose or may permit disclosure of, such information (i) to its Representatives who have a need to know such information for a purpose not prohibited by this Section 6.2(c) and are informed of their obligation to hold such information confidential to the same extent as is applicable to Seller, (ii) to the extent that Seller, its Subsidiaries or its or their Representatives are required to disclose any such information pursuant to applicable Law or pursuant to the applicable rules and regulations of any national securities exchange applicable to listed companies (subject to the following sentence), or (iii) in connection with the enforcement of any right or remedy relating to this Agreement or any other Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, in the event that Seller, its Affiliates or its or their Representatives are requested or required to disclose any Confidential Information pursuant to clause (ii) above, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, Seller shall notify Buyer promptly of the request or requirement so that Buyer, at Buyer’s sole cost and expense, may seek an appropriate protective Order. If, in the absence of a timely protective Order or a duly given waiver by Buyer, Seller, its Affiliates or its or their Representatives, as applicable, may disclose such Confidential Information to the tribunal; provided, however, that the disclosing Person shall furnish only that portion of such Confidential Information that Seller is advised by legal counsel it is legally required to disclose and shall, to the extent requested by Buyer, use
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its reasonable efforts to obtain, at the sole cost and expense, of Buyer, an Order or other assurance that confidential treatment shall be accorded to the Confidential Information required to be disclosed. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Confidential Information shall not include any information (A) to the extent that it is related to Seller’s or its Subsidiaries’ businesses other than the Business, (B) that is or becomes publicly available other than as a result of a disclosure in violation of this Section 6.2(c), (C) that is or becomes generally available to the public other than as a result of disclosure by Seller or an Affiliate or Representative thereof in breach of any confidentiality obligation, (D) that is or becomes available to Seller, its Affiliates or its or their Representatives in each case, after the Closing, on a non-confidential basis from a source other than Buyer, its Affiliates or its or their Representatives, provided that such source is not known by Seller to be in breach of a confidentiality obligation to Buyer or any of its Subsidiaries or (E) that is independently developed by Seller, its Affiliates, or its or their Representatives without use of, reliance on or reference to any Confidential Information of or relating to Buyer, the Purchased Assets, the Purchased Shares, the Assumed Liabilities, and/or the Business (including information provided to Seller or an Affiliate or Representative thereof following the Closing pursuant to this Agreement). Seller shall be liable for any breach of this Section 6.2(c) by any of its Representatives.
(d)    Following the Closing Date through the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date (or, with respect to any Confidential Information that constitutes a trade secret under applicable Law, for so long as such Confidential Information remains a trade secret under applicable Law), Buyer shall treat and hold, and shall cause each of its Affiliates to treat and hold, and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and their Representatives to, treat and hold as confidential, and not disclose any Confidential Information to the extent concerning the Excluded Assets, the Excluded Liabilities and/or the business of Seller (other than the Business) and refrain from using any of the Confidential Information except in connection with the performance by Buyer and its Affiliates of their obligations under this Agreement and the Transaction Documents or the preparation of any Tax Returns required to be filed by it and except as may be necessary to enforce its rights as described in clause (iii) below; provided, that Buyer may disclose or may permit disclosure of, such information (i) to its Representatives who have a need to know such information for a purpose not prohibited by this Section 6.2(d) and are informed of their obligation to hold such information confidential to the same extent as is applicable to Buyer, (ii) to the extent that Buyer, its Subsidiaries or its or their Representatives are required to disclose any such information pursuant to applicable Law or pursuant to the applicable rules and regulations of any national securities exchange applicable to listed companies (subject to the following sentence), or (iii) in connection with the enforcement of any right or remedy relating to this Agreement or any other Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, in the event that Buyer, its Affiliates or its or their Representatives are requested or required to disclose any Confidential Information pursuant to clause (ii) above, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, Buyer shall notify Seller promptly of the request or requirement so that Seller, at Seller’s sole cost and expense, may seek an appropriate protective Order. If, in the absence of a timely protective Order or a duly given waiver by Seller, Buyer, its Affiliates or its or their Representatives, as applicable, may disclose such Confidential Information to the tribunal; provided, however, that the disclosing Person shall furnish only that portion of such Confidential Information that Buyer is advised by legal counsel it is legally required to disclose and shall, to the extent requested by Seller, use its reasonable efforts to obtain, at the sole cost and expense, of Seller, an Order or other assurance that confidential treatment shall be accorded to the Confidential Information required to be disclosed. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Confidential Information shall not include any information that (A) is related to the Business, the Purchased Assets, Purchased Shares, Purchased Entities, or the Assumed Liabilities, (B) is or becomes publicly available other than as a result of a disclosure in violation of this Section 6.2(d), (C) is or becomes
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generally available to the public other than as a result of disclosure by Buyer or an Affiliate or Representative thereof in breach of any confidentiality obligation, (D) is or becomes available to Buyer, its Affiliates or its or their Representatives in each case, after the Closing, on a non-confidential basis from a source other than Seller, its Affiliates or its or their Representatives, provided that such source is not known by Buyer to be in breach of a confidentiality obligation to Seller or any of its Subsidiaries or (E) is independently developed by Buyer, its Affiliates, or its or their Representatives without use of, reliance on or reference to any Confidential Information of or relating to the Excluded Assets, the Excluded Liabilities and/or the businesses of Seller (other than the Business). Buyer shall be liable for any breach of this Section 6.2(d) by any of its Representatives.
(e)    Prior to the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause the other Seller Parties and its and their respective Affiliates and Representatives to use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate, at Buyer’s expense, as is customary in connection with the arrangement of the financing contemplated by Buyer’s contemplated borrowing facility or any alternative financing for the transactions contemplated herein as may be reasonably requested by Buyer. Without limiting Seller’s other obligations hereunder, nothing in this Section 6.2(e) will require such cooperation to the extent that it would: (i) unreasonably disrupt or interfere with the business or operations of the Business; (ii) require any Seller Party or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives to pay any fees, incur or reimburse any out-of-pocket costs or expenses or other Liability (except to the extent such expenses or Liabilities advanced by the Buyer), or make any payment in connection with any financing; (iii) require any Seller Party or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives to enter into any Contract, or agree to any change or modification of any Contract (other than customary authorization letters); (iv) reasonably be expected to cause any representation, warranty or covenant in this Agreement to be breached by Seller; or (v) reasonably be expected to cause any Representative of any Seller Party to incur any personal Liability. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Buyer acknowledges and agrees that its obligations to consummate the Purchase Transaction or any other transactions contemplated hereby and by the other Transaction Documents is not contingent upon Buyer obtaining the financing contemplated or any other third party financing, and Buyer’s failure to consummate the financing or any alternative financing upon the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions in Section 7.1 and Section 7.3 shall constitute a material breach by Buyer of this Agreement, enforceable subject to the limitations set forth in Section 11.7.
(f)    As soon as practicable following the Agreement Date (and in any event no later than the date that is 10 Business Days prior to the Closing Date), Seller shall deliver to Buyer the audited combined balance sheets of the Business as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, and the related combined statements of income, comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in net parent investment for the years then ended (the “Audited Financial Statements”). If Seller fails to deliver the Audited Financial Statements to Buyer prior to the Closing, such failure shall be a breach of covenant that constitutes the failure of the condition set forth in Section 7.3(b). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, (i) no representation or warranty is made with respect to the Audited Financial Statements, (ii) the Purchase Price shall not be adjusted or revised in any manner solely as a result of the Audited Financial Statements and (iii) Buyer acknowledges and agrees that nothing set forth in such Audited Financial Statements shall be a condition to, or otherwise impact, the Closing, including Section 7.3(c).
Section 6.3    Necessary Efforts; No Inconsistent Action.
(a)    Subject to the other terms and conditions of this Agreement and to applicable Law, prior to Closing, each Party agrees, and each Party agrees to cause its respective Affiliates, to use its commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all
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actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable Law to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents and to use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the conditions to that Party’s obligation to close the transactions contemplated hereby as set forth in Article 7 to be satisfied in the most expeditious manner practicable, including taking all actions necessary (i) to obtain all Consents, certificates, clearances, expirations or terminations of applicable waiting periods, qualifications and Orders of any Governmental Authority (each a “Governmental Consent”) which are or may be required for the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 7.1(b), (ii) to effect all such necessary registrations, novations, notices, disclosures and filings with the Governmental Authorities in order to consummate and make effective the Purchase Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby, and (iii) to comply with all requirements under applicable Law which may be imposed on it with respect to this Agreement and the Purchase Transaction. In the event that any Governmental Authority appoints a monitor to oversee the operation of the Business prior to the Closing, Seller and Buyer shall reasonably cooperate with such monitor.
(b)    Without limiting the generality of Section 6.3(a) with respect to the undertakings pursuant thereto, each Party shall, and shall cause its respective Affiliates to, promptly make all filings that may be required for the satisfaction of the condition set forth in Section 7.1(b) by each of them in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. Each of the Parties shall make its respective filings under the HSR Act, if such filings are required, promptly following the Agreement Date, and make any other applications and filings as reasonably determined by the Parties under other applicable Antitrust Laws with respect to the transaction contemplated by this Agreement as promptly as reasonably practicable (and in no event later than twenty days after the date of this Agreement with respect to any pre-Closing filing obligations). In addition, each Party agrees, and shall cause each of its respective Affiliates, to cooperate and to use its commercially reasonable efforts and take all actions reasonably necessary to obtain any Governmental Consents required for the satisfaction of the condition set forth in Section 7.1(b) in the most expeditious manner practicable, including to make all other reasonably necessary filings, notifications or registrations, to obtain all such Governmental Consents, and to respond as promptly as practicable to any requests for information from any such Governmental Authority. Each Party shall furnish to the other such necessary information and assistance as the other Party may reasonably request in connection with the preparation of any necessary filings or submissions by it to any such Governmental Authority, other than privileged or confidential information.
(c)    Buyer and Seller will consult and cooperate with one another on an outside-counsel-only basis, and consider in good faith the views of one another, in connection with, and provide to the other’s outside counsel in advance, any analyses, presentations, memoranda, briefs, arguments, opinions and proposals made or submitted by or on behalf of any Party hereto in connection with Proceedings under or relating to any Antitrust Laws in connection with this Agreement (to the extent legally permissible and provided that any portions of correspondence, filings and written communications that include confidential or proprietary information may be provided on an outside counsel only basis, if appropriate). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in connection with this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, the Parties agree, except as prohibited or restricted by applicable Law, and on an outside-counsel-only basis to (i) give each other reasonable advance notice of all meetings with any Governmental Authority relating to any Antitrust Laws, (ii) give each other an opportunity to participate in each of such meetings, (iii) give each other reasonable advance notice of all substantive oral communications with any Governmental Authority relating to any Antitrust Laws, (iv) if any Governmental Authority initiates a substantive oral communication regarding any Antitrust Laws, to promptly notify the other Party of the substance of such communication, (v) provide each other with a reasonable advance opportunity to review and comment upon all written
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communications, including any analyses, presentations, memoranda, briefs, arguments, opinions and proposals (other than, in the case of buyer or Seller, as the case may be, the portions of such presentations, memoranda, briefs arguments, opinions and proposals that include confidential or proprietary information not directly related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement), with a Governmental Authority regarding any Antitrust Laws, and (vi) provide each other with copies of all written communications from any Governmental Authority relating to any Antitrust Laws.
(d)    During the period from the Agreement Date until the earlier of (A) the date this Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms and (B) the Closing, except as prohibited or restricted by applicable Law, Buyer and Seller shall notify and keep the other advised as to (i)  any material communication from any Governmental Authority regarding any of the transactions contemplated hereby, and (ii) any litigation or administrative Proceeding pending and known to such Party, or to its knowledge threatened, which challenges, or would challenge, the transactions contemplated hereby. During the period from the Agreement Date until the earlier of (A) the date this Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms and (B) the Closing, or except as otherwise required by this Agreement, Seller and Buyer shall not take, and shall cause their respective Affiliates not to take, any action inconsistent with their obligations under this Agreement or, without prejudice to Seller’s or Buyer’s rights under this Agreement, that would reasonably be expected to materially hinder or delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document.
(e)    If any applicable Governmental Authority notifies Buyer or Seller that this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents is not an acceptable manner of divesting the Business pursuant to Antitrust Laws and its Consent is being withheld pending modification of the terms or provisions of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, Buyer and Seller shall reasonably seek to modify this Agreement as may be necessary to satisfy such Governmental Authority, so long as such modifications do not result in any more than a de minimis adverse impact on (i) the economic benefits to Buyer of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents, (ii) any other material terms or rights of Buyer hereunder, or (iii) the Business, the Products, or any other business or product line of the Buyer or its Affiliates (including following the Closing, the Purchased Entities).
(f)    Notwithstanding anything contained in this Section 6.3 to the contrary, neither Buyer nor any of its Affiliates will be required, and none of the Seller Parties nor any of their Affiliates shall agree, without the prior written consent of Buyer, to undertake any of the following: (i) proposing, negotiating, committing to and effecting, by consent decree, hold separate orders or otherwise, the sale, divestiture or disposition of any of its assets, properties or businesses or of the assets, properties or businesses to be acquired, directly or indirectly, by Buyer and the Other Buyers pursuant to this Agreement, (ii) agreeing to any restrictions on the activities of Buyer or its Affiliates (including following the Closing, the Purchased Entities), or (iii) defending through litigation on the merits or otherwise contesting administratively any claim asserted in court by any party (including any Governmental Authority) in order to avoid entry of, or to have vacated or terminated, any Order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that would delay or prevent the consummation of the Closing.
(g)    The Seller Parties shall give promptly such notice to third parties and use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such third party Consents as Buyer may reasonably request in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Buyer shall cooperate with and assist the Seller Parties in giving such notices and obtaining such Consents; provided, however, that neither Buyer nor the Seller Parties shall have an obligation to give any guarantee or other consideration of any nature in connection with any such notice or Consent or consent to any change in the terms of any agreement or arrangement.
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Section 6.4    Public Disclosures. Upon the request of either Buyer or Seller, upon the execution of this Agreement and upon the Closing, Buyer and Seller shall each release a press release mutually acceptable to Buyer and Seller. During the period beginning on the Agreement Date, neither Buyer nor Seller shall, and Buyer and Seller shall cause each of their respective Subsidiaries and its and their respective directors, officers, employees, Affiliates, and Representatives (including financial advisors, investment bankers, attorneys and accountants) not to, directly or indirectly, issue any press release or other public statement relating to the terms of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby that discloses any additional information regarding the same or that is otherwise inconsistent with the agreed press releases, or uses the name of the other Party or its Affiliates or refers to the other Party or its Affiliates, directly or indirectly, in connection with the relationship of the Parties under this Agreement and their Affiliates in any media interview, advertisement, news release, press release or professional or trade publication, or in any print media, whether or not in response to an inquiry, without the prior written approval of the other Party, except that (a) Buyer or Seller may issue such release or statement or make such other disclosures as they may reasonably determine is necessary to comply with applicable Law or the rules and regulations of any national securities exchange, (b) the Parties may issue any press release or make other public announcement (including to analysts), (c) each Party may disclose any information concerning the transactions contemplated hereby that it deems appropriate in its reasonable judgment, in light of its status as a publicly owned company, including to securities analysts and institutional investors and in press interviews, and (d) that Seller and its Affiliates may make announcements from time to time to (i) their respective employees in their sole discretion and (ii) to their respective customers, vendors and other business relations and otherwise as they may reasonably determine is necessary to comply (or cause any other Affiliate of Seller) with applicable Law or the requirements of any Contract (including this Agreement) to which Seller or any Affiliate of Seller is a party or otherwise bound. Any such release, announcement or disclosure under this Section 6.4(b)-(d) may be issued only to the extent such release, announcement or disclosure only contains information previously publicly disclosed in accordance with this Section 6.4 or is otherwise consistent in all material respects with previous statements made jointly by Buyer and Seller or with the permission of the other Party.
Section 6.5    Post-Closing Access to Records and Personnel.
(a)    Exchange of Information. Subject to the further requirements set forth in Section 6.8(f)(iv) with respect to Taxes, after the Closing, for a period of seven years after the Closing Date, upon receipt of reasonable prior notice, each Party agrees to provide, or cause to be provided, to each other, as soon as reasonably practicable after written request therefor and at the requesting Party’s sole expense (but only for the reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by the Party in providing such access), reasonable access during normal business hours, and in manner so as not to unreasonably interfere with the conduct of such other Party’s business, to the other Party’s employees (without substantial disruption of business or employment) and to any books, records, documents, instruments, accounts, correspondence, writings, evidences of title and other papers relating to the conduct of the Business on or before the Closing Date and (i) in the case of Seller, the Excluded Assets and Excluded Liabilities and (ii) in the case of Buyer, the Purchased Assets, the Purchased Shares and the Assumed Liabilities (the “Books and Records”), to the extent reasonably available and in the possession or under the control of the other Party that the requesting Party reasonably needs (A) to comply with reporting, disclosure, filing or other requirements imposed on the requesting Party (including under applicable securities Laws) by a Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the requesting Party, (B) in connection with the filing of any Tax Return, determining a liability for Taxes or a right to a refund of Taxes or any Tax audit or other Proceeding in respect of Taxes, (C) to comply with its obligations under this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents, or (D) in connection with any other matter requiring access to any such employees, books, records, documents, files and correspondence of the
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other Party, solely to the extent necessary for Buyer’s operation of the Business after the Closing or Seller’s operation of its businesses after the Closing, as the case may be; provided, however, that (I) no Party shall be required to provide access to or disclose information where such access or disclosure would be reasonably expected to violate any Law (including privacy Laws) or agreement or waive any attorney-client or other similar privilege (provided, the Parties shall take all reasonable measures (subject to Section 6.11) to permit the compliance with such obligations in a manner that avoids any such harm or consequence, including as provided in Section 6.5(f)), and (II) each Party may redact information regarding itself or its Subsidiaries not relating to Business, the Purchased Assets, the Purchased Shares and the Assumed Liabilities.
(b)    Ownership of Information. Any information owned by a Party that is provided to a requesting Party pursuant to this Section 6.5 shall be deemed to remain the property of the providing Party. Unless specifically set forth herein, nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as granting or conferring rights of license or otherwise in any such information.
(c)    Record Retention. Except as otherwise provided herein, each Party agrees to retain the Books and Records in its possession or control for seven years or, if shorter, the period of time as set forth in its regular document retention policy, as such policy may be amended from time to time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Party may destroy or otherwise dispose of any Books and Records not in accordance with its retention policy (or otherwise not in compliance with the foregoing); provided that, prior to such destruction or disposal, (i) such Party shall provide no less than 75 Business Days’ prior written notice to the other Party of any such proposed destruction or disposal (which notice shall specify in reasonable detail which of the Books and Records is proposed to be so destroyed or disposed of and the general type and scope of information contained therein), and (ii) if a recipient of such notice shall request in writing prior to the scheduled date for such destruction or disposal that any of the information proposed to be destroyed or disposed of be delivered to such recipient, such Party proposing the destruction or disposal shall, as promptly as practicable, arrange for the delivery of such of the Books and Records as was requested by the recipient (it being understood that all reasonable out-of-pocket costs associated with the delivery of the requested Books and Records shall be paid by such recipient).
(d)    Limitation of Liability. No Party shall have any Liability to any other Party in the event that any information exchanged or provided pursuant to this Section 6.5 is found to be inaccurate, except in the case of fraud. No Party shall have any Liability to any other Party if any information is destroyed or lost after commercially reasonable efforts by such Party to comply with the provisions of Section 6.5(c).
(e)    Other Agreements Providing for Exchange of Information. The rights and obligations granted under this Section 6.5 are subject to any specific limitations, qualifications or additional provisions on the sharing, exchange or confidential treatment of information set forth in this Agreement.
(f)    Confidential Information. Nothing in this Section 6.5 shall require (i) either Party to violate any agreement with any third parties regarding the confidentiality of confidential and proprietary information (provided, however, that in the event that either Party is required under this Section 6.5 to disclose any such information, that Party shall use all reasonable efforts to seek to obtain such third party’s Consent to the disclosure of such information and implement requisite procedures to enable the disclosure of such information or take all reasonable measures to permit the disclosure in a manner that avoids any such violation), or (ii) Seller to provide or cause to be provided to Buyer any information related to the sale process of the sale or divestiture of the Business or any other potential transaction
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relating to the Business or Seller’s or its Representatives’ evaluation thereof, including projections, financial or other information related thereto. The covenants contained in this Section 6.5 shall in no event be considered a waiver of any attorney-client privilege, work product privilege or any similar privilege.
Section 6.6    Employee Relations and Benefits.
(a)    Between thirty (30) and fifteen (15) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall provide Buyer with an updated Business Employee List to reflect new hires, terminations or other personnel changes occurring between the date hereof and the Closing Date made in accordance with and subject to Section 6.1(a) and the amount of accrued PTO and accrued bonus and other incentive compensation (including amounts accrued under any Seller Annual Bonus Plan or any Seller sales and commission plans in effect as of the Closing) as of the date thereof.
(b)    Where applicable, the Parties intend that there shall be continuity of employment with respect to all Business Employees who are Automatic Transferred Employees or who accept employment with an Employing Entity and that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement do not constitute a separation, termination or severance of employment of any Continuing Employee (or any Business Employee) prior to or upon the occurrence of the Closing, to the extent permitted by applicable Law and the terms of any applicable benefit plan or other Contract. Within a reasonable period of time (but not less than required under applicable Law) prior to the Closing Date, Buyer shall, or shall cause the appropriate Employing Entity to, make a Compliant Offer to the Business Employees, other than (i) Automatic Transferred Employees and (ii) Business Employees already then employed by a Purchased Entity, in compliance with the terms of Section 6.6(d). Each such Business Employee who accepts (and commences) employment with an Employing Entity pursuant to such offer of employment and continues to be employed by such Employing Entity at the Closing and each Purchased Entity Employee, is referred to herein as a “Continuing Employee.” Each Continuing Employee who is based in the United States is referred to as a “U.S. Continuing Employee,” and each Continuing Employee who is based outside of the United States is referred to as a “Foreign Continuing Employee.” Each Affiliate of Buyer (including, following the Closing, a Purchased Entity) that employs a Continuing Employee is referred to herein as an “Employing Entity.” Each Business Employee who receives an offer of employment from an Employing Entity that complies with this Section 6.6 (a “Compliant Offer”), excluding (A) each Automatic Transferred Employee and (B) each Business Employee who would have otherwise been an Automatic Transferred Employee but who objects to the automatic transfer of his or her employment to an Employing Entity by operation of Law, is referred to herein as an “Offer Recipient Employee.” With respect to Foreign Continuing Employees, Seller shall take all actions required under local Law to implement an effective transfer of employment, including complying with any notice or consultation requirements.
(c)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 6.6 and subject to and in accordance with applicable local Law, if any Business Employee is not actively at work and is receiving, or in a waiting or elimination period for, short-term or long-term disability benefits as of the Closing Date pursuant to a Seller Benefit Plan (each, an “Inactive Employee”), Seller shall cause such Inactive Employee not to be a Continuing Employee and no offer of employment need be made pursuant to Section 6.6(b), provided that if any such Inactive Employee, within six (6) months following the Closing Date, is able to return to work, Buyer shall cause an Employing Entity to offer employment to such employee on terms consistent with those applicable to Continuing Employees generally under this Section 6.6, treating the date of return to work as the Closing Date, and any such Inactive Employee who accepts an Employing Entity’s offer of employment and commences employment with an
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Employing Entity or its Affiliates in accordance therewith shall first be treated as a Continuing Employee under this Section 6.6 as of the date of such employment commencement. Seller shall promptly notify Buyer of the occurrence and end of any such leave of absence of an Inactive Employee.
(d)    Prior to sending, Buyer shall provide to Seller the form of offer of employment to be presented to the Offer Recipient Employees and shall incorporate any reasonable comments of Seller. Pursuant to this Section 6.6, Buyer shall cause the Employing Entity to present its terms and conditions of employment (including terms and conditions in respect of post-Closing compensation and benefits) to the Offer Recipient Employees, which terms and conditions will be consistent with the provisions of this Section 6.6. Buyer agrees that the offers made pursuant to Section 6.6(b) will provide for employment immediately following the Closing, and that it shall cause the Employing Entity to provide for employment for all Continuing Employees, other than those subject to collective bargaining, (i) at the same general location in accordance with applicable Law at which such Business Employee was employed immediately prior to the Closing, (ii) at base salaries, cash incentive opportunities, and hourly rates at least equal to that in effect prior to the Closing, and (iii) with other employee benefits (excluding defined benefit pension benefits, non-qualified retirement benefits, liquidity, sale bonus, transaction, retention, change-of-control, stay bonus plans or similar arrangements) that are substantially comparable in the aggregate to the benefits other similar situated employees of the Employing Entity receive (except as it relates to the Post-Transaction Severance Benefits described in Section 6.6(g)); provided that if the Employing Entity does not have any such similarly situated employees, as determined by the Employing Entity in its sole discretion, Continuing Employees will be provided the same employee benefits as other employees of the Employing Entity. Buyer agrees that it shall, or shall cause the applicable Employing Entity to, maintain the compensation and benefits for each Continuing Employee who is not subject to collective bargaining through December 31, 2022 (or (A) such shorter period as such Continuing Employee remains an employee of such Employing Entity following the Closing, or (B) such longer period to the extent required by any applicable local Laws). Between the Agreement Date and the Closing Date, any communications between Buyer and its Affiliates and any Business Employees regarding the terms of employment, employee benefits or otherwise regarding employment with Buyer and its Affiliates following the Closing will be conducted at the times and through the processes mutually agreed upon by Seller and Buyer and in accordance with applicable Law.
(e)    To the extent permitted by Law, Buyer or the applicable Employing Entity will credit each Continuing Employee who is not subject to collective bargaining the amount of accrued and unpaid hours of vacation (to the extent permitted by Law), personal hours, PTO or days earned and sick leave as of or prior to the Closing and any other leave required to be credited by Law applicable to such Continuing Employee (collectively referred to herein as such Continuing Employee’s “accrued PTO”) to the extent included in Closing Business Indebtedness or as a Current Liability in Closing Net Working Capital and disclosed to the Employing Entity.
(f)    Seller shall retain the liability and the obligation to provide post-retirement welfare benefits (both pre-65 and post-65 coverage) to (i) any employee of the Business (and eligible dependents) who terminated prior to the Closing and (ii) any Continuing Employee (and their eligible dependents) who, as of the Closing, was within the group of employees eligible to receive post-retirement welfare benefits in the future, assuming continued employment with Seller through a qualifying retirement. Seller shall amend its applicable Seller Benefit Plans to recognize service with Buyer and its Affiliates as service with the Seller (or its Affiliates) for purposes of continued eligibility for post-retirement welfare benefits and such individuals shall be treated in the same manner as similarly situated
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retirees of Seller. Buyer (or an Affiliate) will notify Seller when a person in (f)(ii) above terminates employment with Buyer (and its Affiliates).
(g)    Nothing in this Agreement shall require Buyer or an Employing Entity to employ any Continuing Employee for any specific amount of time following the Closing, and, unless applicable local Law or a written agreement, including a collective bargaining agreement, requires otherwise, all Continuing Employees shall be employed by Buyer or an Employing Entity on an at-will basis, subject to applicable local Law. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, however, Buyer shall be responsible for, and shall perform and discharge, or cause to be performed and discharged, and shall indemnify and hold harmless Seller and its Subsidiaries from and against, all Assumed Liabilities that arise out of the employment or the termination of employment by Buyer or any of its Subsidiaries of the Continuing Employees (including any Automatic Transferred Employees or Purchased Entity Employees) following the Closing, except that: (i) Buyer shall not be responsible for any severance or termination payments required under applicable local Law resulting from Seller’s failure to implement an effective transfer of employment in accordance with applicable local Law or to provide information necessary for Buyer to offer or maintain employment in accordance with applicable local Law, and (ii) the responsibility for any Deal Related Severance shall be apportioned as set forth in Section 6.6(i). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, with respect to each Continuing Employee who incurs a Qualifying Termination following the Closing, and prior to December 31, 2022, and for whom there is no Deal Related Severance obligation, Buyer will, or will cause an Employing Entity to, provide such employee with those severance payments and termination benefits (less required withholding Taxes) under the applicable formula set forth, or otherwise described, in Buyer’s severance policies or as set forth in individual employment agreements, applicable to such Continuing Employee as in effect on the Agreement Date for employees based in the relevant jurisdiction under Seller’s severance policies set forth on Schedule 6.6(g) or any higher amount of severance payments and termination benefits as may be required by applicable Law (the “Post-Transaction Severance Benefits”).
(h)    Except as otherwise required by applicable Law, Buyer will, or will cause an Employing Entity to, pay or deliver the Post-Transaction Severance Benefits (less required withholding Taxes) to any such Continuing Employee whose employment is being terminated in a Qualifying Termination as described in the following sentence as soon as reasonably practicable following such termination of such Continuing Employee’s employment. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Qualifying Termination” means a termination by Buyer or the Employing Entity of the Continuing Employee’s employment other than for Cause or a resignation by the Continuing Employee of his or her employment following a Constructive Termination unless a more employee-favorable standard applies in an individual employment agreement or arrangement for such applicable employee (in which case such definition shall apply).
(i)    Buyer, on the one hand, and Seller, on the other hand, shall each be responsible for fifty percent (50%) of all Deal Related Severance.
(j)    Buyer shall pay or cause to be paid the Retention Bonuses to the applicable recipients thereof (less applicable withholding Taxes) at the times specified in the applicable award letters.
(k)    Except to the extent provided in the Transition Services Agreement and Section 6.6(l), effective no later than 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on the Closing Date, except as required by applicable Law, each Continuing Employee shall cease to participate in, or accrue further benefits under, any Seller Benefit Plan (other than as a former employee of Seller and
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its Subsidiaries to the extent, if any, permitted by the terms of such Seller Benefit Plan) that are not Assumed Benefit Plans.
(l)    Continuing Employees (and covered dependents) shall continue to participate in all medical, dental and vision benefit plans, workers compensation and life insurance plans, disability plans and other welfare plans in which they participate with respect to claims incurred by such Continuing Employee or his or her covered dependents prior to the Closing Date.
(m)    Buyer will (from and after the Closing) use commercially reasonable efforts to cause each benefit plan of Buyer and its Affiliates for Continuing Employees in which they are eligible to participate and that is a health or welfare benefit plan (including the Assumed Benefit Plans, the “Buyer Benefit Plans”) to (i) waive all limitations as to preexisting conditions, exclusions and service conditions with respect to participation and coverage requirements applicable to Continuing Employees, (ii) honor any payments, charges and expenses of such Continuing Employees (and their eligible dependents) that were applied toward the deductible and out-of-pocket maximums under the corresponding Seller Benefit Plan in satisfying any applicable deductibles, out-of-pocket maximums or co-payments under a corresponding Buyer Benefit Plan or Assumed Benefit Plan during the same plan year in which such payments, charges and expenses were made, in accordance with information supplied by Seller for this purpose and upon which the Buyer can rely, and (iii) with respect to any medical plan, waive any waiting period limitation or evidence of insurability requirement that would otherwise be applicable to a Continuing Employee following the Closing Date.
(n)    From and after the Closing, Buyer and an Employing Entity (with respect to their benefit plans in which a Continuing Employee participates, which, following the Closing, includes Assumed Benefits Plans) will provide credit for such Continuing Employee’s length of service with Seller and its Subsidiaries (including any length of service with any entity acquired by Seller or any such Subsidiary), in accordance with information supplied by Seller for this purpose and upon which the Buyer can rely, for purposes of eligibility, participation, vesting and benefit accrual under such plan, program, policy or arrangement, including severance policies but excluding defined benefit, retiree medical and equity benefits, except that such prior service credit will not be required to the extent that it results in a duplication of benefits (including benefits received under the Deal Related Severance).
(o)    On or prior to the Closing, Buyer shall, or shall cause the appropriate Employing Entity to amend a 401(k) plan and a related trust (the “Buyer 401(k) Plan”), which shall be intended to meet the Tax qualification requirements of Section 401(a) of the Code, the Tax exemption requirements of Section 501(a) of the Code, and the requirements described in Sections 401(k) and 401(m) of the Code, to offer employer contributions described in a collective bargaining agreement to U.S. Continuing Employees who are subject to such collective bargaining agreement. Buyer shall permit each U.S. Continuing Employee who meets the eligibility criteria of the Buyer 401(k) Plan to participate (or continue participation) in the Buyer 401(k) Plan, and Buyer agrees to cause the Buyer 401(k) Plan to accept rollovers by Continuing Employees from the Seller 401(k) plans, including promissory notes evidencing all outstanding loans, to the extent allowed by the Buyer 401(k) Plan and in accordance with the Law.
(p)    Without limiting the provisions of this Section 6.6 and as identified on Schedule 6.6(p) to the Disclosure Letter, and to the extent doing so will not incur excise Taxes or penalties for any Continuing Employee, (i) with respect to the fiscal year of Seller in which the Closing occurs and with respect to each Continuing Employee, Buyer shall, or shall cause the applicable Employing Entity of such Continuing Employee to, make a bonus payment to
    72



such Continuing Employee in an amount equal to the amount accrued in the Final Closing Net Working Capital with respect to the Seller Annual Bonus Plan for such Continuing Employee, if any, which bonus payment shall be made not later than the same time or times Seller pays employee bonuses in the ordinary course of business (provided that if the Final Consideration has not been finally determined in accordance with Section 3.4(f) at such point in time, then Buyer shall pay the amount accrued in the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital with respect to the Seller Annual Bonus Plan for such Continuing Employee, if any, and such accrued amount shall be final for purposes of calculating the Final Closing Net Working Capital and the Final Consideration), and (ii) with respect to any Seller sales and commission plans in effect as of the Closing, Buyer shall, or shall cause the applicable Employing Entity of such Continuing Employee to, make such payments under the Seller sales and commission plans as they are earned by such Continuing Employee, if any, which payment shall be made no later than the same time or times Seller pays such sales and commission payments in the ordinary course of business; provided that any unpaid sales commissions with respect to the period prior to Closing are accurately accrued in the Final Closing Net Working Capital.
(q)    Seller shall use its reasonable best efforts to ensure that any Business Employees who are foreign nationals and require a visa in order to work for Buyer or an Employing Entity in his or her current position may continue to work in such position following the Closing Date, which efforts may include, but not be limited to, amending current visa petitions to properly reflect any new employing entity or position prior to Closing. With respect to any Business Employee who is a foreign national working in the United States in non-immigrant visa status, Buyer or an Employing Entity shall employ such Business Employee under terms and conditions such that Buyer qualifies as a “successor employer” under applicable United States immigration Laws effective as of the Closing for immigration-related purposes only, and Buyer shall not be deemed to have otherwise assumed any Liabilities (other than with respect to the immigration-related liabilities and responsibilities associated with the applicable visa petitions) or to be a successor for any other purpose except to the extent otherwise set forth in this Agreement.
(r)    The Parties shall cooperate with each other to effectuate the employment and benefit provisions contained in this Section 6.6, including timely providing information and documentation necessary to implement the post-Closing Buyer benefit and compensation plan provisions. To the extent Buyer is not provided necessary information from Seller to perform its obligations under this Section 6.6, such obligation will no longer be effective or required of Buyer. Seller shall specifically cooperate with Buyer in Buyer’s efforts to (i) approach any applicable union or works council prior to the Closing regarding the transition of the Business Employees covered under any collective bargaining agreement or other labor agreement, and (ii) negotiating the terms of any collective bargaining agreement or other labor agreements to support the transition of employment for Business Employees covered under such collective bargaining or other labor agreements following the Closing.
(s)    The provisions of this Section 6.6 are for the sole benefit of the Parties and nothing herein, expressed or implied, is intended or shall be construed to (i) constitute an employment agreement, (ii) confer upon or give to any Person, other than the Parties and their respective permitted successors and assigns, any legal or equitable or other rights or remedies with respect to the matters provided for in this Section 6.6 under or by reason of any provision of this Agreement, or (iii) prohibit Buyer (or any of its Subsidiaries) from terminating the employment of any Continuing Employee following the Closing Date. Without limiting the foregoing, in no event shall any Business Employee be deemed to be a third party beneficiary, or otherwise entitled to enforce, any provision of this Agreement (other than, to the extent expressly set forth therein, Section 6.9).
Section 6.7    Insurance Matters.
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Buyer acknowledges that certain policies and insurance coverage maintained on behalf of the Business on the Agreement Date may be part of the corporate insurance program maintained by Seller and its Subsidiaries and related to businesses other than the Business, in which case, such coverage will not be transferred to Buyer. From and after the Closing Date, the Purchased Entities and their Subsidiaries shall cease to be insured by Seller’s or its Affiliates’ insurance policies for claims occurring post-Closing or by any of their self-insured programs, and Seller and any of its Affiliates may, to be effective at the Closing, amend any insurance policies in the manner it deems appropriate to give effect to this Section 6.7. From and after the Closing, Buyer shall be responsible for securing all insurance it considers appropriate for its operation of the Business. Buyer covenants and agrees not to seek to assert or to exercise any rights or claims of the Business or any Purchased Entity under or in respect of any past or current insurance policy under which the Business or any Purchased Entity is a named insured; provided, however, with respect to (a) events relating to the Assumed Liabilities or (b) losses or damages related to the Purchased Assets, the Purchased Entities or their assets, each of which occurred or existed prior to the Closing Date and which are covered by Seller’s or its Subsidiaries’ occurrence-based third-party liability insurance policies and workers’ compensation insurance or which involved assets that would have been included in the Purchased Assets but for the fact that they were damaged or destroyed and were not replaced by Seller or its Subsidiaries with comparable assets included in the Purchased Assets, (i) Buyer may promptly notify Seller of any matter that is reasonably expected to give rise to a claim under any such policy (provided, that, the failure to promptly notify Seller shall not relieve Seller from its obligations under clause (ii), except to the extent that Seller’s ability to pursue such claim or recover under such policies is actually and materially prejudiced thereby), and (ii) Seller shall and shall cause its Subsidiaries to tender for defense and indemnity, under such policies to the extent such coverage and limits are available under such policies and any insurance proceeds received with respect thereto shall be promptly delivered to Buyer (calculated net of reasonable expenses incurred in procuring such recovery and any increase in premiums or retroactive premium adjustments or chargebacks paid by or on behalf of Seller or its Subsidiaries as a result of such claims). Seller agrees to use its commercially reasonable efforts to pursue all such claims; provided, however, that Buyer shall exclusively bear (and Seller shall have no obligation to repay or reimburse Buyer for) the amount of any per-claim deductibles associated with claims made under such policies and programs. Buyer and Seller shall cooperate in connection with making such claim and each Party shall provide the other with all reasonably requested information necessary to make such claim. To the extent Seller or its Subsidiaries receives any property or casualty insurance proceeds after the date hereof in connection with the damage or complete destruction of any Purchased Assets or assets that would have been included in the Purchased Assets but for such damage or complete destruction and were not replaced by Seller or its Subsidiaries with comparable assets included in the Purchased Assets, Seller shall at or promptly following the Closing (or, if later, promptly following the date received) pay over to Buyer such proceeds, in each case calculated net of reasonable expenses incurred in procuring such recovery and any increase in premiums or retroactive premium adjustments or chargebacks paid by or on behalf of Seller or its Subsidiaries as a result of such claims (and which amount shall not be deemed to be Business Cash).
Section 6.8    Tax Matters.
(a)    Tax Indemnification.
(i)    Seller shall indemnify and hold harmless the Buyer Indemnified Parties from and against (A)(1) Taxes of the Purchased Entities attributable to any Pre-Closing Tax Period, (2) Taxes imposed on the Purchased Assets for any Pre-Closing Tax Period, and (3) Taxes imposed on the Business attributable to any Pre-Closing Tax Period, (B) Taxes arising under Section 1.1502-6 of the Treasury Regulations or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law by virtue of any Purchased Entity having been a member of a consolidated, combined, affiliated, unitary or other similar tax group
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prior to the Closing, and (C) all Taxes attributable to the distribution or transfer of property owned by the Chinese Subsidiary in connection with the Restructuring Activities (whether occurring before, at or after the Closing), and (D) Transfer Taxes that Seller is responsible for under this Section 6.8, in each case, other than Taxes (I) indemnified under Section 6.8(a)(ii)(F), (II) arising out of any breach of any covenant made by Buyer or any of its Affiliates, (III) arising out of any action taken outside the ordinary course of business by Buyer or any of its Affiliates on the Closing Date, except to the extent such action was expressly contemplated by this Agreement, or (IV) reflected on a full dollar basis in the Final Consideration (collectively, the items set forth in clauses (A)-(C) of this sentence, subject to the exclusions set forth in clauses (I)-(IV) of this sentence, the “Excluded Tax Liabilities ”). Notwithstanding that a claim for Taxes or Losses may fall into multiple categories of this Section 6.8(a)(i), a Buyer Indemnified Party may recover such Taxes and Losses one time only.
(ii)    Buyer shall indemnify and hold harmless the Seller Indemnified Parties from and against (A) Taxes of the Purchased Entities attributable to any Post-Closing Tax Period, (B) Taxes imposed on the Purchased Assets for any Post-Closing Tax Period, (C) Taxes imposed on the Business attributable to any Post-Closing Tax Period, (D) Taxes arising out of any breach of any covenant made by Buyer or any of its Affiliates in this Agreement, (E) Taxes arising out of any action taken outside the ordinary course of business by Buyer or any of its Affiliates on the Closing Date, except to the extent such action was expressly contemplated by this Agreement, (F) Transfer Taxes that Buyer is responsible for under this Section 6.8, and (G) Taxes of the Buyer and any of its Affiliates (other than the Purchased Entities). Notwithstanding that a claim for Taxes may fall into multiple categories of this Section 6.8(a)(ii), a Seller Indemnified Party may recover such Taxes one time only.
(iii)    In the case of any Straddle Period, the amount of Taxes allocable to the portion of the Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date, including for purposes of determining Taxes reflected in the Final Consideration and any liability for Taxes under this Section 6.8, shall be deemed to be (A) in the case of Taxes imposed on a periodic basis (such as real or personal property Taxes), the amount of such Taxes for the entire period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar days in the Straddle Period ending on and including the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in the entire relevant Straddle Period, and (B) in the case of Taxes not described in clause (A) of this Section 6.8(a)(iii) (such as franchise Taxes or Taxes that are based on or related to income or receipts), the amount of any such Taxes shall be determined as if such taxable period ended as of the close of business on the Closing Date based on an interim closing of the books method; provided, however, that solely for purposes of allocating and determining any Taxes imposed in connection with or as a result of the purchase and sale of the Purchased Shares and the Purchased Assets and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities pursuant to this Agreement, the portion that relates to the pre-Closing portion of any Straddle Period pursuant to this Section 6.8(a)(iii) shall be determined based on an interim closing of the books as of immediately prior to the Effective Time (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the Transaction Tax Deductions shall be allocated to the portion of the Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date).
(iv)    The indemnification obligations pursuant to Section 6.8(a) shall survive the Closing Date until the date that is thirty (30) days following the expiration of the applicable Tax statute of limitations.
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(b)    Transfer Taxes.
(i)    Any Liability for Transfer Taxes payable in connection with the consummation of the Purchase Transaction and the transfer of the Purchased Shares and the Purchased Assets pursuant to this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents shall be borne one-half by Seller and one-half by Buyer, provided, however, that each of Seller and Buyer shall be responsible for their own PRC stamp duty. The Parties agree to cooperate in good faith with one another in the filing of any claim for exemption or exclusion from the application or imposition of any Transfer Taxes, including by promptly supplying any information in its possession that is reasonably necessary to file such claim for exemption or exclusion.
(ii)    Without limiting the indemnification rights and obligations of the Parties with respect to Transfer Taxes, unless the Parties mutually agree otherwise, any Tax Returns that must be filed in connection with any Transfer Taxes required to be paid with respect to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be prepared and filed by Buyer, unless Seller is required by Law to file such Tax Returns (the “Transfer Tax Returns”), and such Party shall pay the Transfer Taxes shown on such Tax Return within the period specified by applicable Law. The filing party shall provide the other party with a draft copy of such Tax Return which it is required to file at least seven Business Days before such Tax Returns are due to be filed and shall consider in good faith any comments provided by the other party. Buyer shall settle any obligations for any Liability for Transfer Taxes paid by Seller for which it is liable pursuant to this Section 6.8(b) within 10 Business Days of being invoiced by Seller for such amount and Seller shall settle any obligations for any Liability for Transfer Taxes paid by Buyer for which it is liable pursuant this Section 6.8(b) within 10 Business Days prior to being invoiced by Buyer for same amount.
(c)    Additional VAT Matters.
(i)    If the sale of any Purchased Asset to Buyer or applicable Other Buyer under this Agreement is subject to VAT, Seller or the relevant Other Asset Seller shall prepare and promptly file the appropriate VAT documentation in a timely manner with the applicable Taxing Authority. Seller shall deliver or cause to be delivered a copy of any draft VAT invoices and other required VAT documentation to Buyer for Buyer’s review and input of any necessary information about the applicable Buyer Affiliate. The Parties shall include accurate and complete VAT invoices as required by applicable Law and in a timely manner. Buyer and Seller shall use reasonable efforts and cooperate in good faith to determine the appropriate rate of VAT and to exempt or relieve the transfer to Buyer or applicable Other Buyer of the Purchased Assets from any VAT to the extent permitted by applicable Law, including, for the avoidance of doubt, ensuring to the extent permitted that the transfer of Purchased Assets is treated as neither a supply of services nor a supply of goods for purposes of VAT.
(ii)    At the Closing where the Purchased Assets include an interest in real property and the transfer of such Purchased Assets is, or is treated as being, not liable to VAT, Buyer and Seller will cooperate to the extent permitted by Law to ensure that the transfer of such real property interest qualifies for such treatment.
(d)    Tax Returns.
(i)    Except as provided in Section 6.8(b), Seller shall prepare or cause to be prepared and duly file or cause to be duly filed, all Seller-Signed Tax Returns in a timely manner with the appropriate Taxing Authorities; provided that all Seller-Signed
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Tax Returns of any Purchased Entity shall (to the extent related to the Purchased Shares, Purchased Assets, Assumed Liabilities or the Business) be prepared using accounting methods and other practices that are consistent with those used in the Tax Returns filed prior to the Closing and in accordance with the agreements in Section 6.8 and Section 3.3, as applicable (in each case except as otherwise required by applicable Law or to correct any clear errors). As used herein, “Seller-Signed Tax Returns” means (A) all Tax Returns relating to the Purchased Entities prepared or filed on an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary basis with Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than the Purchased Entities) and (B) all other Tax Returns (other than as provided in Section 6.8(b)) for Tax periods ending on or before the Closing Date that (I) are of the Purchased Entities or relate to the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the Business and (II) are permitted, under applicable Law, to be filed by Seller or any of its Affiliates without having received any powers of attorney from Buyer or any of its Affiliates.
(ii)    Except as provided in Section 6.8(b), Seller shall prepare and file, or cause to be prepared and filed, all Buyer-Signed Tax Returns in a timely manner with the appropriate Taxing Authorities; provided that Seller (A) shall provide Buyer with a draft copy of each such Buyer-Signed Tax Return at least 20 Business Days before the due date for the filing of such Tax Return (including extensions) (or as soon as reasonably practicable in the case of any such Buyer-Signed Tax Return due less than 20 Business Days after the Closing Date), (B) shall consider in good faith any comments provided by Buyer within five Business Days after receipt of the draft from Seller, and (C) shall provide Buyer with a finalized copy of such Tax Return at least 10 Business Days before such due date. Seller shall not file such Tax Return until the earlier of (I) the receipt of written notice from Buyer indicating Buyer’s consent thereto, or (II) five days prior to the due date. All Buyer-Signed Tax Returns shall (to the extent related to the Purchased Shares, Purchased Assets, Assumed Liabilities or the Business) be prepared using accounting methods and other practices that are consistent with those used in the Tax Returns filed prior to the Closing and in accordance with the agreements in Section 6.8 and Section 3.3, as applicable (in each case except as otherwise required by applicable Law or to correct any clear errors). As used herein, “Buyer-Signed Tax Returns” means all Tax Returns for Tax periods ending on or before the Closing Date that are of the Purchased Entities or relate to the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the Business, in each case other than Seller-Signed Tax Returns and Tax Returns for Transfer Taxes.
(iii)    Except as provided in Section 6.8(b), each Straddle Period Tax Return shall be prepared and filed, or caused to be prepared and filed, with the appropriate Taxing Authority (A) by Buyer if it or any of its Affiliates is permitted to file such Tax Return under applicable Law or (B) by Seller if Buyer and its Affiliates are not permitted to file such Tax Return under applicable Law, in each case in a timely manner using accounting methods and other practices that are consistent with past practice and in accordance with the agreements in Section 6.8 and Section 3.3, as applicable (in each case except as otherwise required by applicable Law or to correct any clear errors); provided that such filing Party (I) shall provide the other Party with a draft copy of such Tax Return at least 20 Business Days before the due date for the filing of such Tax Return (including extensions), (II) shall consider in good faith any comments provided by such other Party within five Business Days after receipt of the draft from the preparing Party and (III) shall provide the other Party with a finalized copy of such Tax Return at least 10 Business Days before such due date. The Party preparing the Straddle Period Tax Return shall not file such Tax Return until the earlier of (x) the receipt of written notice from the other Party indicating other Party’s consent thereto, or (y) five days prior to the due date. As used herein, “Straddle Period Tax Returns” means all Tax Returns for Straddle Periods that are of the Purchased Entities or relate to the Purchased Assets,
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the Assumed Liabilities or the Business, in each case, other than Tax Returns for Transfer Taxes.
(iv)    With respect to each Tax Return described in this Section 6.8(d), the Party required to file such Tax Return (or cause such Tax Return to be filed) pursuant to this Section 6.8(d) (the “Tax Return Filer”) shall timely pay to the relevant Taxing Authority the amount, if any, shown as due on such Tax Return; provided that if the Tax Return Filer is not permitted to make such payment under applicable Law, then the Parties shall cooperate in good faith to arrange for such amount to be paid to the relevant Taxing Authority in a manner permitted by applicable Law; provided, further, that the obligation to make payments pursuant to this Section 6.8(d)(iv) shall not affect such Tax Return Filer’s right, if any, to receive payments under Section 6.8(d)(v) or otherwise be indemnified under this Agreement with respect to any Taxes.
(v)    On or before the due date of any Tax Return described in this Section 6.8 (including extensions), the relevant Tax Return Filer shall notify the other Party of any amounts shown as due on such Tax Return (and to be paid by such Tax Return Filer and its Affiliates), or any portions of any such amounts, for which the other Party must indemnify the Tax Return Filer under this Agreement, in each case, representing such liabilities for Taxes which are the responsibility of the applicable Party as determined pursuant to this Section 6.8, and, in the case of Seller, taking into account Taxes reflected on a full dollar basis in the Final Consideration(and for the avoidance of doubt, Buyer shall pay to Seller the amount of any excess of such Taxes reflected in the Final Consideration over Seller’s share of amounts shown as being due and payable on such corresponding Tax Returns), and such other Party shall pay such amounts (or portions thereof) to the Tax Return Filer no later than such due date or, if later, 10 Business Days after the date on which notice of such amounts (or portions thereof) is provided by the Tax Return Filer pursuant to this Section 6.8(d)(v). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, failure of the Tax Return Filer to notify the other Party as described in the preceding sentence or provide any Tax Return prior to its filing shall not modify or affect such Tax Return Filer’s rights hereunder (including the right to indemnification for any Taxes reflected on such Tax Return) or the indemnity obligations of the other Party except to the extent failure to do so actually and materially prejudices the other Party.
(vi)    The Parties hereby agree that Seller shall be permitted in its sole discretion to make any election under Section 245A of the Code (including an election under Treasury Regulations Section 1.245A-5(e)(3)) with respect to any Purchased Entity that is a “controlled foreign corporation” within the meaning of Section 957(a) of the Code (and any corresponding or similar provisions of state, local, or non-U.S. Tax Law), and Buyer shall cooperate in making any such election.
(vii)    The Parties hereby agree that, notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, Seller shall have the sole discretion to determine whether (A) any election will be made with respect to any Purchased Entity under Section 338 or 336(e) of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provisions of state, local, or non-U.S. Tax Law) in connection with the transactions contemplated under this Agreement or (B) to change the classification of any Purchased Entity to that of a partnership or a disregarded entity for U.S. federal (and applicable state and local) Tax purposes pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 301.7701-3 with effect prior to the Closing (any election described in clause (A) or (B), a “Deemed Asset Sale Election”). If Seller determines that any Deemed Asset Sale Election will be made, Buyer shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, take all necessary actions in making any such election. For the avoidance of doubt, Buyer shall not be permitted to make, or cause to be made, any
    78



Deemed Asset Sale Election without the prior written consent of Seller in its sole and absolute discretion.
(viii)    Buyer shall notify Seller if any Purchased Entity is treated as a “controlled foreign corporation” within the meaning of Section 957(a) of the Code (and any corresponding or similar provisions of state, local, or non-U.S. Tax Law) after the Closing for any taxable period (or portion thereof) of Seller that includes the Closing Date.
(e)    Pre-Closing Settlement Payments and Post-Closing Actions.
(i)    Any Party that receives or becomes entitled to (or whose Affiliate receives or becomes entitled to) any refund, credit or offset of or arising in connection with Taxes (a) for which the other Party would be liable under Section 6.8(a), Section 6.8(b), Section 6.8(c), Section 6.8(d) or Section 6.8(g), or (b) in the case of Seller, that reduced the Final Consideration (a “Refund Recipient”), shall pay to the other Party the entire amount of such refund, credit or offset (including any interest from, but net of any Taxes imposed by, a Taxing Authority with respect to such refund, credit or offset) (A) in the case of a refund actually received, no more than 20 Business Days after receiving such refund and (B) in the case of a credit or offset, no more than 20 Business Days after the filing of the Tax Return utilizing such credit or offset; provided that if such Refund Recipient is required to repay to the relevant Taxing Authority such refund, credit or offset, the other Party shall, upon the request of such Refund Recipient, repay the amount previously paid to such other Party pursuant to this Section 6.8(e) in respect of such refund, credit or offset (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Taxing Authority).
(ii)    Buyer shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, (A) make, revoke, or change any Tax election of the Purchased Entities or related to the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the Business for a Pre-Closing Tax Period, (B) amend, file, refile or otherwise modify (or grant an extension of any applicable statute of limitations with respect to) any Seller-Signed Tax Return, Buyer-Signed Tax Return or Straddle Period Tax Return, except as contemplated in Section 6.8(d) or in connection with the resolution of any Tax Claim in accordance with Section 6.8(f), (C)  make or initiate any voluntary contact with a Taxing Authority (including any voluntary disclosure agreement or similar process excluding routine administrative inquiries) with respect to the Purchased Entities, the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the Business for a Pre-Closing Tax Period, or (D) carry back any Tax attribute, including any loss, loss carry forward, credit, credit carry forward, prepaid Tax or refund, and any claim for or right to receive any of the foregoing (a “Tax Attribute”) of any of the Purchased Entities from a Tax period ending after the Closing Date to any Pre-Closing Tax Period, in each case, without Seller’s prior written consent in its sole and absolute discretion.
(iii)    Buyer shall be responsible for any increase in Taxes of Seller or any of its Affiliates for any taxable period as a result of Buyer or any of its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, any Purchased Entities) (A) filing any amended Tax Return of any Purchased Entity (except as required by applicable Law) for any Pre-Closing Tax Period, (B) filing any Tax Return in any jurisdiction in which any Purchased Entity has not previously filed Tax Returns (other than any jurisdiction in which the Purchased Entity first becomes required to file a Tax Return as a result of actions or transactions taken or entered into after December 31, 2020) for any Pre-Closing Tax Period, (C) making or initiating any voluntary contact with a Taxing Authority (including any voluntary disclosure agreement or similar process) with respect to any Purchased Entity for any Pre-Closing Tax Period, (D) making, revoking, or changing any Tax election
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(except as contemplated under Section 6.8(d)(vi)) with respect to any Purchased Entity for Pre-Closing Tax Period, (E) effecting any liquidation, reorganization, merger, or other transfer of assets outside of the ordinary course of business for U.S. federal income Tax purposes with respect to any Purchased Entity that is not a “United States person” (within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code), either (I) on the Closing Date after the Closing or (II) during the taxable year in which the Closing Date occurs pursuant to a plan contemplated on or prior to the Closing except as set forth on Schedule 6.8(e)(iii), or (F) settling or compromising or otherwise conceding any Tax Claim of any Purchased Entities for any Pre-Closing Tax Period, in each case on or after the Closing Date (each, a “Post-Closing Tax Action”).
(iv)    Neither Buyer nor any of its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, any Purchased Entities) shall take any Post-Closing Tax Action without the consent of Seller (which may be granted or withheld in its sole discretion) if such action could result in an increase in Taxes of Seller or any of its Affiliates (excluding any Purchased Entities) for any taxable period; provided, however, that the actions set forth on Schedule 6.8(e)(iii) shall not require Seller consent. Notwithstanding Seller’s or any of its Affiliates’ consent to a Post-Closing Tax Action, Buyer shall remain responsible for any such increase in Taxes of Seller or any of its Affiliates resulting from such Post-Closing Tax Action, except with respect to the actions set forth on Schedule 6.8(e)(iii). Other than with respect to the actions set forth on Schedule 6.8(e)(iii), Buyer shall notify Seller of any proposal to take a Post-Closing Tax Action that could result in an increase to Taxes imposed on Seller or any of its Affiliates for any period compared to the amount of Taxes that would have been imposed had Buyer not taken such Post-Closing Tax Action, and Seller shall, within 30 Business Days of receiving such notice, inform Buyer of Seller’s decision whether to consent to such Post-Closing Tax Action, which consent, if provided, shall be conditioned on Buyer paying Seller the amount of any increase in Taxes imposed on Seller or any of its Affiliates that would result from such Post-Closing Tax Action. Seller shall, if and at the time it notifies Buyer of its conditional consent, deliver to Buyer a schedule setting forth Seller’s calculation of such increase in Taxes, and, at Buyer’s reasonable request, such information or summary information that, in Seller’s good faith determination, would enable Buyer to reasonably verify Seller’s computations; provided that Seller shall have no obligation to provide Buyer with any consolidated, combined or unitary Tax Return filed by Seller or any of its Affiliates or any predecessor entity to Seller or of any of its Affiliates, or any materials related thereto.
(f)    Cooperation and Assistance.
(i)    The Parties shall cooperate with each other in the filing of any Tax Returns and the conduct of any audit or other Proceeding with respect to a Tax Claim. They each shall execute and deliver such powers of attorney and make available such other documents as are reasonably necessary to carry out the intent of this Section 6.8.
(ii)    If either Party is liable under this Section 6.8, including any amounts due pursuant to Section 6.8(d), for any portion of a Tax shown due on any Tax Return required to be filed by the other Party pursuant to this Section 6.8, the Tax Return Filer shall deliver a copy of the relevant portions of such Tax Return (taking into account any extensions, if applicable) to the liable Party. If the Parties disagree as to the treatment of any item shown on such Tax Return or with respect to any calculation with respect to any Tax Return to be filed pursuant to this Section 6.8, an independent law firm or public accounting firm of a nationally recognized standing in the United States (the “Selected Firm”) reasonably acceptable to both Seller and Buyer shall determine, consistent with Seller’s past practice and the agreements set forth in Section 6.8 and Section 3.3 (in each case except as otherwise required by Law), how the disputed item is
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to be treated on such Tax Return (“Selected Firm’s Determination”). If the Selected Firm’s Determination has not been made prior to the due date for filing such Tax Return, the Party required to file such Tax Return may file such Tax return as it deems appropriate, and if the subsequent Selected Firm’s Determination is that such Tax Return should have been filed in some other manner, the filing Party shall amend such Tax Return in accordance with the Selected Firm’s Determination. Seller shall be deemed to be the prevailing party unless the Selected Firm determines in favor of Buyer with respect to more than one-half of the amount of Taxes in dispute, in which case Buyer shall be deemed to be the prevailing party. The non-prevailing party with respect to the Selected Firm’s Determination shall pay its own fees and expenses, the fees and expenses of the Selected Firm, and the fees and expenses of the prevailing party, including fees and costs of counsel, reasonably incurred in connection with the Selected Firm’s Determination.
(iii)    Upon reasonable request, each Party shall deliver to the other Party certified copies of all receipts for any foreign Tax with respect to which such other Party or any of its Affiliates could claim a foreign tax credit or comparable tax reduction and any supporting documents required in connection with claiming or supporting a claim for such a foreign tax credit or comparable tax reduction.
(iv)    The Parties shall retain records, documents, accounting data and other information in whatever form that are necessary for the preparation and filing, or for any Tax audit, of any and all Tax Returns with respect to any Taxes that relate to Tax periods that begin on or prior to the Closing Date. Such retention shall be in accordance with the record retention policy of the respective Party, but in no event shall any Party destroy or otherwise dispose of such records, documents, accounting data and other information prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations (including extensions) without first providing the other Party with a reasonable opportunity to review and copy the same; provided that Seller shall have no obligation to provide Buyer with any consolidated, combined or unitary Tax Return filed by Seller or any of its Affiliates or any predecessor entity to Seller or of any of its Affiliates, or any materials related thereto. Each Party shall give any other Party reasonable access to all such records, documents, accounting data and other information as well as to its personnel and premises to the extent necessary for a reasonable review or a Tax audit of such Tax Returns and relevant to an obligation under this Section 6.8.
(v)    Seller shall use its reasonable commercial efforts to provide Buyer with a clearance certificate or similar documents that may be required by any Taxing Authority to relieve Buyer of any obligation to withhold any portion of the payments to Seller pursuant to this Agreement.
(vi)    Seller shall provide to Buyer on or prior to Closing a duly completed
and validly executed IRS Form W-9 of Seller and each Other Seller that is a “United States person” within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code.
(g)    Tax Controversies.
(i)    A Party shall promptly notify the other Party in writing (in no event later than 10 Business Days) (a “Notification”) upon receipt of written notice of any pending or threatened audits or assessments with respect to Taxes for which such other Party (or any of its Affiliates) is liable under Section 6.8, or may give rise to an indemnification payment under Section 6.8. Failure to give such Notification shall not relieve the indemnifying party from Liability under this Section 6.8, except if and to the extent that the indemnifying party is actually prejudiced thereby. Subject to further
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provisions of this Section 6.8(g), each Party shall be entitled to conduct, direct, control and be responsible for the complete defense of any audit or administrative or court Proceeding relating to Taxes (a “Tax Claim”) for which it may be solely liable, and to employ counsel of its choice at its expense. Buyer shall be entitled to take control of the complete defense of any Tax Claim relating to Taxes for which Seller may be partially liable; provided that Seller, at its sole cost and expense, shall have the right to participate in any Tax Claim relating to Taxes for which it may be partially liable. If Buyer controls a Tax Claim relating to Taxes for which Seller may be partially liable, (A) Buyer shall control the Tax Claim diligently and in good faith, (B) Buyer shall keep Seller reasonably informed regarding the status of such Tax Claim, and (C) Buyer shall not, without considering in good faith Sellers’ reasonable comments, settle, resolve, or abandon any such Tax Claim. If Buyer chooses not to control a Tax Claim, (A) Seller shall assume control of the Tax Claim diligently and in good faith, (B) Seller shall keep Buyer reasonably informed regarding the status of such Tax Claim, (C) Buyer shall have the right to participate in such Tax Claim at its sole cost and expense, and (D) Seller shall not, without considering in good faith Buyer’s reasonable comments, settle, resolve, or abandon any such Tax Claim. Any Tax liabilities imposed or assessed in connection with any Tax Claims shall be paid in the manner and within the period specified by applicable Law by the party responsible under applicable Law for making such payment and shall, for the avoidance of doubt, be subject to the indemnification provisions of this Section 6.8. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 6.8(g), each Party shall be entitled to take control of the complete defense of any Tax Claim for which both Parties are partially liable, and to employ counsel of its choice at its expense; provided that such Party shall take control of such Tax Claim within 45 Business Days of the earlier of (x) the date on which such Notification is provided or (y) the date such Notification is due pursuant to the first sentence of this Section 6.8(g).
(ii)    To the extent any proceeding in respect of any Tax Claim involves a competent authority appeal under any Tax treaty or requires a payment in advance of challenging any Tax Claim (“Tax Challenge Prepayment”), Buyer acknowledges that correlative relief may be available only if a Purchased Entity makes a payment to Seller or any of Seller’s Subsidiaries or another Purchased Entity (any such payment by a Purchased Entity, a “Correlative Relief Payment”) or makes a Tax Challenge Prepayment to the applicable Taxing Authority. In the event such correlative relief is available only if a Purchased Entity makes a Correlative Relief Payment, (A) Buyer shall cause such Purchased Entity to use commercially reasonable efforts to make such Correlative Relief Payment; provided, however, that if such Purchased Entity is required under applicable Law to withhold any Tax in respect of such Correlative Relief Payment, such Purchased Entity shall withhold such Tax, shall pay over the amount of such Tax to the applicable Taxing Authority, and shall deliver to Seller a receipt for such withheld Tax (or, if a receipt is not issued by such Taxing Authority, such other evidence of payment of such Tax as is available to such Purchased Entity and reasonably acceptable to Seller), (B) Seller shall pay, or cause to be paid, to Buyer or, at Seller’s option, the Purchased Entity making such Correlative Relief Payment, an amount equal to the amount of such Correlative Relief Payment received by Seller, and (C) Buyer and Seller shall treat the amount paid by Seller to Buyer, or the Purchased Entity making such Correlative Relief Payment, pursuant to clause (B) of this Section 6.8(g)(ii) as an adjustment to the Purchase Price. In the event that challenging a Tax Claim requires a Tax Challenge Prepayment to be made, then the Party that is liable for the Tax being challenged in such Tax Claim under Section 6.8 shall be required to make, or cause to be made (including by making the payment to the applicable Purchased Entity), such Tax Challenge Prepayment to the applicable Taxing Authority and shall promptly provide the other Party with evidence of such Tax Challenge Prepayment. If any Purchased Entity is entitled to any item of loss, deduction or credit as a result of making a
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Correlative Relief Payment or a Tax Challenge Prepayment and any such item results in a refund in respect of such Purchased Entity’s Tax Liability with respect to a Pre-Closing Tax Period, such Purchased Entity shall pay to Seller the amount of such Tax refund promptly after receipt thereof.
(h)    Treatment of Taxes Reflected in the Final Consideration. For the avoidance of doubt, for all purposes of allocating obligations or rights under this Section 6.8, Seller shall be deemed to have paid that amount of any Taxes reflected in the Final Consideration and satisfied its obligations to pay Buyer, or indemnify Buyer, for such amounts to the extent so reflected.
(i)    Treatment of Retention Bonus Tax Deductions and Seller’s Portion of Deal Related Severance. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, for the purpose of determining the Taxes for which Seller is responsible, the aggregate amount payable pursuant to the Retention Bonuses and the Seller’s portion of the Deal Related Severance (together with all Employer Side Taxes) shall be deemed deducted in a Pre-Closing Tax Period and, to the greatest extent permitted by applicable Law, such deductions shall be reflected on the Tax Returns of Seller or its applicable Subsidiary, and, to the extent required by applicable Law to be reflected on a Tax Return of Buyer or any of its Affiliates (including, following the Closing, a Purchased Entity), Buyer shall pay to Seller an amount equal to the Tax benefit actually received or realized within a period of three years after the Closing (by way of reduction of Taxes or application against Taxes otherwise due, increase in refunds of Taxes, or increase in Tax Attributes) in connection with such deductions (determined on a “with and without” basis), subject to the actions set forth on Schedule 6.8(e)(iii).
Section 6.9    Indemnification of Directors and Officers.
(a)    If the Closing occurs, for a period of six years after the Closing, Buyer shall and shall cause the Purchased Entities and their Subsidiaries to take any necessary actions to provide that all rights to indemnification or expense advancement and all limitations on Liability existing in favor of the Business Indemnitees acting in their capacities as such as provided in the D&O Indemnity Arrangements shall survive the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and continue in full force and effect and be honored by the Purchased Entities and their Subsidiaries after the Closing (or be replaced with such rights and limitations as are no less favorable thereto). As used herein, (i) the “Business Indemnitees” means individuals who at or prior to the Closing were current or former officers, directors, individual managers or employees of the Purchased Entities and their Subsidiaries (or the predecessors of the Purchased Entities and their Subsidiaries) relating to service in such capacities prior to the Closing, and (ii) the “D&O Indemnity Arrangements” means (A) the Organizational Documents of the Purchased Entities and their Subsidiaries in effect on the Agreement Date, (B) any Contract providing for indemnification by the Purchased Entities and their Subsidiaries of any of the Business Indemnitees in effect on the Agreement Date to which the Purchased Entities and/or their Subsidiaries are a party and that is listed on Schedule 6.9(a) of the Disclosure Letter, or (C) if a Purchased Entity is not formed as of the Agreement Date but formed prior to the Closing Date in accordance with this Agreement, the formation documents of such Purchased Entity containing customary indemnification and expense advancement provisions substantially similar to the provisions in the documents referred in clause (A) of this Section 6.9(a). Further to the foregoing, Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, maintain for a period of six years from the Closing Date, any Seller Party directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy (insofar as such policy relates to the pre-Closing Liabilities of a director, manager or officer of the Business and which may include a customary “tail” policy acquired in connection with the Ali Transaction), providing coverage
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to such directors, managers and officers not materially less favorable than provided by such insurance in effect on the date hereof.
(b)    In the event that the Purchased Entities, their Subsidiaries or Buyer or any of their respective successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers or conveys all or a majority of its properties and assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, proper provision shall be made so that the successors and assigns of the Purchased Entities, their Subsidiaries or Buyer, as the case may be, shall succeed to the obligations set forth in this Section 6.9.
(c)    The obligations of Buyer under this Section 6.9 shall not be terminated or modified in such a manner as to adversely affect any indemnitee to whom this Section 6.9 applies without the express written consent of such affected indemnitee and it is expressly agreed that the indemnitees to whom this Section 6.9 applies are third party beneficiaries of this Section 6.9.
Section 6.10    Further Assurances; Post-Closing Payments.
(a)    In addition to the actions specifically provided for elsewhere in this Agreement, for no additional consideration, each of the Parties will cooperate with each other and use its reasonable efforts, at and after the Closing Date, to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things reasonably necessary or appropriate on its part to consummate and make effective, in the most expeditious manner practicable, the Purchase Transaction and the other transactions contemplated hereby, including the execution and delivery of such other instruments, certificates, agreements and other documents and the performance of such other actions as may be necessary or reasonably desirable to consummate and implement expeditiously the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents; provided that all such actions are in accordance with applicable Law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, from time to time, whether at or after the Closing and subject to the other terms of this Agreement, (i) Seller and its Subsidiaries (as appropriate) will execute and deliver such further instruments, certificates, agreements and other documents and perform such other actions as Buyer may reasonably request to more effectively convey and transfer to Buyer any of the Purchased Assets or Purchased Shares or otherwise carry out the intent of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and effect the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and (ii) Buyer will execute and deliver such instruments, certificates, agreements and other documents and perform such other actions as Seller or its Subsidiaries may reasonably request to more effectively assume the Assumed Liabilities or otherwise carry out the intent of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and effect the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 6.10(a), neither Party will be required to make any payments, incur any Liability, or offer or grant any accommodation (financial or otherwise) to any third party in connection with obtaining any Consent of any Person, except as provided in Section 2.6.
(b)    In the event that, on or after the Closing, either Party receives payments or funds due or belonging to the other Party pursuant to the terms hereof or any of the Transaction Documents, then the Party receiving such payments or funds shall promptly forward or cause to be promptly forwarded such payments or funds to the proper party (with appropriate endorsements, as applicable), and will account to such other Party for all such receipts. The Parties acknowledge and agree that, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, there is no right of offset regarding such payments and a Party may not withhold funds received from third parties for the account of the other Party in the event there is a dispute regarding any other issue under this Agreement or any other Transaction Documents. Without limiting the foregoing provisions of this Section 6.10(b), Seller agrees that Buyer
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shall, following the Closing, (i) have the right and authority to endorse any checks or drafts received by Buyer in respect of any account receivable of the Business included in the Purchased Assets or reflected in the Final Closing Net Working Capital and Seller shall furnish Buyer such evidence of this authority as Buyer may reasonably request and (ii) have the right to receive and open all mail, packages and other communications addressed to the Seller Parties that Buyer believes in good faith relate to the Business. Following the Closing, if Buyer or any of its Subsidiaries receives any mail or packages addressed to Seller or its Subsidiaries and delivered to Buyer not relating to the Business, the Purchased Assets, the Purchased Shares or the Assumed Liabilities, Buyer shall promptly deliver such mail or packages to Seller. Following the Closing, if Seller or any of its Subsidiaries receives any mail or packages relating to the Business, the Purchased Assets, the Purchased Shares or the Assumed Liabilities, Seller shall promptly deliver such mail or packages to Buyer.
(c)    Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, if at any time following the Closing the Parties agree that any asset (including any Contract) that should have been transferred to Buyer, either directly or indirectly (through the acquisition of the Purchased Shares) pursuant to this Agreement was not so transferred, or any asset (including any Contract) unrelated to the Business was inadvertently transferred to Buyer or a Purchased Entity (it being understood that, following the Closing, the Parties shall act reasonably and in good faith), the Seller Parties shall, and shall cause their applicable Affiliates to, or Buyer shall, and shall cause its applicable Affiliates to, as applicable, in each case as promptly as practicable: (i) transfer all rights, title and interest in such asset to Buyer, the Purchased Entities or as the Buyer may direct, or to Seller or as Seller may direct, as applicable, in each case for no additional consideration; and (ii) hold its right, title and interest in and to such asset in trust for the applicable party until such time as such transfer is completed.
Section 6.11    Privileges. The Parties agree that their respective rights and obligations to maintain, preserve, assert, or waive any attorney-client and work product privileges belonging to either Party with respect to the ownership and operation of the Business prior to Closing and the other businesses of Seller (collectively, “Privileges”), shall be governed by the provisions of this Section 6.11. With respect to matters relating directly to Seller’s businesses (other than the Business), the Excluded Assets or the Excluded Liabilities, and with respect to all business records, documents, communications or other information (collectively, “Information”) of Seller or any of its Affiliates prepared solely in connection with the evaluation, negotiation, and consummation of this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, Seller shall have sole authority to determine whether to assert or waive any Privileges, including the right to assert any Privilege against Buyer and its Affiliates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that a dispute arises between Buyer and its Subsidiaries (including, as of the Closing Date, the Purchased Entities), on one hand, and a third party other than Seller or its Affiliates, on the other hand, Buyer or its applicable Subsidiary may assert any Privilege to prevent the disclosure of Information to such third party; provided; however, that none of Buyer or its Subsidiaries (including, as of the Closing Date, the Purchased Entities) may take any action that would reasonably be expected to result in any waiver of any such Privileges of Seller without the prior written consent of Seller, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. After the Closing, Buyer shall have sole authority to determine whether to assert or waive any Privileges with respect to matters relating to the Business, the Purchased Entities, the Purchased Assets, the Purchased Shares and the Assumed Liabilities (but not including the Excluded Assets, Excluded Liabilities, Information prepared in connection with the evaluation, negotiation, and consummation of this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby). The rights and obligations created by this Section 6.11 shall apply to all Information as to which Seller, its Affiliates or the Purchased Entities would be entitled to assert or has asserted a Privilege without regard to the effect, if any, of the transactions contemplated hereby or by the other Transaction Documents (the “Privileged Information”).
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Section 6.12    Use of Seller Names and Marks. Except as expressly provided in the IP Assignment Agreement, the IP License Agreement, or the Transition Services Agreement, Seller reserves for itself and its Affiliates all rights in any Seller trademarks that are not included in the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights, and no other rights therein are granted to Buyer or any of its Affiliates, whether by implication, estoppel or otherwise; provided, that to the extent any such Seller trademarks are included or incorporated in any written, electronic or other materials included in the Purchased Assets, Buyer and its Affiliates may use such materials solely in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice until the later of 12 months from the Closing Date or the depletion of the applicable material. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents, to the extent any trademarks included in the Purchased Assets are included or incorporated in any written materials included in the Excluded Assets or in the legal names of any Subsidiary of Seller (other than the Purchased Entities), Seller and its Affiliates (i) may use such materials solely in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice until the later of three months from the Closing Date or the depletion of the applicable material and (ii) shall have up to 30 days after the Closing Date to remove such trademarks from the legal names of any Subsidiary.
Section 6.13    Transition Services. Except as otherwise expressly provided in the Transition Services Agreement, all Shared Services provided to the Business by or on behalf of Seller shall cease as of the Closing Date.
Section 6.14    Guarantees. Buyer recognizes that Seller and certain of its Subsidiaries have provided, and prior to the Closing may provide, credit support to the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Purchased Entities pursuant to guarantees, letters of credit, bonds, sureties and other credit support or assurances provided by Seller or its Subsidiaries in support of any obligation of the Business that are listed on Schedule 6.14 of the Disclosure Letter (the “Business Guarantees”). Buyer and Seller shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to obtain from the respective beneficiary, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Seller, on or before the Closing Date, valid and binding written releases of Seller and its Subsidiaries, as applicable, from any Liability, whether arising before, on or after the Closing Date, under any Business Guarantees to the extent relating to the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities, which release shall be effective as of the Closing, including, in the case of Buyer and its Subsidiaries, as applicable, by providing substitute guarantees, furnishing letters of credit, instituting escrow agreements, posting surety or performance bonds or making other arrangements as the beneficiary may reasonably request. If any Business Guarantee has not been released as of the Closing Date, then Buyer and Seller shall continue to use their commercially reasonable efforts after the Closing to cause as promptly as practicable the complete and unconditional release of Seller and its Subsidiaries under such Business Guarantee to the extent relating to the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Parties acknowledge and agree that at any time on or after the Closing Date, Seller and its Subsidiaries may, in such Person’s sole discretion, take any action to terminate, obtain release of or otherwise limit their Liability under any and all outstanding Business Guarantees; provided that no such action results in a breach of any Contract or Liability (or acceleration of a Liability) of Buyer or any of its Affiliates. Buyer shall, and hereby agrees to, indemnify and hold harmless Seller and its Subsidiaries from and after the Closing for any amounts required to be paid under any Business Guarantees to the extent exclusively relating to the operation or ownership of the Business or the Purchased Assets after the Closing Date or the Assumed Liabilities.
Section 6.15    Existing Intercompany Agreements and Arrangements.
(a)    Seller will cause all Intercompany Agreements, and all rights and obligations of the Business or the Purchased Entities, Seller and Seller’s Subsidiaries under such Intercompany Agreements to be terminated at or prior to the Closing without any
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consideration or further Liability to any Person. No such terminated Intercompany Agreement or any arrangement, commitment or understanding relating thereto (including any provision thereof that purports to survive termination) shall be of any further force or effect after the Effective Time. The provisions of Section 6.15(a) shall not apply to this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.
(b)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Seller and Buyer acknowledge and agree that certain Transaction Documents may be executed prior to the Closing and, in such event, the Parties, on behalf of themselves and their Subsidiaries, acknowledge and agree that, from and after the Closing, (i) none of Seller, Buyer or any of their respective Subsidiaries shall have any obligation or Liability under (and each of the Parties hereby waives all rights to, bring or assert any claim, proceeding, or other remedy with respect to) any provision of such Contracts (whether for breach, default, performance or otherwise) arising thereunder for any period prior to the Closing, and (ii) as between the Parties hereto, such Contracts shall be deemed effective only from and after the Closing Date.
Section 6.16    R&W Insurance Policy. At or prior to the Closing, Buyer will obtain third party insurance in respect of inaccuracies or breaches of the representations and warranties made by Seller in this Agreement, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit D (the “R&W Insurance Policy”), which shall waive all claims against Seller (by way of subrogation, claim for contribution or otherwise) other than in respect of Fraud, as set forth in Exhibit D. Buyer shall not amend the waiver of subrogation provisions in Section VIII.B(ii) of the R&W Insurance Policy in any manner adverse to Seller. Buyer shall bear all costs and expenses of obtaining and binding the R&W Insurance Policy.
Section 6.17    Cooperation with Litigation.
(a)    From and after the Closing Date, subject to this Section 6.17, Buyer will provide and, as applicable, cause its employees and its Subsidiaries and their employees to provide, all such reasonable cooperation to Seller, its Subsidiaries and their respective Representatives with respect to any third party claims or Proceedings relating to the Excluded Liabilities, which cooperation will include furnishing or causing to be furnished by Buyer and its Subsidiaries (and their respective employees) records, information, and deposition and trial testimony and preparation that is not Confidential Information or privileged attorney-client or work product as reasonably requested by Seller, its Subsidiaries or their respective Representatives; provided that (A) no such cooperation shall unreasonably interfere with the operation of the business of Buyer or any of its Subsidiaries and (B) notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 6.17(a), Buyer shall only be obligated to cause any Person to cooperate with Seller in such matters if and for so long as Buyer is capable of directing the actions of such Person. Seller shall bear any and all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses actually incurred by Buyer, its Subsidiaries or their respective employees or Representatives as a result of complying with this Section 6.17(a).
(b)    From and after the Closing, Seller will provide and, as applicable, cause its employees and its Subsidiaries and their employees to provide, all such reasonable cooperation to Buyer, its Subsidiaries and their respective Representatives with respect to the Assumed Pending Litigation or any other third party claims or Proceedings relating to the Assumed Liabilities, which cooperation will include furnishing or causing to be furnished by Seller and its Subsidiaries (and their respective employees) records, information, and deposition and trial testimony and preparation as reasonably requested by Buyer, its Subsidiaries or their respective Representatives; provided that (A) no such cooperation shall unreasonably interfere with the operation of the business of Seller or any of its Subsidiaries and (B) notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 6.17(b), Seller shall only be obligated to cause any Person to cooperate with Buyer in such matters if and for so long as
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Seller is capable of directing the actions of such Person. Buyer shall bear any and all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses actually incurred by Seller, its Subsidiaries or their respective employees or Representatives as a result of complying with this Section 6.17(b).
Section 6.18    Exclusivity. The Seller Parties agree that between the date of this Agreement and the earlier of the Closing and the termination of this Agreement, the Seller Parties shall not, and shall take all action necessary to ensure that none of their Affiliates or Representatives shall, directly or indirectly:
(a)    solicit, initiate, encourage or accept any other proposals or offers from any Person (i) relating to any direct or indirect acquisition or purchase of all or any material portion of the Business, other than inventory to be sold in the ordinary course of business, (ii) to enter into any merger, consolidation or other business combination relating to the Business or (iii) to enter into a recapitalization, reorganization or any other extraordinary business transaction involving or otherwise relating to the Business (a “Competing Transaction”); or
(b)    participate in any discussions, conversations, negotiations or other communications regarding, or furnish to any other Person any information with respect to any Competing Transaction. The Seller Parties immediately shall cease and cause to be terminated all existing discussions, conversations, negotiations and other communications with any Persons conducted heretofore with respect to any Competing Transaction.
Section 6.19    Datasite. Promptly, and in any event within the 10 days following the Closing, at the cost and expense of Buyer, Seller shall deliver, or cause Datasite to deliver, to Buyer hard drives or other digital storage devices containing copies of the documents and information uploaded to the electronic documentation site established by Seller for the Purchase Transaction contemplated hereby and hosted by Datasite.
Section 6.20    Restrictive Covenants.
(a)    To ensure that Buyer receives the expected benefits of acquiring the Business, Seller agrees that, throughout the period that begins on the Closing Date and ends on the third anniversary of the Closing Date, Seller will not, and will cause each of the Other Sellers and its and their respective Affiliates to not, directly or indirectly, employ, attempt to employ, or solicit for employment any Business Employee who is employed by Buyer or its Affiliates immediately following the Closing; provided, however, that nothing herein prohibits Seller and the Other Sellers or any of their Affiliates from any (i) general solicitation for employment (including in any newspaper or magazine, over the internet or by any search or employment agency) if not specifically directed towards the Business Employees or (ii) soliciting for employment or hiring any individual who at the time of such solicitation and hiring is not employed by Buyer or any Affiliate of Buyer, provided that such individual’s employment with Buyer or such Affiliate of Buyer was not terminated voluntarily by such individual within six months of the date on which such solicitation is made.
(b)    To ensure that Buyer receives the expected benefits of acquiring the Business, Seller agrees that, throughout the period that begins on the Closing Date and ends on the third anniversary of the Closing Date, Seller will cause the executive officers of Seller and the Other Sellers not to, and will direct the other employees of Seller and the Other Sellers not to, criticize or disparage in any manner or by any means (whether written or oral, express or implied) the Business, Purchased Entities or Buyer or any aspect of Buyer’s or any Purchased Entity’s management, policies, operations, products (including the Products), services, practices or personnel. The foregoing shall not be violated by truthful statements, including in response to any Proceeding (including depositions in connection with such Proceedings).
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(c)    Seller acknowledges and agrees that (i) this Section 6.20 is reasonable and necessary to ensure that Buyer receives the expected benefits of acquiring the Business, (ii) Buyer has refused to enter into this Agreement in the absence of this Section 6.20 and (iii) breach of this Section 6.20 may harm Buyer to such an extent that monetary damages alone may be an inadequate remedy and Buyer may not have an adequate remedy at Law. Therefore, in the event of a breach by Seller, an Other Seller or any of their respective Affiliates of this Section 6.20, Buyer (in addition to all other remedies it may have) will be entitled to seek an injunction and other equitable relief (without posting any bond or other security) restraining Seller and the Other Sellers (or any Affiliate of Seller or Other Seller) from committing or continuing such breach and to enforce specifically this Agreement and its terms.
Section 6.21    Bank Accounts. Seller shall cause (to be effective as of or prior to Closing) the removal of any Person who is not an employee of a Purchased Entity following Closing as (i) an authorized signatory of any of any Purchased Entity’s bank accounts and (ii) a Person with access to any such Purchased Entity bank account.
Section 6.22    Title Insurance. Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to assist Buyer in obtaining a binding owner’s policy of title insurance with respect to the Real Property issued by a title insurance company selected by Buyer in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Buyer, insuring Buyer as the fee owner of the Real Property and including endorsements reasonably satisfactory to Buyer (including with respect to zoning and matters of survey) (the “Title Policy”).
Section 6.23    Release.
(a)    Effective as of the Closing, Seller, on its own behalf and on behalf of the Other Sellers and its and their Affiliates, agents, attorneys, administrators, heirs, executors, trustees, beneficiaries, Representatives, successors and assigns claiming by or through Seller, hereby absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably releases and forever discharges the Purchased Entities, Buyer and their respective past, present and future equityholders, subsidiaries, Affiliates, Representatives, successors and assigns, from any and all causes of action, Proceedings (including any derivative claims on behalf of any Person), Liabilities, sums of money, accounts, covenants, Contracts, controversies, promises, damages, fees, expenses, judgments and demands to the extent arising out, relating to, or against the Purchased Entities, in respect of (a) any and all Contracts, Liabilities or obligations entered into or incurred at or prior to the Closing, or (b) any event occurring or circumstances existing at or prior to the Closing, whether or not relating to claims pending on, or asserted after, the Closing Date; provided, that the foregoing release does not extend to, include or restrict claims, actions or rights that Seller may have under this Agreement, any Transaction Documents, or any other documents entered into in connection herewith or therewith.
(b)    Effective as of the Closing, Buyer, on its own behalf and on behalf of the Other Buyers and its and their Affiliates, agents, attorneys, administrators, heirs, executors, trustees, beneficiaries, Representatives, successors and assigns claiming by or through Buyer, hereby absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably releases and forever discharges Seller and its past, present and future equityholders, subsidiaries, Affiliates, Representatives, successors and assigns, from any and all causes of action, Proceedings (including any derivative claims on behalf of any Person), Liabilities, sums of money, accounts, covenants, Contracts, controversies, promises, damages, fees, expenses, judgments and demands to the extent arising out, relating to, or against the Purchased Entities, in respect of (a) any and all Contracts, Liabilities or obligations entered into or incurred at or prior to the Closing, or (b) any event occurring or circumstances existing at or prior to the Closing, whether or not relating to claims pending on, or asserted after, the Closing Date; provided, that the foregoing release does not extend to, include or restrict claims, actions or rights that Buyer may have under this
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Agreement, any Transaction Documents, or any other documents entered into in connection herewith or therewith.
Section 6.24    Release of Liens. In connection with the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause the Other Sellers to, use commercially reasonable efforts to provide Buyer with releases, termination statements or satisfactions, as applicable, as to all Liens on the Purchased Assets (other than Permitted Liens). Further, in connection with the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause the Other Sellers to, use commercially reasonably efforts to obtain and deliver (i) customary payoff letters evidencing the payment of all bank debt included in Business Indebtedness and (ii) invoices for any expenses incurred by or on behalf of, or paid or to be paid by, the Purchased Entities in connection with the process of the sale of the Business, or the negotiation, preparation and execution of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents or the performance or consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (including the Ali Transaction) that are included in Business Indebtedness.
Section 6.25    Integration Planning. As promptly as reasonably practicable after the date hereof, each of Buyer and Seller shall designate individuals to work, in good faith and subject to applicable Law, to develop a post-Closing integration plan for the Business. No Party shall have control over any other Party’s (or its Affiliates’) operations, businesses, or decision-making before the Closing, and control over all such matters shall remain in the hands of the relevant Party (and its Affiliates), in each case subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
Section 6.26    Environmental Matters. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, with respect to any claim for indemnification hereunder relating to any Environmental Law (including claims for any Excluded Environmental Liability) (“Environmental Matters”), the Parties agree on behalf of themselves and their respective Affiliates that:
(a)    Seller shall have no obligation to indemnify Buyer and its Affiliates pursuant to Section 2.4(b) of this Agreement for any Losses to the extent (i) arising out of or resulting from any testing, sampling or other invasive investigation of, or Remedial Action relating to, the air, soil, soil gas, surface water, groundwater, sediment, building materials or other environmental media conducted by or on behalf or at the direction of Buyer or any of its Affiliates or any disclosure, report or communication to any Governmental Authority or other third party relating to any Environmental Matter undertaken by or on behalf or at the direction of Buyer or any of its Affiliates unless, to the extent performed by or on behalf or at the direction of Buyer or its Affiliates, (A) it was required by any Governmental Authority or an Environmental Law to undertake such investigation, sampling, testing, Remedial Action, disclosure, report or communication; (B) such investigation, sampling, testing, Remedial Action, disclosure, report or communication was reasonably necessary to defend or resolve a Proceeding brought by a Governmental Authority or other Person that is not being defended or controlled by Seller or its Affiliates, in which case Buyer or its Affiliates will first notify Seller of its obligation and permit Seller to participate and provide reasonable comments; (C) such investigation, sampling, testing, Remedial Action, disclosure, report or communication was reasonably necessary to respond to or correct an imminent and material threat of a risk to human health or the environment; and/or (D) such investigation, sampling, testing, Remedial Action, disclosure, report or communication was reasonably necessary for the construction, maintenance and/or repair of the Purchased Assets, the Owned Real Property, the Leased Real Property or any asset of a Purchased Entity, which construction, maintenance and/or repair is performed for a legitimate and bona fide business purpose and would be performed in the ordinary course; provided further, that in the case of (B), (C) and (D) of this Section 6.26, such defense or resolution, response or correction, or construction, maintenance and/or repair would have been performed or undertaken even if there was not a right to indemnification under this Agreement; (ii) arising in connection with any total change in property use from commercial or
    90



industrial to residential use; (iii) arising from a property closure that accelerates or exacerbates any Environmental Matter for which Buyer and its Affiliates seek indemnification if such property closure would not have occurred but for a right to indemnification under this Agreement, or (iv) any environmental response investigation, cleanup, remediation or similar activity that is more comprehensive or stringent than the minimum applicable environmental standard, unless otherwise required by the appropriate Governmental Authority.
(b)    Any obligation of Seller to indemnify Buyer and its Affiliates (including as of the Closing, the Purchased Entities) for any Environmental Matter shall be limited to, and its obligations under this Agreement shall be satisfied upon achievement of, in a reasonably cost-effective manner, the minimum standards required to be met, based on the commercial and/or industrial use of the relevant property as of the Closing Date, by applicable Environmental Laws as in effect at the time such Environmental Matter is addressed or by any Order or requirement of a Governmental Authority. Both Parties expressly agree that such minimum standards may include risk-based clean-up remedies and standards and/or the imposition of engineering or institutional controls such as deed or other use restrictions; provided that Seller will notify Buyer of any remedies, standards, controls, or other restrictions intended to be used, and Buyer will retain the right to propose remedies, standards, controls, or other restrictions that are different than those contemplated by Seller, and if such alternative remedies, standards, controls, or other restrictions are approved by the relevant Governmental Authority, then Seller may, in its reasonable discretion, agree to select and implement such alternative remedies, standards, controls, or other restrictions. If Seller agrees to select and implement any such alternative remedies, standards, controls or other restrictions, Buyer shall promptly pay and be responsible for any and all incremental costs and expenses in excess of the costs required to implement the remedies, standards, controls, or other restrictions initially selected by Seller prior to Buyer’s proposal. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this 0, Seller’s obligation to indemnify for an Environmental Matter shall terminate at the time the minimum standards required by applicable Environmental Laws with respect to such Environmental Matter have been reasonably satisfied or met, as evidenced by a “closure letter” where applicable.
(c)    Seller has the right (but not the obligation) to retain the defense and control of any Environmental Matter, including the disclosure, investigation, negotiation, performance and settlement thereof and Remedial Action relating thereto. In connection with such, Buyer shall, and shall cause each of its Affiliates and representatives, to cooperate regarding the resolution of any such Environmental Matter, including providing to Seller and its representatives reasonably necessary accommodations, including reasonable access to relevant properties and site utilities subject, if relevant, to landlord consents, in order to allow Seller and its representatives to respond to, defend, and conduct Remedial Action relating to such Environmental Matter, at reasonable times and on reasonable notice. Seller shall not, to the extent practicable, unreasonably interfere with the Buyer’s business operations in connection with such access, and prior to undertaking any Remedial Action or related investigation, Seller shall notify the Buyer of same and give the Buyer the opportunity to make suggestions to minimize disruption-related impacts or costs. Buyer and its Affiliates shall not unreasonably interfere with or disturb the performance by Seller and its representatives of any such Remedial Action. In connection with any such Environmental Matter which Seller is defending or controlling, Seller shall (i) keep Buyer reasonably informed relating to the progress of such Environmental Matter (including reasonably promptly providing Buyer with copies of all material documentation, and correspondence with Governmental Authorities or other third parties related to the Environmental Matter); and (ii) diligently and promptly pursue the resolution thereof.
(d)    Without limiting Buyer’s right to indemnification as a result of Buyer taking the actions set forth in Section 6.26(a) clauses (A) through (D) in accordance therewith,
    91



Seller shall have no liability for any Losses with respect to an Environmental Matter to the extent such Losses are caused, exacerbated, compounded, aggravated or increased due to an act or omission of or on behalf of Buyer or any employee, agent, contractor, consultant, attorney, tenant, lessee, sublessee, licensee, permittee, invitee, or third parties acting under the supervision or direction of Buyer, unless in any such case such act or omission was at the direction of any Governmental Authority.
(e)    Except as provided in Section 6.26(b), Seller shall have no liability under this Agreement for any Losses relating to any Environmental Matters to the extent arising from the coming into force of, or the change in, any Environmental Law on or after the Closing.

ARTICLE 7
CONDITIONS TO CLOSING
Section 7.1    Conditions Precedent to Obligations of Buyer and Seller. The respective obligations of the Parties to consummate and cause the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction (or written waiver by such Party, but only as against such Party (and not the other Party)) on or prior to the Closing Date of each of the following conditions:
(a)    No Injunction, etc. No Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Order that is in effect on the Closing Date and has or would have the effect of prohibiting, enjoining or restraining the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement to occur on the Closing Date or otherwise making such transactions illegal.
(b)    Regulatory Authorizations. The Governmental Consents under Antitrust Laws of the jurisdictions listed and as described in Schedule 7.1(b) of the Disclosure Letter to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby shall have been obtained (or, in the case of filings in such jurisdictions where approval or consent is not required, been made) or the respective waiting periods thereunder shall have expired or been terminated.
Section 7.2    Conditions Precedent to Obligation of Seller and the Other Sellers. The obligation of Seller and the Other Sellers to consummate and cause the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction (or written waiver by Seller) on or prior to the Closing Date of each of the following conditions (in addition to those set forth in Section 7.1):
(a)    Accuracy of Representations and Warranties of Buyer
The representations and warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement (other than the Fundamental Representations of Buyer) shall be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “Buyer Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) both as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on the Closing Date (except to the extent such representations and warranties are expressly made as of a specific date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be so true and correct as of such specific date), other than for such failures to be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “Buyer Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) that have not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Buyer Material Adverse Effect. The Fundamental Representations of Buyer shall be true and correct in all material respects, both as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on the
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Closing Date (except to the extent such representations and warranties are expressly made as of a specific date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be so true and correct as of such specific date). Seller shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of Buyer by an authorized officer of Buyer to such effect.
(b)    Covenants of Buyer(c)    . Buyer shall have complied in all material respects with all covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to be performed by it prior to the Closing. Seller shall have received a certificate dated as of the Closing Date and signed by an authorized officer of Buyer to such effect.
(c)    Ali Transaction. The Ali Transaction shall have been completed or will be completed substantially concurrently with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
Section 7.3    Conditions Precedent to Obligation of Buyer. The obligation of Buyer to consummate and cause the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction (or written waiver by Buyer) on or prior to the Closing Date of each of the following conditions (in addition to those set forth in Section 7.1):
(a)    Accuracy of Representations and Warranties of Seller. The representations and warranties of Seller contained in this Agreement (other than the Fundamental Representations of Seller) shall be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) both as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on the Closing Date (except to the extent such representations and warranties are expressly made as of a specific date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be so true and correct as of such specific date) other than for such failures to be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) that have not had, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. The Fundamental Representations of Seller shall be true and correct in all material respects both as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on the Closing Date (except to the extent such representations and warranties are expressly made as of a specific date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be so true and correct as of such specific date). Buyer shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of Seller by an authorized officer of Seller to such effect.
(b)    Covenants of Seller. Seller shall have complied in all material respects with all covenants contained in this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to be performed by it prior to the Closing. Buyer shall have received a certificate dated as of the Closing Date and signed by an authorized officer of Seller to such effect.
(c)    Seller Material Adverse Effect. Since the Agreement Date, there shall not have occurred a Material Adverse Effect that still constitutes a Material Adverse Effect as of the Closing Date. Buyer shall have received a certificate dated as of the Closing Date and signed by an authorized officer of Seller to such effect.
(d)    Closing Restructuring. Except for the Post-Closing Restructuring Activities, the Restructuring Activities shall have been completed.
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ARTICLE 8
CLOSING
Section 8.1    Closing Date. Unless this Agreement shall have been terminated pursuant to Article 10 hereof, the closing of the Purchase Transaction and the other transactions hereunder (the “Closing”) shall take place remotely via electronic exchange of required Closing documentation on the third Business Day following the day on which each of the conditions set forth in Article 7 hereof are satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the fulfillment or waiver of those conditions) or at such other times and places as the Parties may mutually agree (such date of the Closing being herein referred to as the “Closing Date”). The effective time of the Closing for Tax, operational and all other matters shall be deemed to be 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on the Closing Date (the “Effective Time”).
Section 8.2    Buyer Obligations. At the Closing, (a) Buyer shall deliver the Estimated Consideration to Seller as provided in Section 3.2(a), (b) Buyer shall, or shall cause such of its Other Buyers to, execute and deliver to Seller the IP License Agreement, the Reverse IP License Agreement, the Transition Services Agreement, the Reverse Transition Services Agreement and the documents described in Section 2.5(a) and (c) Buyer shall deliver the officer’s certificates contemplated by Section 7.2(a) and Section 7.2(b).
Section 8.3    Seller Obligations. At the Closing, (a) Seller shall execute and deliver to Buyer, and Seller shall cause such of its Other Sellers to, execute and deliver to Buyer the IP License Agreement, the Reverse IP License Agreement, the Transition Services Agreement, the Reverse Transition Services Agreement and the documents described in Section 2.5(a) and Section 6.8(f)(vi), (b) Seller shall deliver the officer’s certificates contemplated by Section 7.3(a), Section 7.3(b), and Section 7.3(c), and (c) Seller shall deliver the resignation letters from all directors and officers of the Purchased Entities as requested by Buyer, to be effective as of the Closing.
ARTICLE 9
SURVIVAL
Section 9.1    No Survival. None of the representations and warranties made in this Agreement or the certificates contemplated by Section 7.2(a) and Section 7.3(a) shall survive the Closing Date (except in respect of Fraud), and thereafter there shall be no liability on the part of, nor shall any claim be made by, any Party or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives in respect thereof (except in respect of Fraud). The covenants and agreements of the Parties in this Agreement that contemplate performance on or prior to the Closing shall expire upon the Closing, and, after the Closing, there shall be no liability on the part of, nor shall any claim be made by, any Party or any of their respective Affiliates in respect of any covenant or agreement that does not contemplate performance after the Closing. The covenants and agreements of the Parties contained in this Agreement that contemplate performance following the Closing shall survive the Closing until the date explicitly specified therein or, if not so specified, for the applicable statute of limitations for the underlying subject matter thereof (and not for breach of Contract generally).
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ARTICLE 10
TERMINATION
Section 10.1    Termination Events. This Agreement may be terminated and the transactions contemplated herein may be abandoned:
(a)    by mutual written consent of the Parties;
(b)    after July 14, 2022 (the “Outside Date”) by any Party by notice to the other Party if the Closing shall not have occurred on or prior to the Outside Date; provided, however, that if, on the Termination Date, the conditions to the Closing set forth in (i) Section 7.1(a) (solely to the extent any such Order is in respect of an Antitrust Law), (ii) Section 7.1(b) or (iii) Section 7.2(c) (solely to the extent relating to the failure of a condition in respect of an Antitrust Law) shall not have been fulfilled but all other conditions to the Closing set forth in Article 7 have been waived or fulfilled (other than those conditions that by their terms cannot be satisfied prior to the Closing, but which conditions would be satisfied if the Closing occurred on such date), then the Outside Date shall automatically, without any action on the part of the parties hereto, be extended to January 14, 2023; provided that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 10.1(b) shall not be available to any Party whose failure to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement was the primary cause of the failure of the Closing to occur on or before such date;
(c)    by either Party by notice to the other Party, if a Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction shall have issued a nonappealable final Order or taken any other nonappealable final action, in each case having the effect of permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the Purchase Transaction on the Closing Date (provided that neither Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 10.1(c) if such Party’s failure to perform its obligations under this Agreement was the primary cause of such Order);
(d)    by Seller by notice to Buyer, if there has been a breach of any representation or warranty set forth in Article 5, or a breach or failure to perform any covenant or agreement on the part of Buyer set forth in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would cause the conditions set forth in Section 7.2(a) or Section 7.2(b) not to be satisfied and (ii) shall not have been cured within 20 Business Days (or by the Outside Date, if earlier) following receipt by Buyer of written notice of such breach or failure to perform from Seller (provided, that the failure to deliver the full consideration payable pursuant to Article 8 at the Closing as required hereunder shall not be subject to cure hereunder unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Seller); provided, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 10.1(d) will not be available to Seller if Seller is then in breach of any representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement such that any condition set forth in Section 7.3(a) or Section 7.3(b) is incapable of being satisfied;
(e)    by Buyer by notice to Seller, if there has been a breach of or failure to perform any representation or warranty set forth in Article 4, or a breach or failure to perform any covenant or agreement on the part of Seller set forth in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would cause the conditions set forth in Section 7.3(a) or Section 7.3(b) not to be satisfied and (ii) shall not have been cured within 20 Business Days (or by the Outside Date, if earlier) following receipt by Seller of written notice of such breach or failure to perform from Buyer; provided, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 10.1(e) will not be available to Buyer if Buyer is then in breach of any representations,
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warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement such that any condition set forth in Section 7.2(a) or Section 7.2(b) is incapable of being satisfied;
(f)    by Seller, if (i) Buyer shall have failed to consummate the Purchase Transaction within two Business Days after the date on which the Closing should have occurred pursuant to Section 8.1, (ii) all the conditions set forth in Section 7.1 and Section 7.3 would have been satisfied if the Closing were to have occurred at such time (other than those conditions that by their terms are to be satisfied by actions taken at the Closing provided such conditions would have been capable of being satisfied as of such date if the Closing were to occur), and (iii) Seller shall have given written notice to Buyer at least two Business Days prior to the termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 10.1(f) (which notice may be given on the date the Closing should have occurred) that Seller stands ready, willing and able to consummate the Purchase Transaction (subject to the satisfaction or waiver of all of the conditions set forth in Section 7.2); or
(g)    by either Party by notice to the other Party if the Ali Merger Agreement is terminated.
Section 10.2    Effect of Termination. In the event of any termination of this Agreement as provided in Section 10.1, this Agreement shall forthwith become wholly void and of no further force and effect, all further obligations of the Parties shall terminate and there shall be no Liability on the part of any Party (or any stockholder, Affiliate, director, officer, employee, agent, consultant or Representative of such Party) to any other Party (or its stockholders, Affiliates, directors, officers, employees, agents, consultants or Representatives), except that the provisions of this Section 10.2, Section 10.3 and Article 11 of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and the Parties shall remain bound by and continue to be subject to the provisions thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the provisions of this Section 10.2 shall not relieve either party of any Liability for any willful and intentional breach of this Agreement occurring prior to the termination of this Agreement, or pursuant to the sections specified in this Section 10.2 to survive such termination.
Section 10.3    Termination Fee; Expenses.
(a)    In the event that this Agreement is terminated by either Party pursuant to Section 10.1(b) or Section 10.1(g) and, in each case at the time of such termination all of the conditions to the Closing set forth in Section 7.1 and Section 7.2 (other than Section 7.2(c)) either have been waived or fulfilled or would be fulfilled if the Closing were to occur on such date, then Seller shall pay the Termination Fee to Buyer within two (2) Business Days after such termination by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by Buyer; provided that Seller shall not be required to pay the Termination Fee if at the time of such termination, the Ali Transaction shall not have been completed solely as a result of the failure of the condition set forth in Section 6.1(b) or Section 6.1(c) of the Ali Merger Agreement (solely to the extent any such “Restraint” under Section 6.1(c) of the Ali Merger Agreement is in respect of an “Antitrust Law,” as those terms are defined under the Ali Merger Agreement). For purposes of this Agreement, “Termination Fee”)” means Twenty Five Million Dollars ($25,000,000). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, each of the Seller Parties and Buyer acknowledges and agrees that in the event that Buyer is entitled to receive the Termination Fee pursuant to this Section 10.3(a), the right of Buyer to receive such amount shall constitute the sole and exclusive remedy for, and such amount shall constitute liquidated damages in respect of, any termination of this Agreement for Buyer and any of its direct or indirect, former, current or future Representatives, Affiliates or assignees, regardless of the circumstances giving rise to such termination. Each of the Seller Parties expressly acknowledges and agrees that Buyer shall not need to prove damages to receive the Termination Fee when it is payable under this Agreement, and hereby irrevocably waives the
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right to challenge the amount of actual damages represented by the Termination Fee. In no event shall Buyer be entitled to the Termination Fee on more than one occasion. Furthermore, the Parties acknowledge that the agreements contained in this Section 10.3(a) are an integral part of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and that Buyer has refused to enter into this Agreement in the absence of this Section 10.3(a). Accordingly, if the Seller Parties fail to promptly pay any amount due pursuant to this Section 10.3(a), and in order to obtain such payment, Buyer commences a Proceeding against a Seller Party that results in a judgment in Buyer’s favor for such payment, the Seller Parties shall pay to Buyer its reasonable, out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and expenses) in connection with such Proceeding, together with interest on the amount of such payment from the date such payment was required to be made until the date of payment at the prime rate as published in the Wall Street Journal in effect on the date such payment was required to be made.
(b)    Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, including in this Section 10.3, whether or not the Closing occurs, Seller and Buyer shall each pay their respective expenses (such as legal, investment banker and accounting fees) incurred in connection with the negotiation and execution of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Buyer shall pay all filing fees in connection with filings under applicable Antitrust Laws that are required to be made under Section 6.3(b) and are set forth on Schedule 10.3(b) of the Disclosure Letter.
ARTICLE 11
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 11.1    Notices. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, all communications provided for hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to be given when delivered in person, on the next Business Day when sent by overnight courier, or on the date of such transmission (with sender bearing the burden of proof of delivery (not automatically generated)), which shall be deemed satisfied if such e-mail communication shall also be transmitted on the date of transmission, or deemed transmission, in hardcopy by overnight courier in accordance with this Section 11.1) when sent via e-mail (or, if the transmission is not made before 5:00 p.m., local time at the place of receipt on a Business Day, the first Business Day after the date of transmission), and
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If to Seller:
Welbilt, Inc.
2227 Welbilt Boulevard
New Port Richey, Florida 34655
Attention:    Joel Horn, Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
Email:    joel.horn@welbilt.com
with copies to:
Alston & Bird LLP
Bank of America Plaza
101 South Tryon Street, Suite 4000
Charlotte, North Carolina 28280
Attention:    C. Mark Kelly
    Justin R. Howard
Telephone:    (704) 444-1075
Email:    mark.kelly@alston.com
    justin.howard@alston.com
and (prior to the Closing) to:
Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
200 Park Avenue
New York, New York 10166
Attention: Saee M. Muzumdar
Telephone: (212) 351-3966
Email:    SMuzumdar@gibsondunn.com
If to Buyer:
c/o Pentair plc
5500 Wayzata Boulevard, Suite 900
Golden Valley, MN 55416
Attention:    Karla Robertson, General Counsel, and Lance Bonner, Associate General Counsel
Email: Karla.Robertson@Pentair.com; Lance.Bonner@Pentair.com

with copies to:
Faegre Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP
2200 Wells Fargo Center
90 South Seventh Street
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402
Attention:    Michael Stanchfield and Kate Sherburne
Telephone:    612 766 7764; 612 766 6899
Email:mike.stanchfield@faegredrinker.com; kate.sherburne@faegredrinker.com
or to such other address as any such Party shall designate by written notice to the other Party as provided in this Section 11.1.
Section 11.2    Bulk Transfers. Buyer hereby waives compliance by Seller and the Other Asset Sellers with the provisions of all applicable Laws relating to bulk transfers or similar provisions in connection with the transfer of the Purchased Shares and the Purchased Assets. Buyer shall not withhold any portion of the Purchase Price based on any such non-compliance.
Section 11.3    Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be declared by any court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, void or unenforceable, all other provisions of this Agreement and the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances other than
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those which it is determined to be illegal, void or unenforceable, shall not be impaired or otherwise affected and shall remain in full force and effect to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, and Seller and Buyer shall negotiate in good faith to replace such illegal, void or unenforceable provision with a provision that corresponds as closely as possible to the intentions of the Parties as expressed by such illegal, void or unenforceable provision.
Section 11.4    Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which together shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument. Copies of executed counterparts transmitted by telecopy, telefax, .pdf email transmission or other electronic transmission service shall be considered original executed counterparts for purposes of this Section 11.4. Once this Agreement is signed, any reproduction of this Agreement made by reliable means (for example, photocopy or facsimile) is considered an original, to the extent permissible under applicable Law.
Section 11.5    Assignment; Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement shall not be assigned by either Party without the prior written consent of the other Party, and any attempted assignment, without such consent, shall be null and void. Notwithstanding the foregoing, without the consent of Seller, Buyer may assign its rights or obligations hereunder to any Other Buyer, subject to Section 2.5(c) (including the right to purchase any of the Purchased Assets or Purchased Shares and the obligation to assume all or part of the Assumed Liabilities, as the case may be, in which event all references herein to Buyer will be deemed to refer to such Other Buyer, as appropriate); provided, however, that no such assignment shall limit or affect the obligations of Buyer hereunder. Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to confer upon any Person other than Buyer, Seller or their successors or permitted assigns, any rights or remedies under or by reason of this Agreement; provided that the (a) Business Indemnitees shall be express third party beneficiaries of and shall be entitled to rely upon and enforce Section 6.9 and this Section 11.5, (b) the Buyer Indemnified Parties and Seller Indemnified Parties shall be express third party beneficiaries of and shall be entitled to rely upon and enforce Section 6.8 and this Section 11.5, (c) the Financing Sources shall be express third party beneficiaries of Section 11.13 and Section 11.18 and shall be entitled to rely upon and enforce such Sections, and (d) Ali Holding S.r.l. shall be an express third party beneficiary of and shall be entitled to rely upon and enforce this Agreement.
Section 11.6    Amendment; Waiver. This Agreement may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified only by a written instrument executed by both Parties. No waiver by either Party of any of the provisions hereof shall be effective unless explicitly set forth in writing and executed by the Party so waiving. Except as provided in the preceding sentence, no action taken pursuant to this Agreement, including any investigation by or on behalf of any Party, or a failure or delay by any Party in exercising any power, right or privilege under this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute a waiver by the Party taking such action of compliance with any representations, warranties, covenants, or agreements contained herein, or in any documents delivered or to be delivered pursuant to this Agreement or in connection with the Closing hereunder. The waiver by any Party of a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Section 11.13 and Section 11.18 and the last sentence of Section 11.5 (and any other provision of this Agreement to the extent an amendment, supplement, waiver or other modification of such provision would modify the substance of such Sections) may not be amended, supplement, waived or otherwise modified without the prior written consent of the Financing Sources.
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Section 11.7    Specific Performance. The Parties agree that irreparable damage would occur if any provision of this Agreement was not performed in accordance with the terms hereof or were otherwise breached and that the Parties shall be entitled (without the requirement to post a bond or other security) to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches and threatened breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. The Parties agree that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Seller shall be entitled to seek or to obtain any injunction, specific performance or any other equitable relief requiring Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, including to effect the Closing in accordance with Section 8.1, on the terms and subject to the conditions in this Agreement, if and only if: (a) all conditions in Section 7.1 and Section 7.3 have been satisfied as of the date on which the Closing would otherwise be required to occur (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, which shall be capable of being satisfied if the Closing were to occur), and (b) Buyer fails to complete the Closing by the date the Closing would otherwise be required to have occurred pursuant to Section 8.1.
Section 11.8    Governing Law. This Agreement and all claims and Proceedings arising out of this Agreement (and any actions of any Party hereto in the negotiation, administration, or performance hereof or the interpretation and enforcement of the provisions of this Agreement) shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal Laws of the State of Delaware (whether arising in contract, tort, equity or otherwise), without regard to any conflicts or choice of law principles that would result in the application of any Law other than the Law of the State of Delaware.
Section 11.9    Consent to Jurisdiction. The Parties hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such court shall not have jurisdiction, any Federal court of the United States of America located within the State of Delaware, with respect to any and all claims and Proceedings related to this Agreement (and any actions of any Party hereto in the negotiation, administration, performance or enforcement of this Agreement) and the interpretation and enforcement of the provisions of this Agreement and of the documents referred to in this Agreement, and in respect of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, hereby waive, and agree not to assert, as a defense in any action, suit or other Proceeding for the interpretation or enforcement hereof or thereof, that it is not subject thereto or that such action, suit or other Proceeding may not be brought or is not maintainable in said courts or that the venue thereof may not be appropriate or that this Agreement or any such document may not be enforced in or by such courts, and the Parties irrevocably and unconditionally agree that all claims with respect to such action, suit or other Proceeding shall be heard and determined in such a Delaware State or, to the extent permitted by Law, Federal court. The Parties hereby consent to and grant any such court jurisdiction over the Person of such Parties and over the subject matter of such dispute and agree that mailing of process or other papers in connection with any such action, suit or Proceeding in the manner provided for notices in Section 11.1 or in such other manner as may be permitted by applicable Law, shall be valid and sufficient service thereof. With respect to any particular action, suit or other Proceeding contemplated above, venue shall lie solely in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or such Federal court located within the State of Delaware. The Parties further agree, to the extent permitted by Law, that final and non-appealable judgment against a party in any action, suit or Proceeding contemplated above shall be conclusive and may be enforced in any other jurisdiction within or outside the United States by suit on the judgment, a certified or exemplified copy of which shall be conclusive evidence of the fact and amount of such judgment. Each of the Parties agrees that it will not bring or support any action or Proceeding described in this Section 11.9 other than in the courts as described above.
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Section 11.10    Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, the Confidentiality Agreement, the CT Confidentiality Agreement, the Disclosure Letter and the exhibits and schedules hereto and thereto set forth the entire agreement and understanding of the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, representations or warranties relating to such subject matter. In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of this Agreement and any other Transaction Document, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail. The Confidentiality Agreement and the CT Confidentiality Agreement shall each be automatically terminated and be of no further force and effect effectively immediately upon the earlier of (a) Closing and (b) the termination of such Contracts in accordance with their respective terms.
Section 11.11    No Joint Venture. Nothing in this Agreement creates a joint venture or partnership between the Parties. This Agreement does not authorize any Party (a) to bind or commit, or to act as an agent, employee or legal Representative of, another Party, except as may be specifically set forth in other provisions of this Agreement, or (b) to have the power to control the activities and operations of another Party. The Parties are independent contractors with respect to each other under this Agreement. Each Party agrees not to hold itself out as having any authority or relationship contrary to this Section 11.11.
Section 11.12    Limitation on Liability. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT (BUT SUBJECT TO SECTION 10.3) OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTION AGREEMENT TO THE CONTRARY, IN NO EVENT WILL ANY PARTY HERETO, OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES, BE LIABLE FOR ANY PUNITIVE DAMAGES IN CONNECTION WITH ANY CLAIMS, LOSSES, DAMAGES OR INJURIES ARISING OUT OF ANY BREACH BY SUCH PARTY OF THIS AGREEMENT, OR ANY FAILURE OF SUCH PARTY TO PERFORM ITS OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER SUCH BREACHING OR NONPERFORMING PARTY WAS ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES OR NOT EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT RECOVERABLE OR PAYABLE TO A THIRD PARTY.
Section 11.13    WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT, EQUITY OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR THE ACTIONS OF ANY PARTY HERETO IN THE NEGOTIATION, ADMINISTRATION, PERFORMANCE OR ENFORCEMENT HEREOF, INCLUDING IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM AGAINST ANY FINANCING SOURCE. EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CONSENTS TO TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY OF ANY SUCH PROCEEDINGS, (B) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF THE OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER, AND (C) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTY HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 11.13.
Section 11.14    Retention of Counsel. Buyer, for itself and, following the Closing, the Purchased Entities, and for Buyer’s and, following the Closing, the Purchased Entities’ respective successors and assigns, irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that all communications between Seller and its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and legal counsel, on the other hand, including Alston & Bird LLP and Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, made in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution, delivery and closing under, or any dispute or action arising under or in connection with, this Agreement that, immediately prior to the Closing, would be deemed to be privileged communications of Seller or any of its Subsidiaries (including the
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Purchased Entities) and their counsel, shall continue after the Closing to be privileged communications between Seller and such counsel, and neither Buyer nor any Person, acting or purporting to act on behalf of or through Buyer shall seek to obtain the same by any process on the grounds that the privilege attaching to such communications belongs to the Purchased Entities and not to Seller. Buyer and the Purchased Entities agree that any Privilege and expectation of client confidence arising from or as a result of Alston & Bird LLP’s and Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP’s representation of a Purchased Entity or Seller in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution, delivery and closing under, or any dispute or action arising under or in connection with, this Agreement that exists prior to the Closing, and all information and documents covered by such Privilege, shall belong to and be controlled by Seller and may be waived only by Seller, and not a Purchased Entity, and shall not pass to or be claimed or used by Buyer or any Purchased Entity, except with respect to the assertion of such Privilege against a third party.
Section 11.15    Rules of Construction.
(a)    The Parties have been represented by counsel during the negotiation, preparation and execution of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and, therefore, hereby waive, with respect to this Agreement, any other Transaction Document and each Exhibit, each Appendix and each Schedule attached hereto or thereto, the application of any Law or rule of construction providing that ambiguities in an agreement or other document shall be construed against the Party drafting such agreement or document.
When a reference is made in this Agreement to Sections, Exhibits, Appendices or Schedules, such reference shall be to a Section of, or an Exhibit or Appendix to, this Agreement or Schedule to the Disclosure Letter unless otherwise indicated. The words “hereof,” “herein,” “hereto” and “hereunder” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement will refer to this Agreement as a whole (including any exhibits, appendices and schedules to this Agreement (unless such exhibits, appendices and schedules are separate, executed agreements, in which case such agreement, when executed and delivered, shall constitute a document independent of this Agreement)) and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. The words “include,” “including” or “includes” when used herein shall be deemed in each case to be followed by the words “without limitation” or words having similar import. The phrases “provided to,” “furnished to,” “made available” and phrases of similar import when used herein, unless the context otherwise requires, means that a true, correct and complete copy (subject to any appropriate redactions of Highly Confidential Information (as defined in the CT Confidentiality Agreement)) of the information or material referred to has been physically or electronically provided to the Party to whom such information or material is to be provided, provided, however, that, in the case of “provided to,” “furnished to,” “delivered to” or “made available” to Buyer, it means material that has been posted, on or prior to noon (Central Time) on the date prior to the Agreement Date, in the “data room” (including that the “Highly Confidential” portion thereof was made accessible to Buyer’s “Permitted Representatives” pursuant to the CT Confidentiality Agreement) established by or on behalf of Seller and hosted by Datasite under the name “Project Glacier.” The headings and table of contents in this Agreement are included for convenience of reference only and will not limit or otherwise affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise requires: (i) words of any gender include each other gender; (ii) words using the singular or plural number also include the plural or singular number, respectively; (iii) references to “day” or “days” are to calendar days; (iv) any reference in this Agreement to “writing” or comparable expressions includes a reference to facsimile transmission or comparable means of communication (including e-mail communications); (v) “Dollars” or “$,” means United States dollars, and (vi) references “from” or “through” any date mean, unless otherwise specified, “from and including” or “through and including,” respectively, and, when calculating the period of time before which, within which or following which any act is required to be done pursuant to this Agreement, the
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date that is the reference date in calculating such period shall be excluded and, if the last day of such period is not a Business Day, the period in question shall end on the next succeeding Business Day.
(b)    Any reference in this Agreement to wire transfers or other payments requires payment in dollars of the United States of America unless otherwise expressly stated in that reference. Any amounts to be converted into Dollars for the purpose of calculating any amounts under this Agreement shall be converted into Dollars at the Designated Exchange Rate.
Section 11.16    Disclosure Generally. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Disclosure Letter or in this Agreement, the information and disclosures contained in any Schedule of the Disclosure Letter shall be deemed to be disclosed only with respect to (a) the correspondingly-numbered representations and warranties of this Agreement and (b) any other Schedule of the Disclosure Letter, if any, to the extent the applicability of such information and disclosure to such other Schedule of the Disclosure Letter is reasonably apparent on the face of such information or disclosure without the need to examine any underlying or referenced document. The fact that any item of information is disclosed in any Schedule of the Disclosure Letter shall not be construed to mean that such information is required to be disclosed by this Agreement. Such information and the dollar thresholds set forth herein shall not be used as a basis for interpreting the terms “material” or “Material Adverse Effect” or other similar terms in this Agreement.
Section 11.17    Parent Guaranty. As a material inducement to Seller to enter into this Agreement and in recognition of substantial direct and indirect benefits to Buyer Parent therefrom, Buyer Parent hereby absolutely, irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees to Seller the due and punctual performance by Buyer of all of Buyer’s obligations and liabilities under or in respect of this Agreement including all of Buyer’s payment obligations hereunder and any obligations or liabilities of Buyer arising from any breach of this Agreement.  This is a guarantee of payment and performance, and not of collection, and Buyer Parent’s liabilities hereunder are absolute, unconditional, irrevocable and continuing irrespective of any modification, amendment or waiver of or any consent to departure from the terms and conditions of this Agreement that may be agreed to by Buyer hereto in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  Buyer Parent agrees that its obligations hereunder shall not be released or discharged, in whole or in part, or otherwise affected by (a) the failure or delay on the part of Seller to assert any claim or demand or to enforce any right or remedy against Buyer or (b) any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or other similar proceeding instituted by or against Buyer.  Buyer Parent hereby waives, for the benefit of Seller, (i) any right to require Seller, as a condition of payment or performance by Buyer Parent, to proceed against Buyer or pursue any other remedy whatsoever and (ii) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, any defenses or benefits that may be derived from or afforded by applicable Law which limit the liability of or exonerate guarantors or sureties, except to the extent that any such defense is available to Buyer.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 11.17 or otherwise, Seller hereby agrees that Buyer Parent shall have all defenses to its obligations under this guarantee that would be available to Buyer in respect of this Agreement whether pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or pursuant to any applicable Law in connection therewith.
Section 11.18    Financing Source Provisions.
(a)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, no Seller Related Party (other than Buyer) shall have any rights or claims against any Financing Source in connection with this Agreement, the Financing or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, and no Financing Source shall have any rights or claims against any Seller Related
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Party (other than Buyer) in connection with this Agreement, the Financing or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, whether at law or equity, in contract, in tort or otherwise.
(b)    Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, each Seller Related Party and each of the other parties hereto (a) agrees that it will not bring or support any action, cause of action, claim, cross-claim or third-party claim of any kind or description, whether in law or in equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, against the Financing Sources in any way relating to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including any dispute arising out of or relating in any way to the Financing or the performance thereof or the transactions contemplated thereby, in any forum other than exclusively in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, or, if under applicable Law exclusive jurisdiction is vested in the federal courts, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (and appellate courts thereof), (b) submits for itself and its property with respect to any such action to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts, (c) agrees that service of process, summons, notice or document by registered mail addressed to it at its address provided in Section 11.1 shall be effective service of process against it for any such action brought in any such court, (d) waives and hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of, and the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of, any such action in any such court and (e) agrees that a final judgment in any such action shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by Law.
(c)    No Financing Source shall be subject to any special, consequential, punitive or indirect damages or damages of a tortious nature.
[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]
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Execution Version
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first above written.









WELBILT, Inc.


By:    
Name:    
Title:    

Signature Page to Purchase Agreement



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first above written.











PENTAIR COMMERCIAL ICE LLC


By:    
Name:    
Title:    




PENTAIR PLC


By:    
Name:    
Title:    
     Signature Page to Purchase Agreement




APPENDIX A
Purchased Assets
“Purchased Assets” means the following assets, properties, claims, privileges and interests of Seller and the Seller’s Subsidiaries (including the Purchased Entities), of every kind and character and wherever located (except for the Excluded Assets):
(i)     the assets listed or described on Schedule A-(i) of the Disclosure Letter and all other assets that are expressly provided by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document as assets to be transferred to Buyer or any Subsidiary of Buyer, including:
(a)    those products (including private label products) and services of Seller and its Subsidiaries developed, licensed, sold, provided, or offered by the Business, and those discontinued, predecessor and legacy products and services of the Business to the extent such products were discontinued in the three years prior to the Agreement Date (the “Discontinued Products”), and those additional products and services of the Business under development (collectively, the “Products”), in each case including those Products described on Schedule A-(i)(a) of the Disclosure Letter; and
(b)    all tangible personal property, equipment, machinery and tools primarily relating to the Business or described on Schedule A-1(i)(b) of the Disclosure Letter (the “Tangible Assets”);
(ii)     other than to the extent constituting an Excluded Asset, the rights of Seller or any of its Subsidiaries under any Material Contract listed in Schedule 4.5(a) of the Disclosure Letter that is marked with an asterisk and all other Contracts, in each case, to the extent that such Contracts are exclusively related to the Business (the “Assigned Contracts”) and as such Assigned Contracts may be renewed or modified following the Agreement Date in accordance with this Agreement; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, the foregoing shall not limit the rights and obligations of the Parties as set forth in the Agreement;
(iii)     to the extent included in the Final Closing Net Working Capital, all inventory wherever located, including raw materials, work-in-process, finished goods, goods in transit, spare parts, and packaging materials owned by Seller or any of its Subsidiaries relating to any of the Products or relating to the Business that exist as of immediately prior to the Effective Time (the “Inventory”);
(iv)     the leases, subleases or executive suite agreements relating to the leased real property set forth on Schedule A-(iv) of the Disclosure Letter (such leases, subleases and executive suite agreements collectively being referred to herein as the “Real Property Leases,” and the real property subject to the Real Property Leases being, collectively, the “Leased Real Property”);
(v)     the real property owned by Seller, any Other Asset Seller or any Purchased Entity as set forth on Schedule A-(v) of the Disclosure Letter (such real property collectively being referred to herein as the “Owned Real Property,”);
(vi)     the Intellectual Property Rights of Seller and its Affiliates or owned or purported to be owned by Seller and its Affiliates that are described in Schedule A-(vi) of the Disclosure Letter and the Intellectual Property Rights of Seller and its Affiliates owned or purported to be owned by Seller and its Affiliates primarily relating to the Business or the Products,
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in each case, excluding (A) any Intellectual Property Rights related to the “Welbilt” name and Trademarks in and to the “Welbilt” name and (B) the Licensed IP (such Intellectual Property Rights, after giving effect to the exclusions noted, collectively, the “Transferred Intellectual Property Rights”);
(vii)     to the extent transferable under Law, those Permits related to the ownership and operation of the Business at the Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property and those other Permits that are exclusively related to the conduct of the Business or the ownership, possession or operation of the Purchased Assets;
(viii)     copies of all files, documents, data, books and records that are in the possession or control of Seller or its Subsidiaries, including customer and supplier lists, invoices and purchase orders, production data, cost records, sales and pricing data, supplier records, product data, manuals and literature, technical information, drawings, specifications and other engineering data, correspondence, merchandising, promotional materials, sales materials, creative materials, studies, reports, and other business records that, in each case, to the extent related to, or to the extent used in, the operation of the Business (collectively, the “Business Records”); provided, however, that the Business Records will not include any (a) employee-related or employee benefit-related files or records, employee benefit plans or documents relating to commitments and arrangements with employees of Seller or its Affiliates, except for personnel files and other employee information for Continuing Employees that are permitted to be transferred by applicable Law or (b) corporate records or Tax Returns of Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than the Purchased Entities);
(ix)     other than to the extent constituting an Excluded Asset under Appendix D, all rights under or with respect to any claims, causes of action, choses in action, rights of recovery, rights of set-off, credit, defenses or counterclaims and other rights of recoupment, including recoveries by settlement, judgment or otherwise in connection therewith, to the extent relating to the Business, Purchased Assets, Purchased Shares or Assumed Liabilities, including the settlement agreements set forth on Schedule A-(ix);
(x)     all advertising, marketing, sales and promotional materials, including website content, purchase orders, forms, labels, shipping materials, catalogues, sales brochures, operating manuals, and instructional documents to the extent relating to the Products or the Business;
(xi)     (A) all Business Cash and (B) all bank accounts held in the name of a Purchased Entity;
(xii)     all third-party insurance policies exclusively relating to the Business and maintained by the Purchased Entities (or in which the Purchased Entities are the first named insured);
(xiii)     all rights and claims under any and all transferable warranties, guaranties, indemnities and similar rights, and rights to refunds or rebates, to the extent related to the Business, Purchased Assets, Purchased Shares or Assumed Liabilities;
(xiv)     the Assumed Benefit Plans, all assets of or relating to (including all assets held in trust, fund or account in any form) the Assumed Benefit Plans, and any insurance, administration or other Contracts relating thereto and any accounts, plan documents (and amendments and modifications thereto), plan descriptions and summaries, opinion or determination letters and correspondence with Governmental Authorities and other records or information regarding the Assumed Benefit Plans to the extent available;
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(xv)     to the extent permitted by applicable Law, all transferable collective bargaining, trade union, works council and other similar Contracts exclusively covering the Business Employees.
(xvi)     the goodwill relating to the Business or the Purchased Entities;
(xvii)     any other Current Assets included in the calculation of Final Closing Net Working Capital; and
(xviii)     all other assets, properties, claims, privileges and interests of Seller and the Seller’s Subsidiaries exclusively relating to, exclusively arising from or exclusively used in the Business.
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APPENDIX B
Purchased Entities

1.    Manitowoc Foodservice (Luxembourg) S.a.r.l.
2.    Manitowoc FSG Holding, LLC
3.    Manitowoc FSG Manufactura Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.
4.    WELBILT (China) Foodservice Co., Ltd
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APPENDIX C
Assumed Liabilities
“Assumed Liabilities” means the following Liabilities of Seller and its Subsidiaries to the extent arising from or in connection with the Business or any Purchased Asset that are not Excluded Liabilities:
(i)     the Liabilities listed or described on Schedule C-(i) of the Disclosure Letter and all other Liabilities that are expressly provided by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document as Liabilities to be assumed by Buyer or any Affiliate of Buyer or otherwise specifically designated as “Assumed Liabilities” by this Agreement;
(ii)     except as otherwise provided in this Agreement or any other Transaction Document (including the treatment of existing conditions at the Real Property as Excluded Environmental Liabilities), all Liabilities to the extent relating to, arising out of or resulting from:
(a)    the operation of the Business (including as conducted by any Purchased Entity), as conducted at any time before, at or after the Effective Time;
(b)    the operation of any business conducted by any Purchased Entity at any time after the Effective Time;
(c)    any Purchased Assets (including any Liability relating to, arising out of or resulting from Assigned Contracts, Customer Contracts, Real Property and any Leased Real Property) and the Purchased Shares or, to the extent such Liability relates to the Business, the Shared Contracts (whether or not Purchased Assets); and
(d)    Proceedings or other claims, regardless of when commenced or made and irrespective of the legal theory asserted, to the extent arising from or relating to (i) the use, license, development, manufacture, distribution or sale of the Products, in each case whether arising before, on or after the Closing Date, (ii) all Liabilities for infringement or misappropriation or alleged infringement or misappropriation of any Intellectual Property Right of any third party, in each case under clause (i) and (ii), to the extent related to the conduct of the Business before, on or after the Closing Date and not including any Proceedings or other claims related to asbestos or as set forth on Schedule C-(ii) of the Disclosure Letter;
(iii)     all Liabilities of Seller and its Affiliates in respect of the Products sold by the Business at any time for refunds, adjustments, allowances, exchanges, recalls, returns and warranty, merchantability and other similar claims arising on, prior to or after the Closing Date and any product liability claims with respect thereto;
(iv)     all Liabilities relating to each person who immediately prior to the Effective Time is a Business Employee (or any dependent or beneficiary of such Business Employee), except, in each case, as provided in Section 6.6, or that should have been, but were not included in Business Indebtedness or Current Liabilities (collectively, the “Assumed Employee Liabilities”);
(v)     any Liability in respect of Taxes that are to be borne by Buyer pursuant to Section 6.8;
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(vi)     all Indebtedness of any Purchased Entity that is included in Final Business Indebtedness (the “Assumed Debt”);
(vii)     all Current Liabilities included in the calculation of the Final Closing Net Working Capital;
(viii)     all Liabilities under the Assumed Benefit Plans arising following the Effective Time; and
(ix)     except as otherwise provided in this Agreement or any other Transaction Document (including treatment of existing conditions at the Real Property as Excluded Environmental Liabilities), all Liabilities with respect to the Owned Real Property and Leased Real Property.
For the avoidance of doubt, except as otherwise provided herein “Assumed Liabilities” includes all Liabilities of the Purchased Entities, except for any Excluded Liabilities.
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APPENDIX D
Excluded Assets
“Excluded Assets” means all of Seller’s and its Affiliates’ (including the Purchased Entities’) right, title and interest in, to and under all assets not included as a Purchased Asset and specifically including the following (to the extent not included as a Purchased Asset):
(i)     the assets of any business of Seller and its Affiliates other than the Business;
(ii)     the assets listed or categorically described on Schedule D-(ii) of the Disclosure Letter and any and all assets that are expressly contemplated by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document as assets to be retained by Seller and its Affiliates (other than the Purchased Entities);
(iii)     all cash, cash equivalents, deposits, bank accounts, negotiable instruments and securities, in each case other than Business Cash;
(iv)     (a) all letters of credit and performance bonds not exclusively related to the Business and (b) all loan facilities;
(v)     all Tax refunds and other Tax assets allocated to Seller pursuant to Section 6.8;
(vi)     without limiting Buyer’s rights under Section 6.7, all insurance policies of Seller and all rights of Seller and its Affiliates of every nature and description under or arising out of such insurance policies, including all claims, credits, causes of action thereunder and proceeds thereof (other than as expressly set forth in Section 6.7 and clauses (ix) and (xii) of Appendix A);
(vii)     all Contracts of Seller or its Affiliates other than the Assigned Contracts, including all Shared Contracts (subject to the rights and obligations set forth in Section 2.6), and all rights and obligations of Seller or its Affiliates arising thereunder;
(viii)     all rights under or with respect to any claims, causes of action, choses in action, rights of recovery, rights of set-off, credit and other rights of recoupment, including recoveries by settlement, judgment or otherwise in connection therewith, (a) relating to the payment or refund of Taxes allocated to Seller pursuant to Section 6.8 and (b) to the extent relating to any Excluded Asset or Excluded Liability, whether arising out of occurrences before or after the Closing, including all rights to seek and obtain injunctive relief and to sue for and recover Losses for infringement relating to the foregoing;
(ix)     other than the Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property, all real property, and all real property leasehold or license interests, wherever located, including all buildings and other structures, facilities or improvements located on such real property, all fixtures attached or appurtenant thereto, and all easements, licenses, rights and appurtenances relating to the foregoing;
(x)     all personal property, other than to the extent included as a Purchased Asset;
(xi)     any user information or data associated with or derived from the internet websites of Seller or its Affiliates to the extent not related to the Business or the Purchased Assets;
(xii)     corporate books and records of internal corporate proceedings, the minute books, stock ledgers, Tax records, and all business and accounting records and work papers and other
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records of Seller and its Affiliates (other than the Purchased Entities) except for those included as a Purchased Asset;
(xiii)     other than as required or prohibited by Law to the contrary or other than as included in the Purchased Assets, all employee-related or employee benefit-related files or records, all employee benefit plans and arrangements, and all assets of, or held by or with respect to, any Seller Benefit Plan (other than an Assumed Benefit Plan) or other arrangement that would be a Seller Benefit Plan if it covered a Business Employee (or dependent, spouse or beneficiary of a Business Employee) (whether or not governed by ERISA) or any trust, fund or account that is related to any such employee benefit plan or that is similar in purpose or function thereto, in all cases of Seller and its Affiliates (other than the Purchased Entities);
(xiv)     any labor or collective bargaining agreement, Contract or understanding with any labor union or bargaining representative other than to the extent included as a Purchased Asset;
(xv)     all assets consisting of or related to the Shared Services that are not used exclusively in the Business, including those related to IT systems, servers and systems hardware and networking and communications assets;
(xvi)     all rights of Seller and/or its Affiliates (excluding the Purchased Entities) under this Agreement, any of the other Transaction Documents and/or any instrument or certificate delivered in connection with this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents, and all records prepared by Seller and/or such Affiliates (or their respective Representatives) solely in connection with the evaluation, negotiation and consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and not related to the Business, Purchased Assets or Assumed Liabilities generally;
(xvii)     shares of any direct or indirect Subsidiary of Seller, and any equity interest in any Person (other than the Purchased Shares);
(xviii)     all rights to the extent relating to Excluded Liabilities;
(xix)     assets provided through services or licenses provided or licensed by Seller to Buyer under the Transition Services Agreement;
(xx)     all software and information technology systems of Seller or its Subsidiaries that are not used exclusively in the Business;
(xxi)     all Intellectual Property Rights of Seller and its Affiliates (including all patents and patent applications of Seller and its Affiliates) other than Transferred Intellectual Property Rights;
(xxii)     all rights under warranties, representations, indemnities, guarantees and similar rights in favor of Seller or any of its Affiliates to the extent related to any Excluded Assets or any Excluded Liabilities;
(xxiii)     all goodwill as a going concern and other intangible properties of Seller, other than as set forth in clause (xvi) of Appendix A; and
(xxiv)     any assets located at the Hangzhou Facility that are not used primarily in the Business (including the assets set forth in Schedule D-(xxiv) of the Disclosure Letter).
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APPENDIX E
Excluded Liabilities
“Excluded Liabilities” means all Liabilities of Seller and its Affiliates (including the Purchased Entities) other than the Assumed Liabilities, including the following:
(i)    all Liabilities that are expressly contemplated by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document as Liabilities to be retained by Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than the Purchased Entities), and all agreements, obligations and other Liabilities of Seller and its Affiliates (other than the Purchased Entities) under this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents;
(ii)    all Liabilities (including workers’ compensation claims with respect to facts or circumstances that occurred prior to Closing) related to each current or former employee of Seller and its Affiliates, including any former employee of Seller or its Affiliates (or any dependent or beneficiary of any such employee), other than the Assumed Employee Liabilities;
(iii)    all Liabilities related to each Seller Benefit Plan (other than an Assumed Benefit Plan) or related to any other arrangement that would be a Seller Benefit Plan if it covered a Business Employee (or dependent, spouse or beneficiary of a Business Employee), including any Liability associated with any defined benefit pension plan and any obligations under a retiree medical plan;
(iv)    the Excluded Tax Liabilities;
(v)    subject to Section 6.26, all Liabilities under or relating to any Environmental Law to the extent related to, arising or resulting from the ownership or operation of the Purchased Assets or the Business prior to Closing, including any Liability for (i) any release of or exposure to any Hazardous Materials at or from any Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property or in connection with the operation of the Business or the Purchased Assets to the extent such release or exposure initially occurred prior to the Closing, (ii) any violation of Environmental Law prior to the Closing in connection with the operation of the Business or the Purchased Assets or (iii) any offsite transportation and disposal of Hazardous Materials prior to the Closing in connection with the operation of the Business or the Purchased Assets (collectively, the “Excluded Environmental Liabilities”);
(vi)    all Liabilities for or with respect to Taxes for which Seller bears responsibility pursuant to Section 6.8 (without duplication of the Excluded Tax Liabilities);
(vii)    Business Indebtedness that is not included in Closing Business Indebtedness;
(viii)    all Liabilities to the extent arising out of, relating to or otherwise in respect of any real property owned or leased by any Seller Party that is not a Purchased Asset;
(ix)    all Liabilities to the extent arising out of, relating to or otherwise in respect of any ceased or discontinued operations of any Seller Party, other than any such operations formerly arising out of, relating to or otherwise in respect of the Business;
(x)    all Liabilities related to or arising out of any criminal violations of any Law relating to the Business that occurred prior to the Closing and Proceedings or other claims related to asbestos or as set forth on Schedule C-(ii) of the Disclosure Letter;
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(xi)    all Liabilities to the extent arising out of, relating to or otherwise in respect of any violations of export-control, trade and economic sanctions Laws (including the U.S. Commerce Department’s Export Administration Regulations and sanctions Laws maintained by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, as well as all applicable export-control and sanctions Laws maintained by other jurisdictions); import Laws enforced by U.S. Customs and Border Protection as well as all applicable import Laws maintained and enforced by other jurisdictions; or similar Laws by any Seller Party that occurred prior to the Closing;
(xii)    all Liabilities of the Chinese Subsidiary or otherwise related to the Hangzhou Facility, to the extent such Liabilities are not related to the Business;
(xiii)    all Liabilities to the extent arising out of, relating to, or otherwise is respect of any violations of any Laws of the People’s Republic of China or any Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over the Chinese Subsidiary or Hangzhou Facility that occurred prior to the Closing;
(xiv)    all Liabilities arising out of, relating to or otherwise in respect of any breach of the Organizational Documents of the Chinese Subsidiary or failure by the Chinese Subsidiary, its equityholders or Representatives to comply with any corporate or similar formalities applicable to the Chinese Subsidiary that occurred prior to the Closing;
(xv)    all Liabilities arising out of, relating to or otherwise in respect of the ownership or operations of Welbilt (Shanghai) Foodservice Co., Ltd. or any other Subsidiary of the Chinese Subsidiary;
(xvi)    all costs and Liabilities arising out of, relating to or otherwise in respect of Seller’s actions to separate any business of the Chinese Subsidiary that is not related to the Business; and
(xvii)    all Liabilities to the extent related to or arising out of any Excluded Assets.
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Exhibit 31.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer
 Certification
I, William C. Johnson, certify that:
1.I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Welbilt, Inc.;
2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a.Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b.Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c.Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d.Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b.Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

                                







Date: May 10, 2022


William C. Johnson

President and Chief Executive Officer





Exhibit 31.2
Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Certification
I, Martin D. Agard, certify that:
1.I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Welbilt, Inc.;
2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a.Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b.Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c.Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d.Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b.Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.







Date: May 10, 2022


Martin D. Agard

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer






Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Welbilt, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, William C. Johnson, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:
1)The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2)The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.







Date: May 10, 2022


William C. Johnson

President and Chief Executive Officer







Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Welbilt, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Martin D. Agard, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:
1)The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2)The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.







Date: May 10, 2022


Martin D. Agard

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer







